# THE INFLUENCE OF MINDFULNESS PRACTICE AT WORK ON SELF-LEADERSHIP ON THAI NON-MANAGERIAL EMPLOYEES: THE LIVED EXPERIENCE IN AN INTERNATIONAL K12 EDUCATIONAL ENVIRONMENT



# THE INFLUENCE OF MINDFULNESS PRACTICE AT WORK ON SELF-LEADERSHIP ON THAI NON-MANAGERIAL EMPLOYEES: THE LIVED EXPERIENCE IN AN INTERNATIONAL K12 EDUCATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

A Dissertation Presented to The Institute for Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA)

Graduate School of Bangkok University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Knowledge Management and Innovation Management

By Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa 2021 Copyright of Bangkok University



© 2021 Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa All rights reserved

# This Dissertation has been approved by The Institute for Knowledge and Innovation (IKI-SEA), Graduate School of Bangkok University

Title: The influence of Mindfulness practice at work on Self-Leadership on Thai Non-Managerial Employees: The lived experience in an international K12 educational environment

Author: Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa

#### **Dissertation Committee:**

**Dissertation Advisor** 

(Prof. Dr. Alex Bennet - Bangkok University)

Chairman

(Prof. (Emeritus) Dr. Boonreang Kajornsin)

Ph.D. KIM Program Director

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Vincent Ribière – Bangkok University)

**Committee Member** 

(Dr. Dongcheol Heo)

External Committee Representative

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Thanawan Sangsuwan)

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Vincent Ribière) Ph.D. KIM Program Director – Managing Director IKI-SEA 10/09/2020

### DECLARATION

In accordance with the Bangkok University Honor Code, I certify that my submitted work here is my own work, and that I have appropriately acknowledged all external sources that were used in this work.



Worawichayavongsa, W. Ph.D. (Knowledge Management and Innovation Management), September 2020. The Institute for Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA), Graduate School – Bangkok University, Thailand <u>The influence of Mindfulness practice at work on Self-Leadership on Thai Non-</u> <u>Managerial Employees: The lived experience in an international K12 educational</u> environment

(312 pp.)

Advisor of dissertation: Alex Bennet, Ph.D.

#### ABSTRACT

Given that self-directedness has become a primary expectation of workers in today's workplace and the growing body of literature on Mindfulness benefits in the workplace, this qualitative, exploratory study investigates the influence of Mindfulness practice of non-managerial Thai employees at two educational institutions in the Bangkok area on their work composures with particular focus on Self-Leadership. This research is framed by a scholarly call for more empiric investigation of the influence of Mindfulness at work, the mostly theoretical contention that Mindfulness enables Self-Leadership and the need for improved understanding of Mindfulness as an antecedent to Self-Leadership. Applying a phenomenological research approach, this research draws data from 19 in depth semistructured interviews on the lived experience of non-managerial Thai employees' Mindfulness practice relevant to desired work composures in today's world of work with particular attention to how it enables engagement in various strategies for Self-Leadership. Using the SCK analysis method, the lived experience of the Mindfulness practitioners is presented under the form of 4 findings units (i.e. Impact, Dysfunctional Composures prior to Mindfulness practice, Experiences and Change) and an appraisal of the potential of Mindfulness practice to be promoted at organizational level as a viable professional development route to benefit employees and the organization. Findings show that Mindfulness practice is experienced as transformative, empowering, positively introspective, and to induce a wide breadth of emotive and behavioral experiences and changes at intra- and interpersonal level in both a personal and professional context, showing Mindfulness to indeed be what the literature refers to as a potential root construct to organizational science. Mindfulness

practice is found as potentially pivotal to self-regulation whereby, through the engagement in a comprehensive set of Self-Leadership strategies, internally generated drivers enable the breaking of dysfunctional habitual thinking and behavioral cycles towards self-initiated, positive and productive alignment with one's personal and professional realities and 21<sup>st</sup> century managerial expectations. This study illuminates the influencing potential of Mindfulness practice, by enabling an agentic nature and stakeholder view, to enable a shift away from external direction towards selfdirectedness, driven by intrinsic motivational factors stemming from conscious and reflective observance of the self and ones professional and personal context. The study further reports overwhelming support to the roll-out of Mindfulness practice as an organization-wide professional development route towards creating a more pleasant and productive work environment as a result of better emotional management and perspective taking in terms of interpersonal engagements, but also the confidence building and improved personal and professional self-view that Mindfulness practice was experienced to generate. Considering the inherent limitations of qualitative, exploratory research, this study gives cause for future research by replicating the study in different contextual settings for improved generalizability and by drawing antecedents to Self-Leadership as a result of Mindfulness practice based on unearthed themes and progressing these into quantifiable causal investigation of its impact. This study is, to the knowledge of the researcher, the first comprehensive investigation of the lived experience of Mindfulness practice's influence on engagement in Self-Leadership strategies at a non-managerial level.

Keywords: Mindfulness, Self-Leadership, Self-Leadership strategies, Phenomenology.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In realization of this study, first and foremost, I would like to acknowledge and express my sincerest gratitude for the continuous support, guidance and motivation I have received from Dr. Alex Bennet as my advisor in this endeavor. Thank you for challenging me when necessary, being my compass for exploration and supporting my growth in this journey. Your trust and confidence in my ability has been fundamental to the completion of this work. It has been a true privilege to work with you and I hope our connection will endure. Dr. Vincent Ribiere, you and your team have always been a source of motivation and hope throughout this project, thank you very much for your patience and continuously providing the perspective needed to complete this journey. Siri Chandler, my sincere gratitude for helping me explore and understand Mindfulness as a starting point to realize this study. To all interviewees and managerial teams of both research sites, I hold sincere gratitude for your participation, openness, trust and patience.

In general support to my engagement in this milestone developmental project in my life I would like to thank James Howlett and Pattaramon Worawichayawongsa for all your love, encouragement and support.

Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
TABLE OF CONTENTSi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESvi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 Context
1.2 Problem Statement
1.3 Research Objectives
1.4 Research Questions
1.4.1 Conceptual Model
1.5 Personal Motivation
1.6 Research Significance
1.7 Definition of Terms
1.8 Dissertation outline
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 The 21 <sup>st</sup> century knowledge economy
2.1.1 Context
2.1.2 Changing Sought Profiles17
2.1.3 Changing Organizational Expectations
2.2 Self-Leadership
2.2.1 Theoretical Context
2.2.2 Defining Self-Leadership
2.2.3 Benefits of Self-Leadership
2.2.4 Operationalizing Self-Leadership using the Three
Category Strategies Model
2.2.5 The Self-Leadership Paradoxes
2.2.6 Self-Leadership for the 21 <sup>st</sup> Century Workplace
2.3 Mindfulness
2.3.1 Construct Background and Perspectives
2.3.2 Defining Mindfulness
2.3.3 The Nature of Mindfulness

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

2.3.4 Mindfulness Strategies	544
2.3.5 Benefits of Mindfulne	ss49
2.4 Self-Leadership and Mindfulner	58
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLO	GY66
3.1 Research Design	
3.1.1 Qualitative Approach	
3.1.2 Why Phenomenology	2
	Method70
3.3 Constraints	
3.4.1 Participant selection	
	edures
3.5 Data Collection Methods	
3.5.1 Semi-Structured Interv	views
3.5.2 Supervisor Consultation	on
3.8 Validity, Reliability and Ethical	Considerations87
3.8.1 Validity	
3.8.2 Reliability	
3.8.3 Ethical Considerations	
CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS	
4.1 Demographics of the Sample	
4.2 Data Analysis	
4.2.1 Round One of Analysi	s97
4.2.2 Round Two of Analys	is98
4.3 Findings on the Lived Experien	ce of Mindfulness Practice107
4.3.1 Unit 1: Impact (rounde	ed % Frequencies per Total of Unit
Textural Description 7	Theme Related Statements)107

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	4.3.2	Unit 2: Dysfunctional Composures Prior to	
		Mindfulness Practice (Rounded % Frequencies per total	
		of Unit Textural	.111
	4.3.3	Unit 3: Experiences (Rounded % Frequencies per total	
		of Unit Textural Description Theme Related Statements)	.121
	4.3.4	Unit 4: Change (Rounded % Frequencies per Total	
		of Unit Textural Description Theme Related	.140
	4.3.5	Perception on the Benefit of Mindfulness Training as	
		Organization Wide Professional Development	
		(Rounded % Frequencies	.161
CHAPTER 5:	DISCU	USSION OF FINDINGS	. 164
5.1 D	oiscussi	on of the Impact Appraisal	
5.2 D	oiscussi	on of the Experiences	.170
	5.2.1	Experiences with Respect to Self-Leadership Strategies	.172
5.3 N	lindfulı	ness as a Potential Change Inducer	.174
	5.3.1	Change with respect to Dysfunctional Emotional	
		Composures	.175
	5.3.2	Change with Respect to Dysfunctional Behavioral	
		Composures	.186
5.4 D	oiscussi	on of Mindfulness as institutional level Professional	
D	evelop	ment	203
CHAPTER 6:	CONC	CLUSION	206
6.1 T	he Live	ed Experience of Non-Managerial Employees of Their	
N	lindfulı	ness Practice at Work	207
6.2 T	he Live	ed Experience of Non-Managerial Employees of Their	
N	lindfulı	ness Practice at Work with Respect	209
	6.2.1	Mindfulness Practice and Natural Rewards Self-Leadership	
		Strategies	214
	6.2.2	Mindfulness Practice and Constructive Self-thought Self-	
		Leadership Strategies	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

6.2.3 Mindfulness Practice and Behavior-focused Self-Lead	lership
Strategies	
6.3 Selected Emergent Themes	
6.4 Knowledge contribution	
6.5 Limitations and Future Research	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDIX	
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	
APPENDIX D	
APPENDIX E	
APPENDIX F	
BIODATA	

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Participant selection characteristics
Table 2	Sample General Demographics94
Table 3	Professional profile of Sample95
Table 4	Mindfulness Practice Profile of Sample96
Table 5	Phenomenon Unit Structure of Findings100
Table 6	Unit Impact - Textural and Structural description themes102
Table 7	Unit Dysfunctional Composure Prior to Mindfulness Practice -
	Textural and Structural description themes103
Table 8	Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes104
Table 9	Unit Change - Textural and Structural description themes106
Table 10	Unit Impact - Textural and Structural description themes
	with rounded frequencies for structural description themes
Table 11	Unit Dysfunctional Composures Prior to Mindfulness Practice -
	Textural and Structural description themes with rounded
	frequencies for structural description themes
Table 12	Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes with
	rounded frequencies for structural description themes
Table 13	Unit Change - Textural and Structural description themes
	with rounded frequencies for structural description themes141
Table 14	Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT
Table 15	Summary data frequency of occurrence Unit IMPACT

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Conceptual Model	8
Figure 2	Self-Leadership continuum	27
Figure 3	Surface level conceptualization of the Self-Leadership process	
Figure 4	Mindfulness Concepts and their relationships	43
Figure 5	Methodological progression of this study	71
Figure 6	Participant involvement sequence	79
Figure 7	Mindfulness as a self-led emotive change inducer	211
Figure 8	Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer -	
	General Action	212
Figure 9	Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer -	
	Deviant Behaviour	213
Figure 10	Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer -	
	Decision Making	214

## CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Context

Over the last three decades there has been a prominent change in economy and society due to the manifestation of knowledge and its importance for organizational success. The works of Drucker (1993, 1999, 2001, 2005) clearly pointed at such change with respect to how organizational response and agility to a new economy and a new society will be pivotal to their success and survival. Fast forward two decades, this different reality has clearly manifested itself in a context of increased globalization, the geographical shifting of economic powers, changing views on how organizations (should/could) operate and a gradual transformation from an industrialbased workforce to a knowledge-based workforce (Etzkowitz, 2012). In the current economical and organizational environment, a constant is the fact that environments change continuously (Greiff et al., 2013). With the heightened pace of change and competition, business success is more than ever dependent on greater employee contribution whereby organizations expect individuals to take on more work with less time for training (Dean, 2017). Even though in the past managers also relied on their subordinates to get the work done as a fundamental concept to the division of labor as introduced by Adam Smith, there is a shift in how much time managers can and are willing to spend on directing their subordinates to complete tasks (Wahl et al., 2012).

On the one hand, the moving from a resources-based environment to a knowledge-based environment has demanded organizations to change their approach to how they do things, but on the other hand, the new reality has given rise to radically different business models and approaches such as e-commerce and shared economies. The *Harvard Business Review* (Gino and Staats, 2015) points clearly at the need for the operations of the future to be sufficiently dynamic and adaptable. New ways of working are introduced to organizations against different expectations from workers, but equally different expectations of workers from their employers, making the notion of Change Management, with the likes of Prof. Kotter as one of the seminal authors (Kotter, 2012), pivotal to the success of organizations today (Knight, 2017). The recent emergence of new business models and changed organizational

approaches may be attributed to the expectation of individuals to be more independent and manifests itself as a mix of search for efficiency by organizations as well as the growing desire by workers to gain more control over their working lives. King and Zaino (2015) outline in the *Harvard Business Review* an emergent dependence of organizations on contingent workers with an expectation that this trend will continue to grow in the foreseeable future. This dependence is indeed explained by the fact that the knowledge worker of the 21<sup>st</sup> century seems to show an innate aspiration to be more independent as well as the belief by organizations that reliance on workers that can operate independently results in higher efficiency for the organization. Intuitively this shows a different position of the individual in today's world of work placing more individual responsibility on the worker to add value to economy and society, and therefore will require heightened ability to be self-lead to complete work that needs to be done within organizational and own-life constraints.

In the context of the knowledge economy, human resources are a pivotal component to the application and development of the needed knowledge. Organizations who increasingly try to leverage the value of their human resources and of their human capital, possibly find the workers' existing experience less and less important compared to their aptitude to learn and develop (Galabova and McKie, 2013). This again points at the central place of the individual in this new era of organizational performance where over the last few decades there is a recognition that the workforce of the past will need to be strengthened with respect to newly relevant competencies beyond technical expertise (Windsor et al., 2012; Harder et al., 2015) in order to be of optimal value in today's "active work situations" (Parent-Thirion et al., 2012).

Forbes points at the importance of workers in the 21<sup>st</sup> century to be selfdirected (Ryan, 2016) and breaks this down into various attributes that organizations are looking for when recruiting people. It is clear that the worker is expected to take charge of his/her own professional contribution to the organization as is evident from notions such as understanding their own path and career, the ability to point at personal success in recognition of strengths, being proactive problem solvers with a knack for self-development and the ability to set personal goals for success. Such expectations are in stark contrast to recruitment in the past, which was heavily guided by experience and technical expertise (Galabova and McKie, 2013). This is echoed by Gino and Staats (2015) who point at the desire of companies for their employees to think by themselves and think on their feet rather than just following orders, moving towards self-reliance to improve processes, create desired output and experiment with change to ultimately being able to reshape their actual work for enhanced success and productivity. Gino and Staats (2015) include the notion of "bringing the true self to work" in the context of genuine engagement with and commitment to their work.

These points made in the professional literature are mirrored in academic literature and public policies, which show the broader attention this issue has attracted beyond benefits sought by organizations. The academic and public policy literature shows recognition of this issue by means of outlining extensive lists of desired competencies for the 21st century worker (Farrugia and Sanger, 2017; Van Laar et al., 2017; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012; OECD, 2016; Jackson, 2013, 2009; Ontario Public Service, 2016). The National Research Council (2012) uses a categorization of Cognitive, Interpersonal and Intrapersonal skills, of which the former points at the importance of functional aspects of the worker such as problem solving, analytical and critical thinking whereby the latter two contain multiple competencies with respect to the self. These example competencies such as: self-presentation, coordination, service orientation, teamwork, adaptability, intellectual interest and curiosity, self-monitoring, continuous learning, initiative, self-reinforcement, responsibility, perseverance and career orientation. The Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills (P21, in Van Laar et al., 2017) distinguishes three categories of competencies: literacy, learning and life-related. The latter list examples such as: creativity and innovation, critical thinking and problem solving, communication, collaboration, flexibility and adaptability, initiative and self-direction, social and cross-cultural skills, productivity and accountability, leadership and responsibility. The work of Farrugia and Sanger (2017) highlights the importance of Self-Leadership, selfawareness, desire to learn, ability to learn from own mistakes (effective reflexivity), operate effectively in uncertain environments, manage conflicts, flexibility, adaptability and confidence. Fullan and Scott (2014) point at tenacity, perseverance, resilience, reliability and honesty, interest in engaging, critical thinking, learning from others, generate novel ideas and pursue those into practice. Selected literature

highlights the need for problem solving skills (Griffin and Annulis, 2013; Greiff et al., 2013; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012), critical thinking skills (Özyurt, 2015; Greiff et al., 2013), self-motivation and independence (Wahl et al., 2012; Windsor et al., 2012), Integrity and commitment (Totterdill, 2015), aptitude to learn continuously (Galabova and McKie, 2013; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012; Cressey et al., 2013), Personal Management Skills (Ontario Public Service, 2016), reflection (Totterdill, 2015; Cressey et al., 2013) and decision making (Farrugia and Sanger, 2017). Kanfer et al. (2017) further highlight creativity, commitment and loyalty, whereas Totterdill (2015) points further at self organization and initiative taking. There is a plethora of further lists, yet what is clear is that the bulk of the presented competencies can be intuitively linked to the context the employers and professionals highlighted in the professional literature with regards to the value being self-directed or self-led in a professional environment.

In the context of leveraging the power of human capital, organizations typically follow a two-pronged human resources approach to realize the attainment of a workforce that holds such competencies: hiring for the sought after profiles and professional development of the current workforce (Choo and Bontis, 2002; Holton and Naquin, 2002; Karami et al., 2004; Nafukho et al., 2004; Kennedy, 2005; Kong and Thomson, 2006: Davis, 2017). The focus of this study lies in the latter of the two options, i.e., management activities pertaining to human resources that allow for the development of the current workforce.

Given the changing nature of the 21<sup>st</sup> century realities, organizations have realized the value of looking at their future through a lens of development and innovation, whereby Peter Totterdill (2015) argues the importance to see innovation in organizations from a multi-dimensional perspective, instead of a technologyfocused point of view. In his work "Closing the Gap: The Fifth Element and Workplace Innovation" he contends the need for enhancing the competitiveness and increased productivity of the organization by workplace innovation through the interplay between organizational leadership, knowledge of frontline employees and organizational design. It speaks for itself that such an approach spans a spectrum of radical to incremental innovation, whereby indeed seemingly small interventions may contribute to considerable success. This study anchors on the growing popularity of professional development activities that introduce Mindfulness as a potential conduit to attain favorable outcomes with regards to organizational behavior. Mindfulness has enjoyed increased attention over the last few decades with respect to its impact on organizational behavior (Worawichayavongsa et al., 2017). Mindfulness practice, rooted in a Buddhist personal development context, has been studied on its impact on various human experiences (i.e., thinking, feeling and doing) (Brown et al., 2007) and has been preliminarily contended to be a "root construct" in organizational science (Good et al., 2016). Its application in the form of Mindfulness interventions (i.e., training programs) is reported on the increase in work settings (*Hülsheger et al., 2013*).

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

The context above describes a clear challenge facing organizations today. In light of the changed realities of competition, a constant is that companies and their management still rely on the work of subordinates. This realization urges organizations to develop human capital towards competitiveness (Galabova and Mckie, 2013). Linda Hill, economist and professor of business administration at the Harvard Business School, clearly points in an article of the Harvard Business Review (Knight, 2017) at the responsibility of organizational leadership to create and energize the environment for its workers by using an empathic perspective. The article further forwards the inability of directional leadership to achieve such an environment, instead calling for the adoption of transformational leadership styles to empower workers to become more self-led, whereby Hill advises an approach from a developmental angle. King and Zaino (2015) echo this overall sentiment and propose the issue to be addressed by means of fostering ownership in workers over their jobs and outputs in terms of the tasks they do, the time they use and the identity they hold as professionals. Kanfer et al. (2017) contend in this context the importance of creating work environments in support of self-determination to enhance outcomes. Totterdill (2015) proposes and addresses the problem by unpacking Frank Pot's notion of workplace innovation to empower employees through bridging management's aspirations for organizational success and knowledge of frontline employees through crafting what Pot (2011) describes as new interventions in work

organization and human resource management (i.e., workplace innovation). Pot et al. (2012) further posits this to be nested in strategic management of human and nonhuman resources to attain improved organizational performance alongside improved quality of working life.

The context of this study breathes the notion of the worker standing central to all of this. Mindfulness intervention can be seen as an example of what Pot describes as workplace innovation in the sense that its application – even though gaining ground in the workplace towards various desired organizational behaviors – is far from commonplace in endeavors for organizations to foster Self-Leadership in its employees. As the literature review will evidence, Mindfulness has been studied in various workplace related behaviors, and where applied for Self-Leadership, this has only been extensively studied with respect to people in managerial positions. If managers have the aspiration for their subordinates (i.e., non-managerial workers) to become self-led, and Mindfulness has shown somewhat promising results in developing leadership skills, the potential of Mindfulness for non-managerial employees is worthy of investigation. Considering the assertion of Good et al. (2016) that Mindfulness may well be a root construct to organizational science, its influence on workers in non-managerial positions needs to be well understood. The growing popularity of Mindfulness interventions in organizational settings is still relatively under researched (Passmore, 2019; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017; Good et al., 2016) and has little to no work appraising Mindfulness in relation to an organizational Self-Leadership context other than the fact that both constructs are contended to exhibit positive effects on job performance (Coo and Salanova, 2018; Furtner et al., 2015; Phang et al., 2015). The works of Bishop et al. (2004) and Furtner et al. (2015) allude to the positive attribution of what they refer to as the "observing" facet of Mindfulness with respect to Self-Leadership strategies, yet this is by no means clearly explored or illuminated. In the end, given the growing expectation by organizations of their workers with respect to Self-Leadership behaviors and the strong advocation for a developmental approach of workplace innovation centered around the individual, demands the further exploration of Mindfulness as a possible conduit to Self-Leadership and in particular the engagement in Self-Leadership strategies (Neck and Houghton, 2006).

#### **1.3 Research Objectives**

The objective of this exploratory research is to gain familiarity with the perspective of Mindfulness practitioners in non-managerial positions on how Mindfulness practice affects the way they operate at work in general but with particular attention to their engagement in Self-Leadership strategies. Primarily assuming the perspective of the Mindfulness practitioner, this study aims to, through a rich descriptive account, explore whether, and if so how, Mindfulness practice influences non-managerial employees to meet 21st Century world of work expectations by managers with a particular focus on becoming more self-led. The study does not intend to claim generalizable causal relationship between variables but hopes to illuminate the currently opaque understanding of the lived experience of nonmanagerial employees' Mindfulness practice at work and its conducive potential to becoming more self-directed. This rich descriptive account also aims to inform organizational decision making for both participating research sites of this study with regards to the adoption of Mindfulness interventions as formal professional development activities to further develop and leverage its workforce to be compatible with the 21<sup>st</sup> century knowledge economy and its demands. This all aligns seamlessly with the contention by Brendel and Bennett (2016) that with respect to the current experimentation of organizations with holistic developmental strategies, and in particular Mindfulness, there is a substantial lack of empiric investigation of such approaches.

#### **1.4 Research Questions**

This study is driven by two main research questions which progress sequentially towards the exploration of the central topic of investigation of this study i.e. Self-Leadership. The second research question is further divided into three subquestions in order to unpack the interplay between Mindfulness practice and Self-Leadership in a focused manner.

Main research questions:

RQ1: What is the lived experience of non-managerial employees of their Mindfulness practice at work?

RQ2: What is the lived experience of non-managerial employees of their Mindfulness practice at work with respect to becoming more self-led?

Sub research questions:

SRQ1: How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Natural Rewards strategies?

SQR2: How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Constructive Self-thought strategies?

SQR3: How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Behavior-focused strategies?

### 1.4.1 Conceptual Model

The fact that the study aims to illuminate the lived experience of the Mindfulness practice at work by non-managerial employees with a focus on self-led work composures makes the construction of a conceptual model of what is being measured and what will be the outcome of it highly dependent on what the Mindfulness practitioners have experienced and which information they volunteer with respect to their experiences. Nevertheless, attempts to outline a rather general conceptual model that would give the reader an initial sense of how the study in conceptual terms breaks down.



#### Figure 1 Conceptual Model

The study will describe the lived experience of participants in the study with respect to their Mindfulness practice at work in an exploratory attempt to illuminate how Mindfulness practice influences their overall emotive and behavioral work composures, with particular attention to the three Self-Leadership strategies as per the operationalization of Self-Leadership in this study (see chapter 2). The investigation of the experiences around emotive and behavioral work composures will give attention to affected organizational variables such as for example teamwork, performance, etc. The investigation will then progress towards seeing how Self-Leadership strategies are triggered as a result of Mindfulness practice towards expected composures for a 21<sup>st</sup> Century workplace.

#### **1.5 Personal Motivation**

The researcher was introduced to Mindfulness in 2016 and has ever since been very intrigued by the construct and its practice. Having operated in both nonmanagerial and managerial positions in her professional career, the researcher has often asked herself the question how individuals can be truly bought-in to the idea of going the extra mile, figuring out ways to solve problems at work, pursuing personal and professional growth to become more resourceful and, above all, becoming a confident master of one's own fate. Being a Mindfulness practitioner and having seen Mindfulness included in educational programs for youngsters in Thailand, has sparked the interest of the researcher around the utilization of Mindfulness in organizational settings. Her paper on Mindfulness to enable success of the 21<sup>st</sup> century worker, presented at the 14th International Conference on Intellectual Capital, Knowledge Management & Organizational Learning ICICKM2017 at Hong Kong Polytechnic University, further peaked her interest in the matter and this study is aimed to be one of multiple avenues to explore how Mindfulness can be of benefit to people in the current era of economic and societal dynamism.

#### **1.6 Research Significance**

This study aims to deliver three contributions to the knowledge domain of which one is strictly theoretical, one is strictly practical, and one can be argued to hold a dual nature. The theoretical contribution of this study lies in the investigation of the interplay between Mindfulness practice and work composures with particular interest on Self-Leadership. Investigation of the manner in which both constructs interface is to the knowledge of the researcher limited at best and existing studies have typically involved Mindfulness practitioners who are in leadership positions (Hu et al., 2019; Mahfouz, 2018; Frizzell et al., 2016; McKee et al., 2006; Pipe and Bortz, 2009; Verdorfer, 2016) or students (Furtner et al., 2018; Rieken et al., 2017; Wang and Liu, 2016; Tadlock-Marlo, 2011). Therefore, using the workplace context as a ground for investigation of non-managerial employees is enriching to the body of knowledge around Mindfulness and Self-Leadership.

The contribution of theoretical/practical nature pertains to the setting and context in which this study takes place. As is outlined in the methodology section in chapter three, the participants of this study are selected on the back of undergoing a Mindfulness intervention at work (i.e., a Mindfulness training organized by the participating organizations). The study therefore aims to exploratorily illuminate the potential of Mindfulness practice towards an improved fit with the expectations of managers in the 21<sup>st</sup> century with regards to the need for the proverbial "more independent worker". This is a theoretical contribution in the sense that it contributes to the body of knowledge of organizational science but equally is a practical contribution since the study will inform the research sites further on the effectiveness Mindfulness practice at work. The "more independent worker" is often referred to as an umbrella phrase for personal skills and attributes that are particularly sought after by organizations that have entered the 21<sup>st</sup> Century knowledge economy (Knight, 2017; King and Zaino, 2015; Gino and Staats, 2015).

This leads seamlessly in the third contribution of this study which is a purely practical in nature. This study aims to inform the decision makers of the participating organizations about the potential of Mindfulness training as a professional development activity. The participating organizations have selected the Mindfulness intervention related to this study as a pilot test with the eye on possibly rolling this approach out throughout the whole organization, depending on its outcome. This study is therefore expected to illuminate how further promotion of Mindfulness practice can benefit the organization allowing the decision makers to progress towards developing their professional development suites at their respective organizations i.e. a self-directed workforce.

The relevance of this study lies in its exploration of the potential of Mindfulness practice as an enabler for Self-Leadership whereby it contributes to validating the claim by Good et al. (2016) that Mindfulness is possibly a new root construct in organizational science in particular with respect to the type of work profile that organizations of the 21st Century are seeking. As the literature review will evidence, the two key constructs of this study i.e. Mindfulness and Self-Leadership, are topics of high interest in todays organizational environment. Organizations show great interest in a worker profile that includes self-directedness to suit today's compounding organizational realities with respect to time, budget and workload. Mindfulness has been contented to sit at the foundation of building and developing effective organizational composures for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century, yet there is a lack of empiric evidence to strengthen the contention. This study will therefore advance the body of knowledge with some significance, in the sense that it will carefully unpack the lived experience around engagement in Self-Leadership strategies as a result of Mindfulness practice. As elaborately outlined in the context section 1.1. of this chapter, the notion of self-directedness is a highly sought after attribute in today's economic environment (Ryan, 2016) to successfully operate in a highly dynamic organizational environment (Greiff et al.. 2013) with a heightened pace of work (Dean, 2017) and little or no time for direction by management (Wahl et al., 2017). This study therefore explores the potential gateway nature of Mindfulness practice towards engagement in Self-Leadership strategies to allow individuals to nurture their own ability to think independently, think on their feet, take initiative, act independently and bring their authentic self to work (Ghino and Staats, 2015).

The novelty of this study comes out of the fact that only a handful of studies have explored the impact of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership warranting further exploration of the relationship. In addition, none of the existing studies have clearly explored the enabling effect of Mindfulness practice on Self-Leadership strategies through which Self-Leadership is being operationalized in this study. Adding to the novelty of this study is that, up to date, to the knowledge of the researcher, no study exists that has explored the enabling effect of Mindfulness practice on Self-Leadership at work in non-managerial employees.

The research outcome is worthwhile since it is projected to be utilized as input in a decision-making process around whether or not the promotion of Mindfulness practice will be rolled out organization wide in both organizations that function as study sites for this research in search for a more self-lead staff body. The overall significance of the study argued above is well summarized by Brendel and Bennett (2016) who point at the dire need for empiric research on how the innovative professional development route of introducing Mindfulness in organizational contexts can play a potentially significant part in developing a worthwhile workforce for the 21st Century.

#### 1.7 Definition of Terms

Mindfulness refers to purposeful observation of all experiences in the present moment in a non-judgmental manner (Kabat-Zinn, 1982) through self-regulation of attention and orientation (Bishop et al., 2004). It is defined as "a state of consciousness in which attention is focused on present-moment phenomena occurring both externally and internally" (Dane, 2011, pp.1000), involving "an open, undivided observation of what is occurring both internally and externally" (Brown and Ryan, 2003, pp. 823). Brown et al. (2007, pp.212) describe it as "receptive attention to and awareness of present events and experiences". The literature presents various subconstructs in the context of Mindfulness by referring to state Mindfulness, trait Mindfulness, Mindfulness practice and Mindfulness intervention (Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017), which will be elaborated on in the literature review. With reference to the research questions, Mindfulness practice refers to the active engagement in Mindfulness techniques, in other words, being a Mindfulness practitioner. Mindfulness intervention refers to a deliberate activity undertaken in an organizational context to enable people to engage in Mindfulness practice in an organizational context towards ultimately organizational benefit.

**Non-Managerial Employees:** Following the general Human Resources and Management content in Armstrong's Handbook of Human Resource Management Practice (Armstrong and Taylor, 2014), in this study the term "non-managerial employees" refers to employees that hold no line management responsibilities. In other words, this would refer to positions with post titles or occupational titles that do not suggest or imply the holding of line management responsibility in an organizational structure.

**Self-Leadership** is described by Furtner et al. (2015) as a self-influencing process towards improved personal performance and effectiveness. The literature (Neck and Houghton, 2006; Furtner et al., 2015) points at Self-Leadership to be a composite structure of three categories of strategies: Behavior-focused strategies, Natural Rewards strategies and Constructive Self-thought strategies. The respective strategies refer to various behaviors depending on the domain: Behavior-focused strategies (self-goal setting, self-observation, self-reward, self-punishment, and self-cueing), Natural Rewards strategies (fostering intrinsic motivation), and Constructive Self-thought strategies (positive self-talk and constructively evaluating beliefs and assumptions)

#### **1.8 Dissertation outline**

While chapter one outlines the general context that gives rise to the relevance and choice of the topic of this research, Chapter two gives a detailed account of the relevant literature on the subject. Chapter three outlines the qualitative methodology used for this study and gives a detailed explanation around the appropriateness of the followed approach to arrive at the robust and worthwhile result. Chapter four presents the findings of the study, which forms the basis for the discussion of the findings in Chapter five. Chapter six concludes the study by drawing general and specific conclusions towards answering the research questions, outlining the avenues forward for both researchers and organizational decision makers based on the theoretical and practical contributions this study aims to make and finally recognizing the limitations of the study and how future research is informed by what this study has uncovered.

## CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter is an attempt to provide the current literature around the topic of this study in order present a body of work that outlines the state of the art for the reader to have a good insight in the context of the study and the constructs deployed.

First this chapter presents the context in which this study is nested, i.e. the 21<sup>st</sup> century knowledge economy. Particular attention is given to the types of worker profiles that 21<sup>st</sup> century employers seek and the changed organizational expectations of today and the foreseeable future.

The second part of this chapter concisely unpacks the construct of Self-Leadership theoretically, introduces the salient current definitions and highlights the relevant benefits associated with Self-Leadership in context to arrive at the chosen operationalization of the construct for this study. The section closes by a short outline of some paradoxes associated with Self-Leadership and concludes by tying Self-Leadership back to the earlier discussed context of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace.

The third part of this literature review illuminates the second central construct of this study i.e. Mindfulness. Through a brief outline of the construct background and key definitions, this section dedicates considerable attention to unpacking the nature of Mindfulness. The section closes with the aggregation of the literature around the benefits of Mindfulness in five categories i.e. Physical and Mental, Emotional, Cognitive, Behavioral and Self-Oriented.

The final section of this literature review ties both key constructs to this study together and presents the limited current literature on Mindfulness and Self-Leadership as the closing piece of this literature review.

### 2.1 The 21<sup>st</sup> century knowledge economy

### 2.1.1 Context

Over the last five decades, knowledge has claimed a central place within the world. The place of knowledge is both of societal and economic importance, which has given birth to the widely accepted terms of knowledge society and knowledge economy. In this world of knowledge, the term knowledge society refers to a societal network in which knowledge is more readily available to citizens, yet this prompts questions around accessibility thereof and its leveraging for human development and well-being at large (UNESCO, 2005). With the emergence of knowledge as a central component to economic progression and organizational success over the recent past, the reality of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century economy is very different compared to that of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century. Drucker (1993, 1999, 2001, 2005) points clearly at this difference by outlining the manner in which organizations are required to develop, leverage and disseminate knowledge in order to become and remain competitive in this knowledge economy in stark contrast to the times where organizations could get competitive advantage out of the mere possession or access to resources in what is often referred to as a resource-based economy. It is commonly accepted that in this new economic paradigm knowledge is the primary focal point for organizational success in the sense that it is the first and foremost source of continued competitive advantage (Powell and Snellman, 2004).

This change has manifested itself alongside—and arguably in conjunction with-trends of increased globalization, geographic shift of economic powers, emergence of new industries and changing views on how organizations operate (Etzkowitz, 2012). Globalization has resulted in an exploding exposure to organizational relevant factors such as new markets, technologies, resources, competitors, ways of working, etc. The geographic shift of economic powers has put various emergent economies (e.g. countries in the ASEAN alliance) on the map and has attracted plenty of investment in those economies both by local and international investors. New industries, of which the uptake of technological evolutions is a prime example, have created new types of jobs, new types of outputs and new types of business models and each in their own right has impacted the current scene of the 21st century economy. Changing views on organizational management have emerged and are likely to continue to emerge as a result of various new ways of how people look at the world (e.g. the shared economy, flexible contracts, cross disciplinary approaches, self-managed teams, etc.). Even though the bottom line of organizational success remains fairly similar to the past, with the possible exception with regards to a growing concern for environmental sustainability, the way in which organizations see

the meeting of such bottom line results has been subject to change (Dean, 2017; Greiff et al., 2013; Wahl et al., 2012).

The role of the worker in an economy that has become more and more knowledge-based, has changed in the sense that organizations expect their workers to be able to complete tasks that are knowledge-based in an environment that has decreased the amount of direction given by their superior (Wahl et al., 2012). One of the reasons for this is possibly the overarching highly-dynamic environment in which organizations and managers are operating, whereby their shareholders and stakeholders expect an organization to be highly agile in meeting the expectations of customers, consumers, suppliers, employees and government (Gino and Staats, 2015; King and Zaino, 2015). The pressure of these new expectations around agility inevitably trickle down to the front-line workers in organizations, who have become expected to be responsive to a wider range of demands from their employing organization. The notion of Change Management has become a standing notion in organizational management textbooks and is hailed as a fundamental approach to leading an organization to success in the 21<sup>st</sup> century (King, 2017). Not only does this hold true for companies and business models that (have) need(ed) review in transitioning from resource-based to knowledge-based contexts, but equally to new organizational models that have emerged in the wake of the proliferation of knowledge over the last 30 years.

The reality of today – and this spans across economic and societal spheres – is that change is the constant (Kotter, 2012; Greiff et al., 2013). With the human resource as a central contributor to the development, leveraging and diffusion of knowledge in the organization it is imperative for organizations to be able to deploy a workforce that is able to respond to the requirements of this new 21<sup>st</sup> century knowledge economy that is typified by increasing competition and continuous dynamism if the organization wants to remain relevant today and tomorrow (Gino and Staats, 2015; King and Zaino, 2015). In this context, the economic value of knowledge in the 21<sup>st</sup> century economy is centered around the ability of workers to produce and apply knowledge through the deployment of various soft and hard skills, innovation, learning, creativity, networking and openness towards contributing to the

growth and competitiveness of the organization (Nonaka and Takeuchi, 1995; Peters, 2010).

Today's changed work setting is reported to be typified by an increased need for interdisciplinarity, growing cultural diversity, problem solving capturing multiple stakeholders' perspectives and heightened productivity expectations (Germaine et al., 2016). Beyond the functional dimension of a worker's activity, the 21<sup>st</sup> century has brought – and promises to continue to bring – increased tensions around work-life balance (Blustein, 2006) and a shift in career management responsibility towards the individual (Donald et al., 2017). What must be intuitively evident to the attentive reader, is that, if the economic reality of organizations has changed and demands incremental or fundamental changes to the way organizations operate, it can only be expected that the professional profile of the worker of the 20<sup>th</sup> century is likely to be challenged in order to be of added value to this new economic environment and the resulting new world of work.

#### 2.1.2 Changing Sought Profiles

Against the backdrop of the new economic and organizational realities, organizations have reportedly struggled to secure the required human resources that fit with the current expectations of organizations. This debate has been held in the context of how the new and current workforce of today is being prepared for the world of work of tomorrow through education, professional development and overarching governmental policy (UNESCO, 2015). Yet the crux of the problem lies in understanding what types of profiles are sought by organizations that operate in a knowledge-driven economy. The literature around the competencies required for the 21<sup>st</sup> century economy is pervasive, but what is clearly of concern is the highlighted remaining mismatch in the profiles of current and prospective workers compared to that for which organizations look (OECD, 2017a, 2017b). The literature around how education prepares input for the new economic workforce and the continued critique of employers around the inability of education to prepare a workforce that is fit for purpose are clear evidence of this sustained issue (Sin and Amaral, 2017). Germaine et al. (2016) point at the cross-disciplinary and functional nature of jobs in relation to organizational success as a driving force behind the understanding of what

competencies are desirable. Jackson (2013) further contends that competence in such desirable competencies is a bottom-line requirement to be regarded as an employee that is fit for purpose, making more competencies become part of the proverbial threshold competencies for a worker to be considered as up-to-the-task.

Literature of an academic, public and professional nature recognize this issue, which has resulted in more than a decade of literature that tries to capture the profiles organizations are looking for by means of exploring what is referred to in the Human Resource discipline as KSAO's (knowledge, skills, attitudes and others). This has resulted in various and extensive lists of competencies that are said to be required from the 21<sup>st</sup> century worker in order to add value to the organization of today (e.g. Farrugia and Sanger, 2017; Van Laar et al., 2017; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012; OECD, 2016; Jackson, 2013, 2009; Ontario Public Service, 2016). Categorization efforts around desired competencies have been attempted to make the notion of what is desirable more organized, and are typically rooted in the literature around development of competencies for the 21st century. For example, the National Education Association (2012) introduced its 4C Framework with the headers Communication, Collaboration, Creativity and Critical thinking for problem solving. The National Research Council (NRC, 2012) proposes cognitive, interpersonal and intra-personal competencies which frame worker profiles around functional aspects of the job and the way in which the individual positions oneself at work. The functional categorization refers to the ability to solve professional work-related problems, approach the job through analytical thinking and deploy a general sense of critical thinking with regards to the work to be done. Beyond functional competencies, the NRC also contends the need for competencies concerning the self whereby this regards not only who one is when coming to work, but equally how one behaves at work and interfaces with colleagues, organizations and other stakeholders. Some examples of noted competencies in this regard are: self-presentation, coordination, service orientation, teamwork, adaptability, intellectual interest and curiosity, selfmonitoring, continuous learning, initiative, self-evaluation, productivity, flexibility, meta-cognition, learning how to learn, self-direction, self-reinforcement, responsibility, perseverance and career orientation. The Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills (P21, 2008) proposes three categories that relate competencies to literacy,

learning and life. Literacy covers not only traditional verbal and numerical literacy, but equally the notion of technological literacy. The learning category very much contends abilities to learn but equally attitudes towards learning whereby the notion of life-long learning has become a very popular term in this regard. Life related competencies concern the larger context in which the individual operates and its interface with work. P21 contends the need for competencies such as creativity and innovation, critical thinking and problem solving, communication, collaboration, flexibility and adaptability, initiative and self-direction, social and cross-cultural skills, productivity and accountability, leadership and responsibility.

In their work 'Gaining an Employment Edge', Farrugia and Sanger (2017) point at the need for Self-Leadership, self-awareness, the desire to learn, effective reflecting, the ability to operate in uncertain environments, managing conflict, flexibility, adaptability and confidence. Fullan and Scott (2014) highlight the need for tenacity, perseverance, resilience, reliability and honesty, interest in engaging, critical thinking, learning from others, generating novel ideas and pursuing those ideas into practice. Selected literature highlights the need for problem solving skills (Griffin and Annulis, 2013; Greiff et al., 2013; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012), critical thinking skills (Ozyurt, 2015; Greiff et al., 2013), self-motivation and independence (Wahl et al., 2012; Windsor et al., 2012), integrity and commitment (Totterdill, 2015), aptitude to learn continuously (Galabova and McKie, 2013; Parent-Thirion et al., 2012; Cressey et al., 2013), personal management skills (Ontario Public Service, 2016), reflection (Totterdill, 2015; Cressy et al., 2013) and decision making (Farrugia and Sanger, 2017; ATC21S, 2012). Kanfer et al. (2017) further highlight creativity, commitment and loyalty, whereas Totterdill (2015) points at self-organization and initiative taking. Paul and Elder (2014) argue the need for intellectually virtuous individuals that are humble, empathic, fair and courageous. Worawichyavongsa et al. (2017) present success-conducive competencies for the knowledge focused 21st century world of work as problem-solving, creativity and innovation, resilience, teamwork and collaboration, communication, Intellectual virtue, life-long learning and career management.

What must be seen as a common thread throughout all of the competencies highlighted above is the notion that they pertain generic competencies of what a

worker should be like and should be able to do. They concern personal dispositions to work, cognitive abilities and behaviors that intertwined result in a value-adding employee to an organization and are often referred to as transferrable across any type of organization. This argument by no means discounts the value and need for technical knowledge of the specific professional field in which one is engaged; however, it highlights the fact that effective ability in 'softer' competencies has become increasingly important and even a baseline necessity and expectation in the world of work today.

### 2.1.3 Changing Organizational Expectations

It is important to note that the competencies that make it to exhaustive lists around what makes an employee desirable are not necessarily something new. Paul et al. (1997) trace the NEA's 4 C framework (NEA, 2012) back to the times of the Great Greek thinkers. Socrates, Plato and Aristotle advocated for the value of communication, learning, critical thinking, teamwork, creativity and innovation. Rotherham and Willingham (2009) contended – and this is echoed by Jackson (2013) – that such competencies, even though having been in demand forever, have now become a factor on which collective and individual success is dependent or, in other words, a sine qua non for professional and organizational success (Velasco, 2012). This places the requirement and expectation for the possession of these softer competencies as complementary, and at times superior to, technical skills (Harder et al., 2015).

The increased urgency for the 21<sup>st</sup> century competencies is often contended as a result of technological growth, heightened workplace dynamism, increased workforce diversity and growing global competitive pressures (Greenstein, 2012). What must be highlighted is that the expectation of organizations is for the individual to take onus around possession of these competencies, fitting within a larger paradigm shift that can be observed since the century change which includes career development and progression (Donald et al., 2017; Tomlinson, 2012). In many cases, the demands from individual workers have increased and the complexity of these demands has heightened, whereby in many cases this renewed expectation can be very daunting for an individual (Bluestein, 2006). Not only is one nowadays expected to possess an extensive set of workplace skills at a substantial level of competence, but equally one is expected to sharpen such ability in response to a highly dynamic future and carry personal responsibility therein (Galabova and McKie, 2013). The undercurrent to the changed expectations of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace can likely be found to be the shift in onus from the organization to the individual. Buzz words around desirable employees are self-direction, autonomy, proactivity, self-monitoring, etc. Employee contribution is seen as a more fundamental dependency with respect to organizational success alongside an expectation of higher aptitude for diverse work tasks without additional developmental time (Dean, 2017). Wahl et al. (2012) points very clearly at a decreased tendency of managers to dedicate time on guiding and directing their subordinates in the completion of their tasks. An organization's operational system is expected to be increasingly agile (Gino and Staats, 2015), which has ushered in a trend around the use of contingent workforce (King and Zaino, 2015) which is foreseen to grow for the foreseeable future.

Ryan (2016) uses self-direction as an overarching notion when discussing what organizations in the 21<sup>st</sup> century look for in new recruits. Taking personal charge of organizational contribution and career progression, self-awareness around strengths and personal success, proactivity when problem solving, and a natural tendency to self-development through personal goal setting for success can all be expected to become going-rate around appraising individuals in a recruitment process. Companies expect their workers to think for themselves and be self-reliant towards adding value to the organization, create desired output, improve processes, and ultimately reshape their actual work for enhanced productivity (Gino and Staats, 2015) with equally enhanced personal meaning (Berg et al., 2010). The attentive reader will intuitively recognize that the undercurrent of the 21st century expectations of its employees is very much typified by the onus on the self, the individual to take responsibility and be in charge of one's professional contribution to the organization of which one is a part.

#### 2.2 Self-Leadership

#### 2.2.1 Theoretical Context

Inspired by Kerr and Jermier's (1978) attempts to substitute leadership, the term Self-Leadership first emerged in the mid 1980's (Manz, 1983; 1986) - by expanding the notions of self-control and self-management (Manz and Sims, 1980; Thoresen and Mahoney, 1974). The work of Thoresen and Mahoney (1974), in particular, presented the research around self-management in a theoretical context of behavioral modification and social learning (Bandura, 1991; Luthans and Kreitner, 1985). The work of Manz (1986) in the Academy of Management Review is widely accepted as the seminal text on the construct and presenting the basic Self-Leadership strategies that will be used to operationalize the construct for this study. The construct gained popularity since the mid 1980's and throughout the turn of the century (Neck and Houghton, 2006) with, alongside substantial scholarly attention, equal inclusion of the notion in various textbooks that cover leadership and management subjects (Kreitner and Kinicki, 2003; Nahavandi, 2006; Slocum and Hellriegel, 2009) and equal traction in the field of professional development in organizations (Neck and Manz, 1996; Stewart et al., 1996).

Self-Leadership takes the fundamental stance that behavior, even though affected by external factors, is ultimately controlled by internal rather than external forces (Manz, 1986). Even though the construct has been practically and theoretically acknowledged (Neck and Houghton, 2006; Stewart et al., 2011), it is fair to say that in relative terms most attention to the concept was conceptual rather than empiric (Andressen et al., 2012) with somewhat of an uptake of empiric studies since recently (Furtner et al., 2015).

The construct of Self-Leadership, even though initially an individual focused one, quickly gained attention at the group level too (Campion et al., 1993), showing the construct to span organizational levels and connect the individual analysis level with that of the group. However, Stewart et al. (2011) points out that that Self-Leadership has been studied more vigorously at the individual level. Self-Leadership is rooted in self-regulation theory (Carver and Scheier, 1981), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1991) and self-determination theory (Deci and Ryan, 1987). Self-
regulation and control theory draws the analogy of the self-regulatory process with a thermostat where temperature is controlled. Analogously, a person monitors his/her performance in its context, compares this to a desired state and, in case of discrepancy, engages in behavioral change or re-evaluates and adjusts the desired state in line with the monitored performance (Carver and Scheier, 1981). Just like a thermostat, the ultimate goal is to eliminate discrepancy between the current and the desired state. Carver and Scheier (1998) refined their theory by pointing at the mediating influence of hope and confidence, whereby the possession of hope and confidence would result in discrepancy reduction through expansion of performance driven effort, and whereas in cases of negative goal attainment expectancy one would more likely pursue alternative goals or give up. Self-regulation theory can be found to have two possible foci, promotion or prevention (Carver, 2001; Higgins, 1998). Promotion is concerned with the regulation of positive outcomes. In other words, it relates to the striving for attributes a person would aspire to possess. Self-regulation for prevention refers to the regulation of negative outcomes covering concepts such as personal safety, responsibility and duty. Compared to the ideal attributes in the promotion context, the prevention focus concerns itself with attributes of what one should possess or be like. Latham and Locke (1991) have noted that even though people are naturally self-regulating entities, they are not innately effective at it, opening room for Self-Leadership to provide remedy (Neck and Houghton, 2006).

Bandura's (1991) social cognitive theory is another fundamental theoretical realm in which Self-Leadership operates. This theory points at the best way to explain human behavior is through the investigation of a reciprocal relationship between three factors: behavior, internal influences and external influences. The interface of these three factors is also referred to as the triadic reciprocity. Social cognitive theory aligns with self-regulation theory in the sense that it acknowledges a self-regulatory system of self-monitoring, self-evaluation and self-response. Where self-regulation focuses on discrepancy reduction only, social cognitive theory asserts that people, under the assumption of control over performance standard setting, set performance goals (assumed better/higher than before) based on past experiences, thereby creating discrepancy. The production of this discrepancy then induces efforts to reduce discrepancy and to then set higher standards again. A key concept to social cognitive

theory is self-efficacy (i.e. self-view of the possession of capabilities necessary to perform a task). The potential of Self-Leadership lies, in particular, in its ability to positively influence self-efficacy for performance (Müller and Niessen, 2018, 2019; Neck and Manz, 1996).

Self-Determination theory, the third foundation theoretical sphere in which Self-Leadership is rooted, aligns with Self-Leadership most significantly through the notion of intrinsic motivation (Deci, 1975), which is through cognitive evaluation theory (Deci and Ryan, 1985). Cognitive evaluation theory posits the need for selfdetermination (i.e. the need to feel free from pressures, e.g. contingent rewards) and competence (i.e. the need to practice and extend personal capabilities) as fundamentals that drive intrinsic motivation. The theory further assumes a perspective of people's innate disposition towards elevating feelings of competence and selfcontrol, or in other words self-determination, through searching for and overcoming challenges. Self-Leadership incorporates self-control and competence perception through reward strategies (Manz and Neck, 2004; Neck and Houghton, 2006), which form one of the three fundamental Self-Leadership strategies used to conceptualize and operationalize the construct for this study.

## 2.2.2 Defining Self-Leadership

Neck and Manz (2010) have taken a broad definition approach to the construct as a "process of influencing oneself" (p. 4), whereas a more refined address of the construct is captured by Manz (1986) as a "comprehensive self-influence perspective that concerns leading oneself toward performance of naturally motivating tasks as well as managing oneself to do work that must be done but is not naturally motivating" (p. 589). The perspective that Self-Leadership is a process is a common thread that can be found within the literature (Manz, 1986; Manz and Neck, 2004; Neck and Houghton, 2006; Stewart et al., 2011; Stewart et al., 2017; Neck et al., 2017) whereby individuals, through particular behavioral and cognitive strategies, exercise control over their own behavior towards ultimately self-direction, selfeffectiveness and self-motivation with regards to the tasks to be performed. Manz (1986) further contends Self-Leadership consists of three strategies, which he categorized as behavioral, cognitive and intrinsically motivating. A general critique on Self-Leadership is its suggested overlap with other classic theories of motivation, raising the question around indistinguishability, and hence redundancy of the construct. The so called indistinct nature of Self-Leadership to classic theories of motivation (e.g. self-regulation and self-management) is the most common critique against Self-Leadership (Neck and Houghton, 2006; Markham and Markham, 1995).

First and foremost, the difference between both lies in the fundamentally different nature of Self-Leadership. Neck and Houghton (2006) outline the normative nature of Self-Leadership as opposed to descriptive nature of classic motivation theories. Normative theories focus on prescribing the how something should be done, rather than descriptive theories that are explanatory in purpose, which typically fall short in offering normative advice towards, for example, the management of a process. Descriptive theory is in many cases highly useful to explain the method and purpose of normative theory's prescription. When then exploring the conceptual difference between constructs, Furtner et al. (2015) recognize the surface level similarities with prominent motivational constructs such as the need for achievement, self-regulation, and self-efficacy. They further acknowledge that they "are tied together by their relations to effectiveness and performance .... They all seek to enhance these" (Furtner et al., 2015, p. 108-109).

The distinguishing factors between the motivational constructs and Self-Leadership lie on the one hand in the fact that self-leadership is composite to various self-influencing strategies (Neck and Hougton, 2006) as compared to a more narrow approach to defining the other constructs, and on the other hand stems also from Self-Leadership to operate in a more conscious and voluntary sphere of the individual's behavior whereby the other constructs are all temporally antecedent (Furtner et al., 2015). It could be argued that Self-Leadership and its composite structure of strategies would aid one in the 'how' to effectively use self-regulatory modes. Equally, the construct of Self-Leadership, even though related to, needs to be seen as distinct from notions such as self-management or self-control in the sense that it encompasses a broader sense of self-direction by capturing more comprehensively the concept of intrinsic motivation, involving a wider array of self-influencing strategies and generally addressing higher level standards that impact self-influence (Stewart et al., 2011). As much as Furtner et al.'s (2015) empiric study shows conceptual distinction of Self-Leadership from the classic motivational constructs, they equally point at the need for further investigating the underlying mechanisms in order to sharpen up the conceptualization and understanding of Self-Leadership in the context of this debate. Where self-management has primarily a behavioral focus, Self-Leadership places intrinsic reward, cognition and other intrinsic factors central to the theory (Neck et al., 2017).

Manz (1991) distinguishes Self-Leadership from self-management through a discussion of the object of the notion (the what), the process of the notion (the how) and the purpose thereof (the why). Self-management is contended to be addressing primarily how to perform work/tasks against externally set standards whereby the primary reliance for guidance is on extrinsic motivation and its focus on behavior. Self-Leadership on the other hand, even though similarly considered as a selfinfluence process, focuses on standards and objectives (what is to be done), the purpose of doing so (why) and how to do the task driven by intrinsic motivation and with a heightened focus on cognitive processes. Stewart et al. (2011) tempers the contention of distinction between the two notions and points at the complementary nature of extrinsic rewards and motivators to Self-Leadership and highlights that by no means does the construct rely solely on intrinsic motivation. The inclusion of behavioral and cognitive drivers that are intrinsic, and how these can be addressed or tapped into by externals (e.g. leaders or organizations) towards supporting individuals to lead themselves, is the point of distinction. Since the notion of self-influence is not a discrete construct, it can be represented as a continuum ranging from being externally managed to Self-Leadership (see ) whereby external motivating factors are progressively complemented with intrinsic motivating factors. The distinction between self-management and Self-Leaderships outlined above, this continuum and the progressive increase in self-control based on self-set standards hold true at the individual level but equally at the team level. Stewart et al. (2019) notes that at the team level in particular the notions of self-managed versus self-lead are used interchangeable, leading to ambiguity in the literature.

Figure 2 Self-Leadership continuum (Stewart et al., 2011)

Externally managed	Self-management	Self-leadership
No influence over What,	Influence over How of	Influence over What,
How, and Why of Work	work	How, and Why of work
Dependent only on extrinsic incentives	Mainly dependent on	Dependent on intrinsic
	extrinsic incentives	and extrinsic incentives

Self-Leadership would be graded as low in situations that are externally managed as compared to high in situations where individuals or teams have clear control over how to work, what the work task entails and why the work is done (Manz, 1986; Stewart et al. 2011). The continuous nature of the Self-Leadership construct is worthy of note in the sense that this allows for Self-Leadership not to be seen as the right end of the spectrum discretely but as incorporating varying levels of 'being beyond external control' (the left end of the continuum). The ultimate right end of the spectrum reflects situations where individuals apply self-management strategies in conjunction or driven by assessment of standards (own and context) for appropriateness. Stewart et al. (2011) outlines moving on the continuum as an individual increasingly taking control and influencing what work to do, how to do it and the why of doing it. Manz (2015) further points at the difference between selfmanagement and Self-Leadership, with the latter being driven by superordinate standards beyond what our direct context (e.g. work) places in front of us. In an organizational context, Manz (2015) argues Self-Leadership to be the highest level of internal control.

Stewart et al. (2011) further points at what they categorize as internal and external forces (or antecedents) that influence Self-Leadership practices and outcomes at both individual and team levels. Internal forces at the individual level are indicated as intrinsic motivation (Gagné and Deci, 2005), thought patterns (Manz et al., 1988), personality (Stewart et al., 1996) and emotional regulation (Côté, 2005). Individuals who are more likely to be intrinsically motivated, tap into Constructive Self-thought patterns, who are more conscientious and who manage to regulate their emotions effectively can be expected to more positively engage in Self-Leadership practice. At the team level, internal forces that influence the impact of self-regulation of a team are contended to be team composition (Bell, 2007), task characteristics (Langfred, 2007; Courtright et al. 2015), team cognition (Mathieu et al., 2000; Courtright et al., 2015), cohesion (Millikin et al., 2010; Stewart et al., 2012) and conflict (Paulson et al., 2009). Team self-regulation is likely to be most effective with the presence of the 'right' team members that deal with mostly conceptual tasks that are addressed with shared understanding in a self-reinforcing manner and where conflict is appropriately addressed. Highly cohesive teams typically have strong norms that support the selfenforcing nature of reward and punishment (Stewart et al., 2012). Externally, individual Self-Leadership practice is subjected to forces such as training (Frayne and Geringer, 2000), leadership (Ahearne et al., 2005; Furtner et al., 2013) and national culture (Ke et al., 2006; Neubert and Wu, 2006). Self-Leadership can be learned, can be catalyzed through formal leadership practices towards subordinates (e.g. empowering leadership and shared leadership but equally provision of access to required resources), and cultural dimensions such as Hofstede's power distance, individualism and uncertainty avoidance may significantly influence the manner in which Self-Leadership is approached, practiced and cognitively processed. At the team level, external forces are reported as external leadership (Morgeson et al., 2010), reward systems (Stewart et al., 2012), organizational design (Tata and Prasad, 2004) and national culture (Kirkman and Shapiro, 2001). The importance of external leadership support and the nature of national culture to be conducive to Self-Leadership can be seen as a parallel with the external forces at the individual level. For teams, however, appropriate reward structures and the manner in which the organizational culture and structure enables or obstructs self-regulation are highly impacting.

Contemporary conceptualizations on Self-Leadership typically stem from control theory but equally infuse notions of cognitive theory and self-determination theory. The process nature of Self-Leadership is a fundamental notion to its conceptualization as outlined in .

# Figure 3 Surface level conceptualization of the Self-Leadership process (Adapted from Manz (1986)).



The process starts with an individual's perception of a current state that is being compared with one or more self-set standards. The evaluation of the discrepancy between both triggers engagement in behavior to reduce the observed gap. The engaged behavior's impact is then examined in terms of the new current state, setting a new starting point for the same conceptual cycle. The similarity to organizational control systems is obvious, yet rather than organizational set standards ruling the cycle, the perceptions, examination, assessment and evaluation is driven by self-imposed standards. The reality in organizational contexts typically leads to a combination of external and internal influences on one's personal self-influence process. This perspective, however, does point at Self-Leadership as a critical element to organizational behavior and psychology.

# 2.2.3 Benefits of Self-Leadership

Self-Leadership has been reported to hold various benefits and outcomes at both the individual and equally the team level and in various contexts (Stewart et al., 2011). At the individual level, but to some extent also at the team level, recent studies (spanning the last 10 years) have quite often evaluated Self-Leadership or selfdirection by focusing on people in managerial positions (e.g. Hu et al., 2019; Lim, 2018; Katewa and Heysteck, 2018; Pina e Cunha et al., 2017; Mendes et al., 2016; Kong and Ho, 2016; Furtner et al., 2015; Nesbit, 2012; Neck et al., 2013; Furtner et al., 2013) or students (e.g. Semple et al., 2017, Furtner and Rauthman, 2011; Houghton et al., 2014; McIntyre and Foti, 2013; Rieken et al., 2017; Wang and Liu, 2016; Ray et al., 2011; Tadlock-Marlo, 2011; Norris, 2008), showing a clear lack around understanding of Self-Leadership at non-managerial levels. Review of this literature shows on the one hand generally enhancing impacts of Self-Leadership on productivity, quality of work, team creativity, self-efficacy, team psychological empowerment, job satisfaction and career success, whereas on the other hand a dampening effect towards absenteeism, turnover, stress and anxiety. At the team level, however, some mixed findings are reported with regards to how teams experience organizational commitment, absenteeism, turnover and stress as a result of-self regulation whereby the results are not always in favor of the organization or its members. The variation between generally beneficial results at the individual level and mixed results at the team level is attributed to context dependency (Stewart et al., 2011).

Yu et al. (2015) as well as Breevaart et al. (2014) highlight the positive effect of Self-Leadership on work engagement. The literature further reports on commitment and independence being positively influenced by Self-Leadership as a result of increased feelings of control and autonomy at both the individual level (Müller and Niessen, 2018, 2019; Houghton and Yoho, 2005) and the team level (Bligh et al., 2006). The study of Bligh et al. (2006) also illuminated the positive relationship between Self-Leadership and trust towards team potency, of which the latter is arguably the team-level equivalent of self-efficacy. Houghton et al. (2012) found stress coping efficacy a central component to engagement in Self-Leadership. Neck et al. (2013) indicates a Self-Leadership strategy (self-talk) as having an improving effect on personal effectiveness in multiple settings, including organizational settings. Marques-Quinteiro and Curral (2012) highlight the positive impact of Self-Leadership through Behavior-focused strategies with respect to proactive role performance and the fact that Self-Leadership strategies provide a path between learning orientation and job performance. They further contemplate that perhaps Behavior-focused strategies are the strongest form of Self-Leadership strategies towards outcomes such as innovation and job performance, with self-reward and self-thought strategies as complementary, optimizing options.

The overarching argument is that these benefits and predictable outcomes result in improved individual and organizational performance. Manz (2015), in his conceptualization of the 'high road of Self-Leadership' assumes a critical position by highlighting the need for caution around Self-Leadership driven by or in pursuit of one's true beliefs, values or of what is generally considered as virtuous. The note that is made directly highlights that, in particular in an organizational context, the pursuit of authenticity and virtue holds a potential price in case it does not hold high priority in its larger context. For example, the attainment of high short-term sales targets in a circumstance of a pressing need for cashflow, may conflict with a sales person's aspiration to be virtuous and authentic. Equally, the pursuit of virtue, for instance in a corporate social responsibility context (doing the right thing), may carry alternative motives other than the goal of altruism. Yet Manz et al. (2008) point at the significance of virtue in an organizational context with respect to kindness, compassion, caring, forgiveness, optimism and love. Palvalin et al. (2017) report on the positive impact of self-directed behaviors and practices on individual output with respect to both quality and quantity, pointing at the development in an organizational setting of such capacity to be beneficial for increasing all productivity dimensions. Sing et al. (2017) equally point at the value of professional development to instigate and nurture Self-Leadership behaviors.

# 2.2.4 Operationalizing Self-Leadership using the Three Category Strategies Model (Houghton and Neck, 2002; Neck and Houghton, 2006)

As highlighted above, Self-Leadership refers to the process of behavioral selfcontrol through strategies that can be categorized in Behavior-focused, Natural Rewards and Constructive Self-thought strategies. Manz (2015) points at the possible alternatives to these three towards expanding Self-Leadership capacities through collaboration with others, yet this study does not include this in its operationalization, since collaboration has not yet been validated in scholarly work beyond conceptual and isolated case work. The notion of collaboration with others for Self-Leadership gives grounds for debate around a paradoxal nature of Self-Leadership (Stewart et al., 2019), which will be addressed in more detail below .The tri-partite model of strategies (Neck and Houghton, 2006) is being used for this study, since it is reported to be the most robust and comprehensive operationalization of Self-Leadership to date (Furtner et al., 2015) and there is a valid and reliable measurement instrument that complements it. For clarity, each of the three strategies are one-by-one unpacked after which a small section will refer to the measurement of Self-Leadership following the operationalization used in this study.

Through Behavior-focused strategies, the individual attempts to increase one's self-awareness to support behavioral management. Through higher self-awareness, an individual would be assumed to be able to manage their own behaviors better, in particular in the context of managing behaviors around tasks that may be unpleasant yet necessary. The objective is to encourage positive desirable behaviors to arrive at positive outcomes and discourage negative undesirable behaviors to stay clear from negative outcomes. Such strategies include self-goal setting, self-reward or selfpunishment, self-cueing and self-observation. Self-observation concerns enhanced awareness around the moment and purpose of engagement in particular behaviors, and is considered as the precursor for behavioral management. Müller and Niessen (2019) point in this regard at enabling effect of self-awareness of personal ability within a purposeful context towards becoming less reliant on others and therefore more selfdirected. Observation allows for informed decision making towards self-management of behavior (Manz and Neck, 2004) and, in particular, the setting of change-directed goals. The setting of challenging, specific goals for the self is suggested to have a positive impact on performance (Locke and Latham, 1990). In a clear advancement of the notion of goals, Manz (2015) points at the value of including personal authenticity as a goal to aspire to, i.e. acting in ways aligned with one's nature. In complement to such goals, self-reward is argued to significantly catalyze effort to reach the goals (Manz and Neck, 2004) and can manifest themselves through tangibles or intangibles (e.g. holiday or self-praise). Self-corrective actions or punishment concerns introspective examination of failures or undesirable actions towards improvement of such behaviors, yet excessive use hereof in the form of self-critique and resulting guilt is reported to be detrimental to performance (Bunch, 2001). A final example of Behavior-focused strategy concerns self-cueing, whereby external cues are used to maintain focus on goal attainment.

Natural Rewards strategies hinge on the creation of situations where motivation and reward stem from task/activity aspects that are inherently enjoyable, resulting in performance enhancing behaviors (Manz and Neck, 2004). Neck and Houghton (2006) point at the use of cognitive Self-Leadership in this regard through making the task/activity more enjoyable by the inclusion of more enjoyable features therein while equally experiencing greater perception of control thereover (Manz, 1986). One can, for instance, relate a 'game aspect' to a certain task or activity, thereby making the task more pleasant to perform. Another way to engage with the Natural Rewards strategy is to redirect attention away from unpleasant aspects and towards rewarding aspects of a task. For example, instead of focusing on a customer's frustration, one can focus on the power of turning that frustration around. Both approaches to Natural Rewards connect strongly with competence and selfdetermination, and therefore intrinsic motivation (Deci and Ryan, 1985). The work of Frese and Fay (2001) has shown the importance of intrinsic rewards for Self-Leadership by the case where proactive individuals are more likely to engage with and adapt work contexts in order to nurture and catalyze their personal enhanced performance. Furtner et al. (2013) place Natural Rewards strategies central to Self-Leadership based on the contention that the crucial drive to Self-Leadership stems from underlying emotional regulation.

The third category of Manz and Neck's (2004) categorization concerns the formation of thought patterns that positively impact performance towards habitual ways of thinking, i.e. Constructive Self-thought patterns. This gravitates around the emergence and unfolding of self-influence patterns of thinking (Neck and Manz, 2010) whereby a focus on constructive thinking enables improved efficacy perceptions and subsequent higher performance (Stewart et al., 2011). This includes the identification of dysfunctional thoughts and replacing them with constructive beliefs and assumptions. Constructive Self-thought also concerns mental imagery whereby one visualizes a task or experience to be successfully completed prior to actually engaging therein. Positive self-talk is a final example of this Self-Leadership strategy category whereby after mental self-evaluation one replaces destructive self-talk with constructive internal dialogues towards an overall more positive disposition to self-talk. Higher performers' thought patterns are found to focus less on personal

shortcomings and more on external obstacles, indicating an increased sense of control and perceptions around efficacy (Manz et al., 1988). Parsons et al. (1986) reported on longer tenure in jobs for those who hold the perspective of effort over luck with respect to resulting performance. Multiple studies found that people who avoid irrational thoughts report more positive emotions and perceptions about their job (Wanberg and Kammeyer-Mueller, 2000). Constructive individual self-talk is further found to be associated in a positive manner, specifically, to learner team performance (Brown, 2003), relocation of executives (Millman and Latham, 2001), confidence around learning complex competencies (Kanfer and Ackerman, 1996) and employee morale in cases of bankruptcy (Neck and Manz, 1996).

## 2.2.5 The Self-Leadership Paradoxes

Even though Self-Leadership is intuitively and at face value a highly promising construct, in light of some of the new realities concerning the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace and its requirements, it is worth noting that Self-Leadership is not free from inherent paradox, which shows the complex nature of the construct. Stewart et al. (2019) outline four paradoxes to Self-Leadership that can be seen as a route for further establishing Self-Leadership as a highly valuable construct in behavioral science and in the context of this study, in particular in the knowledge domain of organizational behavior. Self-Leadership is contended to be paradoxal in the sense that (1) it is potentially depleting and strengthening, (2) others are needed to lead oneself, (3) leaders' desire for Self-Leadership compounds their allowance for subordinates to become self-led, and (4) capacity for Self-Leadership depends on the exercising of Self-Leadership.

The depletion–strengthening paradox stems from a central statement in what is known as the strength model introduced by Muraven and Baumeister (2000), i.e. the fact that consistent energy and effort is required to practice self-regulation. Maranges and Baumeister (2016) highlight the two-sided coin of the strength model. On the one hand, self-control ability can through exercise and practice be strengthened, yet on the other hand consistent exercise runs risk of depletion. Depletion, in turn, risks adverse effects in the long run due to an inability to sustain the use of emotional and psychological resources necessary for transcending automatic responses and consciously choosing alternative actions (Maranges and Baumeister, 2016), e.g. relapsing from diets, inability to control impulse purchases or alcoholism. Müller and Niessen (2018) indeed confirm that Self-Leadership entails energy consuming behaviors. The overarching issue is presented as the high probability of depletion due to long-term overriding automatic responses resulting in ultimately giving into impulses. Stewart et al. (2019) argue external support in this regard through using external and internal factors to create environmental stimuli supporting a longer term, more persistent Self-Leadership enactment. This proposition clearly engages Bandura's triadic reciprocity towards a more sustained enactment of Self-Leadership. Some studies that support the use of external factors include reduction of depletion as a result of emotional support by others (Martijn et al., 2007), being in an environment that instigates positive affect (Shmueli and Prochaska, 2012), abstinence linked monetary rewards (Prendergast et al., 2006; Volpp et al., 2008), physical exercise (Cabanac, 1986), and completion of challenging cognitive activities (Boksem et al., 2006). Studies that highlight the use of internal factors relate more to an eventual sense of proactivity by the Self-Leadership practitioner with regards to planning ahead and manipulating their surroundings to provide beneficiary cues. Gollwitzer and Oettingen (2016) termed a practice in this regard as 'if-then-planning' based on a fundamental distinction between intentions related to goals and implementation. The former refers to a desired end state whereas the latter prescribes, from a proactive perspective, behavioral responses to (typically adverse) environmental cues. Positive results of such proactive implementation planning are reported for the individual with regards to memory improvement (Chen et al., 2015), engagement in physical activity (Bélanger-Gravel et al., 2015) and positive eating (Adriaanse et al., 2011), but are equally found to hold with respect to general resource depletion at the team level (Courtright et al., 2017).

A second paradoxal notion on Self-Leadership concerns the all-too-fast face value interpretation that Self-Leadership is a process that is solitary. This perspective is quickly debunked by the simple logic that relying on only the self is suboptimal. This is intuitively obvious when thinking of the inevitable limitations of experience, knowledge and capabilities of one individual. Equally, and this seamlessly joins with the depletion-strengthening paradox discussed above, the strains that come with tapping only one's own resources in the pursuit of Self-Leadership is clearly not as promising as including support from external factors. In other words, the second paradox lies within the notion that in order to self-lead effectively, one is required to reach beyond oneself to engage in collaboration with others. The benefits of collaboration in a Self-Leadership context can be seen as compensation of skill absence or offsetting blind spots, thereby overcoming personal capability limitations. Its benefits are equally reported at the team level with respect to empowering team processes in various situations (Seibert et al., 2011; Spreitzer, 2008) and beyond the team through boundary spanning (Marrone, 2010; Mathieu et al., 2018). Manz (2015) further proposes shared leadership (Pearce, 2004) to facilitate Self-Leadership through collaboration by shifting leadership during a work process to those who hold the most pertinent competency at the time. This practice produces similar capacity expanding and synergistic benefits as general collaboration but have also been reported to increase performance (D'Innocenzo et al., 2016; Nicolaides, et al., 2014) yet needs to be guarded for vulnerabilities such as groupthink (Pearce and Manz, 2011). This calls for a balance of driving Self-Leadership through personal authenticity while equally capitalizing on collaborative advantages.

The third paradox, referred to as the 'me-but-not-you' paradox, stems from the innate human need for Self-Leadership (Stewart et al., 2019), which has been found to be universal across different cultures (Tay and Diener, 2011). Such desire for Self-Leadership is rooted in general human needs such as freedom, autonomy and self-direction (Deci and Ryan, 2000) but equally the need for control over one's environment (Bandura, 1991; Leotti et al., 2010). In reality, it can be observed that not everyone engages in Self-Leadership and, more particularly, in the workplace that the effect of superiors on subordinates is instrumental to creating an environment in which Self-Leadership can be assumed and flourish (Manz and Sims, 1987; Pearce and Sims, 2002). Given the renewed expectations in the workplace outlined at the outset of this literature review, all pointing in the direction of people being expected to be generally more self-directed, it is rather ironic that micro-management appears in most workplace surveys as a top complaint of workers towards their bosses (Solomon, 2015). Pearce and Sims (2002) also pointed at the adverse effect of directive leadership with respect to fostering Self-Leadership in followers. This

paradox exemplifies that often leaders may not provide subordinates enough opportunity to enact Self-Leadership in spite of desiring it for themselves and having expectations of other to assume it. This may be caused by leaders' unawareness of how to facilitate Self-Leadership in followers (Stewart et al., 2019), not realizing the constraints they impose (Stewart et al., 2011), the fear of being isolated as a leader from the day to day operations as a result of applying empowering leadership (Stewart and Manz, 1995; Antonakis and Arwater, 2002) and the fear of losing control (Haselhuhn et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2017). Without relinquishing responsibly of the leaders in this, Stewart et al. (2019) do, however, propose an avenue to deal with this issue by means of instigating followers to be more proactive around the realization of opportunities for Self-Leadership. This suggestion echoes the principle of Derue and Ashford's (2010) model of claiming and granting leadership that suggests that leaders are more likely to support subordinates in their pursuit of Self-Leadership in situations where such subordinates take initiative towards claiming and realizing opportunity for themselves.

A fourth and final Self-Leadership paradox concerns the need for Self-Leadership to improve Self-Leadership. This connects with the strengthening model that gives cause for the first paradox whereby on the one hand self-regulatory capacity can be strengthened through exercise for the long term but is equally finite in the short term (Maranges and Baumeister, 2016). The work of Inzlicht and Berkman (2015) suggests that building capacity in self-regulation through exercising it on one task can be extended across other areas; however, no evidence of this is currently presented beyond laboratory settings (Berkman, 2016). Natural settings may well have rather different environmental cues, presenting a very different 'cross-area effect' of selfregulation exercise. Alternatives to the model of exercising self-regulation to build capacity suggest motivation as fundamental to improving Self-Leadership whereby behavioral change is linked to core belief in the value of the desired behavior (Berkman, 2016; Deci and Ryan, 2000). Stewart et al. (2019) suggest celebration of small wins to enhance perceptions around self-efficacy and facilitation of good health habit development towards building Self-Leadership capacity.

# 2.2.6 Self-Leadership for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century Workplace

Insuring that the worker in the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace is productive requires the attainment of personal goals in an environment that fits their personal needs (Bakker, 2014). Van Diermen and Beltman (2016) point at the importance of the relation of workplace realities with employee's needs and personal workstyle. Based on the expectations of the worker in the 21<sup>st</sup> century in the form of bottom-line, selfdirected behaviors, related attributes and dispositions and the manner in which organization approach their modus operandum, it is intuitively clear that Self-Leadership holds potential. With the onus of personal and professional development laying ultimately with the individual (Jensen et al., 2018),

Neck et al. (2017) point clearly at the need for fostering and nurturing Self-Leadership capacity within employees of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace. This recognizes first of all that Self-Leadership can be learned (Furtner et al., 2018; Lucke and Further, 2015) and that development for Self-Leadership is best addressed through a concerted effort of all agents in the organization. The Self-Leadership process is generally found to increase personal performance and effectivity (Furtner et al., 2015). The work of Kim et al. (2018) proposes the practice of job crafting (Berg et al., 2010) as a potential on the end of the employee to use self-direction to advance wellbeing and performance. Through job crafting, employees actively take control and steer the what, how and when of their job in order to make it more meaningful towards ultimately higher performance (Slemp et al., 2015). The question stands, however, whether individuals can be expected to naturally assume a job crafting disposition to how they approach their work. The notion that transformational leadership practices deployed in organizations have a fostering effect on Self-Leadership (Andressen et al., 2012) is worth of note in this context, in particular when thinking back on the third paradoxal dimension of Self-Leadership highlighted in the above section. Indeed, Kim et al. (2018) point at the importance of perceived autonomy and organizational support in this context, which highlights the dual-held responsibility of the individual and the organization in realizing Self-Leadership in workers.

## 2.3 Mindfulness

#### 2.3.1 Construct Background and Perspectives

The term Mindfulness is the English translation of 'sati', the Pali noun referring to attention, awareness and remembering (Siegel et al., 2009). The notion of Mindfulness is rooted in a 25 century tradition of Buddhist psychology derived from Buddha's teachings that emerged during the fifth century BC (Bodhi, 2011). In the Buddhist context, Mindfulness was all about cultivating insight and reducing suffering (Vago and Silbersweig, 2012) whereby one uses self-knowledge to affect our way of daily management of thoughts, emotions and behaviors but equally affect our larger sense of being in the world. The search for reduction of suffering must not be solely viewed from a perspective of physical illness but includes what Gunaratana (1991) refers to as "that deep, subtle sense of unsatisfaction which is a part of every mind moment and which results directly from the mental treadmill" (p. 11).

During the 1970's, Mindfulness started gaining popularity in the West. It is generally agreed that Jon Kabat-Zinn's founding of his Stress Reduction Clinic at the University of Massachusetts Medical Center was a milestone in establishing the notion of Mindfulness in a secular realm. The secular stance meant the application of Mindfulness mediation as a central part to its approach but without the spiritual pursuits as proposed in the teachings of Buddhism (Bodhi, 2011; Kabat-Zinn, 1994; Maex, 2011; Vago and Silbersweig, 2012). This approach laid the foundation for applications and investigations of Mindfulness in various knowledge domains spanning psychology, neuroscience, education and business (Williams and Kabat-Zinn, 2011). The growth of its popularity across various disciplines can be attributed to its universality, its transformative potential and its cost-effectiveness. Mindfulness' adoption in the West – in the secular way – has resulted in two perspectives. The one popularized by Kabat-Zinn builds in a secular manner on the Buddhist teachings with the objective of reducing suffering through attention, awareness, openness, acceptance and kindness. The other perspective is often attributed to the work of Ellen Langer (2000), which focuses on the cognitive process of paying attention to new things (Dane, 2011) in remedy of mindlessness (Langer and Moldoveanu, 2000). As Buddha adapted his language to his audience (Makransky, 2003), so too seem the

contemporary teachers of Mindfulness to adapt the construct for their audiences (Maex, 2011).

Kabat Zinn's branch of thought interprets Mindfulness following two characteristics: (1) Awareness of and attention to 'in-the moment' thoughts, feelings and emotions; and (2) Nonjudgmental and open acceptance of these in the moment thoughts and experiences (Chambers et al., 2008). This approach is not without critique. Baer (2011) and Dreyfus (2011) have raised concerns around the correct use of Buddhist teachings to arrive at its current interpretation. Olendzki (2009) notes the critique of Buddhist scholars towards the narrow nature of this perspective as a result of ignoring various historical roots of the term such as being fully open, accepting and kind, which place Mindfulness beyond mere contemplative practice.

Langer's branch of thought around Mindfulness revolves around learning to take and change perspective. Her perspective specifically focuses the cognitive operation of thinking about objects as open to interpretation instead of assuming them in a fixed condition (Langer, 2000; Langer and Moldoveanu, 2000). Within this debate, Mindfulness has been approached as a concept of metacognition by scholars such as Brown and Ryan (2004), Shapiro et al. (2006) and Kuan (2012). They posit that Mindfulness concerns the ability to switch attention between events of experience, discriminating the relevant experiences and, in general, having knowledge about thinking. Instead of viewing Mindfulness as thought, they contend Mindfulness to be the unbiased observation of thought.

These three discussion points allude to the still emerging nature of this field of study, which points at the relevance of increasing attention and the need for further study of the construct to investigate its various scientific dimensions of definition, measurement and application (Williams and Kabat-Zinn, 2011) This study does not aim to result in assuming a position in this debate, nor does it reject the value of any of the perspectives *a priori*. The study does, however, use the lens of contemplative Mindfulness practice (Kabat-Zinn's branch) due to the fact that on the one hand it is more widespread and it being the most appropriate to the setting in which the study unfolds, i.e. a secular approach to Mindfulness that is open to using a wide scope of personal functions (affective, cognitive, somatic/physiological) to enable benefits.

## 2.3.2 Defining Mindfulness

Brown and Ryan (2003) and Creswell (2017) offer the more straightforward, and perhaps somewhat simplistic, definitions of Mindfulness by describing the construct respectively as simply "being attentive to and aware of what is taking place in the present" (p.822) and as "a process of openly attending, with awareness, to one's present moment experience" (p. 492). The power of these definitions lies in their simplicity yet their clear acknowledgement of the two key components of Mindfulness, i.e. attention and awareness (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016). However, they may lack some substance to the notion of Mindfulness in the sense that they do not elaborate on some finer, yet fundamental aspects to set Mindfulness apart from what one could generally equate to 'being focused on'. Mindfulness is more than the mere attention and awareness of the present in the sense that the manner in which that attention and awareness is qualified makes it substantially distinct from being focused (Kuan, 2012).

Mindfulness is defined by Kabat-Zinn (2003) as a state of "awareness that emerges through paying attention, on purpose, in the present moment and nonjudgmentally to the unfolding of the experience moment by moment" (p.145). Conversely, Siegel et al. (2009) refer to it more as a transformational concept of becoming aware with respect to one's habitual and automatic patterns nested within one's larger sense of being in the world. Kabat-Zinn (1994, 2005) acknowledges the process dimension associated with it by highlighting the fact that it requires cultivation of non-judgmental perspective taking through relinquishing personal attachment around appreciating sensation, emotion and cognition. In this sense, Kabat-Zinn presents a sense of objective or outcome of what being mindful would result into, i.e. the ability to observe one's experienced realities for what they are in the moment.

Bishop et al. (2004) take a similar approach to defining Mindfulness as "selfregulation of attention so that it is maintained on immediate experience, thereby allowing for increased recognition of mental events in the present moment" and "adopting a particular orientation toward one's experience that is characterized by curiosity, openness, and acceptance" (p. 232). This definition approaches the construct from a perspective of required precursors to becoming more aware by highlighting the notion of self-regulated attention to the present towards arriving at inviting the observed impulses of one's experience in without judgment or presumption.

As presented by Germer et al. (2005), looking at the definitions presented above, the fundamentals of Mindfulness gravitate the use of attention towards awareness of the present experience with acceptance of what one is experiencing alongside a common thread of accepting the experience without judgment. This will be the overarching stance assumed in this study to operationalize Mindfulness i.e. being attentive and aware of the experiences in the current moment with an open and non-judgmental disposition towards accepting the experience for what it is and thereby enhancing its awareness thereof.

## 2.3.3 The Nature of Mindfulness

The multi-dimensional scholarly nature of Mindfulness is relevant to acknowledge right up front as a result from the various ways scholarly attention has addressed the construct, i.e. the categorization of state- and trait-Mindfulness on the one hand, and Mindfulness practice and intervention on the other hand (Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017). This categorization matters, because it distinguishes the measured variables and how they are measured. State Mindfulness concerns the extent to which a person, at a certain point in time, is aware of and paying attention to the present (Brown and Ryan, 2003). Trait Mindfulness addresses the tendency of a person to engage in states of Mindfulness in terms of frequency, duration and intensity (Hülsheger et al., 2013). Mindfulness practice is the enacting of Mindfulness through various enabling strategies and methods which can be expected to result in enhanced state and trait Mindfulness (Hülsheger et al., 2013). Mindfulness interventions are ways to cultivate Mindfulness practice towards enhanced sate and trait Mindfulness (Cohen-Katz et al., 2004, 2005). outlines and overview of the various concepts of Mindfulness relate to one another to facilitate the understanding thereof and their distinct nature. Through Mindfulness interventions one can become aware of methods to practice Mindfulness. When enacting such Mindfulness practices, one is facilitating oneself to enter a mindful state (i.e. being in a mindful condition). The level at which

one engages in such Mindfulness state (e.g. how long, how often, etc) is expressed through the notion of trait Mindfulness.

Figure 4 Mindfulness Concepts and their relationships (Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017)



This literature review draws on all categories of the knowledge domain where appropriate to allow for a comprehensive perspective on the construct and its place in this study.

Mindfulness is further contended to be a multidimensional construct that is composed of five facets: observing, describing, acting with awareness, non-judging of inner experience, and non-reactivity to inner experience (Baer et al., 2006). Observing refers to the noticing or attending to experiences (internal or external), describing concerns semantic labeling of internal experiences, acting with awareness refers to awareness of what one does in the moment in contrast to operating on automatic pilot, non-judging of inner experience addresses the non-evaluative stance to emotions and thoughts, and, finally, non-reactivity to inner experience concerns allowing free inand outflow of feelings and thoughts without getting caught up in them. For further exploration of the composite structure of Mindfulness using the five facets, the referring literature would be the work of Baer et al. (2008), showing that four out of the five facets were indeed consistently found to present a composite structure, whereas the facet observing may not always be operating equally as a predicting factor of Mindfulness and its outcomes.

The scientific literature has operationalized Mindfulness in many different ways (Quaglia et al., 2015), yet in this study the construct of Mindfulness is operationalized as Mindfulness Practice and Mindfulness Intervention. Moving forward, Mindfulness practice refers to the practice of being mindful through various strategies that Mindfulness practitioners may engage with (see below). Key to this practice is on the one hand the fact that Mindfulness is grounded in attention and awareness of present moment experiences and on the other hand one's disposition to be open, inviting and accepting towards one's experiences such as emotional reactions, body sensations, mental images and mental talk. Mindfulness intervention is used in the remainder of this study to refer to the formal introduction of Mindfulness strategies to individuals in order to allow them to practice Mindfulness. For this study, this formal introduction is part of a professional development strategy within an organizational context in order to tap the acclaimed potential of Mindfulness practice towards organizational success and, in particular, its potential to enable individuals to become more self-directed. As will be outlined later in this literature review, the scholarly attention on the latter is rather scarce and therefore warrants attention, making this study worthwhile.

## 2.3.4 Mindfulness Strategies

**2.3.4.1 Cultivating Mindfulness.** When exploring the literature on cultivating Mindfulness, it is first and foremost important to state that Mindfulness can be learned (Dane, 2011; Leroy et al., 2013; Furtner et al., 2018; Canby et al., 2015; Furtner et al., 2013; Lucke and Furtner, 2015; Phang et al., 2015) without requiring particularly extraordinary attributes or capacities (Brown and Ryan, 2003, 2004; Shapiro et al., 2006; Olendszki, 2009; Zeidan et al., 2010; Kabat-Zinn, 1982; Kabat-Zinn et al., 1985, 1987). Various contemplative practices can be used to cultivate Mindfulness (Bodhi, 2011; Dreyfus, 2011), whereby the most prevalent technique in secular Buddhist-based Mindfulness studies is Mindfulness meditation (Chambers et al., 2008; Olendzki, 2009; Shapiro et al., 2008). This technique is all about focusing of the mind (Maex, 2011) and merely observing whatever may occur

in a non-striving manner (Baer, 2003; Brown and Ryan, 2003) under the premise that engagement in Mindfulness meditation with the predetermined quest for something is arguably counterproductive. It is important to note that Mindfulness is not, unlike for instance psychotherapy, concerned with the content of what is being observed, but rather with the mere sequenced occurrence thereof. In other words, instead of trying to figure out *why* someone feels the way they feel or experiences particular emotions, etc., Mindfulness is all about the sharpened ability to guide one's attention to *being aware* of the various emotions, sensations or thoughts one experiences and acknowledging them for what they are without judgement. For example, when one is feeling nervous for a job interview, the mindful individual will be able to observe the emotional sensation, acknowledge it, accept it and give it a place in the situation rather than being overpowered by it due to, for instance, trying to repress. The literature reports two types of Mindfulness meditation, i.e. Vipassana or insight mediation and Samantha or concentration meditation (Kuan, 2012).

In concentration meditation, the individual is to focus attention for deep experience on a sensation or an object such as, for instance, breath, heartbeat, body temperature and food. The ability to remain focused on the task at hand is key, which is often experienced as challenging due to the current living environment, for most people being one of constant impulse influxes which act as potential interrupts that hinder complex task performance (Goleman, 2013). Insight mediation, on the other hand, guides attention to observe thoughts, sensations and feelings with some distance from them, whereby the observer assumes a position that they do not constitute him/her (Davidson, 2010). This allows for improved perspective, a clearer insight and enhanced composure (Brown et al., 2007). Kuan (2012) reports on the complementary nature of both approaches to meditation, whereby insight mediation supports enhanced awareness and concentration meditation improves attention, both pivotal components of Mindfulness. Even though there are various ways to practice the meditation technique, the constant among all ways is the attention to acute perception or what Kabat-Zinn (2002) refers to as unambiguous awareness.

Beyond Mindfulness meditation, other Mindfulness strategies to cultivate Mindfulness include mindful walking, mindful eating, and noticing sensations as a means to remind ourselves to pay attention to what is happening in the moment. Finally, individuals may choose to go on a retreat in which their time is dedicated entirely to cultivating Mindfulness (Siegel et al., 2009). By engaging and incorporating Mindfulness into one's lifestyle, individuals begin to experience a wide range of benefits that promote healthy living and may help during psychological or physical distress.

**2.3.4.2 Mindfulness Interventions.** The literature reports on various Mindfulness interventions in various contexts whereby they focus on various specific outcomes as a result of Mindfulness spanning physical and mental health (Ludwig and Kabat Zinn, 2008), affective, interpersonal and cognitive outcomes (Brown et al., 2015). The contexts where Mindfulness interventions have been reported to be integrated are schools (Sibinga et al., 2016), clinical treatments (Dimidjian and Segal, 2015), military (Johnson et al., 2014), penitentiaries (Samuelson et al., 2007) and the workplace (Passmore, 2019; Good et al., 2016; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017).

As previously introduced, the earliest reported Mindfulness intervention is Kabat-Zinn's Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction (MBSR), which is reported as having become the standard for Mindfulness interventions in a clinical setting (Astin, 1997; Grossman et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1994). The intervention aims at introducing Mindfulness through training for the alleviation of mental and physical suffering by means of making the stressors and anxieties that are paired with physical or mental disturbances more manageable and less overpowering.

Mindful Self-Compassion (MSC) (Neff and Germer, 2013) consists of a series of Mindfulness strategies with the focus on enhancing one's self-compassion. In other words, to enhance one's notion of looking out for oneself and being able to be more in tune with what one's body and mind communicates around what is required at the time. For example, through Mindfulness one may realize the need for rest and calm in one's life rather than ignoring the physiological signs of the body in this regard.

Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT), reported by Teasdale et al. (2000), is an intervention that focuses on being mindful of one's cognitive experiences. It aims at and is reported to reduce the constant cycling through depressing thoughts and through awareness, attention and non-judgmental acceptance renewing perspective and taking distance from such thoughts (Baer, 2003; Teasdale et al., 2000).

Mindfulness Based Relapse Prevention (MBRP), reported by Bowen et al. (2014) and Mason et al. (2016) is an intervention that trains Mindfulness to people in order to deal with drug addiction and healthy eating habits.

Mindfulness Based Relationship Enhancement (MBRE), reported by, for instance Carson et al. (2004), is an intervention that introduces being mindful with regards to improving how relationships function and how one can more effectively engage therein. Similarly, Interpersonal Mindfulness Training (IMT) is outlined by Cohen and Miller (2009) as the introduction of a series of Mindfulness strategies that focus on improving one's ability to engage more effectively in interpersonal contact. In this regard, Mindfulness is used to highlight and acknowledge aspects such as prejudice, stereotyping, habitual expectation, courtesy, respect and constructive interaction.

The above Mindfulness interventions typically range over a period of 6- 12 weeks and take place through formally-run sessions by a Mindfulness trainer. This approach is, however, not the only way that Mindfulness can be introduced to and learned by individuals. Residential retreats that offer programs of Mindfulness meditation in a matter of days or months have also been found to be effective delivery vehicles (Creswell et al., 2016; Rosenberg et al., 2015). Furthermore, other forms of brief Mindfulness interventions that span matters of a few weeks (Lim et al., 2015; Mrazek et al., 2013) or even days (Creswell et al., 2014; Zeidan et al., 2011; Zeidan et al., 2010) have been reported to yield significant success in cultivating Mindfulness as well as highly brief inductions to Mindfulness for which the effects are rather smaller compared to more intensive interventions (Papies et al., 2015; Schofield, 2015; Westbrook 2013). Technology is also introduced to allow individuals via their smartphone or internet applications to engage in Mindfulness trainings of which the results are preliminarily positive but lack breadth in reporting (Boettcher et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2015)

**2.3.4.3 Questions around Mindfulness interventions.** One key question that surrounds Mindfulness interventions relates to the needed length of time of an intervention or what Creswell (2017) refers to as the 'dose'. Low dose Mindfulness

interventions (i.e. short in time span) such as 10-minute directed Mindfulness inductions or a few sessions of training, are reported to have a negative -yet small effect on impulsivity and affective reactivity (Papies et al., 2015; Westbrook et al., 2013; Zeidan et al., 2011,2010). In comparison, Mindfulness interventions of longer duration seem to have overall larger effects (Baer, 2003; Goyal et al., 2014). Creswell (2017) does point at the need for such dose-response relationship to be more extensively researched and highlights that Mindfulness dosing, particularly with respect to Mindfulness practice, is wide ranging in terms of recommendations without a one-size-fits-all answer. Intuitively, one can argue that increased doses can be assumed to produce increased effects cognizant of the probable existence of an upper limit, particularly for new Mindfulness practitioners. Creswell (2017) highlights the importance of practice and learning to apply Mindfulness skills in various situations and experiences related to the issue one tries to cope with.

Another key question related to a Mindfulness intervention is raised around the potential risks of engaging in Mindfulness (Lustyk et al., 2009; Shapiro, 1998). Concerns are raised around formal Mindfulness exercises which potentially result in resurfacing traumatic experiences triggering depression or hold potential elevated risks for amplifying psychosis or seizures for individuals who suffer from schizophrenia or epilepsy. The response of the Mindfulness advocates to this critique is the positive results obtained by shorter and more spaced doses delivered by Mindfulness professionals for at-risk populations (Creswell and Lindsay, 2014; Polusny et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2014). For a not-at-risk population, even though there is a vast body of literature that reports on extensive types of benefits from Mindfulness practice, Creswell (2017) still acknowledges the risk that Mindfulness practice may be cognitively depleting for novices to Mindfulness practice (Evans et al., 2014; Creswell et al., 2014) and it has even been reported to increase false memory recall (Wilson et al., 2015).

2.3.4.4 Measuring Mindfulness. The literature reports on various
Mindfulness questionnaires: the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS)
(Brown and Ryan, 2003); the Freiburg Mindfulness Inventory (FMI) (Buchheld et al., 2001); Kentucky Inventory of Mindfulness Skills (KIMS) (Baer et al., 2004); the
Cognitive and Affective Mindfulness Scale-Revised (CAMS-R) (Feldman et al., 2004); Mindfulness Scale-Revised (CA

2006); the Five Facet Mindfulness Ouestionnaire (FFMO) (Baer et al., 2006; Baer et al., 2008), The Philadelphia Mindfulness Scale (PHLMS) (Cardaciotto et al., 2008), the Toronto Mindfulness Scale (TMS) (Lau et al., 2006) and the Southampton Mindfulness Questionnaire (SMQ) (Chadwick et al., 2008). Baer (2011) critiques the development of the instruments on the back of its developers perhaps having a lack of deep knowledge of the root concepts of what is being studied and the self-reported nature of the questionnaires. The literature further points at the need for empiric studies to focus more on how Mindfulness interventions impact one's operating rather than merely the resulting trait or state Mindfulness on the back of Mindfulness interventions (Baer, 2011; Davidson, 2010). Further challenges to state Mindfulness development through Mindfulness interventions concern quality and intensity of the interventions and the delivery therefor by trained and experienced teachers (Grossman, et al., 2004). Equally, the 'quality' level (i.e. how well one engages in Mindfulness) or duration of a person's Mindfulness is not easily measured in absence of a standardized external observable indicator of its existence (Baer, 2011; Davidson, 2010). Further quality concerns are reported around the self-managed part of Mindfulness practice that makes up Mindfulness interventions and its self-reporting, and equally the difficulty of distinguishing Mindfulness inducing factors from potentially other contextual factors (Davidson, 2010).

## 2.3.5 Benefits of Mindfulness

The literature body around Mindfulness and its benefits is vast and has gained increased attention of late in the domain of organizational science (Black, 2015). To give some structure to this body of literature, and to illuminate the value of Mindfulness as a precursor personal attribute for organizational members towards positive contributions to an organization, this review categorizes the benefits of being mindful according to its enabling potential in five areas: physical and mental health, behavioral, emotional, self-orientation and cognition. First and foremost, it must be acknowledged that this categorization does not contend that benefits are isolated to a single category, rather, when assuming a complexity lens to considering an individual and the organization of which this individual is a part, it is clear that all five areas interface with one another, meaning that the benefits of Mindfulness are very likely to spill over from one to another category. For example, physical, mental and emotional wellness potentially incline an individual more to show positive behaviors in the workplace as compared to being physically, mentally or emotionally unwell. Equally, purposeful cognitive capacity and emotional wellbeing can be expected to pave the way to potentially operating in a positive manner at the work place to the benefit of both the organization and the self. The same can be argued in the opposite direction, where positive organizational behaviors can positively affect wellbeing in a health, emotional or self-oriented sense. To what extent the interplay between the various categories is causal is not the objective of the literature presented here; however, the reciprocal benefits between them is intuitively arguable while recognizing the larger context of influencing factors that undoubtedly are in play.

The subsections below present selected literature to outline the multidimensional potential that Mindfulness holds with respect to creating positive capacity within an individual which is of value to an organization as a result of tackling multiple categories – in various cases sitting at the cross-section of various categories – of positive enabling spheres with respect to being a value adding worker in an organization. For the purpose of this review, and to allow for a somewhat structured discussion of the various benefits of Mindfulness, the researcher has compiled the literature in five categories of benefits: physical and mental well-being, emotional, cognitive, behavioral and self-oriented benefits.

**2.3.5.1** Physical and Mental well-being benefits. Mindfulness has been reported in various literary sources as having a positive effect on the physical and mental well-being of its practitioners (Slutsky et al., 2019; Masuda et al., 2010; Richards et al., 2010; Dane, 2011; Dekeyser et al., 2008). Mindfulness is found to have a positive effect on physical health (Ratanasiripong et al., 2015; Caldwell et al., 2010; Grinnell et al., 2011; Murphy, et al., 2012) and equally has shown potential around inducing the adoption of more healthy life styles in the form of assuming better eating and sleeping patterns (Bahl et al., 2013; Grinnell et al., 2011; Murphy et al., 2012) as well as better engagement with physical activity (Kabat-Zinn et al., 1985). Further, there is a vast body of knowledge that has explored Mindfulness in treatment of mental and physical illnesses, in particular with respect to the reduction of related suffering, whereby Mindfulness is reported to help reduce or better manage

such suffering (Astin, 1997; Grossman et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1994; Kabat-Zinn et al., 1982, 1987; Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Bonadonna, 2003). Another interesting physiological finding surrounds studies that have investigated the influence of Mindfulness practice on the brain, where it is reported to reduce brain aging (Luders et al., 2015) and equally has shown to instigate changes in the brain for better brain functionality (Leung et al., 2013; Davidson, 2010; Hölzel et al., 2011). Following the latin pronoun *'mens sana in corpore sano'* – i.e. a healthy body in a healthy mind – one can intuitively see the positive potential of Mindfulness as a precursor for organizational benefit.

**2.3.5.2 Emotional benefits.** Where the positive effects of Mindfulness on wellbeing (Masuda et al., 2010; Richards et al., 2010; Dane, 2011; Dekeyser et al., 2008) make reference to emotional well being as well as physical and mental well being, various studies have focused particularly on the effect of Mindfulness on a individual's emotional state. An overarching effect in this regard concerns the reporting of Mindfulness and Mindfulness practice to enhance positive affect in general (Shapiro et al., 2007 Creswell et al., 2007) in association with concepts such as optimism and hope (Desbordes et al., 2012; Malinowski and Lim, 2015), trust (Fast et al., 2014) and job/life satisfaction (Hülsheger et al., 2013; Fredrickson et al., 2008) with decreasing need for extrinsic job satisfaction (Brooker et al., 2013). Cohen and Miller (2009) further report on a positive impact of Mindfulness practice on social connectedness.

Besides enhancing positive affect, Mindfulness is also found to have a dampening effect on negative affect (Shapiro et al., 2007; Farb et al., 2010, Grégoire and Lachance 2014; Felton et al., 2015; Baer, 2003; Desbordes et al., 2012; Roche et al., 2014; Creswell et al., 2007). One of the most prevelant negative emotional organizational phenomena studies in the context of Mindfulness is stress, whereby Mindfulness is reported to negatively affect stress (Chin et al., 2018; Schultz and Ryan, 2015; Zenner et al., 2014; Baer et al., 2012; Shapiro et al., 2007; Cohen and Miller, 2009; Beauchemin et al., 2008; Semple et al., 2005; Caldwell et al., 2010; Oman et al., 2008; Palmer and Rodger, 2009; Grégoire and Lachance, 2014). It is also found to have favorable outcomes concerning dealing with feelings of anxiety (Shapiro et al., 2007; Jacobs and Blustein, 2008; Ruths et al., 2013) and emotional

exhaustion (Hülsheger et al., 2013; Reb et al., 2014). Mindfulness interventions and practice have also been reported to provide a positive address to organizational issues such as burnout (Goodman and Schorling, 2012; Di Benedetto and Swalding, 2014; Gold et al., 2009; Flook et al., 2013) and symptoms of or relaps to depression (Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Chambers et al., 2008; Hargus et al., 2010).

The overall benefit of Mindfulness with respect to the emotional state of individuals is widely reported in the literature through the ability of Mindfulness to result in enhanced emotional regulation (Rocco et al., 2012; Brown et al., 2007; Brown and Ryan, 2003; Hülsheger et al., 2013; Teper et al., 2013; Roche et al., 2014; Glomb et al., 2011; Keng et al., 2013; Long and Christian, 2015; Vago and Silbersweig, 2012). This body of literature outlines that mindful individuals tend to be better at controlling positive and negative emotions, allowing them to engage more effectively in work situations from both a self and organizational perspective.

**2.3.5.3 Cognitive benefits.** With respect to the cognitive domain of the literature, Mindfulness is reported to hold multiple benefits. Central to it all, as a result of its central nature to the construct of Mindfulness as outlined in the section that addresses its nature above, stand the concepts of awareness and attention. Mindfulness and its effects have been reported to positively impact attention (Teasdale et al., 2000; Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Schmertz et al., 2008; Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Smallwood and Schooler, 2015; Neubauer and Fink, 2009; Chambers et al., 2008; Helber et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2012; Ocasio, 2011) and awareness (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016) in various contexts. Awareness is referred to by Brown and Ryan (2003) as the notion around subjectively experiencing internal and external phenomena that make up the reality around us at any given moment. Block-Lerner et al., (2007) characterize Mindfulness by a heightening of such awareness. Since the notion of awareness is considered as innate to normal human functioning, it is reasonable to assume this as one of the reasons why addressing one's awareness for better functioning has not been a priority for success in a developmental context (Blackburn, 2015). Attention, as the other key concept to Mindfulness, links to the construct in the sense that it pertains "observing the operations of one's moment to moment, internal and external experience (Shapiro et al., 2006, p. 376) whereby it concerns both attention on a single thing, i.e.

concentration, and attention to multiple stimuli. Chiesa and Serretti (2011) point at the ability of long-term Mindfulness practice to enhance the ability of an individual to consciously engage in switching attention between a single or multiple stimuli, allowing an individual to refrain from getting caught up in a tunnel-vision-like experience and lose sight of other potentially relevant aspects of the context in which a certain stimuli presents itself. As much as attention and awareness are considered distinct concepts to Mindfulness, it is their combination that shows the true potential of Mindfulness to be of benefit for an individual and consequently the organization they are part of.

Heightened awareness and attention through Mindfulness has been reported to enhance one's ability to non-habitual thinking (Wadlinger and Isaacowitz, 2011; Fast et al., 2014) and cognitive flexibility (Roeser et al., 2013; Gard et al., 2014; Zenner et al., 2014), allowing an individual to break with potentially destructive cognitive processes such as, for instance, rumination, to which Mindfulness has been reported to provide relief (Teasdale et al., 2000; Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Schmertz et al., 2008; Shapiro et al., 2007; Zenner et al., 2014) and equally less destructivelyladen processes such as mind wandering (Smallwood and Schooler, 2015; Mrazek et al., 2013). Sharpened awareness and attention through Mindfulness have been reported to enhance understanding of personal emotions (Kabat-Zinn, 2002; Moore and Malinowski, 2009), decrease impulsive behaviors and judgement (Vago and Silbersweig, 2012) and support more effective use of the brain (Moore et al., 2012). Improved awareness and attention as a result of Mindfulness has furthermore been reported by Dane (2011) to be highly beneficial to the performance of discrete tasks in highly dynamic work environments, which is, considering the current state of affairs in the 21st century world of work, clearly relevant.

Further, with regard to cognitive outcomes in a work setting (and arguably again finding root in enhanced awareness and attention) and in line with the outcome of non-habitual thinking, Mindfulness is reported to enhance ones ability in terms of renewed perspective (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014; Brown et al., 2007; Bishop et al., 2004; Baer, 2003), more effective problem solving (Ding et al., 2015; Ostafin and Kassman, 2012; Bishop et al., 2004), critical thinking (Noone et al., 2016), enhanced creativity (Ding et al., 2015; Ostafin and Kassman,

2012; Colzato et al., 2012), leadership for innovation (Hu et al., 2019) and improved leadership perception (Reb et al., 2014). Mindfulness is also reported to improve emotional intelligence of individuals in a work setting, whereby this is found to improve empathy, perspective taking, respect and compassion (Silver et al., 2018; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Condon et al., 2013; Cohen and Miller, 2009; Krasner et al., 2009; Dekeyser et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2006: Shapiro et al., 1998). Finally, Mindfulness is presented to have enhancing effects on insight and instructional clarity and understanding (Metiu and Rothbard, 2012; Brown et al., 2007) as well as leading to improved clarity in terms of decision making (Hunter and Chaskalson, 2013: De Déa Roglio and Light, 2009). Such benefits clearly link directly and indirectly with various desired competencies in today's workplace, pointing at the value of including Mindfulness in the organizational philosophy from a human resources perspective.

**2.3.5.4 Behavioral Benefits.** In an organizational setting, an individual's behavior and the actions they take are the prominent reflections of the value an employee adds through their work. The literature attests to various potential benefits that Mindfulness practice holds towards increasing the capacity of an individual to engage in behaviors that are considered positive from a work perspective. First and foremost, Mindfulness is found to have a positive impact on the general notion of performance at work (Coo and Salanova, 2018; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Waddock and Lozano, 2012; Dane, 2011; Shao and Skarlicki, 2009; MacDonald and Shirley, 2009; Dekeyser et al., 2008; Beauchemin et al., 2008; Dobie, 2007) whereby being mindful allows a person to perform better at the tasks they are to carry out while equally increasing overall work engagement (Petchsawang and McLean, 2017; Gunasekara and Zheng, 2019; Tuckey et al., 2018: Leroy et al., 2013), engagement in ethical and pro-social behavior (Reb et al., 2014), ethical decision making (Ruedy and Schweitzer, 2010) and activity coordination (Metiu and Rothbard, 2012), alongside a reduction of deviant organizational behaviors (Reb et al., 2014; Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015) including absenteeism (Hallman et al., 2014). This points at an overall positive impact of Mindfulness on what Glomb et al. (2011) refer to as positive citizenship behavior in an organization to the benefit of themselves, the team and the organization.

More particular benefits that are found around Mindfulness in the workplace concern the manner in which individuals are able to position themselves in the work environment and the demands they are faced with as a result of the positive influence of Mindfulness on adaptive coping styles (Hallman et al., 2014; Fast et al., 2014; Ocasio, 2011; Glomb et al., 2011; Jacobs and Blustein, 2008; Palmer and Rodger, 2009). This means that workers, faced with highly dynamic and increasingly complex work and life demands, are able to be more effective at addressing those, whereby the work of Metiu and Rothbard (2012) indicates the positive effects of Mindfulness on workers to organize and manage multiple activities and equally stronger resilience to set backs (Colgan et al. 2019; Fast et al., 2014; Roche et al., 2014). Mindfulness is further found to result in enhanced socializing at work (Beauchemin et al., 2008), higher levels of friendliness (Singh et al., 2002), which increase positive and dampen negative work relationships (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015; Reb et al., 2014) and provide a higher capacity to handle difficult workplace interactions (Hallman et al., 2014: Brady et al., 2012) leading to leveraging work relationships in a better way towards positive outcomes for the self and the organization. In particular, there are reported effects of Mindfulness to reduce work hostility (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015), reduced reaction to injustice and engagement in retaliation (Long and Christian, 2015).

Mindfulness is also found to positively affect various competencies such as communication and teamwork. In this regard, the literature points at the value of Mindfulness practice to enhance active listening (Singh et al., 2006), better quality of communication (Beach et al., 2013; Beckman et al., 2012) and enhanced ability to makes one's voice heard (Fast et al., 2014) alongside more effective communication of one's emotions (Jones et al., 2019; Fast et al., 2014). With respect to teamwork, the literature points at the fact that mindful people are better at teamwork (Singh et al., 2006), experience a greater sense of other-orientation (Good et al., 2016), show greater cohesion and collective performance (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015) and, within an organizational context, are more effective at negotiating towards positive outcomes (Krasner et al., 2009). It can be argued that the positive impact of Mindfulness on some behavioral aspects of employees gravitates not only around the ability to engage adaptively in coping styles, but of particular interest is the ability of Mindfulness to sharpen interpersonal skills (Hallman et al., 2014; Cohen and Miller, 2009; Singh et al., 2002) allowing individuals to foster positive relations at work and experience a more positive interaction in a work-related setting.

**2.3.5.5 Self-Oriented Benefits.** Given the primarily individual focus orientation of this study, it is worthwhile to outline some key literature around how Mindfulness relates to and impacts the self in a work setting. The above described literature on the benefits of Mindfulness can intuitively be connected with various aspects of benefits to the self be it as a result of enhanced physical, mental, emotional, behavioral or cognitive states. This points very much at the argument that will close this part of the literature review, i.e. that being mindful is an important and desirable precursor disposition for an individual in organizaitonal science. This follows the contention of Good et al. (2016) and Jamieson and Tuckey (2017), who refer to it as a possible root construct.

The self-oriented benefits of Mindfulness stem directly from the central notion of awareness to the Mindfulness construct, making increased self-awareness (Bishop et al., 2004; Rocco et al., 2012; Vago and Silbersweig, 2012) and self-acceptance (Carson and Langer, 2006; Jimenez et al., 2010) as a result of Mindfulness, very powerful antecendents to various other positive outcomes in a work setting. These include better emotional regulation (Baer, 2003; Brown and Ryan, 2003; Brown et al., 2007), higher clarity around decisions making (De Déa Roglio and Light, 2009; Hunter and Chaskalson, 2013), the ability to take a fuller perspective on reality (Block-Lerner et al., 2007), successful interpersonal relationships (Goleman, 2013) and better understanding of one own's emotional processes (Glomb et al., 2011). The study by De Déa Roglio and Light (2009) points at self-awareness being critical for the accurate development of a person's sense of reality.

Mindfluness is further reported to enhance self-care (Richards et al., 2010) whereby the individual, through awareness of the self and the various aspects discussed above, is likely to show more concern for oneself. In this regard, the question can be raised whether self-care always results in positive outcomes for all stakeholders linked to the individual (e.g. employers, colleagues, famiy, etc). The evidence around the reduction of deviant behaviors (Reb et al., 2014; Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015), in combination with the

overwhelming evidence of increased positive behavioral capacities as a result of Mindfulness, would argue that if the Mindfulness practitioner is truly and fully mindful that would put the above reservation to rest. In other words, self-care must not be confused with self-centeredness or selfishness, rather, in a context of selfcompassion as various studies suggest, to be an increased self-oriented outcome of Mindfulness practice (Neff and Germer, 2013; Roeser et al., 2013; Felton et al., 2015; Shapiro et al., 2007).

Glomb et al. (2011) highlight the resulting effect of Mindfulness in superior self-regulation, which they argue goes beyond the self-regulation of emotions as outlined above. Self-regulation refers to the ability of an invidividual to manage both emotions and actions in particular circumstances, but equally within a bigger picture perspective, whereby the latter results in the Mindfulness practitioner to be more self-determined (Glomb et al., 2011) and experience enhanced self-esteem (Ford, 2019; Kabat-Zinn et al., 1985), the context of this study on Self-Leadership, which are fundamental concepts to note. This further links seamlessly with the enhanced capacity of adaptivity as a result of Mindfulness (Hallman et al., 2014; Fast et al., 2014; Ocasio, 2011; Glomb et al., 2011; Jacobs and Blustein, 2008; Palmer and Rodger, 2009).

## 2.4 Self-Leadership and Mindfulness

The above literature review has outlined both notions of Self-Leadership and Mindfulness against a context of 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace realities. It is intuitively clear that both constructs are operating in similar domains. Mindfulness is presented, in particular, in the context of its connection with self-regulation and self-control at emotional, physical, psychological, cognitive and behavioral levels (Passmore, 2019; Good et al., 2016; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017). However, when unpacking the fundamentals of the construct, it must be noted that present focused attention and awareness are the two main notions of being mindful (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016). This shows that actions towards particular regulation are secondary or antecedent to being mindful, and hereby showing being mindful as a precursor disposition to self-regulation and therefore to Self-Leadership. Mindfulness is a state of being and one can be mindful by engaging in various strategies to arrive at that state. The reported benefits of Mindfulness do, however, point at its regulative influence, but this is as a result of actions that are built on being mindful through Mindfulness practice. A few of the good benefits associated with Mindfulness practice or interventions presented in the previous section are shown with respect to the interface of the self, the other and the organization. What is important to point out is that Mindfulness practice is a process that pertains to the here and now, without direct inference of future or past. Self-Leadership, even though also a process, is far more led by a future orientation and the pursuit of a desired state in a self-regulatory manner by taking charge of things and deploying strategies that foster intrinsic drive and perspectives towards positive outcomes. The undeniable connection between Self-Leadership and other 'classic' constructs around motivation - such as need for achievement, self-regulation, self-management, self-efficacy, etc. - presents a debate around the ambiguity of the construct and whether, in fact, it is a distinct construct (Neck and Houghton, 2006; Andressen et al., 2012; Stewart et al., 2011, 2019). This debate, as much as it is of scientific importance, is not the focus of this study. Rather, this investigation focuses on the manner in which Mindfulness as a possible root construct in organizational science (Good et al., 2016), may operate as a precursor catalyst to Self-Leadership strategies. As much as Furtner et al.'s (2015) empiric study preliminarily indicates the conceptual distinction of Self-Leadership from the classic motivational constructs, they equally point at the need for further investigating the underlying mechanisms of Self-Leadership in order to sharpen up its conceptualization and understanding in the organizational context.

The manner in which Mindfulness may enable an individual to engage in Self-Leadership and, in particular, in its strategies is therefore worthy of investigation. Manz (2015) further clearly points at the need for a clear sense of self and an awareness of deep personal values if one is to engage in Self-Leadership, which gives further credence to not only the potential effect of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership, but equally the importance of understanding how both interface. Manz' (2015) distinction of Self-Leadership from self-management stems very much from the fact that Self-Leadership includes a sense of authenticity, i.e. doing something because one truly believes it is in line with their personal values, as opposed to doing something because it is what the job/boss requires. He further notes that an over focus
on letting one do what they want to do rather than what they should be doing may backfire. Mindfulness, by its essence of considering the situation as uncoupled from personal habitual thinking, may provide solace in this, whereby Mindfulness practice may result in a more balance evaluation of the tension between what one should be doing (self-management) and what one wants to do (authenticity in Self-Leadership). Manz (2015) confirms the idea that when one focuses on benefits of oneself that are aligned with benefits for others, this allows support for natural and authentic motivation (wanting to do something) to engage in responsible behavior (what one should be doing). Manz (2015) also points at the responsibility dimension of Self-Leadership, which concerns how people lead themselves guided by what is right and virtuous from a social perspective. In turn, Mindfulness, as a result of its enhancing effect on perspective taking (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014), shows potential to enable the responsibility dimension of Self-Leadership when considering that this refers to assuming a stakeholder view (Waldman, 2014) and the pursuit of virtuous behavior (Manz et al., 2008).

Assuming that Self-Leadership concerns a 'way of being' with a focus on personal development of the self, then this development involves the cultivation of present awareness of mental models (Cairns-Lee, 2015) in parallel to the integration of one's personal sense of identity therein (Edwards et al., 2015) stemming from beliefs, values and abilities (Tovstiga, 2013). The development of this would intuitively benefit from learning how to anchor one's being into the present moment and how to intuitively align or frame this anchoring appropriately with one's goals and momentary sensations (Baron and Parent, 2015; Goleman, 2013). Brendel and Bennett (2016) refer to this as embodied leadership development in a leadership context whereby they draw on Mindfulness concepts to develop leadership capacity in people. This development process is conceptualized through an awareness expanding phase to receive mind-body insights followed by a critical reflection coupled with dialogue around insights to transform behaviors and then engage in transformative practice towards being in a manner that is attuned and accepting. It is intuitively clear that this very well applies to a Self-Leadership context even though it was developed for leadership development. What it does show, is the recognition that in the context of leadership, the traditional perspective (e.g. the traits approach to leadership) has

long given way to a far more comprehensive perspective that recognizes the complexity of the construct.

Self-Leadership and Mindfulness are theoretically linked constructs in the sense that both concern the self and both are positioned in the domain of selfregulation (Furtner et al., 2018; Brown and Ryan, 2003). Where Self-Leadership sits more on the end of self-regulation with regards to what, how and why to think, feel or do, Mindfulness positions itself around self-regulation of awareness-orientation (openness, curiosity and acceptance) and attention (perception of the current states of experiences). A fundamental commonality is that both constructs draw on a process of self-regulatory-observation and goal setting. Mindful self-leaders are referred to as agentic in nature (Furtner et al., 2013) whereby MacKenzie and Baumeister (2015) present the mindful self-leader as one that continuously monitors external and internal process whilst being acutely aware of his/her current state of feelings, actions and thoughts as part of a larger picture framework of personal short and long run aspirations and effectiveness. Bishop et al. (2004) propose the enhancing potential of Mindfulness' Observation component (Baer et al., 2004, 2006) with regards to selfregulation and Self-Leadership in the sense that the attentive witnessing of both the internal and external (i.e. observation) may well result in more conscious and effective use of various Self-Leadership strategies. The self-observing component of Mindfulness is further also noted for its potential around effective self-regulation from a control theory perspective (Carver and Scheier, 1998). Hereby, the reduction of the discrepancy between current and desired state would be more easily achieved when first of all carefully self-observed.

A clear commonality between Mindfulness and Self-Leadership is their mutual emphasis on the value of self-focused observation for goal attainment (Brown et al., 2007; Furtner et al., 2015; Mackenzy and Baumeister, 2015). Self-regulatory observation stands central to realizing the goals of both constructs whereby Mindfulness concerns observation of the now in a non-judgmental way and Self-Leadership aims for elevating one's performance and effectiveness. Furtner et al. (2018) report on a positive relationship between Mindfulness' observation facet and Self-Leadership, contending that observation in a mindful manner could potentially be the key to how Mindfulness enables Self-Leadership. In the same study the personality trait of openness to experience is found to have a strong positive link to Mindfulness and Self-Leadership, yet there are reservations around whether acceptance without judgment in fact would nurture Self-Leadership oriented behaviors. As much as attention is one key component of Mindfulness (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016), Furtner et al. (2015) identify self-regulation of attention or self-control as key to Self-Leadership, which points at the value of mindfully observing internal and external stimuli and processes. While Avey et al. (2008) indicate the potential of Mindfulness to nurture the development of psychological resources that enable self-direction and engagement for those who are less prone to have such psychological aspects, Tabaziba (2015) found Mindfulness to be a mediating factor in this regard. Psychological resources that individuals tap into and use to position themselves in context (for example at work) are suggested to provide a strong buffering mechanism to adversity (e.g. in the work place) (Newman et al., 2014), arguably allowing or fostering higher resilience (Colgan et al., 2019), pointing in the Self-Leadership direction. Avey et al (2010) coined this as psychological capital and presented it as a four-component integrated structure consisting of self-efficacy, hope, optimism and resilience. It is worth noting that that the former three are more proactive than the latter, whereas hope and resilience are noted for their adaptational nature.

Mindfulness is further found to promote the strengthening of personal resources towards self-directed behavior (Leroy et al., 2013; Malinowski and Lim, 2015; Kotzé, 2018). Depenbrock (2014) argues for Mindfulness to enhance one's ability to effectively use the resources needed to be effective at work. Avey et al. (2008, 2010) and Kotzé (2018) highlight the effect of Mindfulness to enable individuals to intentionally select approaches and perspectives that are more efficacious, hopeful, resilient and optimistic with respect to job demands. Her study, echoed by the work of Colgan et al. (2019), shows that Mindfulness directly affects vigor (i.e. willingness to pour effort into work), mental resilience and energy levels and indirectly affects dedication (i.e. the feeling of personal significance as a result of work through pride, self-worth, enthusiasm and feeling challenged). However, Kotzé (2018) points at the need for Self-Leadership to be better understood with regards to its antecedents; in her study she did not consider Mindfulness as an antecedent to Self-Leadership. Vigour and dedication are contended by Schaufeli and Bakker (2004) as central to feeling personally invested and identified with one's work. The work of Semple with regards to Mindfulness is particularly focused on dealing with anxiety with children and young adults, yet Semple et al.'s (2017) study is one of the only studies found that explore the relationship between Mindfulness and Self-Leadership through examining the effects of a Mindfulness intervention with the objective of addressing stress and performance. In this regard the importance of executive control must be noted as a fundamental factor on which Mindfulness has a reported impact whereby the need for control can be optimized, potentially resulting in adaptation of its execution (Teper et al., 2013). Alongside what Neck and Houghton (2006) term as a healthy perspective on self-regulation for behavior (i.e. accurate and attentive targeting of realistic goals, observation thereof and adaptation thereto), self-executive control can be argued to become a strongly positive precursor for engagement in Self-Leadership to eventually arrive at higher performance (Neck and Manz, 2010). Self-Leadership, as much as it is typically pointed to as a strategy towards pursuing the goal of higher performance (Neck and Manz, 2010), must also be recognized for its proactive coping potential (Unsworth and Mason, 2012), which Mindfulness can further optimize (Levesque and Brown, 2007) including through enhancement of achievement-oriented behavior as extensively addressed in the discussion around benefits of Mindfulness earlier in this literature review. Semple et al. (2017) hint in their study that Mindfulness would improve the manner in which individuals select and engage in Self-Leadership strategies, yet this remains at the moment a theoretical conceptualization as a result of Mindfulness' reduction of impulsive and automatic behavior (Furtner et al., 2018) and its enhancing effect on self-determined achievement of intrinsic motivators (i.e. goal and aspirations) (Deci et al., 2015).

From this discussion, it is safe to say that Self-Leadership and Mindfulness have several theoretical contact points and undeniably seem to address and improve various similar outcomes, in particular self-determined behavior (Dundas et al., 2016; Furtner et al., 2017; Lucke and Furtner, 2015; Semple et al., 2017), yet this link is only established among students and soldiers. The study of Semple et al. (2017) on how Mindfulness is introduced as a developmental route for Self-Leadership for students did not allow for a clear isolation of how Mindfulness enabled engagement in Self-Leadership practice since the study group of students were introduced to both Mindfulness and Self-Leadership strategies. Instead, it would be worthwhile to evaluate the manner in which—if at all—Mindfulness practice training would guide people to engage in Self-Leadership strategies. Not only is the current literature on the link between Mindfulness and Self-Leadership rather selected when it comes to addressing its explicit link, but what is missing entirely all together is a clear explication of the manner in which Mindfulness influences Self-Leadership from the perspective of the practitioner. Given the argument of Good et al. (2016) that Mindfulness is a root construct to organizational science in the sense that it seems to give way to behavior, cognitive and emotional aspects of organizational behavior, the exploration of its relationship with Self-Leadership is timely and worthwhile.

In the context of the way in which the 21<sup>st</sup> century organizational micro and macro environment is substantially different from the 20<sup>th</sup> century, organizations have realized that new ways of working are in order to be responsive and agile. Organizational leadership can be assumed to hold the mandate to take an organization into (if need be) a different direction that is more suited for its changed 21<sup>st</sup> century environment, which Heifetz et al. (2009) refer to as adaptive leadership for change. They point at the need for buy-in and involvement from everyone within the organization through a concerted series of efforts spanning various organizational aspects.

In the context of this study, one of the goals/challenges of organizations in the 21<sup>st</sup> century is to build a workforce that is appropriately self-directed. Based on the various examples of links with organizational and personal success, a management team may set its workforce on the developmental route for Self-Leadership. Training for Mindfulness practice may be a sustainable enabler in this regard in the sense that it pertains many fundamental aspects in the context of Self-Leadership and concerns first and foremost personal benefits to the individual. Such approach aligns well with the contention of Kanfer et al. (2017), who argues the need for work environments that support self-determination. It further also aligns well with what is referred to in the literature as workplace innovation, a term proposed by Pot (2011) as novel and synergistic interventions in the way work is organized, human resource management

is performed, and technologies support the workplace. Pot et al. (2012) further illuminates this statement by pointing at the importance of its strategic purpose for both organizational performance and the equally better quality of working life through participatory adoption of changes in the management of both human and non-human resources. Workplace innovation empowers employees in their daily decision making to add value to the organization by catalyzing their abilities to challenge 'as is' practices with seniors and build structures that span the strategic, operational and structural realm of the organization (Totterdill, 2015). Totterdill et al. (2012) point at the non-linear nature of the workplace innovation process and highlight that at its core is the learning and experimenting influenced by diverse sources to create developmental processes that are self-sustaining. Given the multiple benefits of Mindfulness practice, Self-Leadership and its clearly intertwined nature, it is not surprising that organizations look at tapping the potential of Mindfulness to instill more self-directedness within their workforce in response to the new realities of today's world of work. Active support for and participation in efforts to change must come from everyone within the organization in order for Mindfulness to catalyze change, that change to be successful and for its result to bear fruit and sustain the organization (Raney, 2014).

On the one hand, there is plenty of evidence of organizational adoption of Mindfulness as a novel technique – and as part of larger workplace innovation strategies – towards improving the worker's role and fit in the organization and its 21<sup>st</sup> century realities. On the other hand, self-direction and Self-Leadership have been overtly and (perhaps even more pervasively) covertly highlighted as bottom-line expectations from the worker in consideration of the demands of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace and work environment. With a large body of evidence around the benefits of Mindfulness in various domains and a fair uptake around scholarly work to explicate Self-Leadership, it is safe to say that these are two constructs that deserve attention in organizational science at the dawn of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Even though some preliminary evidence exists that investigates the relationship between Mindfulness and Self-Leadership, the literature on the subject is scarce. There is furthermore minimal to no uptake around qualifying the Mindfulness experience in a context of Self-Leadership and certainly not addressing in any way (to the knowledge of the researcher) the mechanisms that are experienced by non-managerial Mindfulness practitioners with relation to how Mindfulness practice and strategies enable them to engage in Self-Leadership.



# **CHAPTER 3** RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This qualitative methodology study attempts, through a phenomenological approach, to gain insight in the perceived influence of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership for 19 Thai, non-managerial employees. This chapter outlines and argues the rationale behind the research design and approach for this study. This includes a discussion of research participants, the data collection process procedures and protocols, data analysis and mechanisms deployed to ensure scientific trustworthiness.

Ontologically – i.e., the concern of reality (Creswell and Creswell, 2017) – the researcher assumes for this study the stance that reality is a context-dependent individual construct. At the epistemological level – i.e., the theory of knowledge resulting in insight on how the phenomenon is going to be investigated (Creswell and Creswell, 2017) – the researcher assumes the stance that the data needed for this study is nested in the perspectives of people who engage in Mindfulness practice in an organizational setting. Therefore, the researcher engaged with selected participants to obtain data.

Epistemologically and ontologically, this study assumes an interpretivist stance due to the fact that it considers the reality of the investigated topic to be rooted in the perception of the practitioner of Mindfulness (i.e. the non-managerial employees) and how this affects engagement with Self-Leadership (i.e. the engagement in Self-Leadership strategies). This choice is based on two overarching realities to the topic of investigation, i.e. the 'relative' nature of knowledge and the theoretical ground in which Self-Leadership is nested. Firstly, knowledge is considered to be 'relative' since it is considered to be context sensitive and situation specific (Bennet and Bennet, 2004), meaning that knowledge and its enabling of action depends on the context and situation observed. Secondly, Self-Leadership as a theoretical construct operates in the context of Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1991), which posits the relationship between internal influences, external influences and behavior. Self-Leadership and Mindfulness have further been related to Self-Regulation Theory (Manz, 1986) whereby individual, situational and context specific factors are pivotal. The relative nature of knowledge and its theoretical grounding show the interpretivist stance to be appropriate to generate insight in the topic of investigation because the crux of the study will be addressed by interpreting the meaning making of the participants with regards to how Mindfulness influences Self-Leadership behaviors. It can be expected that the manner in which Mindfulness influences an individual's Self-Leadership from their perspective is arguably affected by a variety of contextual factors such as, but not limited to, personal circumstances, aspirations, priorities, locus of control, work environment, culture, current life and professional cycle stage, to name a few. This clearly indicates the value of the subjective dimensions that are inherently part of the relation between Mindfulness and Self-Leadership. Even though the above-mentioned contextual factors are all possibly worthy of investigation, this study, by its scope does not intend to address each of them; however it breeds ground for a wealth of future research.

This study deploys a qualitative phenomenological method to explanatorily investigate non-managerial Thai employees' perceptions of how Mindfulness influences them in becoming more self-led.

#### 3.1 Research Design

#### 3.1.1 Qualitative Approach

For this study the researcher has opted to use a qualitative research design whereby it draws from qualitative data to support the articulation and interpretation of the findings. The study's qualitative approach is appropriate because its purpose is to realize an in-depth description and understanding of the manner in which individuals perceive the impact of Mindfulness on their composure, implying a subjective nature investigation that requires interpretation of verbal or textual content found in the study to construct insight through capturing data from real individuals.

Creswell and Creswell (2017) present five main methods to approach research in a qualitative way: narrative, case study, grounded theory, ethnography and phenomenology. Each of the methods typically, but not necessarily, combines insights from various data sources through, for example, interviews, document review and site visit observation. Through narrative, researchers present a comprehensive and cohesive story of an investigated sequence of events, whereas grounded theory aims at the inductive generation of theoretical concepts from a real-life setting. By engaging the ethnographic method, researchers immerse themselves in the studied participants' environment to identify emerging themes for understanding, e.g., motivations or culture. The phenomenological method focuses in particular on the why and how the human mind perceives a topic of investigation in a certain way. Since this study is trying to explore the lived experience of the Mindfulness practitioner with respect to the influence of Mindfulness practice on work composures with particular interest in Self-Leadership behaviors, the choice of phenomenology is deemed appropriate.

Deploying a qualitative approach is argued to be an appropriate, if not ideal, data collection strategy for this study following the contention of Strauss and Corbin (1990), the exploration of topics for which quantifiable means can be argued fall short. Ryan et al. (2007) further posit that quantitative approaches suffer from the limitation that they typically only gather data on specific items hence not enabling a rich and in-depth description of the underlying triggers of the "why" and "how" individuals act the way they do rather than, through quantitative studies, the what, where or when of a topic of investigation. Qualitative research is particularly appropriate in settings that are context specific (Patton, 2011) and for research endeavors that focus on informants' sense making of a topic of investigation or to identify their underlying experiences (Maxwell, 2012; Creswell and Creswell, 2017).

The fact that this study is set in a context of non-management workplace setting in Thailand, whereby the objective is to investigate the manner in which Thai individuals perceive the impact of Mindfulness on their composures at work with a particular interest in Self-Leadership, would suggest, based on the argument above, a qualitative approach to be highly appropriate.

When further considering the research questions of the study, the study calls for an address of "how" something is happening. The study therefore intends to give a rich and in-depth description of how Mindfulness is perceived to influence work composures with particular attention to enabling of Self-Leadership from the perspective of the individuals in question to result in exploratory understanding how these constructs interface through building on participants' verbalized experiences and extracting thematic findings for further research to build on.

#### 3.1.2 Why Phenomenology?

With its roots in the Greek work phaenesthai, referring to "appearance" or "revelation" of something (Moustakas, 1994) the phenomenological approach is reported by Moran (2002) to be credited to the work of the German philosopher, Edmund Husserl (1859 – 1938) who argued that for science to realize its true disciplinary potential there was a need to include the inner human experience instead of only focusing on the physical world. It was however Heidegger's seminal work "Sein und Zeit" from 1927 that really started the phenomenological movement in the scholarly world with the introduction of the concept of "existenz," i.e., the human structure of "being" rather than Husserl's concept of mere consciousness. Moran (2002) notes various other contributors to the phenomenological movement such as Sartre, Arendt, Gadamer and Merlau-Onty who all assert the need of inclusion of subjectivity by means of individuals' views in order to truly understand the nature of knowledge. Phenomenology is formally referenced as appropriate to investigating individual's experiences (Grossman, 1995; Patton, 2011) whereby Patton (2011) argues the crux of such enquiry to be "the meaning structure and essence of the lived experience of a phenomenon for a person or group of people" (p. 104). Van Manen (1997) further posits the ultimate aim of phenomenology to the transformation of "lived experience into a textual expression of its essence" (p. 36). This indicates that the researcher, applying this approach, through interpretation engages in a constructivist process to describe the fundamentals of one or more individual's experience (Moustakas, 1994). Following the recommendation of Creswell and Creswell (2017) who posit the power of phenomenology to describe the how and why something is perceived by individuals, the researcher believes this approach to be highly appropriate. The use of a case study approach was not deemed appropriate due to the fact that the researcher did not have access to a third site nor was able to identify different sites of different contexts to argue the development of theory out of case studies as per the approach of Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007) who point at the use of multiple research sites of considerable contextual difference to use a case study approach. Case studies further are not necessarily directly focusing on the textual articulation of the lived experience of a phenomenon that individuals experience and what outcome this has. The specific focus of the study to explore the link between

Mindfulness Practice and Self-Leadership for non-managerial employees, requires specific attention to the manner in which participants express their experience, as apposed to a case study where various sources of information are used to describe a particular state of the art and which often does not translate a lived experience of individuals into textual form (Van Manen, 1997), but rather presents a description of a setting or contextual reality. In its exploratory nature, this study it could be seen as a starting form of Action Research, however it does not complete multiple cycles of plan, action, review and adjustment, therefore, the approach of this study would not be classified as such. The study did not intend to appraise the quality of the intervention as it happened, as this was outside the scope of the study, nor does the study scope include the practical development and delivery of potential changes for future roll out of professional development activities.

Phenomenology is typically based around a central concept of investigation that is impacted by a central phenomenon. The central concept of investigation in this study is Self-Leadership (nested within general composures of people at work) and the central phenomenon is Mindfulness practice. The researcher's recent immersion in this field and her experience with Mindfulness has, however, influenced her choice of study and sampling pools for this study – which is discussed in more details in the next section.

#### **3.2 Overall Process of the Research Method**

Even though some literature on phenomenological research design presents a reluctance towards adopting a single prescribed technique (Holloway, 1997; Hycner, 1999; Van Manen, 1997), the researcher is aware of the value of having a predetermined approach to realize a study effectively rather than assuming a perhaps too loosely defined approach. That being said, the researcher has remained open to emergent findings that may be outside of the intended scope of the study. In his paper on the illustration of a phenomenological research design with almost 3000 citations (which makes this arguably a seminal type of work for this type of methodology), Groenewald (2004) indeed points at the value to adopt a series of guidelines if one is to engage in phenomenological research.

Since research design concerns procedures as well as methods for data collection and analysis, illuminates the progression of research activities in this study to place the following section in this chapter in context.



Figure 5 Methodological progression of this study

The process is color coded to allow for a better understanding of the progression of the different elements that build this study from participant sourcing to eventual contributions of theoretical and practical nature. The yellow components represent events or actions undertaken by the researcher or third parties and are practical considerations fundamental to the study. The orange components of the image refer to the Data Collection. Grey components concern data analysis activities. Blue components represent the outcome which eventually lead to theoretical and practical contributions of this study. Each of the components will be explained with more detail in the sections below. The arrows in indicate the sequential or parallel occurrence of each component.

Participants were purposively sampled based on selection criteria relevant to the study as is elaborately explained in section 3.4 and in particular 3.4.1 of this chapter. The recruitment of the participants followed standard yet robust recruitment procedures with respect to consent and general ethical considerations as clearly discussed in section 3.4.2 of this chapter. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with all participants following the Behavior Event Interview approach whereby careful attention was given to comprehensiveness of the topics discussed through careful prompting of interviewees when necessary as elaborately outlined in section 3.5.1 of this chapter. Each interview was audio recorded for later transcription and analysis. The interviews followed a very strict interview protocol, elaborated in section 3.6 of this chapter, in order to ensure that de data collection process is consistent across all participants. Additionally, the researcher engaged in interviews with the participants supervisors, unpacked in section 3.5.2 of this chapter for reliability check of the findings from the interviews. The interviews were transcribed for content and answers were at first evaluated for relevance and fit to the investigated categories. Data analysis, as extensively elaborated in section 3.7 of this chapter, was conducted following a thematic analysis method at individual level, as elaborated in section 4.2.1 of which the results were progressed to analysis at sample level, as elaborated in 4.2.2. The latter then resulted in the development of textural and structural description elements to make up the respective "what" and "how" of the experiences that were lived in terms of how Mindfulness impacts Self-Leadership. The discussion aims to give insight in the impact of Mindfulness practice on workcomposures with a particular focus on Self-Leadership thought and behavior, the potential of Mindfulness practice to better meet organizational expectations for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century and the potential of a training for Mindfulness practice in terms of future professional development for the participating organizations.

#### **3.3 Constraints**

Like any study, this investigation is compounded by a number of constraints that affect the process and therefore the outcome of the study. Recognizing the constraints is considered an important part of reporting on the research process in order to frame limitations to a study (which are discussed in more details in its dedicated section), but equally to give a fair account of the reality context in which a study takes place, the consequences of the constraints and the actions taken within this context. The main constraining factors to this study are time and funding.

The time constraint relates to the deadline of the PhD program for which this study is developed. Since the PhD program at Bangkok University allows no longer than 6 years to finalize the PhD research and produce its dissertation, the researcher is cognizant to work within a carefully developed timeframe with regards to data collection, analysis and the final write up of the thesis. This results in the need to be effective, result focused and carefully prioritize findings in order to produce a comprehensive and worthwhile answer to the research questions of this study. This possibly leads to a lack of time to explore every single detail with respect to this study; however, as is the case for most – if not every – research study that is time bound, the outcome of this study intends, besides answering it central research question of course, to illuminate various areas worthy of further research since the objective of the study is exploratory in nature.

In terms of funding, the second constraint and an important practical aspect of conducting research, it is worth noting that this study is self-funded. The researcher is not reliant on any third-party funding to realize this research project, resulting in some practical boundaries. First of all, self-funding constrains the capacity of the researcher to select research sites suitable for this study, whereby the researcher is confined to identifying research sites that are within reasonable proximity of her in order to be able to comfortably meet research participants for interviews without extortionate financial ramifications in terms of travel expenses. Secondly, the inability to providing incentives to the participants in this study beyond general courtesy and limited hospitality upon interaction, leads to the fact that this study relies primarily on the goodwill of the participants to take part in this study. Self-funding also means considerable effort to be spent on finding organizations that allow a study to take place in their work environment without financial compensation. The researcher spent considerable time and effort on convincing various organizations of the value of this research and managed to secure genuine buy-in from all authorizing parties (i.e., organization owners/senior management) of the two organizations involved. Both organizations will remain anonymous due to privacy concerns raised by senior management on the grounds of professional development policy. To address the funding constraint, the researcher opted for organizations that showed genuine interest and enthusiasm to explore the potential of Mindfulness as a strategy to advance the professional development of its staff towards becoming more self-led based on a genuine conviction that both Mindfulness and Self-Leadership would benefit the

individual and the organizational performance. Both organizations participating in the study were sourced from within the wider Bangkok area in Thailand.

The researcher believes that her decisions and actions within the confines of these constraints allow for a research output that is worthwhile, timely and holds both practical and theoretical value to the knowledge domains of Self-Leadership and Mindfulness.

#### 3.4 Participants

## 3.4.1 Participant selection

Purposive sampling is suggested as an important choice in order to arrive at credible responses and information for a study like this one (Creswell and Creswell, 2017; Patton, 2011). This form of sampling is primarily driven by the purpose of the research (Schwandt, 1997). Hereby the researcher uses an approach based on characteristics of its potential population in order to arrive at a participant group that can be expected to have rich information to share concerning the topic of investigation. For this study, this means selecting participants on the basis of nationality, position, Mindfulness practice and work environment. Generally, these characteristics can seem intuitively logical based on the research question, however for the purpose of clarity the logic of each characteristic is explained below.

Selection of participants with Thai nationality only, allows to control for cultural context which is aligned with the findings from Ke et al. (2006) around exploring Self-Leadership through a cultural lens. Even though measuring of Self-Leadership across culture seemed in various cases to show typical invariance, Ke et al. (2006) did indicate these findings to be at best indicative and in need for further consideration. The Thai culture was not included in the Ke et al. (2006) study and up to date – to the knowledge of the researcher – no study has been done around the influence of Mindfulness practice on Self-Leadership for Thai nationals in non-managerial positions. For these reasons, using culture as a controlling participant selection characteristic seems appropriate.

Selecting only non-managerial positions is furthermore also appropriate since the bulk of the research that has been conducted on Mindfulness and (self) leadership concerns participants that are in managerial positions and students. This study differentiates itself in scope by focusing on people in non-managerial positions.

Since Mindfulness practice is the core phenomenon of investigation, it is only logical to employ Mindfulness practice as a selection criterion. There was no standard set in terms of minimal knowledge around Mindfulness since the participants' Mindfulness practice was expected to be initiated (or re-enforced if already practicing) by means of a Mindfulness training presented to the participants as a professional development activity by the organizations towards better performance in their role. It was, however, imperative that the participants agree to commit to consciously being vigilant of practicing their Mindfulness learnings since the intervention is part of their formal evaluation by their managers. This gives good assurance that the participants are able to experience and reflect on these experiences in a behavioral context.

Work environment was considered as another selection criterion under the assumption that homogeneous contexts may help to give the study focus and generate a more in depth understanding of the phenomenon-construct relation in question with as few additional contingencies as possible. In other words, the researcher searched for participants with a generally similar work environment setting, in order to be able to more reliably consolidate the information found. In this case, 'work environment' is two pronged, referring on the one hand to a work setting where there is a known and communicated commitment of the participants' management towards upskilling its people to be more self-directed at work, and on the other hand confirmed commitment from management to the study by more attentive observation of participant self-directed behaviors by their direct managers. Communicated managerial commitment ensures that Self-Leadership and Mindfulness are given a fair platform in the professional development journey of the participants with a certain level of direction in order to generate buy-in from the concerned employees. The commitment from management to be more observant of indicators of self-directedness in the participants is a requirement the researcher sets for herself in order to be able to more critically evaluate perceptions of the participants.

Early exploration of participant selection based on the above criteria and the described general constraints of the study (e.g., time and funding) calls for

complementing purposeful sampling with convenience sampling, hereby setting realistic expectations towards a successful and worthwhile outcome. The study therefore has focused on work environments accessible to the researcher based on her recent professional track record and network of Mindfulness trainers. This resulted in addressing educational environments only, arguably limiting this study (which will be further discussed in the appropriate section), but still making a considerable contribution to the body of knowledge by engaging largely unexplored ground. The selection characteristics are summarized in below.

## Table 1

Table 1					
Participant selection characteristic	CS				
Criteria	Rationale				
Nationality	Thai Culture – Unexplored + control for				
	national culture All non-managerial				
	positions in the organizations of interest are				
	occupied by Thai.				
Position	Non-Managerial – largely unexplored				
Mindfulness Practice	Central Phenomenon to the study				
Work Environment	Conducive context for Self-Leadership				
	Reliability of findings through triangulation				
Industry	Educational Context due to constraints				

Participant selection characteristics

Sourcing of participants with two K-12 schools in the wider Bangkok area has resulted in 19 participants. This is considered as more than enough since the literature suggests a sample of 10 participants to be sufficient to arrive at saturation (Boyd, 2001).

The sample was drawn from two K-12 schools in the Bangkok area of Thailand, which for privacy concerns remain as referred to as School A and School B. Both Schools are considered to be international schools as per the curriculum followed (both follow an adapted UK Curriculum). School A and B serve respectively approximately 500 and 700 students throughout K1-K12 with a fairly international mix of employees of in total 16 nationalities. Both schools are considered to be

offering a rather progressive education compared to public K12 education in Thailand. This includes not only a more progressive learning experience for students, but also an extensive set of co-curricular and extra-curricular activities that get children out of the classroom for their learning and development. The international education nature of both schools is defined by two UK mother brands which provide guidelines not only the educational but equally administrative affairs. Senior management shared that "our schools are advanced in both its educational philosophy and its operational activities compared to your standard school in Bangkok ... we feel our points of difference make us attractive in the Thai and expat market ... our employees are the backbone of the organization, we need to look after them and help them feel comfortable and be productive to realise the success of our school". Both schools have a senior management team that consists of mainly UK expats with extensive experience in running UK international schools, which one can assume would make perspectives, expectations, developments and decision making likely to have a UK flavor. In this regard, the notion of self-directedness and taking ownership of ones work are values that management adheres to in its view of how to effectively run a school. Both organizations from where these participants are sourced have confirmed commitment to developing a work culture in which its employees are more self-directed. "We want to look for ways that our staff take greater charge of what they do ... we appreciate people who show initiative ... our performance review is linked to professional development outcomes .. a self-managing team is a well managing team ... being resourceful when solving problems and not giving up at the first sign of resistance may not be that obvious for everyone ... " are some extracts from early personal communications with authoritative stakeholders within the potential study sites. Their choice of words is highly indicative that these organizations can serve as good sites to do the study. Secondly, both organizations' Senior Management confirmed the study as a potential pilot to inform future professional development decisions to including Mindfulness training in their permanent organizational professional development suite. Management expressed particular interest in addressing self-directedness of Thai employees in search for better alignment with its management philosophy towards success. Mindfulness, with its growing popularity in various organizational behavioural contexts, was identified

by both school's management as a comprehensive professional development concept towards various organizational behaviours, including self-directness and therefore a deemed a worthwhile pathway for a pilot study. A succinct outline of the training can be found in Appendix E.

The sample size for the study resulted to be 19 participants. General qualitative research is argued to need 15 as the smallest acceptable sample size (Guest et al., 2006). Creswell (1998, p.64) points at a reasonable sample size for phenomenology to be between 5 to 25. Green and Thorogood (2009, p120) indicate that "the experience of most qualitative researchers is that in interview studies little that is new comes out of transcripts after you have interviewed 20 or so people". This would suggest that a sample size of 19 can be expected to be on the top end of the above guidelines, and therefore be acceptable. The 19 confirmed participants in the two workplaces follow the above criteria with a demographic make-up as follows:

- 9 participants from School A and 10 participants from School B
- a 60/40% female/male gender split
- age ranging from 21-50, with 50% above the age of 30
- 80% hold a Bachelor's Degree or more.
- 15% have experience abroad
- 100% work in a multinational environment
- Departments: Finance/accounting (3), Registration (5), Marketing and Communications (5), Human Resources (2), Personal Assistants (2), Health and Safety (2)

For the purpose of this study, no further diversity is identified or sought for in terms of the sample make up. A more equal gender split would be desirable, but is not seen as a requirement for this study. The age spread intuitively suggests the participants have reasonable experience in their job. The majority of the participants have never worked outside Thailand, yet all of them work in an international environment. The spread among departments seems reasonable considering the sizes of the organizations and departments to generate a comprehensive explanation of how Mindfulness practice may affect the organizations. Even though this study is limited to non-managerial workers in an educational setting, the spread over various departments – which are in essence generic for many organizations – has given the

researcher confidence that this is worthwhile to explore and, under the current constraints, does not warrant including other industries.

#### 3.4.2 Recruitment and Procedures

After receiving official approval for this study by the authorizing stakeholders and the research committee from Bangkok University, the implementation of the study starts by emailing each of the identified participants a formal invitation to the study. Appendix A presents the introductory email that was sent to each of the participants evidencing common courtesy. This email contains a short introduction, a simplified description of the study and a formal request to participate with a clear indication of the possibility to opt out of this study if the participant wishes to do so. The email further asks the participant to fill out, sign and return a consent form (Appendix B), which outlines the study and the conditions under which this will take place. Standard methodological consideration is given to privacy concerns of participants such as anonymity and publication of the findings for which the information is clearly stated in the form. Upon receipt of the consent form, the participant has been contacted with an outlined plan to move forward. Participants of the study moved through the following sequence

#### Figure 6 Participant involvement sequence



Following the recommendation of the research committee to leave some time between the Mindfulness training and the interviews, a period of approximately 3 months was put in place before the start of the data collection in order to ensure the participants had reasonable time to engage with Mindfulness practice and be able to meaningfully engage in the interviews. The eligibility for the study with respect to Mindfulness Practice experience, is therefore a minimum of three months practice after having had a full Mindfulness training session organized by the respective employers. After getting consent for participation, the participants were invited for an in-depth semi-structured interview in Thai or English depending on the level of comfort of the participants with the English language (Appendix D). Participants were consistently encouraged to provide positive and negative experiences of Mindfulness influence on Self-Leadership with clear examples. This allows to enhance validity of the findings at the consolidation stage of the findings at the sample level (Maxwell, 2012). The protocol of the interview is outlined in a separate section with clear detail on the questions asked and their purpose. The interview invitation email shared the planned questions to get the participants to start some reflective practice prior to the interview, which can be expected to result in more meaningful or thoughtful conversations during the interview. The interview used a Behavioral Event Interview (BEI) approach with open ended questions and prompts where required. The interviews spanned timeframes of 60 - 120 minutes. Interviews were audio recorded and later on transcribed in English for codification in order to have what Maxwell (2012) describes as a "full and revealing picture" (p. 125) of the perceived reality. The direct seniors of the participants were then contacted for a very short consultation as part of the triangulation in order to add to the reliability of the study. The direct seniors of the participants were asked to what extent they have observed a change in composures of the participants in the context of self-directedness. Since the main objective is to generate insight in the perceived experience of Mindfulness practitioners with regards to work composures with a focus on Self-Leadership, it must be clearly noted that including seniors as sources of insight fulfills a reliability function in the study, not a direct contribution to the attainment of data to inform the answering of the research question. Those seniors who engaged in this consultation were encouraged to give a fair and objective account for the participants composures from a developmental perspective. In other words, the discussion was conducted to ensure that the answers of the respondents were in line with what their supervisors observed or experienced as a reliability check for the interview contents.

#### 3.5 Data Collection Methods

This study deploys semi structured interviews with non-managerial Mindfulness practitioners to arrive at the write up of the lived experience of Mindfulness practice in context of this study. Supervisor consultation is a mechanism put in place to enhance the ability of the researcher to reliably and meaningfully analyze the data obtained from the interviews.

#### 3.5.1 Semi-Structured Interviews

The objective of qualitative research is not to identify causal relationships; instead, it is to exploratorily shed light on how the participants perceive situations, behaviors, thoughts and emotions in light of consequent actions (Maxwell, 2012) and deploys therefore semi structured interviews to collect qualitative data. Interviews are generally suggested as highly appropriate for capturing qualitative data (Creswell and Creswell, 2017) and are furthermore proposed as the most desirable data collection method in phenomenological studies (Moustakas, 1994). Because the objective is to understand the lived experience, this study uses open ended semi-structured interviews as its main data collection strategy (Giorgi, 2009; Moustakas, 1994; Patton, 2011) following in general the approach of the behavior-event-interview design (BEI) as an adaptation by McClelland (1998) on Flanagan's (1954) critical-incidentinterview. The objective of the BEI is to reveal, through exploration of feelings and thoughts in semi-structured conversations, the motivations of interviewee's actions related to specific events by focusing on both positives and negatives towards the generation of detailed content for analysis. Spencer and Spencer (2008) further points at BEI's inclusion of specific descriptions of events leading up to one or more specific situations, the situation(s) itself and other relevant parties to the situation(s) whereby participants are prompted to describe what motivated their decisions, their concerned thought process and their feelings related to the situation(s). In a leadership context, BEIs are reported to be far more predictively accurate compared to traditional interview techniques (Boyatzis, 1982). Based on this, the researcher is confident that this approach is appropriate for this study.

The interview for this study was designed by using the BEI approach as a general context towards developing questions which are outlined in Appendix E. By

this, the researcher made sure the questions consistently considered the need for the interview to be framed around real situations in which the interviewee could give a rich description of particular events in which Mindfulness practice was discussed in relation to Self-Leadership strategies. The questions progressively move through various aspects of Mindfulness and Self-Leadership, i.e., by first asking a question around general work and Mindfulness practice and then moving through various aspects of Self-Leadership strategies in the context of Mindfulness. Questions one and two are designed to gather a brief context related to the individual's working capacity in the organization with particular attention to the task the individual performs, and working interactions with others including reporting lines and the most challenging parts of the job. 'Q1: Tell me about your role/position. What are your main tasks in the organization?' and 'Q2: What are the most challenging parts of your job?'. Responses to the questions set the scene to identify core aspects of the job and main stressors of the job. Responses to these early questions will help in later questions (i.e., question 7) to cycle back and prompt (if needed) to evaluate the experienced impact of Mindfulness practice on the core job tasks and main experienced challenges.

Question three 'Could you tell me about your Mindfulness practice?' is designed to identify which Mindfulness practices are actively practiced. This includes Mindfulness trait and state in the sense that it tries to identify how often and to what level the participants engage in Mindfulness practice in order to better understand trait and state Mindfulness of the participants.

Questions four, five and six address the perceived impact of Mindfulness practice on Self-Leadership by means of breaking Self-Leadership down according to the main three composite categories used to operationalize the construct in this study (Neck and Houghton, 2006) i.e. Natural Rewards, Constructive Self-thought and Behavior-focused strategies. 'Q4: Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects what motivates you in your job? If so, how?', 'Q5: Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects the way you think during and about your job? If so how?' and 'Q6: Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects your self-awareness during your job? If so how?'. Each question addresses one of the Self-Leadership strategies and holds prompts that encourage a rich description through situation examples, but equally to reveal the way Mindfulness practice may have triggered the engagement in sub categories of strategies as identified in the literature review. These three questions are arguably the core to the interview and were given the most amount of time in order to arrive at a rich description of the perceived impact of Mindfulness practice on general work composures and particular Self-Leadership strategies. Aside from prompting the participant to discuss the sub categories of strategies, the researcher equally prompted for examples of positive/negative/no impact in order to get a balanced view of the impact of Mindfulness practice. Another prompt used is around understanding the extent to which Mindfulness practice impacts their work-activities (i.e, major, minor or insignificant impact). A final prompt for each of the three questions addresses the manner in which Mindfulness practice triggers a difference in handling situations compared to before the Mindfulness practice to allow for the development of an evidence-based discussion around the impact of Mindfulness practice towards Self-Leadership, and to inform the decision makers around its potential as a route for professional development. The identification of previous composures and composures after Mindfulness practice allows to identify composures that were perceived as dysfunctional prior to Mindfulness practice and then see how Mindfulness practice potentially has aided in changing such composures.

Question seven 'Which aspects of your job do you believe are most affected by Mindfulness? Please elaborate how this is the case' is designed to cycle back to the individuals' main tasks and perceived most challenging aspects thereof by asking which parts of the job have been most impacted by Mindfulness practices. Answers from questions one and two are used in order to prompt for the core aspects of the job and the aspects perceived as most challenging, to investigate to what extent Mindfulness practice contributes to core or peripheral aspects of the job. Further prompts to this question include to what extent Mindfulness practice has helped to better meet the expectations by supervisors and colleagues in order to be able to compare the participants view in this regard with their direct supervisors' perception. Question eight 'How have things changed for you at work since you started practicing Mindfulness?' addresses more directly an articulation of how the participants realities of work have changed since their practicing of Mindfulness. The question uses prompts around how one does their job differently now, how one thinks about their job, changed behaviors and any major accomplishments since Mindfulness practice. This question is designed to further extract fundamental changes as a result of Mindfulness practice, and can be used to examine whether the experienced changes can be tied back to the identified dysfunctional composures prior to Mindfulness practice or to identify other changed composures that are in line with the expectations of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace. Question nine 'Out of your personal experience, how do you feel Mindfulness practice could be of benefit to your direct colleagues?' is designed to uncover the perception of the participants around the value of rolling out training for Mindfulness practice at a larger scale in the organization and its potential benefits. This will allow for the decision makers with regards to professional development of the organization to get a deeper insight into the impressions of the employees around such activities and its future benefits. The concluding question ten of the interview 'Is there anything you would like to share or add to this interview?' gives the participant the opportunity to freely address anything with regards to the interview or the topic under investigation in order to highlight any missed aspects thereof and to close the interview in a professional and courteous manner.

#### 3.5.2 Supervisor Consultation

The participating seniors of the interviewees were consulted through a short meeting to discuss their impression of the observed changes they have noticed in the participants under investigation. This happened through a quick informal discussion about each participant whereby the supervisors were asked to describe any observed change in the work composures of the participant in question. Information from the interviews was not shared with the supervisor since the purpose of the consultation was to generate reliability or contextualize the responses as opposed to appraising the discussed individuals. This is to protect the privacy of the participants.

#### **3.6 Participant Interview Protocol**

The interview protocol was initiated by an in-depth consultation with a Mindfulness coach in order to gather an expert perspective. This consultation resulted not only in further insight into the construct of Mindfulness, but equally provided a clear function to the semi-structured approach. The further insight in the construct of Mindfulness added to the literature review.

The structured part of the interview ensures that all three Self-Leadership strategies used in the operationalization for this study are being explored alongside getting potentially a good discussion around changed work related composures. The unstructured dimension of the interview allows for the collection of in-depth, personal impressions of the participants through letting them talk freely and prompting them for certain aspects of interest. It also allows for the development of a dialogue and prompting of stories, in search for rich and context-specific information with regards to the phenomenon under investigation and is fundamental to the phenomenological approach used for this study. The use of a hybrid structured, and flexible approach is highly encouraged for in-depth interviews (Patton, 2011; Legard et al., 2003).

The consultation with Mindfulness experts on the interview protocol further led to a number of changes in the way the interview questions were worded. The consultant advised to master a level of flexibility in terms of vocabulary when conducting the interview and engage the conversation using the vocabulary of the participant under the assumption that the meaning of terminology used by the participant is clearly understood by the researcher. This points to the fact that individuals do not all speak the same way when they are explaining personal experiences, and therefore the interviewer must remain flexible to capture meaning and at the same time ensure all required areas of investigation have been explored. The interviewer used a checklist, which served as the "prompt" list referred to above, to more easily manage the coverage of all topics required, which adds a level of structure to the interview without per se obstructing the interviewee to freely speak and share impressions on the topic of discussion. The covering of a topic was marked with a tick on the checklist, helping the interviewer to manage time for and attention to all topics of interest, and capture a wealth of information across various subcategories.

The protocol designed for this interview aimed at sustaining consistency with the manner in which the questions are presented to the participants, but equally considered various ways of asking the questions in case of misunderstanding or miscommunication. Clear consideration was given that questions are not leading the participant down a certain path but leaving the discussion open to get their personal perception on the matter. This is equally addressed by the researcher paying close attention to herself as part of the data collection (Creswell and Creswell, 2017) by for example the sustenance of neutrality with respect to participant interaction and proactivity towards avoiding behaviors or situations that may influence the responses of participants. The interview also used various scripted parts (e.g., introduction, explanation of the study, transitions between sections) for further consistency. The interview protocol was finalized by engaging in a pilot following the standard recommendation for instrument use in empiric research (Maxwell, 2012; Patton, 2011). This pilot study involved two participants who would fit the participant profile for the study but for whom management was not able to commit to the study as required. The pilot study involved review of the invitation documents and its content, two mock up interviews and an in-depth discussion of the interview questions and style. The purpose of this pilot was to identify various aspects of the data collection process and the instrument such as privacy concerns, clarity of the communication, interview style, clarity of the interview questions and interview duration. One of the pilot interviews was conducted in English and one was conducted in Thai in order to fully understand the context of communication in both languages. This pilot study resulted in a confirmation of duration of the interview to be approximately 80 minutes, indicated no issues around privacy concerns, indicated the importance of allowing participants to take time to fully answer the questions, resulted in the addition of some prompts to the questions and informed minor changes to question formulation for clarity.

#### 3.7 Data Analysis

Since the information that builds this study is drawn from the interviews, the researcher followed the general recommendation in qualitative research of data to be processed through a thematic coding approach (Spencer and Spencer, 2008; Creswell and Creswell, 2017; Van Manen, 1997). The coding for this study was done starting with a relatively blank canvas, whereby no prior themes were identified, yet cognizant of the purpose of the research i.e. the search for notions of how Mindfulness was experienced with respect to work composures, how this influenced change therein

with particular attention to self-directed composures, and the perceptions around the potential of Mindfulness training to benefit the larger organization. The researcher started the data analysis process through multiple cycles of reading, interpretation and reflection, following the recommendation of Laverty (2003). The interviews were transcribed for content and analyzed following the modified Stevick-Colaizzi-Keen (SCK) method as recommended by Moustakas (1994) for phenomenological research. Following this method, the analysis starts by comprehensive descriptions of the experiences (i.e. the quasi verbatim transcripts of the interviews) to draw lists of significant statements that are thematically grouped. The coding was done manually using Word and Excel. Significance of statements is ruled by the relevance to the topic of investigation and not double counting statements within the same narrative of a participant. Out of this grouping the researcher then compositely described the experiences that make up the phenomenon. This happens through generating what Moustakas refers to as textural and structural descriptions whereby largely textural descriptions outline broader categories of participants' experiences and structural descriptions unpack these further in finer detail to illuminate underpinning aspects thereof. To strengthen and enrich the description of the thematic findings, the researcher has used complementing quasi verbatim quotations and paraphrased statements, where appropriate following the recommendation of good practice for qualitative and phenomenological research (Creswell and Creswell, 2017; Denscombe, 2017; Ryan et al. 2007; Maxwell, 2012; Van Manen 1997).

#### 3.8 Validity, Reliability and Ethical Considerations

Quality maintenance of process and subsequent output is pivotal when a research project is being appraised. Quality of scientific studies are typically evaluated on how well the study instills confidence around validity and reliability (Creswell and Creswell, 2017). From an overarching perspective of this study, which draws its crux from its qualitative data, the researcher has followed Creswell and Creswell's (2017) perspective on reliability and validity to start the argument. For qualitative studies, reliability is seen as the level of consistency in the approach of the study, where validity revolves around trustworthiness or credibility of the process and outcome.

This chapter has attempted to provide a highly in-depth description of the process followed in this study which allows for straightforward replicability. The process is appropriately systematic and has various documentations and procedures in place to ensure its consistency.

In general, the below described mechanisms follow the recommendations made in Creswell and Creswell (2017), yet where need be, the sections note external references for techniques beyond Creswell and Creswell's work.

#### 3.8.1 Validity

The design of the interview is inspired by the BEI approach, which has strong predictability accuracy in terms of leadership (Boyatzis, 1982), is structured following the three sub components of Self-Leadership used to operationalize the construct for this study (Neck and Houghton, 2006), and is informed and reviewed by Mindfulness experts. Other questions in the interview address more general notions around how Mindfulness has affected work composures with respect to change as a result of Mindfulness practice. The prompts in each of the interview questions are put in place to assure a comprehensive coverage of various components for the topic of discussion in each question. The interview content and structure are further reviewed by the advisor of this PhD study and pilot tested. In terms of its administration, the interview uses open questions presented to Mindfulness practitioners in order to get their perspective on the matter by consistently encouraging the interviewees to describe examples of situations. The interview is closed with an open-ended question to capture potentially unexplored ideas. Transcription of the interviews was subjected to member checking by presenting the transcripts back to the interviewees for confirmation of content.

On validity of studies of this nature, Van Manen (1997) further points at four standards: strength, richness, orientation and depth. Strength refers to the convincing power of what the study presents to its reader. Richness refers to how "meaty" the description is to present the reality in a credible manner. Orientation refers to the involvement of the researcher in the world of what is being investigated. Depth is concerned with the detail to which the researcher drills through in order to illuminate the topic of investigation. For this study the researcher is a trained Mindfulness practitioner having worked in both a non-managerial function and managerial function, and has been intimately familiar with the training session provided prior to the study. This therefore be argued to be appropriately involved in the context of the study. The attempt is to present a rich and in-depth description of how Mindfulness influences Self-Leadership composures in an organizational context by conducting semi-structured in-depth Behavioral Event Interviews on a considerable number of purposively selected subjects, using a larger sample of participants than recomended and a very large number of statements from in depth interviews with an extensive connection of the findings to the literature. This approach addressed Van Manen (1997) requirement of strength and richness as it allows the presentation of a convincing argument through a very comprehensive description of the lived experience. The researcher carefully used a large set of prompts that unpack all aspects of Self-Leadership strategies, in order to exhibit deep drilling into the topics of investigation, which satisfies Van Manen's (1997) requirement for depth with respect to validity. To warrant for further robustness with respect to the used instrument to conduct the interviews, in addition to the expert checks and PhD advisor checks on the questions and structure, the respondents were given the option to engage in an English or Thai administered interview. The researcher engaged in a dual translation of the interview questions to ensure the questions in both languages are equivalent in their address of the topics. The purpose of the Thai/English option was put in place in order to allow the respondents to clearly understand the topic of the questions and make it as convenient as possible to express themselves as genuinely as possible.

To warrant for objectivity and trustworthiness of the results, two more techniques were deployed. The practice of 'bracketing' (i.e. isolating personal preconceptions on the subject) was continuously carefully exercised in complement with the use of an external researcher to validate the thematical grouping decisions. Out of consideration for the external researcher's time, this validation initially involved a selected set of thematically grouping decisions for review to arrive at a confirmation of preliminary sense of logic and on point decision making by the researcher. This first review of the external researcher led to minimal changes in categorization of statements in themes. The researcher then progressed to complete the thematical categorization and shared the total output with the external researcher for a second more general review. This second round of validation was done on selected parts of the output chosen by the external reviewer and a general discussion around the reasoning for decision making for thematic groupings. This resulted in the external researcher's judgement that choices made by the researcher were sensible and logical, leading to a reasonable sense of validity of the thematically groupings for further analysis.

#### 3.8.2 Reliability

The detailed description of the research process and its documentation allows for the study to be relatively easily replicated in similar or other contexts, which following the recommendation of Cresswel and Creswell (2017) for reliability of the study. The researcher uses a clear process for overall data collection and data analysis inclusive of vigilance for newly emerging themes perhaps specific to the context of this study. A consistent implementation of the process is strictly adhered to in order to draw data in consistent manners in a replicating study. The information is further presented in full by considering how the data both confirms or challenges the existing literature following the recommendation of Langdridge (2007) for reliability in qualitative studies.

The researcher guards for researcher bias by paying careful attention to selfawareness during all interactions throughout the study, bracketing the self throughout the full process of data collection and analysis, self-reflecting at various occasions throughout the study and by letting participants speak freely. The researcher deploys the use of an external coder in two rounds to arrive at double checking the coding used in the thematic analysis for logic and consistency, therefore showing that the manner in which the results have been obtained has been done in a consistent and therefore reliable manner. The researcher further also engaged with the participants' supervisors to cross check that the information shared in the interviews did not flag any cause for concern with respect to being an honest account of their lived experience.

## 3.8.3 Ethical Considerations

Standard ethical considerations are being deployed in this study. The project brief is shared with all parties who participate in this study presenting full transparency of the study. Consent forms fully inform participants on the details around the study. Participants are given the option to exit the study at any time, and are free to refuse answering questions during the interview in case of sensitive topics. The researcher remains vigilant not to press for potentially sensitive areas by actively monitoring participants' general composure during the interviews with – if appropriate or necessary – checks around the comfort of the interviewee. Information is presented in such a way that no participant or senior can be identified.



# CHAPTER 4 FINDINGS

With the objective to arrive at insights concerning the lived experience of Mindfulness practice's influence on Self-Leadership in non-managerial employees, the findings presented in this chapter sketch a comprehensive picture of how Mindfulness practice has been experienced at both the personal and work context level.

The recommendation of the research committee assigned to this study, which suggested to somewhat broaden the perspective of the phenomenon to variables relating to work, rather than only focusing on the Self-Leadership strategies, was taken on board having resulted in textural and structural themes emergent from the interviews that indeed reflect a broad spectrum of organizational related notions rather than focusing only on Self-Leadership of the interviewees. The chosen interview technique in general, specific questions and particular prompts deployed for this study, have allowed the researcher to get a good sense of the interviewees' composures prior to their Mindfulness practice, their experiences as a result of Mindfulness practice and subsequent changed composures of the Mindfulness practicioners with respect to the way they feel, behave and operate as individuals and with others at work. This approach generated the rich, dense and on point content that allows to progress the phenomenological stance chosen for this study.

The breadth of findings, as will be evident in the remainder of this chapter, aligns with the general contention by Good et al. (2016) that Mindfulness holds potential to be a root construct in organizational science. It is hoped to become evident to the reader in the discussion part of this study that Mindfulness indeed seems to be a strong precursor disposition towards a vast plethora of organizational relevant composures.

Self-Leadership, in particular, following its operationalization as per the three Self-Leadership strategies, will be interwoven in the findings presentation but given specific attention in the discussion in order to address the main topic of investigation within this study. This is hoped to aid in uncovering whether Mindfulness practice is indeed a worthwhile route to explore towards fostering Self-Leadership in nonmanagerial workers as is so much desired by managers in the 21st century work environment.

The presentation of the findings in this chapter and its discussion in the next chapter aims to illuminate the way Mindfulness practice impacts and creates a variety of precursor emotive and behavioral composures relevant to a 21<sup>st</sup> century organizational context by using the voice of the Mindfulness practitioners. It draws from their lived experience to arrive at meaningful insights on Mindfulness practice at work and appraise its potential as a strategic human resource professional development course of action.

This chapter starts with the demographics of the sample used for this study followed by a short overview of how the data analysis presented in Chapter 3 unfolded, to arrive at presenting the various units and respective themes that emerged from the analysis. Following the SCK data analysis approach, these will be illuminated at textural description level and at structural description level in 5 sections.

#### 4.1 Demographics of the Sample

The study used purposive sampling whereby all interviewees worked in a nonmanagerial position and were Mindfulness practitioners. Mindfulness practice was ensured as a result of all participants having gone through a Mindfulness training at work with a commitment from the participants towards engaging in Mindfulness practice at work based on what was learned from the training sessions.

Background information to the sample of participants is outlined covering respectively information on general demographics, professional profile and Mindfulness practice. shows the sample to consist of an approximate 40/60 male/female ratio, predominantly aged between 25 and 34, that span educational background profiles of High School or professional certificate, Bachelors and Masters degrees.

Sample G	eneral Demogra	phics		
			total count	%
Gender Age	Gender	male	7	37%
		female	12	63%
		<25	3	16%
		25 - 29	7	37%
	Age	30 - 34	5	26%
		35 - 40	3	16%
	> 40	1	5%	
	High School or			
		Professional	4	21%
		Certificate		

Bachelor

Masters

PhD

# Table 2

a 1  $\overline{C}$ 1. 1 D

Qualification

The work-related profile of the participants indicates that the majority of the sample does not have international experience yet all currently work in an international environment, with the bulk (89%) holding 2-10 years of work experience. The participants work in various organizational fields: Finance/Accounting, Registration, Marketing and Communications, Human Resources, Personal Assistant, Health and Safety. The numbers indicate a slight predominance of positions held in Registration (26%) and Marketing (26%).

13

2

0

68%

11%

0%
Table 3Professional profile of Sample

		total count	%
	0 years	16	84%
International	0 - 5 years	2	11%
experience	5 - 10 years	1	5%
	>10 years	0	0%
International Work	yes	19	100%
Environment	no	0	0%
	Finance/Accounting	3	16%
Department	Registration	5	26%
	Marketing and Communications	5	26%
	HR	2	11%
	РА	2	11%
	Health & Safety	2	11%
	< 2 years	2	11%
Work Experience	2 - 5 years	8	42%
WOIK Experience	5 - 10 years	8	42%
	> 10 years	1	5%
	experience International Work Environment	International experience0 - 5 yearsexperience5 - 10 yearsInternational WorkyesEnvironmentnoFinance/AccountingRegistrationMarketing and CommunicationsDepartmentCommunicationsHRPAHealth & Safety< 2 years	International experience $0$ years $16$ International experience $0 - 5$ years $2$ $5 - 10$ years $1$ >10 years $0$ International Work Environmentyes $19$ no $0$ Finance/Accounting $3$ Registration $5$ Marketing and Communications $5$ HR $2$ PA $2$ Health & Safety $2$ Vork Experience $2 - 5$ years $8$

shows a Mindfulness practice profile of the participants consisting mostly of novice (63%) yet daily practitioners (84%), whereby the consistency of Mindfulness practice reflects both ad hoc and routine occurrence. The practiced Mindfulness techniques consolidated over the whole sample were, in ascending order of frequency, Mindful eating (95%), Self-Scanning (89%), Routine breakers (89%), Self-Reflection (79%), Mindful breathing (53%), Meditation (42%) and Mindful walking (42%).

#### Table 4

Mindfulness Practice Profile of Sample

			total count	%
		since the MFI (3-6 months)	12	63%
	Mindfulness	6 months - 1 year	5	26%
	practice	1 - 3 years	2	11%
		>3 years	0	0%
	Mindfulness	Daily	16	84%
_	Practice Frequency	Often	1	5%
Mindfulness information	Tractice Frequency	Sometimes	2	11%
form	Mindfulness	Routine	9	47%
ss in	Practice	somewhat routine	2	11%
ulne	Consistency	ad hoc	8	42%
lindf	$\leq$	Mindful eating	18	95%
Z		Self-Scanning	17	89%
	Mindfulness	Break routine	17	89%
	Practice	Self-Reflection	15	79%
	Tactice	Mindful breathing	10	53%
		Meditation	8	42%
		Mindful walking	8	42%

A total of 19 non-managerial Mindfulness practitioners (95%) participated in individual semi-structured BEI interviews. Additionally, interviews with the participants' managers (Male UK citizen, Female, Thai Citizen) were undertaken as part of a reliability check exercise but equally to enhance the self-reported lived experience of how Mindfulness practice affected self-leadership capacity in Thai nonmanagerial employees.

After completing the participant recruitment process described in chapter three, the 19 interviews were conducted of which 15 were administered face to face and 4 via VOIP technology. The interviews lasted between 60 and 90 minutes and were all audio recorded. Eight of the 19 interviews were conducted in Thai and 11 in English. The interviews were quasi verbatim transcribed for content in English with as much detail as possible to capture the realities of what the participants expressed with regards to their lived experience of Mindfulness practice in the context of various situations relevant to this study. Thirteen interviewees responded to the call for participant check of accuracy with regards to its content, where all confirmed the transcription captured what they said comprehensively. This confirmation rate for accuracy gives confidence that the transcriptions of those who did not respond to the call, can be assumed to also be accurate. The interviews with the supervisors were conducted face to face in English and transcribed for content.

#### 4.2 Data Analysis

As noted in Chapter 3, the analysis following the SCK method of the 19 interview transcriptions were approached in two sequential stages. The first round of data analysis was done on the answers of all participants per question item, wherein the second round of data analysis compiled initial categories of statements from round one into aggregated themes and sub categories.

The bulk of reporting of findings in this chapter presents the resulting aggregated themes of round two of the analysis and their structural elements in a description of the reported experiences by the participants supported by frequencies of occurrence of statements. Where relevant and appropriate, particular mentioning is also made from findings of the first round of analysis with frequencies of occurrence per participants. The description of the thematic findings is complemented by quasi verbatim quotations and paraphrased statements, where appropriate, to arrive at a rich description of the phenomenon under investigation following good practice on findings presentation in qualitative research in general and phenomenology in particular (Creswell and Creswell, 2017; Denscombe, 2017; Ryan et al. 2007; Maxwell, 2012; Van Manen, 1997). Each quotation will be referenced to the participant in question by referring to interviewees as per Participant numbers i.e. P1 – P19.

#### 4.2.1 Round One of Analysis

In the first round of analysis, each interview question was treated separately to get a better sense of the data and its meanings that emerged within each component of

what is being researched. The statements were first evaluated on their relevance to the question, leading to some statements being excluded or reallocated to other questions. After that, statements were thematically categorized in structural components to arrive at a composite description that outlines the experienced impact of Mindfulness practice with respect to (1) The Natural Rewards Self-Leadership strategy, (2) Constructive Self-thought Self-Leadership strategy, (3) Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategy, (4) the impact of Mindfulness practice on job performance changes, (5) the meeting of expectations of their work environment (colleagues and superiors) since engaging in Mindfulness practice and, finally, (6) the perceived benefit of Mindfulness training as organization wide professional development.

To avoid multiple counts of participants repeating certain things, relevant statements were categorized as unique statements per participant and then tabulated according to frequency of occurrence across all interviews. This approach to frequency allowed to get a sense of consensus of the lived experience across the interviewees. The key findings and learnings of the first round of analysis with respect to Self-leadership will be highlighted at the end of each unit section of the findings below to further complement the findings of the second round of analysis which generates the full breadth of findings for this study.

#### 4.2.2 Round Two of Analysis

Round two of the data analysis reviewed the categorized statements across all questions and tabulated these according to frequency of occurrence to arrive at a composite description of the phenomenon in question in response to the main research question. The researcher opted to divide this analysis level up into four phenomenon-related 'units' plus the perceived benefit of Mindfulness training as organization wide professional development. The latter draws directly from the first analysis round, where the former four units divide into: (1) the experienced *Impact Level* of Mindfulness practice, (2) *Dysfunctional Composures prior to Mindfulness practice* (i.e., past behaviors / emotions), (3) *Experiences* as a result of Mindfulness practice, and (4) the experienced *Change* as a result of the Mindfulness practice.

For each unit, a series of themes was developed and within each theme a series of categories were identified, which makes up what Moustakas (1994) refers to as the

*textural description* of the phenomenon. Each category further comprises several statement groups that make up what Moustakas (1994) refers to as the *structural description*. Frequencies of occurrence used in this round are presented as percentages of the total amount of statements that fit the textural and structural description themes that emerged. This approach of frequency allows to get a sense of how prevalent the themes are in the composite description of the lived experience. As a top-level overview of the manner in which the relevant statements from the interviews have been thematically categorized, the section below will first present the structure of themes that have arisen from the SCK method at the textural description level and the structural description level. After this, the remainder of the chapter will unpack each of the textural level descriptions and its underlying structural descriptions in more detail with relevant qualitative statements where appropriate.

**4.2.2.1 Textural Description Level.** Representing the full narrative of the 19 interview participants a total of 821 statement matches were performed. The relatively high number of matchings results from the fact that statements often served multiple units, in particular the units of 'experiences' and 'change', where a statement may for example reveal both an experience and a change within the studied phenomenon. For example, considering the statement 'I felt an increased sense of self-worth', then this would have been matched in both the Experience unit and in the Change unit since the statement reveals both an experience of self-worth as well as a changed sense of self-worth.

Whilst the findings will be presented extensively in the dedicated sections below, initially outlines the structure of the findings reporting for all four phenomenon units on:

- The nominal number of underlying matching statements as per the analysis carried out in the first round corrected for double counts
- The themes per unit
- The categories per theme per unit
- The nominal number of underlying matching statements for each thematic category corrected for double counts

- The percentage of each number of categorical underlying matching statements as part of the total statements per unit theme, listed in ascending order.

### Table 5

### Phenomenon Unit Structure of Findings

Units	Underlying Matching Statements	Themes	Categories per theme	Underlying Matching Statements	Weighting in Unit
			Transformational	25	51%
		Maine	Empowering	12	24%
		Major	New self-insight	8	16%
Impact level	57		Inner dialogue	4	8%
	$\mathbf{O}$		Useful at times	4	50%
		Minor	Hard to maintain	2	25%
			Nothing	2	25%
V			General emotional state	27	23%
Dysfunctional		Emotional	Feelings towards others	25	21%
Composure prior	120		Feeling towards self	10	8%
to Mindfulness	120		General action	29	24%
practice	Behav	Behavioral	Deviant behavior	20	17%
			Decision making	9	8%
		Self-related	Awareness	19	6%
	emotion	emotion	Emotional state	16	5%
		Self-related	Self-compassion	40	13%
		behavior	Reflection	20	6%
			Self-view as employee	27	9%
Experiences	312	Work-related	Forward perspective	26	8%
Experiences	512	emotion	Work related outcomes	18	6%
			Awareness of function	17	5%
		Work-related	Effective performance	37	12%
		behavior	Self-initiating	21	7%
			Behavior towards others	42	13%
		Work relations	Emotion towards others	29	9%
			Sense of control	40	12%
			Self-view	26	8%
Change	332	Personal	Emotional state	23	7%
			Observance	11	3%

#### Table 5

Units	Underlying Matching Statements	Themes	Categories per theme	Underlying Matching Statements	Weighting in Unit
			Self-initiating	48	14%
		Work Individual	Positive disposition	32	10%
			Growth	28	8%
		marviduar	Forward perspective	16	5%
			Performance	15	5%
		Work Others	Relationships	60	18%
			Frame of reference	33	10%

#### Phenomenon Unit Structure of Findings (cont.)

The categorization according to the units Impact, Dysfunctional Composures, Experiences and Change was arrived at by looking at the phenomenon from a process point of view since both Mindfulness practice and Self-Leadership are presented in the literature as processes (Kabat-Zin, 1982; Kuan, 2012; Stewart et al., 2017; Neck et al., 2017). The unit Impact aggregates the statements that indicate how the participants experienced the overall impact of their Mindfulness practice as major or minor. The unit Dysfunctional Composures prior to Mindfulness practice aggregates statements around emotive and behavioral composures that were identified as dysfunctional prior to Mindfulness practice in order to have a starting point to discuss the influence of Mindfulness practice around how it affects change and explore selfdirectedness in this regard. The unit Experiences aggregates statements that reflect the experiences that participants went through as a result of Mindfulness whereby such experiences were categorized as self-related emotive, self-related behavioral, workrelated emotive, work related behavioral and experiences that involved others at work. This unit reflects mere experiences as a result of Mindfulness practice, whereby these experiences may not have been sustained over time towards change, but nevertheless indicate at least a temporal experienced influence of Mindfulness practice on the participants. Such experiences sketch part of the lived experience of the participants on how Mindfulness influences them. The final unit Change aggregates the statements that indicate sustained change in composures as a result of Mindfulness practice spanning personal changes, changes with respect to the individual in a work context

and changes with respect to how the participants deal with others at work. The themes in this unit form a key part in outlining how the participants have lived the experience of Mindfulness practice with respect to various composures and the possible selfdirected change thereof.

**4.2.2.2 Structural description level.** This section respectively outlines for each of the four phenomenon units, the structural elements within the various groupings identified. Each of the tables below gives the respective overview of the structural description themes that make up the various categories that have been identified in each textural theme for the units: Impact level, Dysfunctional composure prior to Mindfulness practice, Experiences and Change. For each table a short outline is given with respect to the textural themes and categories that make up the unit. More detail with respect to the structural descriptions, listed in the right-hand column of the respective tables, are outlined going forward from section 4.3 in this chapter in order to further describe what the interviews revealed with respect to the 4 units and their underlying themes.

outlines the structure of the unit Impact, whereby the interviewees indicated either major or minor impact as a result of mindfulness practice. The major impact was indicated as transformational, empowering, leading to new insight in the self and the development of an inner dialogue. Minor impacts as a result of Mindfulness practice were expressed as only being useful at times, it being hard to maintain or overall not feeling any impact of it at all.

#### Table 6

Unit	Textural Description	Structural Description Themes in the TDT
	Themes (TDT)	
	Maion	Transformational, Empowering, New insight in
level	Major	self, Inner dialogue.
Impact level	Minor	Useful at times, Hard to maintain, No impact.

Unit Impact - Textural and Structural description themes

presents the structure of the unit Dysfunctional composures prior to Mindfulness practice whereby on the one hand dysfunctional emotional composures were identified with respect to the general emotional state, feelings towards others and feelings towards the self. On the other hand, behavior dysfunctional composures that emerged reflected notions of general actions at work, deviant behaviors and decision making.

#### Table 7

Unit Dysfunctional Composure Prior to Mindfulness Practice - Textural and Structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes in the TDT Category
	Description	Category	
	Themes		7
	(TDT)		0
e	Emotional	General	Negative emotions, Over emotional, Bored.
actic		emotional	
ss Pr		state	
ulnes		Feeling	Dependent, Isolated, Envy, Resistance to change,
ndfi		towards	Low resilience.
o Mi		others	
ior t		Feeling of	Low self-worth, Low self-compassion.
ire pi		self	DED
nsod	Behavioral	General	Autopilot, Quick/generic job fixes, Functional
ComJ		action	relationship, Being disorganized, Compliance.
nal (		Deviant	Camouflage (masking behavior), Superiority.
Dysfunctional Composure prior to Mindfulness Practice		behavior	
/sfun		Decision	Poor judgement, Poor perspective taking, Self-
Dy		making	serving bias, Poor communication.

shows the structure of the unit Experiences whereby five main types of experiences have been identified i.e. self-related emotion, self-related behavior, work-related emotions, work-related behaviors and experiences towards others. Experiences around self-related emotions covered the general experience of being emotionally aware and focus on particular emotional states. Experiences around selfrelated behaviors covered various structural themes with respect to experiencing selfcompassion and a series of reflective behaviors. Work-related emotive experiences concerned statements that expressed how employees see themselves, how they viewed future perspectives, how they experienced work related emotional outcomes and statements around how mindfulness triggered awareness of one's function. Workrelated experience statements revealed various experiences with regards to performance effectivity and self-initiating behaviors. Experiences around work relations covered categories of statements that indicated emotional and behavioral experiences towards others.

#### Table 8

Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes in the TDT Category
	Description	Category	
	Themes		
	(TDT)		
	Self-related	Awareness	Emotional state, Emotional triggers.
	Emotion	Emotional	Positive emotions, Emotional reward, Envy
	Emotion	state	reduction.
		Self-	Self-reward, Personal comfort, Self-calming
	Self-related	compassion	exercises, Physical care, Decouple from negativity.
	Behavior	Reflection	Positive confirmation, Constructive self-questioning,
		Reflection	Self-Evaluation.
		Self-view as	Self-worth, Professional image, Personal ability
		employee	improved, Strengths, Self-image.
	XXZ1-	Forward	Learning, Career progression, Professional
	Work-	perspective	development.
	related Emotion	Work related	Organizational comfort, Job satisfaction, Success,
Experiences		outcomes	Stressors become challengers, Boredom is bad.
erie		Awareness	Purposeful work, Work tasks, Bigger picture
Exp		of function	awareness, Variety.

#### Table 8

Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes (cont.)

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes in the TDT Category
	Description	Category	
	Themes		
	(TDT)		
		Effective	Use process, Work tasks, Confirm completion,
	Work-	performance	Reminders, Objectivity, Attention to detail,
	related	performance	Alertness.
	Behavior	Self-	Independence, Ownership, Seek professional
		initiating	development, Active nature, Creativity.
		Behavior	Building relationships, Perspective taking, Support
		towards	others, Personal interactions, Leadership,
	Work	others	Communication, Social reward.
	Relations	Emotion	Improved relationships, Empathy, Superiority to
		towards	support, Good behaviors, Feel more liked.
		others	

outlines the structure of the Change unit which shows the emergence of three textural description themes i.e. changes with respect to the individual as such, the individual at work, and changes with respect to working with others. Personal change statements were reported over three categories indicating a change in selfcontrol, self-view, emotional state and one's observance. Statements of change with respect to the individual at work were categorized around notions of self-initiative, general positive disposition, growth, a forward perspective and work performance. Statements that addressed changes with respect to participants and others at work were categorized in changes around relationships and frame of reference.

## Table 9

Unit Change - Textural and Structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT Category	Structural Description Themes in the TDT
	Description		Category
	Themes		
	(TDT)		
	Personal	Sense of	Emotional control, Self-compassion, Self-
		control	control.
		Self-view	Support, Self-worth, Purpose, Professional
		Self-view	image.
		Emotional state	Job Satisfaction, Positive Emotion, Still doubt.
		Observance	Attention to detail, Awareness, Self-reflection,
		Observance	More alert.
	Work		Independence, Involvement, Engagement,
	Individual	Self-initiating	Proactive, Problem solving, Self-motivated,
		Sen-mittating	Organizational comfort, Critical thinking,
			Innovate.
		Positive	Positive attitude, Embrace change, Committed,
		disposition	Motivated
		Growth	Ownership, Professional capacity, Confidence.
		Forward	Learning, Career, Helping leads to more work.
		perspective	
		Performance	Quality output, Effectiveness, Productivity,
		renormance	Extra.
	Work with		Better interactions, Relationship building, Trust
	others	Relationships	/ support, Team spirit, Knowledge transfer,
		Kelationships	Matter of fact, Better conflict resolution, Seen
			as trying to hard.
Change		Frame of	Perspective taking, System view, Empathy,
Chi		reference	Realism.

#### 4.3 Findings on the Lived Experience of Mindfulness Practice

The findings presented in this section show the overall findings as a result of two rounds of thematic analysis following the SCK method (see 3.7). The findings are presented in five parts, i.e. (1)the impact experienced on general work composure and links to self-leadership, (2) past dysfunctional personal and work composures prior to Mindfulness practice, (3) experiences with respect to the self and work as a result of Mindfulness practice, (4) changes in personal and work composures as a result of Mindfulness practice and (5) the perceived benefit of introducing Mindfulness practice as a professional development plan within the organization.

The first four parts present first the findings at unit level (analysis round 2), and then give some self-leadership strategies specific related findings. The indicated percentages for each of the structural description themes at the unit level refer to the occurrence of statements within the unit textural and structural description themes. This shows how prevalent this theme was within the overall statements matched per unit textural description theme. For the self-leadership strategies related findings, the percentages used present how many participants mentioned the statements. For the fifth part of the findings, i.e. the perceived benefit around introducing Mindfulness practice as a professional development route, the percentages equally indicate how many respondents referred to the found results.

# 4.3.1 Unit 1: Impact (rounded % Frequencies per Total of Unit Textural Description Theme Related Statements)

presents the unit Impact – textural and structural description themes with frequencies of the emergent structural description themes per textural description theme.

Table 10

Unit Impact - Textural and Structural description themes with rounded frequencies for structural description themes

Unit	Textural	Structural Description Themes and rounded %
	Description Themes	frequencies per total statements in the TDT
	(TDT)	
level	Major	Transformational (51%), Empowering (24%), New insight in self (16%), Inner dialogue (8%).
Impact	Minor	Useful at times (50%), Hard to maintain (25%), Nothing (25%)

As to the major impact overall, 86% of the unique statements indicated that Mindfulness practice has had a major impact on the participants as opposed to 14% that indicated minor to no impact. The major impact was primarily reported as being transformational (51%) and empowering (24%) whereby Mindfulness practice was referred to as a game changer, life changing experience and stepping stone that highlighted a variety of positives in one's life. Some extracts from the interviews that outline this were:

" ... Mindfulness has really changed my life, not only at work but also for myself, I feel much more in charge of myself now and confident that I can do things and [that I] can be better ... (P5) ... since I started doing Mindfulness I have been a different person, I feel like a different person, I mean, I am still myself, but I am more comfortable with myself now and it feels great (P9) ... [Mindfulness practice] has helped me a lot to see my potential, things I did not even know were there or that I thought were not useful to me ... (P18)"

The impact of Mindfulness practice was furthermore reported as delivering stronger insights in ones-self (16%) and triggering the development of an inner dialogue (8%), both as a result of self-examination. Some extracts from the interviews that outline this were: "I feel so much more in line with who I really am and how I feel because I am more paying attention to what I do and how I feel ... it has really helped me to know myself better (P4) ... I re-discovered myself as a result of being more mindful ... it has introduced myself into my life, if that makes sense ... it is like I have a quiet conversation with myself about who I am and how I feel without feeling bad about myself ...(P7) ... eating alone is quite enjoyable now (due to Mindful eating), it gives me some 'me-time' (P17) "

The statements that indicated a minor impact of Mindfulness practice in context of the investigated topics were dominated by stating it to be useful at times (50%), however, the practice was found hard to maintain by some (25%) or not at all resulting in any impact (25%). The participants who reported low impact across the board where all female, between 25-29, working at front desk or back office with up to 2 years of experience, novice Mindfulness practitioners, no international experience and reporting their Mindfulness practice routines as very infrequent. Some extracts from the interviews that outline this were:

" ... being mindful is useful when things get really messy and I remind myself to do self-scanning, but work is so busy most of the time that I do not really think about it much (P2) I think the whole thing is exaggerated, I feel very little to no difference what so ever, maybe I am not doing it right but that is how it feels to me (P14)"

# 4.3.1.1 The Impact with Respect to Self-leadership Strategies (Rounded % Frequencies per Participants)

#### a. Natural Rewards

When asked to discuss the experienced influence of Mindfulness practice on what inherent features of their jobs motivate them to work, 74% of the respondents confirmed that their Mindfulness practice had a major impact whereby participant 11 stated *"being mindful has really helped me to see my job as very satisfying based on what I do for the school"*. On the other hand 26% reported the impact to be minor where participant 2 stated *"I now only feel a bit more motivated*  now that I am more conscious about my job .. but I cannot say that much has changed to be honest." The low impact profiles for this strategy concerned primarily females, aged 25-35, novice practitioners, between 2 and 6 years of work experience, primarily no international experience and primarily infrequent Mindfulness practice.

#### b. Constructive Self-thought Patterns

With respect to the experienced influence of Mindfulness practice on the formation of thought patterns towards constructive habitual thinking that positively impact efficacy perceptions and subsequently higher performance, 95% of participants reported to have experienced major impact where 5% saw the impact as minor. An example of a statement that reflects such major impact came from participant 9 who said that "*I am far more confident when I think about things that I have to do … before my first mindset would be doubt*". Participant 14 expressed however that "*I have not really changed the way I think … I am who I am and I think the way I think*". The low impact profiles for this strategy concerned females, aged 25-30, working at front desk or back office with up to 2 years of experience, novice Mindfulness practitioners, no international experience and infrequent Mindfulness practice.

#### c. Behavior-Focused

The experienced influence of Mindfulness practice on the management of their own behaviors for positive outcomes was reported to be major in 89% of the respondents as pointed out by participant 12 who stated "*I used to just go with the flow and whatever happens, happens, now I do not consider the job done, until I have achieved some sort of a real result*". Eleven percent of the respondents reported it as minor with statements such as by participant 2 who said "*being more aware of who I am or what I feel has no real effect on what I do*". The low impact profiles for this strategy concerned females, aged 25-30, novice Mindfulness practitioners, working at front desk or back office with up to 2 years of experience, no international experience and infrequent Mindfulness practice.

# 4.3.2 Unit 2: Dysfunctional Composures Prior to Mindfulness Practice (Rounded% Frequencies per total of Unit Textural Description Theme Related Statements)

presents the unit Dysfunctional Composures prior to Mindfulness practice textural and structural description themes with frequencies of the emergent structural description themes per textural description theme.

### Table 11

## Unit Dysfunctional Composures Prior to Mindfulness Practice - Textural and Structural description themes with rounded frequencies for structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes and rounded %
	Descriptio	Category	frequencies per total statements in the TDT
	n Themes		Category
	(TDT)		
	Emotional	General	Negative emotions (62%), Over emotional
		emotional	(24%), Bored (13%).
		state	
Dysfunctional Composure prior to Mindfulness Practice	6	Towards others	Isolated (22%), Dependent (20%), Envy (20%), Resistance to change (20%), Low resilience (20%).
indfi		Towards	Low self-worth (81%), Low self-compassion
0 M		self	(19%).
osure prior t	Behavioral	General action	Autopilot (56%), Quick/generic job fixes (29%), Functional relationship (6%), Disorganized (4%), Compliance (4%).
dmo		Deviant	Camouflage (76%), Superiority (24%)
lal C		behavior	
Dysfunction		Decision making	Poor judgement (33%), Poor perspective taking (33%), Self-serving bias (20%), Poor communication (13%)

Statements around general dysfunctional composure of the participants prior to their Mindfulness practice covered emotional and behavioral composure.

**4.3.2.1 Emotional.** When discussing their prior dysfunctional composure from an emotional point of view participants raised points around their general emotional state, feelings towards others and feelings of towards the self.

#### a. General emotional state

Statements on the general emotional state were dominated by highlighting the prevalence of negative emotions (62%).

"I feel that my days were very much ruled by negative emotions, just focusing on the bad things at work or in life, even if there were a lot of good things going for me (P1) ... stress really takes over very quickly in life, and I used to be very much overwhelmed by work (P3) ... a normal day was always full of drama and bad things, not sure why, but it seemed like that (P10) ... very often I felt scared to do something at work because what if something goes wrong you know (P15) ... I did not enjoy coming to work in general, it was just such a bad emotional experience (P11)".

To a lesser extent, the participants pointed at prior to Mindfulness practice being over emotional (24%) and feeling substantial boredom (13%).

"I used to feel extremely impacted by (negative) things that would happen around me ... that would make me very sad very quickly (P7) ... just that feeling of not knowing what is going on and being totally confused, so you just shut down and try to stay away from everything, but inside you are burning up, you know (P6) ... Work used to be so boring, like I just felt that time was passing without anything happening ... (P10)"

#### b. Feelings towards others

Raised statements around feelings towards others highlighted a feeling of being isolated at work (22%).

"I kind of felt not part of the school ... I just go to my office, do my work and go home, without much dealing with other people, and kind of avoiding people (P15) ... I really felt like an outsider even though I have been in the school for a long (enough) time, as if I do not belong here or something, like the people I work with are too different from me (P12)"

This discussion equally raised a strong realization of heavy dependence on others (20%) paired with low resilience (20%) in the face of challenges or set-backs.

"I would always run to my boss or [my colleague] when I had any doubts or problems (P15) ... without the guys from the IT services we were unable to get started or move on (with the tests), quite embarrassing really, but we just never touched a computer because we thought this was something super difficult (P3) ... when parents would ask me something that I do not know I would always call [my senior] to get the answer and if he was not there I would have no idea what to do, so would just give parents his email address (P5) ... when I had to deal with teachers by myself and there were problems I would just tell them to come back when [my colleague] was there because I did not feel confident that I was able to help them by myself (P15) ... I used to always write to people to get the information I needed ... I do not like technology and found the cloud system very difficult to use, so I would just do nothing if they did not send it to me (P16) "

In this theme, 20% of the statements indicated the notion of envy towards others (20%) as a result of, for example, perceived unfair remuneration or preferential treatment.

"I used to feel quite angry when others would get what they did not deserve (P8) ... I used to really obsess over the fact that some people get paid a lot of money for really doing nothing at all at work (P7) ... Some people get treated differently because of the way they look, and that used to make me very angry, because they just play up the way they look to get benefits from their boss and they do not deserve this at all (P13) ... I used to feel jealous of people who make more money than me and it would get me annoyed and demotivated (P2)"

A final point that was found to reoccur in the discussion was resistance to change (20%), whereby participants felt the status quo to be a good enough safe space to operate in without much motivation or aspiration towards something different or new.

"... why change anything, I was really feeling that this was ok and so I could keep doing this for a while and keep everything the way it is (P10) ... when my boss presented different ways to do things I would always find excuses why it would not work and try to convince him that this was not a good idea or not the right time (P4) ... When people introduced new ideas or new ways of doing something, I would really feel uncomfortable ... I always tried to get away from it and just kept doing things the same way I knew, because it was what I knew (P16) ".

#### c. Feelings towards the self

Feelings towards the self in context of emotional composure prior to Mindfulness practice were typified by, on the one hand, a serious low sense of selfworth (81%).

"I would feel that I was not able to get anywhere more than where I was then, like I was this for the rest of my life (P19) ... I would feel unimportant and often felt like people were talking down on me for being [job title] (P1) ... I would not see the value of what I am doing at work, yes I did my job, but it did not make me feel like this was in any way important or useful (P18) ... When I would receive critique on my work, I would really feel bad because I thought I was not worth anything and could not do the job (P4) ... When I saw people who did my job somewhere else I would feel embarrassed that I was having the same job, like I felt less than others in the school and did not see how this could get any better (P11)".

On the other hand, low self-compassion was a second, albeit less prevalent (19%), notion that recurred in the statements, whereby participants felt there was not have enough consideration for their own emotional and physical well-being, resulting in cases of negative spirals or negatively self-fulfilling loops.

"[I used to have] that feeling when you feel bad about doing something for yourself because you feel nothing is good enough to deserve anything (P9) ... I would accept more and more work, because I they are all things I can do and if I did not do them all I would feel like a failure ... so you end up being exhausted and stressed out (P13) ... work never finishes, so I would take work home all the time, without really making any time for myself at all ... when you say yes to everything, you end up just doing more work ... nothing ever felt good enough for me to take a break or take time off (P11)"

**4.3.2.2 Behavioral.** The discussion by participants of prior dysfunctional behaviors in context of the study resulted in three categories: general work activities, deviant behaviors at work and decision making.

#### a. General work activities

With respect to the day-to-day approach to work, the participants perceived operating in autopilot as a major type of dysfunctional behavior (56%), whereby little to no attention giving to the moment was expressed to lead to little sense of purpose or awareness of one's role and value at work.

"... you just do without thinking and keep clearing work tasks without really knowing why you do it, you just do it (P6) ... I would give very vague answers and use very generic responses on the phone or on email ... people complained that I did not know what I was talking about ... and I did not really care much (P10) ... just complete the form and stamp the paper, no real thinking or checking ... which put me in trouble a few times for not catching errors (P9)"

Out of all statements in this theme, 26% identified as second dysfunctional behavivour prior to Mindfulness practice to be operating through quick and generic job fixes whereby the workers would just give the first answer or solution to a job task that would be available, instead of giving this more careful thought.

"I would give very vague answers and use very generic responses on the phone or on email ... people complained that I did not know what I was talking about ... and I did not really care much (P10) ... tasks would be done but to a very poor standard, many people would have a lot of comments why certain details are missing or why it is not more focused on the target market (P4)"

The nature of interaction and behavioral drive of compliance emerged as general dysfunctional behaviors. Some participants raised the point of their work relationships to be functional only (6%), upon reflection leading to no real connection with their work environment or having a sense of true membership to the organization or their work unit.

"I saw parents as money banks, you know, get their money and that is it (P8) ... I would deal with people because I had to deal with them to get the job done, but made no effort to really get to know them (P15) ... "

A past approaches of tick the box and system satisficing was recognized by 4% of the statements as dysfunctional in context of drive to perform or job satisfaction.

"... just follow the rules of the school even if they do not make any sense or make people feel annoyed, also myself ... (P12)"

Finally, the statements in this category also revealed that being disorganized (4%) was recognized as having strong adverse effects to their performance.

"I would be all over the place and do so many things at the same time, without really knowing what was important or having a clear sense of what should be done first (P3)".

#### **b.** Deviant behaviors

Deviant behaviors were illuminated by 74% of the statements to revolve around a tendency to operate in a way that would shield the participants real disposition to work from others. This was perceived as camouflaging the way they feel about situations within their work environment, allowing them to present themselves in a more favorable light to their co-workers and superiors.

"You want to look good at work right? So you just try to make sure that everyone thinks you have so much to do (P13) ... I would very often tell my supervisor that it was someone else's fault that something did not happen and that I tried to take care of it, but could not because of the other person (P3) ... I would post on Instagram I am so busy and overworked to make sure everyone can see that I am working hard, where this was not always the case (P8) ... When the team would agree on something, I would just go along with it, so that I did seem like the weird one in the team (P18) ... I would tell my team members or my boss that I was really happy to work with them, so they would think of me as a good worker (P1)"

A second category that emerged within this theme was behavior that expressed superiority towards others (24%) in the form of put-downs, ignoring people's opinions, overly negative evaluation of work or underplaying people's potential value. "In many cases I have been very critical of people who I think did not do a good job and point out only their mistakes, I can be very mean like that (P4) ... When someone younger than me would make a suggestion, I would tell them they are inexperienced, and they should listen and learn (P8) ... I would put myself ahead of other people when discussing team members with my boss, so I would look better than them (P16)".

#### c. Decision making

Participants highlighted poor judgement (33%) in various work contexts to be realized as having adverse effects.

"I would make quick decisions based on the types of parents I see in front of me, looking at their clothes or something like that (P1) ... Teachers I like, I would help out more than those I do not like (P9) ... I would think I know everything because I am experienced and would make decisions based on what I have seen or done in the past, but that did not always turn out to be the right choice (P19)"

The statements further revealed that poor or even no perspective taking (33%) was found to be very present in their past behavior, whereby they operated on personal assumptions without considering the lens through which others may view a situation or the bigger picture of what the organization is trying to achieve.

" I would tell parents that their child surely would get accepted in the school, they should not worry about it and that would get their hopes up (P10) ... my responses on email would be very short and factual, where I could have been more considerate of the parents feelings (P6) ... When new teachers would have many questions and concerns about their stay in Thailand, I would tell them they need to wait and relax without really explaining what the process was about (P15) ... I would post stuff on social media that I thought was funny or good content and would make the social media feed more interesting, where it did not always reflect a very professional image of the school (P4)".

Decision making with respect to evaluating the self was also found in 20% of the statements to be governed by attributing success to the self and fault to external causes such as others' performance, cultural context or constraining organizational regulations and policies.

"When something went wrong, I would very often find excuses for why it went wrong that would cover my own mistakes (P11) ... It is quite easy to tell expats that the Thai culture is like that, and that typically makes them give up to complain (P7) ... When campaigns did not work well, I would tell my manager that the parents do not get the details of the message (P16) ... I would tell expats that their case is not progressing because of the ministry rules (P15)."

Finally, poor communication of decisions (13%) also emerged as a dysfunctional behavior prior to Mindfulness practice, whereby participants realized negative outcomes as a result of not communicating their choices on the one hand, but on the other hand in some cases even deliberately assuming ineffective communication to raise ambiguity in order to avoid accountability.

"In a few cases I have just not responded to emails that wanted explanations for things, and when I was asked about it I would say I did not see the email (P17)... I would often say 'I don't know why' when I was asked why I did something or say 'I was not paying attention' instead of telling them why I did what I did (P12) ... I used to write long complicated emails to my boss to explain why something did not go as planned and try move the attention to something else instead of admitting fault (P5)"

# 4.3.2.3 Self-Leadership Related Dysfunctional Composures Prior to Mindfulness Practice (Rounded % Frequencies per Participants)

#### a. Natural Rewards

Past perspectives with respect to job inherent motivators highlighted dominating negative emotions by 68% of the participants. This was noted by almost half of the respondents (47%) as a result of low resilience such as participant 4 who stated that "*I used to give up very easily when things were getting tense in the office*". Approximately a quarter of the interviewees (26%) noted in this regard negativity as a result of negative self-serving dispositions as well as a general feeling of boredom as noted by participant 6 " … *before I would think they were just difficult people* " and participant 10 " …work used to be so boring, like I just felt that time was passing without anything happening"

Furthermore, 58% the interviewees reported to finding low motivation to do the job with care and hence choosing a quick fix approach for the task at hand as expressed by participant 9 by saying *"I just got the job done without paying much attention to the outcome"*. Almost half of the participants (47%) also noted that they often felt a disconnect with the work, resulting in behavior where they would mask their true intent towards their work and job in order to appease and appeal to their environment. Participant 8 stated in this regard that *"I used to try to hide my real feelings towards ideas in meetings, so I would just say yes to everything"*. A quarter of the respondents (25%) reported to operate in an autopilot mode, assuming poor judgement and limited perspective within the context of their job which was reflected in a statement by participant 5 *"I would just do things without really thinking of what the result could really lead to"*.

#### b. Constructive Self-thought patterns

Mindfulness practice was noted by interviewees to allow for the identification of a variety of dysfunctional thoughts patterns. Low self-worth (63%) was expressed by one participant 1 as "*I used to think me and my job were really unimportant*". A general negative outlook (58%) was noted by participant 7 by stating "*I would not see myself or my job going anywhere*". Deception (53%) was reflected by participant 13 who said "*you just try to make sure that everyone thinks you have so much to do*". Autopilot thinking (47%) was stated by participant 6 "*just do without* 

*thinking*" whereas feelings of envy (42%) were expressed by for example participant 2 "*jealous of people who make more money than me and it would get me annoyed and demotivated*". A more marginal number of interviewees mentioned dysfunctional thought patterns such as short-cut thinking (16%) as expressed by participant 11 "*I would assume a lot based on little evidence to do so*", low self-compassion (16%) as expressed by participant 9 as "*that feeling when you feel bad about doing something for yourself because you feel nothing is good enough to deserve anything*" and boredom (5%) as stated by participant 10 "*I just felt that time was passing without anything happening*".

#### c. Behavior-focused

Prior to Mindfulness practice, the respondents revealed the primary guides for their behavior to be negative emotions with a frequency of 79% as expressed by participant 12 "*I would be short with people because I though they did not care about health and safety*". Operating in autopilot was mentioned by 68% by for example participant 15 who said "*just doing what you know and follow a pattern you have always followed*". Dependency and resistance to change were each noted by 42% by for example participant 3 stating "*if the computers did not work then I would immediately call IT not wanting to sort it out myself*". The interviews highlighted in 40% of the cases the preservation of a positive perception by others as a dysfunctional to guiding behaviors as exemplified by participant 17 who said "*I would behave in a certain way to trick people into thinking I am different than who I am*". Acceptance of the status quo was a final guiding mindset for behaviors that was highlighted as dysfunctional by 32% of the interviewee, where participant 18 said that "*no change in the way I did my job was something I really liked and would try to keep as much as possible*".

# 4.3.3 Unit 3: Experiences (Rounded % Frequencies per total of Unit Textural Description Theme Related Statements)

presents the unit Experiences - textural and structural description themes with frequencies of the emergent structural description themes per textural description theme.

### Table 12

Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes with rounded frequencies for structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes and rounded
	Description	Category	% frequencies per total statements in the
	Themes		TDT Category
	(TDT)		
		Awareness	Emotional state (63%), Emotional triggers
	Self-related	Awareness	(37%)
	Emotion	Emotional	Positive emotions (63%), Emotional reward
		state	(30%), Envy reduction (7%)
		Self-	Self-reward (37%), Personal comfort (31%),
	Calf valated		Self-calming exercises (19%), Physical care
	Self-related	compassion	(7%), Decouple from negativity (4%)
	Behavior	Reflection	Positive confirmation (53%), Constructive
		Kellection	self-questioning (38%), Self-Evaluation (9%)
		Self-view as	Self-worth (52%), Professional image (20%),
			Personal ability improved (11%), Strengths
		employee	(11%), Self-image (7%).
		Forward	Learning (55%), Career progression (25%),
	Work-	perspective	Professional development (20%).
	related		Organizational comfort (48%), Job
	Emotion	Work related	satisfaction (23%), Success (10%), Stressors
	Emotion	outcomes	become challengers (13%), Boredom is bad
			(6%).
nces		Awaranaac	Purposeful work (46%), Work tasks (29%),
Experiences		Awareness	Bigger picture awareness (14%), Variety
Exp		of function	(11%).

Table 12

Unit Experiences - Textural and Structural description themes with rounded frequencies for structural description themes (cont.)

<b>J</b>	v	*	
Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes and rounded
	Description	Category	% frequencies per total statements in the
	Themes		TDT Category
	(TDT)		
			Use process (39%), Work tasks (23%),
		Effective	Confirm completion (11%), Reminders
	Work-	performance	(11%), Objectivity (8%), Attention to detail
	related		(5%), Alertness (3%)
	Behavior	Self-	Independence (34%), ownership (26%), seek
		initiating	professional development (17%), Active
		Initiating	nature (14%), Creativity (9%)
	Y		Building relationships (29%), Perspective
		Behavior	taking (16%), Support others (14%),
		towards	Personal interactions (14%), Leadership
	Work	others	(10%), Communication (9%), Social reward
	Relations		(9%)
		Emotion	Improved relationships (53%), Empathy
		towards	(22%), Good behaviors (10%), Superiority to
		others	support (8%), Feel more liked (6%).

The composite textural description themes of the Experiences unit as a result of Mindfulness practice concern emotional and behavioral experiences towards the self in general, the self at work, and others at work.

**4.3.3.1 Self-related Emotions.** Self-related emotions statements were divided in two categories: awareness and emotional state.

#### a. Awareness

As a result of Mindfulness practice, participants reported to experience consciously noticing their emotional states (63%) whereby positive emotional states were found to enjoy a focal point with respect to work. "I am far more aware of how I feel about things now, the good and the bad (P4) ... Self scanning has really helped me to know how I feel and to interpret my emotions more carefully (P12) ... I never knew how many emotions I go through when I am working, now I know, and I enjoy the good ones very much (P17) ... I just feel much happier than I used to, because I am aware of what makes me happy and I like that feeling (P19)".

Within the same category, statements revealed awareness of emotional triggers (37%) that set off further 'chains of events' such as self-perception, reactions or behaviors whereby these were purposefully channeled towards positive outcomes.

"I am more aware of what makes me happy at work and I feel happier because I seek out what makes me feel good about myself (P3) ... When I feel stressful situations come up, I take a step back and do some mindful breathing for a few seconds, it really helps me to keep my cool much better (P11) ... I realize much faster when I am overreacting and I acknowledge that to myself which helps me to calm down and try again (P13)"

#### **b.** Emotional states

Emotional states were further appreciated as positive (63%) and such states where experienced as highly rewarding (30%) with examples such as feeling good about oneself and job satisfaction.

"I realize I am smiling more at work and I am not faking it (P10) ... I am so much happier at work now and that really makes me feel good about myself (P18) ... When I do something good, I pay attention to the feeling of success and that is really nice and gives me push for more (P19)"

Some of the participants reported the experience of considerable reduction and in some cases abandonment of feelings of envy (7%).

"That jealousy is not there anymore, because I now realize that every situation is different, I accepted the job at a certain rate and I can be happy for others who got a better deal, if I want something better, then I should do something about it (P2) ... I have given up on wishing for things because others have it, and I am now just looking at what I have and am happy with that (P12)."

**4.3.3.2 Self-related Behaviors.** The second textural description theme of self-related behavior was categorized in experiences of self-compassion and reflection.

#### a. Self-compassion

Self-compassion was experienced by means of rewarding oneself (37%) when appropriate, with aspiration to personal comfort (31%) and physical care (7%), i.e., engineering situations that lead to more comfort at work such as a work environment, time and workload management, or deliberate choices of things that lead to feeling better both physically and emotionally.

"... taking care of myself and helping myself to be successful at work is something really nice (P17) ... organizing my things and my time better makes me much more comfortable at work, no more stress, no more confusion (P9) ... I do not feel guilty for taking a break anymore, and do so when I have completed a task or have finished something important, this really makes my life at work a lot easier, because I know when to take time for myself (P5) ... When I need a bathroom break, I just go, I am not making myself uncomfortable anymore, for no reason (P3)"

Approximately a fifth of the statements (19%) related to selfcompassion included seeking calm through specific exercises learned in the Mindfulness course (19%), and in particular the conscious decoupling from situations that are negatively charged (4%). "Self-scanning and Mindful breathing has really helped me to realize when things are getting a bit much and then I take a step back to find my center again and focus on what I am trying to get done, instead of getting caught up in the emotional drama (P6) ...Routine breakers have helped me to treat myself once in a while by doing something different like an evening or weekend activity, rather than always doing the same thing (P13) ... Mindful eating has been something that helps me to bring me to peace at work, where my lunch break is me time, instead of just eating to fuel up and get back to work or having an excuse not to have to work (P8) ... Mindful walking is a nice way of unplugging from work either during work when going from one building to another or in the evening when I go for a walk to clear my head, those are like 'emotional breathing spaces' (P16)"

#### **b.** Reflection

In this self-related behavior category, the majority of statements (53%) revealed participants to internally acknowledge personal achievements by engaging in self-inspection.

"It is really surprising to realize how much you sometimes do, and how little we realize of what we do in one day (P4) ... it is nice to think back of moments where something went really well, that feeling of having achieved something big or small, is very nice (P12) ... That feeling of 'yes' when you do something well or you managed to pull something off, is pretty cool (P8)"

Reflective behavior also included self-questioning in a constructive manner (38%) to arrive at comfort in their decisions moving forward in work situations.

"Asking myself whether something [decision at work] is right for me and is really what I want, has been a very interesting experience and has helped me to be more sure about choices I make (P18) ... When I am mindful about my own work I am having an honest and open conversation with myself about what I did, why I did it and if I am ok with that ... this has given me much more perspective on where I want to go from here (P7)"

Finally, there was also the realizing of self-evaluation (9%) as a result of Mindfulness practice such as for example double checking work, but also a critical stance towards outputs produced or performances delivered.

"I pay attention to my own work and proofread pretty much all my emails now (P5)... I realize I now double check the data entry before I submit it to the system (P9) ... Evaluating my productions has been a very positive experience, I feel I am harder on myself and my work, but I feel this really improves my productions (P19)."

**4.3.3.3 Work-related Emotion.** The work-related emotion textural theme revealed experiences around self-view as an employee, the assuming of a forward perspective related to work and professionalization, general emotional experiences as a result of the work to be done or accomplished, and awareness of the functional role the participants held in the organization.

a. Self-view as employee

Participants experienced their self-view as an employee to be influenced as a result of their Mindfulness practice through increased self-worth (52%) which was echoed by a stronger sense of consideration for their image as a professional (20%) and as a person (7%) within the organization.

"The way I see myself as a [school name] employee is totally different now... I feel more important, but I also give more attention to how I come across to parents (P6) ... I just feel so much better about myself at work ... I take much more pride in how I am treated in my position (P17)"

Mindfulness practice leads people to be conscious of their improved abilities (11%) as well as focusing on leveraging the strengths (11%) they bring to their unit for personal and team success. "Being mindful has really helped me to become more aware of the way I have improved as a [position title] (P1) ... I now see how I bring value to the team, no one in our office can use Adobe Premier the way I do, and that feels really good (P4)".

#### **b.** Forward perspective

As a result of Mindfulness practice, a forward-thinking perspective expressed itself most prevalent through experiencing value and even joy of learning new things (55%) and professional development (20%)

"Learning is now so valuable, like, I now see how if I can do new things my work life becomes so much better (P6) ... Learning a new skill and then using it to my benefit is such a pleasant feeling, it feels very satisfying (P11) ... I have really enjoyed learning new techniques from YouTube and blogs on social media (P19) ... becoming a better [position title] as a result of the trainings I have done has really been such a good experience, I really love becoming better at what I do (P15)"

Participants felt that through Mindfulness practice they also realized aspirations for career progression (25%), whereby they took time to evaluate their current position and the professional trajectory they would see as realistic and beneficial for themselves.

"... Knowing myself much better now has gotten me thinking about what I want to do in my career, and I really think I deserve a chance at something bigger in this school or maybe somewhere else (P3) ... I believe I am worth more money and can do more, so I will speak to [name of the supervisor] about that (P2)."

#### c. Work-related outcomes

Emotional experiences as a result of work-related outcomes were found to be positively amplified by Mindfulness practice, in particular with respect to comfort with workload due to better organization (48%).

"Being aware of what I am doing, how to do it and how long it will take makes such a big difference to be on top of my game (P1) ... I am now so much more relaxed at work, because I can focus on what matters now that all the clutter has been dealt with (P5)."

Both job satisfaction (23%) and feeling successful (10%) were reported to be consciously experienced.

"Through self-scanning and self-reflection I very much realize how I feel good when parents walk away happy (P10) ... I have realized that when a child trusts me to help him, it really makes me feel good about myself as a (job title) (P17) ... "

Some of the participants also reported their Mindfulness practice to convert stressors at work into things that were approached as challenges to be overcome (13%) fostering positivity rather than negatively charging their work experience.

"When I get nervous before pitching a campaign idea in a meeting, then mindful breathing helps me to find a point where I get focused to make the best of the meeting and enter with confidence (P16) ... mindfulness has helped me to see things that make me anxious in a different light, when I take distance from it, then I see that it is something I can do, I just need to put my mind to it (P12)" Finally, Mindfulness practice was also attributed to realizing the adverse effect of boredom (6%) leading to finding 'having things to do' a more enjoyable experience.

"When I think of the boring moments in the job, I realize that these are really not fun at all, so I would rather have things to do .. time passes faster and I feel more useful (P9)"

#### d. Awareness of one's function

Participants experienced positive clarity around their function in the organization, stating a pronounced realization of the purposefulness of their work (46%) and awareness of the bigger picture (14%) in the form of organizational goals, organizational mission and the vision of the owners or their managers.

"By being mindful I have started to realize that what I do really matters not only to myself, but also to the organization (P7) ... being aware of how I feel when what I do makes other people happy or when I get compliments for what I do, really shows me that what I do is of value (P13) ... I have started realizing that my role in the organization is really important even though being a (position) seems simple .. but how I deal with parents and visitors reflects how they see the school (P18) ... I started paying more attention to what type of content I create now that I realize that I am here to present a brand, and not show my creativity as a promotor (P4) "

Statements in this theme also revealed conscious awareness of the work tasks that made up the job (29%) as well as enjoyment around variety of tasks that make up the job (11%).

"I now much better know what my job is and what I am supposed to do, just by paying more attention to what I am doing (P13) ... when I am mindful at work, I seem to have a better handle on what I am supposed to do (P11) ... I have come to realize that there is a lot of things that I am doing in this job .. this job
is not as simple as it seems and that is a good feeling (P8) ... I have realized that I enjoy doing multiple things, routine is not my thing (P13)"

4.3.3.4 Work-related Behaviors. The analysis of statements in the workrelated behaviors textural description theme resulted in two categories of experiences as a result of Mindfulness practice: effective performance and being more self-initiating.

## a. Effective performance

Effectivity in performance was explained by participants as realizing and using a more process driven approach (39%) while also generally better performing their work tasks (23%) due to more mindful consideration of what the task is and how it can be done.

"I take a moment to myself to break the task down and that really helps me to do it better (P3) ... by reflecting I have started to see more clearly how I work, how I do my job, and then by being mindful I can more easily repeat the steps like what I did before (P9) ... When I am mindful of what I am doing, step by step, I make less mistakes (P18)"

The practice of confirming completion of tasks (11%) emerged as experienced practice beneficial to performance where in the same line the use of reminders (11%), attention to detail (5%) and being alert (3%) were mentioned as positively experienced behaviors.

" ... sometimes I am talking to myself when I am really in the moment, and then I say what I am doing and when it is done, this helps me to be more focused, see everything and make less mistakes (P9) ... placing reminders because I am aware that I will forget something is something that really helps (P15) ... data entry can get very boring [repetitive] and then you make mistakes, when I am mindful of what I am doing I have like a mental check list, that really helps me to keep my focus (P5) ... when I am being mindful, I am so much more aware of all the small things (P17)."

## b. Self-initiating

Directly in line with notions of self-directedness, participants volunteered information on experienced work behavior with respect to initiative taking. They felt activated (14%) in terms of taking initiative in context of the work place whereby primarily independence (34%) and a conscious sense of ownership over the work (26%) emerged as most prominent topics of conversation.

"Since I started doing mindfulness I have become more my own person at work and I do things because I want to do them not because someone tells me to (P1) ... thinking more carefully about what I am doing and how I do it makes me realize that it is my work and my doing, not someone else, and that is cool (P7) ... self-reflection has made me realize that the things I am most proud of are the things I did by myself, without the need of anyone (P19)"

A series of statements also indicated an experience of actively seeking out professional development (17%) on their own accord in pursuit of personal and professional growth.

"I now look more for chances to learn and develop and ask my boss to send me on trainings, because I realize now that I can do better and enjoy becoming better at something, it makes me feel good (P6) ... Mindfulness has helped me to see how learning helps me at work, so I now started looking for tutorials online to improve my visual design skills (P4)"

Interviewees felt a positive experience with regards to their creativity (9%) whereby they experienced a sense of their own ideas becoming prevalent in their working process and their outputs as a result of taking more deliberate action towards finding ways of doing things differently.

"Mindfulness helps me to kind of isolate myself from everything for a bit and just let ideas come to me without limitations ... when I feel I am having a block, I do some mindful breathing and that puts me in the zone of ideas (P16) ... when I am faced with a problem at work and I feel the tension coming, then self-scanning helps me to remove myself from the emotions and this has helped me to find different ways to solve problem (P13)"

**4.3.3.5** Work Relations. This textural description theme consists of two categories of statements, i.e., behavior towards others and emotion towards others.

#### a. Behavior towards others

With respect to behavior towards others the experienced impact of Mindfulness practice revealed the consciously building of relationship (29%) through personal interactions (14%).

"The realization of what working with people really means has been quite eye opening (P12) ... when I deal with parents at work now I have realized I make more effort to make a personal connection (P1) ... just simply paying attention to showing some small kindness to people goes a long way to make a connection with them and that helps when you need them for something (P10)"

Participants found the value of perspective taking (16%) highly beneficial in their behavior towards people in their work context, alongside conscious communication (9%).

"I never realized how much value I could get out of taking a moment to think how the other person feels (P9) ... just imagining how parents feel when they come in stressed or angry makes it a lot easier to then sort the problem out by calming them down and explaining the situation to them in ways that make sense to them (P8) ... When teachers get all stressed about their paperwork, I say to myself that they are trying to do a good job for their kids and then I try to keep the conversation positive to arrive at a solution (P15) ...my boss is really expecting high standards and once I started seeing that this is because she wants things to be good for the school, I have been able to get along with her much better (P8)" Interviewees further noted the pleasant experience of supporting others (14%) wherein some cases this led to a sense of leadership (10%) to help and guide others towards better situations but equally by attaching value to the notion of leadership by example.

"I never used to go around and ask people if I could do something for them, but having broken that cycle has made me realize that helping others is a nice distraction and it is useful (P10) ... helping others make me feel good about myself and that is a feeling I have realized I enjoy very much (P19) ... being mindful of my own joy and other people's situations has made me become very fond of some people who I want to see do well (P11) ... ever since I shared with my colleagues the idea of more openly discussing emotions, younger colleagues come to me for help and advice because they see me as a role model, that feels so good (P3)"

Finally, interactions with others at work were also dubbed as a selfreward mechanism (9%) where socializing with people is actively pursued as something pleasant for themselves to break from their daily work activities or in celebration of achievement.

"I have realized that I enjoy hanging out with people at work during breaks and we have made our own little moments of breaks (P1) ... the Friday breakfast is something I enjoy very much since I started paying attention to that event, it has been really nice to connect with people and is something I look forward to (P8) ... it is nice to have a chat with people when I go for a coffee instead of being on my phone all the time (P7) ... I have realized that it is important to celebrate people's success and I enjoy it very much now (P13)"

### b. Emotions towards others

With respect to the second thematic category in work relationships, i.e. emotion towards others, interviewees abundantly reiterated their experience of

relationships with others at work (53%) since they started practicing mindfulness, with examples such as open, honest and balanced interactions, pleasant engagements and team spirit.

"Being mindful has really helped me to see relationships for what they can be instead of what they are (P5) ... being able to have open discussions with people without judgement is very nice (P11) ... the nicest connections with my colleagues are the honest ones (P18) ... it is so nice now to have comfortable and positive interactions with people at work (P16) ... I think I only now really know what team spirit means, since I started paying attention to how good relationships at work can really make a huge difference (P10)"

Mindfulness practice was particularly linked to empathic capacity (22%) allowing gauging of others' position in situations and subsequent perspective taking.

"Since I started practicing mindfulness, until today, I feel I have become so much better at putting myself in other people's shoes and really feel for them (P17) ... I am much better at getting what other people go through and connect with them at that level now (P15) ... being able to feel for other people when you see them be happy or sad is a really interesting experience, I wish I had been open to this before (P4) ... When you are able to do or say something for someone else in a way that makes sense to them, that is a really nice feeling (P6)."

Participants also felt they were focused on good behaviors they observed in others (10%), giving them a more positive perspective on individuals they were engaging with.

"Through being mindful at work, I am not only paying attention to myself, but I have also noticed I am far more aware of seeing good things in people (P6) ... I pay attention to the good in people, because they deserve that and because I would like them to pay attention to the good in me (P12)"

Mindfulness practice also grew a perception of acceptance by others by feeling liked (6%).

"By being more mindful of my feelings and my actions, I feel I have left a more positive impression on people and they like me more now than they used to (P9) ... since I started paying attention to what I do and say, people around me are far more attentive to me in a good way (P15)"

# 4.3.3.6 Experiences as Per the Self-Leadership Strategies (Rounded % Frequencies per Participants)

a. Natural Rewards

Since starting practicing Mindfulness, the majority of respondents highlighted relationships with predominantly their direct colleagues, teachers and parents as a realized enjoyable feature to their job (84%) as participant 10 pointed out that "I have really started enjoying interacting with everyone in my job so much more". Relationships in general, but particularly those in which they can be supportive of others, are equally reported to enjoy a positive focus as a part of their job (53%) as stated by participant 11 who said that "being mindful has made me realize how much I like helping others at work and how it makes me feel good". Mindfulness practice was furthermore reported as resulting in finding joy from being organized (53%) as well as general personal comfort (26%) while doing the job where participant 15 said "since mindfulness I am way more organized which makes everything so much easier" and participant 17 said "I now make my work day much easier for me because I pay attention to how I feel". Additional Mindfulness-induced enjoyable features of the job were learning new things (42%) where participant 19 said "I now really like searching for YouTube videos to learn new softwares and stuff" and the positive experience of realizing the benefit of operating in a processdriven manner (47%) within a bigger picture context (16%) as stated by participant 9 who said "I realize now that procedures are so useful for me to do my job well".

Mindfulness practice further triggered positive foci on self-worth (47%) where participant 12 said he felt a new found "sense of importance in my job that make me feel very good about myself", self-image building (16%) as stated by participant 1 who stated "*I have realized I started paying more attention to the way I look and how people see me*" and achievement of success (16%) pointed out by participant 8 who indicated to "*be aware of getting a real sense of excitement when I achieve my targets now*". Other experiences of enjoyable features of the job triggered by Mindfulness practices were the experience of being actively involved (26%) where participant 6 stated that "*taking part in something is something I realized to really feel good*" and the creative nature of the job (16%) as participant 4 highlighted to have realized that "*developing creative content is such a great part of my job*". A final positive focus was for some of the respondents the variety of job tasks (16%) as pointed out by participant 13 who stated "*I have realized that I enjoy doing multiple things, routine is not my thing*".

## **b.** Constructive Self-thought patterns

Mindfulness practice generated positive thoughts experienced by 79% of the interviewees with respect to liking themselves more as stated by participant 17 who said "I think much better about myself now, I see myself in a more positive *light*". Sixty eight percent identified purposefulness of their work as a recurring constructive thought wherein participant 13 said "when I get compliments for what I do, really shows me that what I do is of value". Some 47% of the respondents noted constructive thought patterns with respect to a sense of ownership as well as perspective taking and empathy. Participant 7 said that "thinking more carefully about what I am doing and how I do it makes me realize that it is my work and my doing, not someone else, and that is cool" whereas participant 9 noted "just imagining how parents feel when they come in stressed or angry makes it a lot easier to then sort the problem out". Positive thought patterns around improved personal ability, personal achievement and seeing stressors as challengers came out in approximately 25% of the participants' responses. In this regard participant 5 shared "realizing I have become better at something is a real motivator ... the feeling of being able to deal with tense situations by keeping my focus on the goal is really rewarding". Around 15% of participants reported contentment around having a job, positivity as a result of feeling more liked by others and a realization that boredom is bad. Participant 1 noted that "*I have been happy to have a job when so many people do not*", whereas participant 15 stated to have realized that "*since I started paying attention to what I do and say, people around me are far more attentive to me in a good way*" and participant 9 shared that "*When I think of the boring moments in the job, I realize that these are really not fun at all, so I would rather have things to do*".

The aspect of mental imagery within the constructive thought selfleadership strategy did not emerge as an experience as a result of Mindfulness practice.

The notion of self-talk as a result of Mindfulness practice emerged generally strongly among the participants, whereby they found self-talk that positively confirmed their own ability and potential to be a clear experience as a result of their Mindfulness practice (95%) alongside internal dialogues around positive emotions (74%). Participant 5 said for example that "when I am mindful of what I am doing I have like a mental check list, that really helps me to keep my focus". Self-talk with the purpose of calming the self (68%) and constructive self-questioning (68%) also emerged as substantially experienced by the interviewees where participant 15 said that "I have realized that I tell myself to keep cool … self-reflection is very useful to think about how I can do things better for the future". Mindfulness practice was further linked to triggering confirming completion of a task with oneself (37%) as participant 7 noted "quick self-checks to see that I have done all parts of the [job related task] have been so useful".

### c. Behavior-focused

With respect to self-observation, the respondents reported a guiding impetus for their personal self due to awareness of emotional state (63%), personal comfort (32%) and physical care (26%). Participant 3 articulated this succinctly by saying "being aware covers not only how I feel, but also what is good for me at work ... especially around becoming stressed". Self-observation of the professional self was experienced by awareness towards their professional image (47%) where participant 17 said to " take much more pride in how I am treated in my position", learning (42%) as noted by participant 11 who shared "... learning a new skill and then using it to my benefit is such a pleasant feeling, it feels very satisfying.." and

work tasks (42%) where participant 1 said "being aware of what I am doing, how to do it and how long it will take makes such a big difference". Interviewees also reported to experience independent initiative taking (32%), objectivity in decision making (26%) and their personal strengths (26%) where participant 13 shared this as "I have noticed that I am doing things out of my own choice because I have realized that I am good at it because in the past I did things in the right way" but also being organized (26%) and general alertness (11%) where participant 16 noted that "being aware of how I organize my [job related] content to sometimes very small details". In a relationship context, awareness of personal interactions (53%) was the primary experience mentioned by the interviewees. Participant 12 expressed this by saying "you just start paying attention to so many things when you deal with people".

Self-goal setting as a result of Mindfulness practice was primarily experienced with respect to work tasks (74%) where participant 18 pointed at now knowing "what I need achieve by doing my job" but also with respect to career progression (58%) and professional development (47%) for which participant 6 shared "learning on the job has been so important for me ... I think I am ready for something more, something bigger, in this school or somewhere else". Participants also reported Mindfulness practice to induce aspirations for leadership (37%) as participant 19 indicated to "feel like I am good at leading other people to be better at what they do", better independence (32%) expressed by participant 11 as "consciously trying to less rely on my boss to know what I have to do", communication ability (32%) where participant 10 said that "the way I communicate is something I have realized is not good enough and I have tried to improve " and creating situations of better self-comfort (26%) as shared by participant 19 "I have set the goal for myself to not take work home so I have a less crazy life".

Self-rewarding behaviors were experienced as a result of Mindfulness practice under the form of personal treats (79%) and breaks (53%) as stated by participant 8 who shared "taking breaks for a nice coffee is something I really like and enjoy" but equally being kind to oneself (42%) and social engagements (32%) on which participant 1 shared that "*I have realized that I enjoy hanging out with people at work during breaks and we have made our own little moments of breaks*". The majority of respondents (58%) did not report experiencing any form of selfpunishment as a result of Mindfulness practice. Self-punishment was found to be abandoned in 11% of the cases as participant 5 noted that "I have experienced not to beat myself up over making mistakes anymore", yet 26% of the interviewees did experience self-punishment under the form of guilt (26%) as a result of Mindfulness practice where participant 6 expressed this as "now that I am more aware of what is happening, I experience a feeling of falling short when parents are not getting out of me what they need".

Since their Mindfulness practice, awareness of work processes was mentioned by 79% of the respondents as a self-cueing experiencing that guides their behavior towards goal attainment as noted by participant 9 by saying "*I have started to see more clearly how I work, how I do my job, and then by being mindful I can more easily repeat the steps like what I did before*". Sixty three percent of the participants revealed to also experience emotional triggers of both negative and positive nature to influence their choices of behaviors for a more positive outcome where for example participant 13 shared that "feeling stressful emotions coming up makes me take a moment to myself because I do not want to feel bad". Mindfulness practice also introduces a system of reminders (37%) as noted by participant 15 who mentioned "placing reminders because I am aware that I will forget something is something that really helps" and awareness of good behaviors of others (26%) to guide performance enhancing behaviors as expressed by participant 11 who said "by really paying attention to the way my boss is able to deal with parents is such an inspiration to be like that too".

# 4.3.4 Unit 4: Change (Rounded % Frequencies per Total of Unit Textural Description Theme Related Statements)

presents the unit Change - textural and structural description themes with frequencies of the emergent structural description themes per textural description theme. The composite structure of textural description themes that make up the Change unit comprises of changes with respect to the person themselves, changes as per being a working individual and changes in working with others.

# Table 13

Unit Change - Textural and Structural description themes with rounded frequencies for structural description themes

Unit	Textural	TDT	Structural Description Themes and rounded
	Description	Category	% frequencies per total statements in the
	Themes (TDT)		TDT Category
	Personal	Sense of	Emotional control (53%), Self-compassion
		control	(38%), Self-control (9%).
		Self-view	Support (43%), Self-worth (19%), Purpose
			(19%), Professional image (19%).
	G	Emotional	Job Satisfaction (56%), Positive Emotion
		state	(35%), Still doubt (9%).
		Observance	Attention to detail (37%), Awareness (27%),
			Self-reflection (27%), More alert (9%).
	Work		Independence (42%), Involvement (17%),
	Pos disp	Solf	Engagement (13%), Proactive (6%),
		initiating	Problem solving (6%), Self-motivated
			(6%), Organizational comfort (4%), Critical
Change			thinking (4%), Innovate (2%).
		Positive	Positive attitude (46%), Embrace change
		disposition	(25%), Committed (16%), Motivated (13%).
		Growth	Ownership (53%), Professional capacity
		Glowth	(29%), Confidence (18%).
		Forward	Learning (75%), Career (19%), Helping
		perspective	leads to more work (6%).
		Performance	Quality output (46%), Effectiveness (27%),
			Productivity (20%), Extra (7%).
	Work with		Better interactions (36%), Relationship
	others		building (22%), Trust / support (10%), Team
		Relationships	spirit (8%), Knowledge transfer (7%),
			Matter of fact (7%), Better conflict
			resolution (7%), Seen as trying to hard (3%).
		Frame of	Perspective taking (67%), System view
		reference	(18%), Empathy (12%), Realism (3%).

**4.3.4.1 Personal.** At the personal level, interviewees found their Mindfulness practice to result in a positive change in control, the way they view themselves, their general emotional state and their level of observance. Examples are provided below.

#### a. Sense of control

Improved sense of control over situations they are part of were primarily noted with respect to having found a way to become in charge of their emotions (53%).

"Through mindfulness I have very much found a way to control my emotions (P3) ... I do not have the huge peaks of anger and hot blood anymore because I can feel them coming and through mindful breathing; I can easily keep them in check (P16) ... I do not tunnel into stress or anxiety any more, I am aware when this is happening and I can keep it in check (P19)"

Respondents further changed the way in which they prioritize their well-being (both emotionally and physically) through substantially increased selfcompassion (38%) as opposed to feeling emotions of unworthiness such as, for example, doubt, guilt, anxiety, envy or failure.

"The Mindfulness training introduced the self-compassion to me, and this has been something that I have been very much paying attention to ... I am now much nicer to myself (P11) I used to focus very much on negative emotions and that made me feel bad, now I am putting my happiness and health first and I feel so much better (P5) ... before I would beat myself up thinking I am not good enough and feel guilt for not achieving certain things, but now am thinking of me without feeling bad, in fact it makes me feel good and I feel I am a better person for it (P17)"

The change around mindfully taking charge of themselves was also expressed in terms of improved self-control (9%) and reported under the forms of for example better decision making, better communication and more self-directed actions. "I now feel much more in control of my life, what I do, what I think and how I behave ... I really feel like I am being me in all of this (P7) ... the way I communicate with others is much more appropriate than before, I pay more attention to how I say things now (P15) ...

## b. Self-view

Participants expressed a strong change in the way they see themselves as a result of Mindfulness practice whereby they have shifted their self-view towards one that has the ability to support others (43%) in parallel to a change in self-worth (19%).

"I feel a huge change now in how I see myself be of help to others, I used to be very selfish like that but now I am aware that helping others makes me actually feel good about myself (P18) ... now I am totally part of a team that is there to support others because I have realized that it makes my workday much nicer (P8) ... I feel so much better about myself as compared to before, I feel that I matter and have something to give to this company(P1)."

Interviewees reported a change in their sense of purpose (19%) in general where they feel clearer on what they are doing and why they are doing it.

"Mindfulness has made me realize that I matter and that what I do at work is important where before I would feel that what I did was not important (P8) ... I now see what my role is in the school and how what I do is part of something bigger (P6) ... When I am working now I have a clear sense of why I am doing this job and how it is important to the school, before I had no idea really why I was doing many things I was doing (P9)"

Changed attention to their professional image (19%) was also attributed as a result of Mindfulness practice by means of valuing themselves as professionals and realizing the importance of this with respect to how this enhances their presence at work with various positive consequences. "Self-scanning and being mindful has really improved the way I present myself at work ... this has really helped me to make better impressions and get more ideas approved (P4) ... by being aware of how I come across to parents, I have started paying much more attention to the way I look and realize that people respond much better to me now .. more smiles and more attention (P10) ... Many times I struggled to be taken seriously as a young professional, but since I started doing Mindfulness I have managed to be more attuned to my work environment and made some changes to how I hold myself, I think I am now seen as more professional (P12)."

## c. Emotional state

A changed emotional state expressed by the interviewees as a result of Mindfulness practice was noted as a much higher level of job satisfaction (56%) through a finer attunement to what matters in the job and how their performance in the job can make a substantial difference for themselves and others.

"Now that I know what is important to me and to the job I feel much more positive about doing my job and about the results I generate through campaigns (P19) ... When I do my job right, feel very satisfied because I help students get opportunity for a better future (P6) ... that feeling of 'yes' when we pull off a successful event is very nice, Mindfulness has really made me pay attention to that feeling (P8) ... I used to feel drained when I come home, now I still feel tired, but when reflecting in the evening I am aware of positive feelings around being glad a did my best (P11) ... I am very much more aware of how I feel happy when I am able to help parents or colleagues to solve problems, and that make me feel very good, I look for that feeling more now that I know what it is (P1)"

Since their start of Mindfulness practice, interviewees also reported their emotional state to have shifted from dominated by negative emotions, to one that is deliberately drawing attention to the positives (35%) since these are experienced to have a much more beneficial impact on their general state of mind. "Self-scanning has really changed the way I feel at work ... I used to be caught up in the negative things at work and let those rule my day, now I am far more mindful and aware of the positive things and use those to give me emotional energy (P7) ... I was so tired of all the drama at work and Mindfulness has really helped me to be more aware of the happy things that happen and I choose to focus on those ... I feel so much happier and emotionally energized if that makes sense (P10) ... I now choose to remove myself from negative situations and look for positive situations to be part of because they make me feel happy (P5)"

On the other hand, some participants expressed their Mindfulness practice having placed them in a state of doubt (9%) around how to feel in certain situations, whereby they feel they are currently still discovering themselves on a professional level with uncertainty around whether what they are doing is right for them.

"Since I have started Mindfulness I have really started discovering myself emotionally ... Self scanning during work shows me that I have a lot of emotions going on and am not really sure how I feel about whether what I do is good for me and whether I want to keep doing what I am doing (P2)"

#### d. Observance

A final category in the textural description theme 'personal' captured the notion around enhanced observance whereby attention to detail (37%) was primarily mentioned as having substantially changed due to Mindfulness practice.

"I am so much more focused on the small things, because now I realize they are there and they make a difference in what I do (P3) ... Before I used to rush through things and just make sure the general things are done, now I take care of the smaller details and my boss is really happy about that (P9) ... When I compare my [social media] content before and after having started being mindful, I really see a difference in the details, so much more and better detail (P4) "

Participants also noted a change in their awareness (27%) of themselves and their surroundings with respect to their feelings and actions supported by increased alertness (9%) when operating in the job, allowing for better and faster response rather than becoming overwhelmed by rapidly unfolding situations.

"Being mindful has made me so much more aware of what is happening around me and what I do, ... I feel like I am part of the moment, rather than being sucked into it (P12) ... Being fully present in the moment helps me to react in a much better way instead of being all over the place (P13) ... When talking to parents now I feel I understand them much better. I get what they are trying to say much faster and am able to solve their problems much faster now too (P18) ... I pick up on small things now, where these used to be totally invisible to me (P15)"

A final significantly noted change in terms of observance revolves around engagement in self-reflection (27%) which was reported to be happening more consciously but equally more frequently.

"One of the Mindfulness techniques that I have been doing deliberately is selfreflection ... I do it very often during breaks and in the evening (P17) ... I am far more comfortable evaluating my own work and behavior now, and I do it regularly, because it helps me to become better at what I do (P16) ... I used to only think of what is next, without looking back and asking myself what just happened and how that makes me feel ... I do that now much more and it really makes a positive difference in my life (P9)". **4.3.4.2 The Individual at Work.** Mindfulness practices were found to induce experienced changes with respect to the individual at work related to self-initiative, positive disposition, professional growth, forward perspective and enhanced work performance.

### a. Self-initiating behaviors

Interviewees noted a substantial change with regards to their prior reliance on others for guidance, direction and instruction whereby they started operating far more independently (42%).

"I feel a huge change in doing things my way now ... (P4) Mindfulness at work has really helped me to be comfortable making my own choices in how I solve problems for parents, instead of always running to my colleagues for help (P10) ... My boss asks me more often if I am ok because I do not ask him for help that much anymore ... self-scanning and mindful breathing has really helped me to be able to not panic and do things myself (P7) ... I have realized that there is a lot of information on YouTube that can help me to solve problems, this has been a big change for me to do things myself instead of always asking others how to do things (P19)."

Interviewees also reported to be more involved (17%) in what is happening at work out of their own accord and to be engaging more actively in work situations (13%) because they wanted to rather than because they were expected to.

" ... being mindful at work has shown me that I enjoy being part of work and the projects that are happening, I want to be part of it, before I would actively avoid being part because it would mean work more (P12) ... I am more actively involved in meetings .. since my Mindfulness I have found my voice and feel positive about being part of something (P3) ... I used to wait until people gave me something to do where now I volunteer myself in meetings to do tasks because I know I will enjoy them and I can do them (P16)" Mindfulness practice was also linked to improved initiative towards solving problems (6%), and equally to triggering more proactivity to avoid problems before they happen (6%) through a more critical analysis (4%) of themselves and situations.

"Being mindful has made me aware of my abilities and this awareness gives me more push to take care of things at work when I see things go wrong (P18) ... when talking to parents now, I focus on the solving their issues, not just be friendly and hope they leave soon (P1) ... I am far more careful what I say when people come with their paperwork, I take my time to explain to them what the process is and how we can solve their concerns ... before I used to tell them it would take x days where that was not always the case and it would lead to disappointment (P15)"

By being more aware of what matters to them and the joy they get out of self-worth, participants realized more instances where they engaged in selfmotivation (6%) when presented with challenges.

"Now that I know what I like and what makes me happy I am more in touch with myself and can fire myself up to get something done (P8) ... when things are a bit difficult I take a few steps back and remember that what I do matters and that I am important ... that gives me a boost to keep going (P6) ... selfreflection and self-scanning very much helps me to find the positive things in myself to motivate me to deal with problems ... before I would just give up very quickly and feel sad (P7)"

Participants further reported on consciously choosing to approach work in a way that would make their work more efficient and organized (4%), which made them feel more comfortable to focus on doing their job right.

"Being mindful of how I feel at work when I am stressed has lead me to plan better to avoid stress and drama ... so I can just do my job and do it well without other things to worry about that I can easily avoid (P11) ... My workspace is much tidier since I started doing mindfulness, it helps me to focus on what matters which makes work go faster and with less mistakes ... so much more comfortable now than before! (P17) ... By self-reflecting I have learned to develop a list of tasks that I need to do to process paperwork for teachers ... this has made my life so much easier now (P15)"

Even though minor in frequency, one statement referred to Mindfulness practice resulting in exploring novel ways of doing things.

" self-scanning helps me to remove myself from the emotions and this has helped me to find different ways to solve problem ... when I was asked to develop a poster in less than an hour for a of the student-parent visiting event and we did not have the right materials to do it ... instead of being totally stressed and saying it is not possible, I kept my cool and managed to work something out by recycling materials from other events and stuff in the office ... (P13)"

## b. Disposition at work

The interviews revealed an overwhelming impact of Mindfulness practice on changed attitudes at work into a more dominant positive disposition (46%) such as a can-do attitude, readiness to work, general happiness towards doing work and gratitude for having a job.

"Since I started doing mindfulness I have been thinking very differently about work and doing my job ... I used to feel insecure about my work ... now I feel it is ok not to know something and I can learn how to do things (P5) ... I used to always think the worst case scenario about things at work, now I do not think like that anymore, I do what I can and see where that goes (P18) ... Mindfulness has made me realize that I am fortunate to have a job when so many people are struggling in life ... if I do my best good things will happen for me (P10) ... before I used to feel down when I thought about work, driving to work and starting my day ... being mindful of my feelings has helped me to be far more happy and positive coming to work and doing my job (P8)."

Particular mentioning of notions around changed personal commitment (16%) and motivation (13%) came through with feeling positive emotions as a result of seeing something through and being appropriately challenged.

"Understanding myself better through Mindfulness has resulted in taking my job more seriously and raising the bar for myself (P19) ... When I evaluate my own work by self-reflection, I see where I could have done better ... this would have made me feel bad in the past, where now I am pleased that at least I did it and see it as a chance to do better next time (P9) ... I am far more open to do tasks that are maybe a little bit more difficult than what I am used to because it is the only way I can learn to get better, but I am not afraid to make mistakes anymore (P4) ..."

The statements also indicated that since the start of Mindfulness practice, a change occurred around how organizational change is being dealt with whereby dispositions moved from resisting to embracing change (25%) due to a personal sense of enjoyment around something different happening and seeing personal value in being part of that.

"Being mindful of my feelings and what I do has lead me to see that if there is something that I do not like, then I should do something about it, change something. Now, when at work my boss decides to do something in a different way, I am ready to try that, because change for myself has led to good things, so it could do the same for work (P11) ... Mindfulness has shown me that being bored is not a nice feeling and through practicing routine breaking I have realized that I enjoy work and life more ... so when new things happen at work, I am really excited about that (P1)"

#### b. Growth at work

A third category of change experiences as an employee concerned structural description themes related to growth. Interviewees felt a substantial increase in their ownership over their work (53%) as a result of being more aware of how this builds their confidence (18%) to stand over their work when evaluated or questioned by feeling personal pride and care over what they do and how they do it.

"Mindfulness has helped me to see that taking my job more seriously leads to becoming better at it ... over the last few months, I feel like I have understood my job much better than I ever did and I feel comfortable to have conversations with my boss about what I am doing and how I am performing which used to be something I was uncomfortable with (P6) ... self-reflection and self-scanning has made me feel that I want to do this job right, like I owe it to myself ... this is a very new feeling for me but it is nice (P17) ".

Mindfulness practice has also allowed for a realization in growth of professional capacity (29%) due to being more attuned to getting value out of becoming better at something.

"I have felt so much change in my abilities to do this job, like I have become much better at my job and am able to produce better output (P7) ... Being mindful has made me realize that I have a lot to offer to people but needed to work on my way of delivering the message ... through being more aware of how people respond to my trainings I have managed to become better at delivering the message (P12) ... I have a lot more in me I think, just seeing how much I have developed over the past 3 months show me that I can really make something of myself (P16)"

#### d. Forward perspective

Interviewees raised a significant change in the way they see learning new things to be of benefit for them (75%) as a result of practicing Mindfulness whereby they do not only enjoy learning new things, but equally actively seek out professional development opportunities.

"I really enjoy learning now because it makes me feel good and makes my work so much easier, so whatever chance I get to learn something, I take it now (P4) ... I have learned more in the last three months than in the last two years of being here, all because I have become mindful at work, who would have thought that learning could be such a good feeling (P5) ... Since I started seeing gaps in my work, I started looking for ways to improve myself, because I did not want to feel bad or insecure anymore ... I have been reading a lot about ad design and have learned a lot from following some good Instagram accounts too (P19)"

The growth notion around learning was in some cases also elevated to changes in career perspectives (19%) whereby Mindfulness practice introduced reflection on career options in pursuit of further self-actualization and fostered realization that there is more to pursue.

"I think since I started Mindfulness I have learned all I can learn in this position, and I think I am ready for something more, something bigger, in this school or somewhere else (P6) ... From becoming aware of what I do and how I work, I think I can be in charge of a team of administrators, I now realize that I am kind of already guiding a lot of them, so I may as well take on the position I think ... I would have never thought of this if it was not for mindfulness (P18)."

On the flip side, one participant shared a double feeling with respect to helping others out, whereby they experienced that making oneself available to support others leads to more work and therefore, even though they recognized helping as something that positively impacts their self-worth, they were unsure whether they would continue to do so. "I really like seeing other people move forward and it is a feeling that makes me feel good, but since I started being more mindful about my surroundings, I have come to realize that some people just keep asking for help and you end up doing their work for them on top of your work, that is not something I feel I can continue doing, because that is taking advantage (P16)"

## e. Work performance

Being mindful at work was found to have initiated a positive change with respect to work performance. This was supported by statements that attributed the production of higher quality outputs (46%) to notions such as attention to detail, awareness of the importance of the work, purposefulness of the work and more critical analysis of one's work.

"Being mindful of the finer details of my work has really boosted the quality of the productions I deliver (P13) ... Now that I take my work far more seriously because I realize the value of it, I make almost no mistakes anymore and I get stuff done so much faster (P9) ... Self-reflection has really helped me to evaluate myself but also my work, and since I started doing that, I have been seeing that the work I produce is much more professional and of higher standard, the way it should be really (P4) ... Since I realized that my role is critical for my boss to be able to do his work well, I have been really upping my game and with really good results, most importantly, happy boss (P11)"

Participants further felt a positive change in their effectiveness of doing work tasks (27%) and reported to being more productive at work (20%) as a result of being more focused when working in a more mindful manner.

"By being aware of what I am doing my email communication has really improved a lot (P15) ... Being aware of what is happening around me has helped me to better guide people to where they need to be or who they need to see about their questions (P1) ... Since I started Mindfulness, I have become so much better at reading people in meetings and controlling my own responses, which has led to getting more ideas approved by my boss (P8)".

Albeit more limited in frequency, one interviewee also noted that, since they started practicing mindfulness, they were more likely to go the extra mile when personally felt to be required by either drawing drive from the realization that they are part of a bigger picture or as a result of a personal commitment to wanting something or someone to be successful.

"Since I started being more aware of the total story of the school and its great goals for the kids, I started feeling motivated to do more than just my 9-5 duties, because I want this school to do well (P7)"

**4.3.4.3 Working with Others.** Mindfulness practice was noted to prompt generally positive change in how the interviewees worked with others with respect to various aspects of work-relationships and frames of reference used by the participants as they engage with others at work.

#### a. Relationships

The interviews confidently reflected better relationships with primarily peers (78 %), with supervisors (45%). and parents (35%) as a result of Mindfulness practice. Mindfulness practice was dubbed to have positively changed the manner of interacting with people at work (36%) where the exchanges are found to be better due to generally happier emotional charge and more focus on the facts at hand (7%) rather than getting lost in the contextual factors that surround the exchange.

"Dealing with people at work has become so much nicer, I feel more happy and positive when dealing with almost everyone really (P3) ... I feel a big difference with how I experience dealing with parents and teachers ... and my colleagues too ... it feels very nice (P6) I am having much nicer interactions with my boss, even when he is stressed, I am able to keep it pleasant because I am more aware of what is happening (P11) ... I used to get caught up on so many irrelevant things when I was interacting with people at work, now things are much clearer for me and I am able to focus on the things that are important instead of silly stuff (P1)"

Interviewees also noticed a change in their effectiveness of conflict resolution (7%) due to better emotional management within communication, more honesty and more respect for others, but equally as a result of being able to keep the conversation to the matter of fact (7%).

"I feel more comfortable being honest to people about how I feel now, and that really helps to clear the air ... it is not always about being right or wrong (P13) ... When I have a problem with someone I now first think carefully about what it is that lead us here and show understanding for their point of view or their situation, this usually makes the confrontation much less dramatic and more towards finding a solution or simply agreeing to disagree (P18) ... Solving problems between people at work has become so much better, especially with colleagues who were in the Mindfulness course, but also with others really ... mindful communication has been a huge help for me to keep discussion of problems focused on the facts, not the emotions around it (P15)"

Participants also felt a change in the way they approached relationships, whereby through Mindfulness practice the notion of building a relationship with someone (22%) rather than using a relationship for mere functional exchanges was noted as significant.

"I now clearly see the real value of a professional relationship and that includes the person behind the position ... now spend more time and effort to get to know the person instead of just treating them like a position (P12)... work relationships is about people, and I see that now, it is not about just anyone who does a particular job, but it is a person that brings their whole world to work with them (P7) ... making a personal connection with parents has made my job experience so much better (P10)"

This was further elaborated by a noticeable change in trust nurturing (10%) alongside a stronger sense of team spirit among colleagues (8%).

"When you are mindful of people's personal situation and you acknowledge their concerns, it becomes easier for them to trust you (P17) ... these better relationships with my colleagues have really made me become aware of how important and valuable it is to have each other's backs and support each other ... you become more relaxed around each other and that is a really good feeling (P16)"

Mindfulness practice was also found to result in relationships becoming more supportive (10%) with a particular note on increased knowledge transfer between employees (7%) as a result of the realization of respondents' own strengths, others' areas for improvement and a deliberate aspiration to advance others' capacity to be successful at work.

"By being mindful I have realized that I know things that others can learn from and I have been teaching some of my younger colleagues how to do their job better ... it feels really nice to share what I know because I have realized I get pleasure out of passing on what I know so they can become better at their job (P19)"

For some interviewees Mindfulness practice was however noted to lead to being perceived by others as trying too hard to be different compared to their past behavior (3%), resulting in some relationships becoming more distant.

"[being mindful] at work changed some of my behaviors, but some others would ask why I am trying so hard to be different from what I used to do ... our relationship has become a bit more cold (P9)"

#### **b.** Frame of reference

Being mindful around working with others was overwhelmingly mentioned to result in a significant change in consideration for others' realities through perspective taking (67%) as opposed to prior self-serving composure.

"I used to think I knew my field better than anyone, but since I started Mindfulness practice I realized that not understanding other people's point of view made me fail at my job so now I always think about their point of view when I produce [marketing] content (P4) ... Through mindfulness I have become very aware that parents usually want what is best for their child, where before I would think they were just difficult people (P10) ... I used to think my boss was just an angry stressed out man, but through being mindful of my surroundings and my own feelings I have come to realize that he has a lot of responsibilities and he is really passionate about his job (P11)".

Consideration for others' emotions through a change in empathy for others (12%) was a particular recurring mentioning in this regard.

"Mindfulness has really changed me in the way that I now am able to put myself in the emotional shoes of others (P8)"

Participants also felt that Mindfulness practice led to a changed view of the system they are part of (18%) whereby they became more attuned with the others' roles and functions in the organization.

"I now truly realize what the importance of teachers is in a school and how we are there to support them to do their job well (P9) ... I have come to understand that different departments in the school are all connected to each other whereas before I used to see them all as separate units that did their own thing (P5) ... by being more aware of the questions teachers had around [job function] I was able to work better with them and help them become more comfortable in doing their job well (P12)" Interviewee statements also revealed a changed sense of realism (3%) as opposed to prior thinking within frames of reference that were not in line with the realities of others in the workplace such as expectations of their colleagues and supervisors around acceptable professional standards of work engagement.

"Before I started doing mindfulness, I could not understand why my boss was always so difficult with me but [since I started being mindful at work] I realize that how I acted before was totally unacceptable in a professional environment (P6)"

# 4.3.4.4 Change in Composure as per the Self-Leadership Strategies (Rounded % Frequencies per Participants)

#### a. Natural Rewards

Self-perceived changes with respect to finding their job more inherently motivating as a result of Mindfulness practice were noted as positive on various fronts. Through enhanced perspective taking (58%) and a generally more positive attitude (37%) as a result of Mindfulness practice, relationships became a more motivating aspect of the job (32%). Participant 5 stated here for example "I am so much more open for understanding other people's point of view now which has led to better relationships with my colleagues and parents and that gives me such positive energy to work". Mindfulness practice was also noted to increase professional identification with the job (53%) through ownership and self-worth resulting in job satisfaction (58%). Here participant 13 shared "I feel like a real [job title] now that I really take control over what I do and that makes me feel good about myself as an employee and about the way I do my job". Another changed focus in the job attributed to Mindfulness practice was more self-compassion (42%) and self-control (42%). Participant 17 stated about the former that "I pay more attention to my wellbeing in the job now" where participant 10 reflected the latter by saying "I am so much more paying attention to being in control of what I do and how I feel". Sporadic mentioning was made of improved willingness to go the extra mile (16%) where participant 11 said to "feeling a lot of joy out of doing extra work to push the school forward", overall effectiveness (16%) noted by participant 16 as "having become

better at my job by focusing on what I like in it makes it so much easier to deliver a good job", higher involvement (11%) where participant 6 said to "make special effort [focus] on being more part of meetings" and being more observant (11%) which was noted by participant 3 by saying "I spend more attention to knowing what is happening".

#### b. Constructive Self-thought patterns

Mindfulness practice was recognized to bring along change in the participants thinking strategies at work but equally outside of work. For example, Mindfulness practice allowed for the replacement of dysfunctional thoughts by constructive ones. Seventy-nine percent of the participants reported increased selfliking as stated by participant 1 "I used to look down on my job but now I see myself as valuable in the company". Another 68% found their work increasingly purposeful, 47% felt increased ownership and paired with this initiative taking. Participant 9 noted here that "now knowing that my job is important ... I am now feel more responsible over what I do and I do more things out of my own choice now". The same amount of the participants reported increased perspective taking and empathy as expressed by participant 12 who shared that "the way I think about situation now is to take the point of view of others in consideration and really connect with the way they feel about something". In line with this empathy and perspective taking, 11% reported to have let go of envy and 21% showed a shift from superiority thoughts towards drawing positivity from the thought of supporting others. Participant 2 stated "That jealousy is not there anymore, because I now realize that every situation is different" whereas participant 8 said "I tell myself now to be more accepting for younger colleagues opinions and input and see it that I need to help them to improve their ideas if that is needed".

Participants further noted a significantly higher sense of self-worth and having more self-compassionate reasoning (63%) where participant 18 stated "*I now know that I am important at work and I look out for myself much more*". They also reported a change in their professional and personal confidence (53%) as expressed by participant 15 by saying "being mindful of myself has made me realize that I am good at many things in my job and that is really building my confidence". They felt more effective at doing their work (37%) where participant 18 said that by being "mindful of what I am doing, step by step, I make less mistakes" and more satisfaction from doing their job (26%) as stated by participant 10 "before I used to not care whether parents were happy or not but by being mindful I very much realize how I feel good when parents walk away happy". The interviewees noted mindfulness to have helped them to focus on being more organized (21%) while equally being more attuned to learning for professional development (37%). Participant 11 noted to "plan better ... without other things to worry about that I can easily avoid". Mindfulness practice was also attributed to improving emotional control (42%) as expressed by participant 16 "I do not have the huge [emotional] peaks anymore .. I can now easily keep them in check" as well as triggering more empathy (42%) as noted by participant 19 "changed me in the way that I now mentally am able to put myself in the emotional shoes of others". Mindfulness was also pointed at to inducing thinking around a generally more positive attitude (32%) as participant 18 mentioned "I used to always think the worst-case scenario about things at work, now I do not think like that anymore, I do what I can and see where that goes". Sporadic (16%) mentioning of changes towards embracing change, peaked realism and self-reflection were also made as part of constructive thought patters. Participant 11 expressed embracing change by stating "... when at work my boss decides to do something in a different way, I am ready to try that, because change for myself has led to good things, so it could do the same for work". Participant 6 expressed peaked realism by stating "I realize that how I acted before was totally unacceptable in a professional environment". Participant 17 noted on self-reflection that it "has made me feel that I want to do this job right, like I owe it to myself".

#### c. Behavior-focused

Since Mindfulness practice, the participants report changes in their behavioral guides by higher awareness around a variety of self and work-related elements. Increased awareness of their professional capacity was reported by 84% of the participants, thereby being clearer on what they are capable of in a work setting with almost half of the respondents (47%) reporting heightened awareness of their strengths as exemplified by what participant 17 expressed as "*being mindful has made me realize that I have a lot to offer to people … through being more aware of how people respond to my trainings I have managed to become better at delivering the*  message... but I became confident that the content was always great." A little over half (53 %) of the participants reported enhanced ability to see people's perspectives as mentioned by participant 4 "so now I always think about their point of view when I produce [marketing] content". An equal number of interviewees pointed at being more concerned with their own well-being and their professional image alongside a heightened sense of purposefulness of their work. Participant 12 noted since Mindfulness practice to have "made some changes to how I hold myself, I think I am now seen as more professional ... many times I struggled to be taken seriously as a young professional". Participant 7 shared to now realize "that what I do really matters not only to myself, but also to the organization". Forty-seven percent of the interviewees reported to feel strengthened independence and significant guidance in their behavior through realizing the benefit of learning as participant 4 indicated that Mindfulness practice "helped me to see how learning helps me at work, so I now started looking for tutorials online to improve my visual design skills". A third of the respondents (31 %) reported reduced risk aversity to change alongside a clear sense of drive as a result of the value of relationship building whereby participant 4 highlighted "... I am not afraid to make mistakes anymore" and participant 12 noted to "clearly see the real value of a professional relationship ... now spend more time and effort to get to know the person instead of just treating them like a position". Approximately a quarter of the interviewees (26%) noted enhanced aspirations to act on career development and progression as noted by participant 18 who stated "I think I can be in charge of a team of administrators, I now realize that I am kind of already guiding a lot of them, so I may as well take on the position I think".

# 4.3.5 Perception on the Benefit of Mindfulness Training as Organization Wide Professional Development (Rounded % Frequencies per Participants)

Eighteen out of 19 participants (94.7%) agreed that organization-wide Mindfulness training would be of benefit for the organization. The benefit of more effective engagements with others and the positive experiences of perspective taking were unanimously highlighted by proponents of the practice. Participant 9 stated that it would help *"people to look more at other people's situations and not think it is all about themselves, even if they mean well"* where participant 18 shared that *"it would*  bring the people together more and make them see that whatever everyone does affects the other person." This was further strengthened by highlighted benefits of Mindfulness practice such as the nurturing of a supportive team spirit (42%) as pointed out by participant 8 who said "I think it would bring teams closer together and get them to align their expectations better", more effective communication (32%) as pointed out by participant 3 that "it would be a very good thing if more people are more mindful at work because it would help to have clearer communication and make people think for a second before they say something" and better conflict resolution (32%) where participant 10 shared that mindfulness at work would "help to solve or avoid a lot of problems between people … issues would be dealt with better".

Colleagues were further suggested to find benefit from Mindfulness training and practice by its potential to create a less emotionally laden workplace (68%) as a result of better emotional management (47%). Interviewee 6 said in this regard that "it would help [colleagues] to realize how emotional things can get ... they would feel less stressed about working here because they would be more aware of how negative emotions can really damage the work place and behave in a better manner with each other". Participant 17 stated that "people would benefit from being more aware and in charge of their emotions, which would really help, because I have seen it work from our group". Mindfulness training and practice were also noted to benefit the organization by giving members a better sense of the whole context in which they are working (63%) and inducing openness for change (26%). Participant 19 highlighted this by saying that it would "make people more aware of the realities they are part of and the realities they contribute to …" whereas participant 13 said " it would help people be more comfortable with things that are different … people like to keep things the same, but in an organization it does not work like that".

At a more personal level, Mindfulness training and practice were noted as beneficial by the potential to increase general self-awareness (47%), heighten employees' confidence in their ability (58%), and foster a feeling of ownership over their work (58%). Participant 17 captured this well by saying *"it would help people to tap into themselves to understand what matters for them …they would be able to be more comfortable with themselves and bring their real self to work in a good way"*. Another personal benefit noted was the stimulation of a generally more positive personal and professional self-image (58%) where participant 1 contended that "people would start taking more pride in their job and their position as part of this school, and that would help us a lot".

Mindfulness training and practice were also dubbed by the participants as beneficial for the organization by means of the increase of people's effectiveness in their job (32%) and subsequent job satisfaction (32%). Participant 9 stated here that "it would help with people being better at their work and feel better about themselves doing so". It was noted, however, that Mindfulness training and practice may not be something for everyone and can therefore be met with some resistance (22%) as participant 4 indicated that it is "not sure if everyone would be ok with it, because it is not in everyone s nature to be comfortable with looking at themselves and embracing who they are" and that the delivery of the training session is crucial towards generating buy-in by its trainees (11%) as participant 19 pointed out that "the way it is introduced is highly critical, because there is a make or break moment when it comes to getting buy in". Three participants admitted initial skepticism towards Mindfulness, yet attribute their commitment to its practice to the manner in which the training was delivered and highlighted this a caveat for the training to be successful. Participant 13 stated in this regard that "I was not fully convinced that this would work, but the way the sessions were delivered really helped me to ease into the idea and see the value of it quite quickly and so I stuck with it". They finally also highlighted the potential of internal advocacy for the practice through opinion leaders within the organization. Participant 7 expressed this as "it would be good for us [the practitioners] to share our experience to others, because that would make it easier for them to understand how this works and believe that it does".

# CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS

The findings have been categorized in five parts, i.e., the perceived impact of Mindfulness practice, the identified dysfunctional composures prior to Mindfulness practice, the experiences as a result of Mindfulness practice, the changes in composure as a result of Mindfulness practice, and the appraisal of the potential of organization wide promoting Mindfulness as a potential route for professional development. In the first four parts, particular attention was given to the experiences around Self-Leadership strategies as a result of Mindfulness practice as this was a central aim of the study.

The discussion will gravitate around the effect that Mindfulness practice has brought to bear in the practitioners with respect to personal and work-related emotions and behaviors as a result of the Mindfulness practice. This discussion chapter is structured with the two central parts of this study in mind i.e. the context of the lived experience of the Mindfulness practitioner and particular attention to engagement in Self-Leadership strategies as a result thereof. The researcher found the expressed experiences and changes as a result of Mindfulness practice very insightful as a potential first step to explore possible pathways that Mindfulness practice could open towards changing composures in a self-directed manner.

This discussion first gives short top-level attention to the manner in which the impact of the Mindfulness practice was appraised and the main experiences that emerged as a result of it. After that the bulk of the discussion will surround the manner in which expressed emotional and behavioral experiences and changes as a result of Mindfulness practice hold potential to give solace to the dysfunctional composures that were highlighted. This approach aligns with the various points made in the literature around a lack of empiric evidence on how Mindfulness practice has an influence at work (Passmore, 2019; Brendel and Bennett, 2016) but also with respect to Kotzé's (2018) call for better understanding of the antecedents to Self-Leadership alluding to Mindfulness. Baer (2011) and Davidson (2010) further pointed at the need to empirically evaluate how Mindfulness practice may potentially impact one's operating rather than just measuring outcomes of it on certain variables. It is hoped

that this discussion will help to give more empiric grounding to the theoretical contentions made by Semple et al. (2017) with respect to Mindfulness' potential to positively enable Self-Leadership. The discussion therefore attempts to unpack the lived experience of the non-managerial employee with respect to self-directed change as a result of Mindfulness practice by exploring how outcomes of Mindfulness practice could aid in the shift away from noted dysfunctional work composures in a self-led manner.

#### 5.1 Discussion of the Impact Appraisal

The impact findings clearly indicate a perceived impact of Mindfulness practice that is by large experienced as transformational, empowering and positively introspective. This means that the participants felt the impact of their Mindfulness practice as fostering the revealing of a new sense of self that is focused on their own strengths and potential in context of situational and organizational realities of which they are part, with a predominant disposition of constructive self-evaluation. This shows a clear connection with tripartite (self-monitoring, self-response and selfevaluation) of the social cognitive theory of Bandura (1991), a fundamental underpinning theory to Self-Leadership. The transformational effect through the Mindfulness practices of self-observation and self-reflection that came out of the study, supports the findings of Furtner et al. (2018) and Brendel and Bennett (2016) who indicate the transformative power of Mindfulness on people. Ryan (2016) further points at the desire of managers in today's workplace to have employees who are selfaware of their strengths and are able to leverage those in organizational situations. The reported empowering impact of Mindfulness practice supports its practice as potentially conducive to Self-Leadership in line with the contention by Knight (2017) that individuals need to be empowered in order to become self-led. The finding of Mindfulness having a positive introspective impact on individuals is further in line with the central place that introspection holds as a precursor to Self-Leadership (Neck et al., 2013; Furtner et al., 2015). These impact-related results also indicate that Mindfulness practice can help individuals to reposition themselves in line with various expectations of self-directedness by managers in the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace such as bringing their genuine self to work (Gino and Staats, 2015), self-awareness

(Farrugia and Sanger, 2017), self-determination (Kanfer et al., 2017) and selfmonitoring (Van Laar et al., 2017).

These overarching impacting appraisals were further illuminated through extensive and sustained positive experiences leading to a large set of personal, professional and work-relationship related outcomes which were presented in the findings and will be unpacked in the remainder of this chapter. This initially indicates on the one hand that indeed Mindfulness can be cultivated in people through Mindfulness training and practice, in line with the literature (e.g. Furtner et al., 2018; Canby et al., 2015; Phang et al., 2015) but on the other hand it also confirms the breadth of impacts on various emotive and behavioral composures that Mindfulness practice is associated with as outlined in the vast body of literature on the subject in an organizational context (e.g. Passmore, 2019; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017; Good et al., 2016).

The most significant Mindfulness practices that were expressed as impactful when probing for changed composures were self-scanning, self-reflection, routine breakers and mindful breathing. Respectively, this means that participants found most benefits out of consciously exploring the self in the moment for self-awareness, consciously engaging in self-evaluation towards improvement, deliberately changing their routines to break habitual composures and engaging in searching for self-calm when appropriate to handle difficult situations. These findings would suggest that Mindfulness practice indeed enables individuals to exhibit composures of a selfdirected nature that are desirable in the 21st century work environment in context as noted by the literature. Self-awareness is, for example, highlighted as important in context by Farrugia and Sager (2017), Totterdill (2015) and Cressey et al. (2013), whereas self-evaluation for improvement is noted by Donald et al. (2017) and Ryan (2016) to be a highly sought after work composures. Both notions further show a clear initial link with Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategies such as self-observation, self-cueing and with Constructive Self-thought patterns in the form of a constructive internal dialogue. The practice of routine breakers connects well with what Gino and Staats (2015) note as the demand for employees to experiment with change but equally would suggest a pathway towards interest and curiosity in new things which was found as desirable in today's workplace by Van Laar et al. (2017). Routine
breaking indeed aligns with the Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategy of exploring change but also links with Constructive Self-thought strategies such as changing habitual thinking. Finally, the engaging in self-calming indicates the ability of Mindfulness practice to enable stress coping, which in terms of its efficacy is a central notion to Self-Leadership (Houghton et al., 2012) and presents a clear example of engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns as well as being Behaviorfocused. The finding of these four Mindfulness practices as most effective, per the perception of the participants, would further suggest that such practices can arguably be prioritized when introducing Mindfulness practice in a professional development context. As will be discussed in more detail, these have further resulted in substantial changes with respect to the way the participants have been operating since their Mindfulness practice, with some strong indications that they now operate in a more self-directed manner in line with the expectations of their superiors. The supervisor consultation indeed confirmed noticeable positive changes in the majority of the participants, pointing at and confirming the reported major impact of Mindfulness practice to indeed be the case. One of the supervisors shared for example that,

"... it has been quite remarkable to see considerable change in plenty of the trainees ... this really seems to have a good impact on the way they behave at work ... I feel we are on the right track to make them more responsible for the work they are doing and how they do it ... ".

The other supervisor noted that,

"... some of the guys have really changed in the way they behave and the way they work, that is really nice to see ... I would say that for the most part they are starting to need me less, so that is a great step forward ... with a good few the conversations are much more focused on what they want to do rather than what they should be doing ... this is a big change ..."

It needs however to be noted that Mindfulness practice is obviously not a silver bullet to impact people's composures, since some participants reported only

minor to no impact on their composures. The sentiments around minor or no impact were dominated by statements that Mindfulness practice is useful at times but hard to maintain by some.

Some extracts from the interviews that outline this were:

"... being mindful is useful when things get really messy and I remind myself to do self-scanning, but work is so busy most of the time that I do not really think about it much (P2) I think the whole thing is exaggerated, I feel very little to no difference what so ever, maybe I am not doing it right but that is how it feels to me (P14)". Those who reported this minor or no impact, were found to have a Mindfulness practice profile of low frequency whereby they reported Mindfulness practice to be engaged in "when [they] think about it (P2, P14)". This aligns with the progressive development nature of Mindfulness as a result of practice noted by Jamieson and Tuckey (2017) whereby intensity, duration and frequency affect the trait of being mindful in an individual. It is clear that those who did not commit to Mindfulness - and this could be as a result of a negative disposition to the practice or simply not being able to assume the disposition - indeed did not show to have drawn great benefits from it. Low and no impact reporting included statements such as "I don't see what the big deal is .... this is all over exaggerated (P2) ... it makes no real difference (P14)." Supervisor consultation confirmed the notion that there was no real visible change in the behaviours or dispositions of the participants that reported low impact. With respect to demographics of the respondent profile that align with low impact reporting, it was found that such respondents were primarily female, aged up to 35, with up to 6 years of work experience and no international experience, novice Mindfulness practitioners and infrequent in their Mindfulness practice. Due to the small sample size, it would be presumptuous to draw definitive conclusions out of this, nevertheless, the group of low impact respondents did not include participants with the following demographics: above the age of 35 more than 6 years experience, some form of international experience, Mindfulness experience above 3 months, and daily, routine Mindfulness practice. Even though this would need further investigation, with larger sample size to find definitive correlations of demographic and impact reportings, these top level profile findings suggest that age could positively mediate the impact of mindfulness practice and high work experience does

not seem to correspond with low impact reportings. Perhaps this would indicate that life and work experience allow for an individual to be more receptive to connecting awareness of the self, the moment and others with self-directedness. With respect to demographics on Mindfulness practice however, it is very clear that low impact is only reported by novice practitioners who reported to not frequently commit to the practice. This suggests, and in line with the literature, that frequency of practice is a prerequisite for Mindfulness practice to take effect towards activating and engaging in Self-Leadership strategies.

The findings on reported Impact in light of engagement in Self-Leadership strategies reveal that for each of the strategies Mindfulness practice has been expressed to have been positively impacting by the participants who committed to practicing Mindfulness. Constructive Self-thought patterns and Behavior-focused strategies were noted to have had the strongest experienced impact from Mindfulness practice by approximately 90% of the participants, whereby Natural Rewards was noted as majorly impacted by approximately 75%. The former two findings, would suggest that Mindfulness practice is potentially very effective in awakening a constructive dialogue with the self in context of experienced realities driven by increased self-awareness to support self-directed behavioral management. The perceived impact findings on Mindfulness practice with respect to Natural Rewards strategies would suggest that Mindfulness practice, even though to somewhat lesser extent than for the other two strategies, is being experienced to clearly impact individuals' focus on more enjoyable aspects of their jobs as motivators towards better control over what is happening and stronger performance. The ability of the workers to identify and focus on motivating aspects of their job aligns with the fundamental theory of Self-Determination (Deci and Ryan, 1987) that underpins Self-Leadership as a result of finding intrinsic motivators with respect to a job task rather than relying on extrinsic motivators, even though they also play according to Stewart et al (2011). The notion of control in this regard aligns directly with the fact that today's work environment expects its workers to be more self-reliant (Ghino and Staats, 2015), and also assume ownership and control over their work tasks (Ryan, 2016), professional development (Jensen et al., 2018) and career progression (Donald et al., 2017). Stewart et al. (2019) furthermore equally point at the notion of having

control over one's environment to be a fundamental drive that underpins the innate desire of humans to be self-led.

At the top-level, considering the overall appreciation of the participants as to how Mindfulness practice has impacted them at work and their engagement in Self-Leadership strategies, it can be concluded that the overall lived experience of Mindfulness practice with respect to its experienced impact on Self-Leadership strategies, shows initial promising indications whereby in most cases Mindfulness practice is experienced as having a considerably positive impact across all three Self-Leadership strategies. UNID

# 5.2 Discussion of the Experiences

When evaluating the experiences reported as a result of Mindfulness practice, it is clear that the result of heightened awareness with respect to the self, others and one's environment is the predominant driving force to the reported experiences. This is in line with the fundamental notion of Mindfulness as expressed in the literature with regards to being aware of the moment (Kabat-Zinn, 1982; Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016). Farrugia and Sanger (2017), Ryan (2016), Totterdill (2015) and Cressey et al. (2013) point at self-awareness to be a key expectation with respect to the workplace of the 21<sup>st</sup> century in context of reducing the need for direction by supervisors, which has been identified as a clear trend (Wahl et al., 2012). Awareness of others and one's environment can be suggested as a precursor towards better engagement therewith, which is promising towards today's workplace expectations noted in Van Laar et al.'s (2017) work of teamwork, collaboration with respect to engaging with others and adaptability or comfort with ambiguity. The interviewees expression of awareness of the self, others and their environment as a result of Mindfulness practice spans across both emotive and behavioral aspects which is in line with the literature (Bishop et al.2004; Rocco et al., 2012; Vago and Silbersweig, 2012; Jimenez et al., 2010). This indicates that the subjects of the study indeed engaged in a full breadth of Mindfulness, giving strength to this study's findings presenting a good array of ideas to express the lived experience of the practitioners.

The emotive experiences were expressed to be overwhelmingly positive and beneficial whereby being mindful heightened insights into emotional state, professional self-view, a progressive work perspective, one's function at work, workrelated emotional outcomes, and feelings towards other people at work. This would suggest that Mindfulness practice helps with a more conscious awareness and appreciation of emotions at work relating to self-view but also with respect to engagements with the work and others in that context to arrive at beneficial emotional outcomes in an organizational context as indicated by the literature (Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Condon et al., 2013). Being mindful further showed to result in consciously experiencing a set of particular behavioral experiences in line with the findings of Neff and Germer (2013) on self-compassion, the work of Vago and Silbersweig (2012) with regards to self-inspection, the study of Coo and Salanova (2018) on performance and the results of Gunasekara and Zheng (2019) on engagements in work relationships. The experiences around self-initiative point clearly at the notion that Mindfulness practice triggers initiative taking that is highly desired in the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace (Van Laar et al., 2017; Totterdill, 2015).

In both instances of emotive and behavioral experiences, the practice of Mindfulness allowed, through heightened awareness, a conscious realization and embracement of emotive and behavioral aspects of oneself at work be it at a personal level or with others. The power of Mindfulness to awaken such a conscious awareness for intra-personal experiences of one as a person and as a professional but also of one's environment and others, strokes with the Mindfulness literature around on the one hand self-awareness (Bishop et al., 2004; Rocco et al., 2012; Vago and Silbersweig, 2012) and on the other hand acceptance of self, others and circumstances (Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Jimenez et al., 2010). The overwhelmingly positive reporting and appraisal of such experiences further suggests the benefits that Mindfulness holds when practiced at work towards positive dispositions that individuals hold at work, which again supports the large body of literature on the subject (Passmore, 2019; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017; Good et al., 2016).

### 5.2.1 Experiences with Respect to Self-Leadership Strategies

With respect to Self-Leadership, the findings of the unit Experiences show clear indications that Mindfulness practice awakens the engagement in Self-Leadership strategies, which to the knowledge of the researcher are novel findings in context of Self-Leadership for non-managerial employees. Even though some of the underpinning structural findings can be tied to existing literature, the manner in which the results have arisen in a context of the lived experience of non-managerial employees and their engagement in Self-Leadership strategies are new to the body of literature.

The fact that Mindfulness was attributed to highlighting positive emotions and behaviors, indicates that its practice supports firstly the development of Natural Reward Self-Leadership strategies. Indeed, the interviewees reported consciously experiencing inherently enjoyable features of their jobs (e.g. relationships, being organized, process, learning, activity) whereby they also recognized to be experiencing positive foci thereof such as being supportive to others and a sense of self-worth. This shows that by practicing Mindfulness at work, individuals become more aware of positive aspects inherent in or related to their jobs, but equally give more attention to those, which according to Neck and Houghton (2006) are fundamental to Natural Reward Self-Leadership strategies. This further confirms the exploratory contention made by Furtner et al. (2013, 2018) that Mindfulness would hold power to tap into motivators that are of a more intrinsic nature. Overall it can be said that this in the least suggests an internal step towards a more self-lead and selfdirected dispositions around operating in an organization since it would potentially spur a shift away from external directives on the Self-Leadership continuum (Stewart et al., 2011).

The findings in the unit Experiences also show that Mindfulness practice is tied to Constructive Self-thought Self-Leadership strategies. Firstly, non-judgmental acceptance, inherent to being mindful (Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Jimenez et al., 2010) can clearly be linked to the positive thought patterns reported by interviewees about the self (e.g., self-liking and personal abilities), the self at work (e.g. purpose, ownership and renewed perspective on challenges) and others at work (e.g. empathy and perspective taking). Secondly, the practices of self-scanning and mindful breathing were found to induce self-talk (self-calming, confirming completion and affirming positive emotions), where self-reflection can be tied to reported experiences of self-talk such as constructive questioning and confirming ability. Positive thoughts and self-talk with respect to the self, align with the contentions of Ford (2019) around Mindfulness and self-esteem. With respect to the self at work, the findings are in line with the works around self-acceptance (Carson and Langer, 2006; Jimenez et al., 2010) and the Fast et al.'s (2014) study on adaptive coping styles whereas, for perspectives towards others at work, clear alignment can be found with the works of Condon et al. (2013) on perspective taking and Ding et al. (2015) on renewed perspective in a present context. This all shows clearly that the reported experiences from the participants as a result of Mindfulness practice tie in with the notions of Constructive Self-thought patterns as presented by Neck and Houghton (2006).

The ability of Mindfulness practice to induce Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategies was also evident from reported findings. This is firstly confirmed by experiences of self-observed heightened awareness of and attention to behaviorally guiding notions that concern the personal (emotional state, personal comfort, physical care) and the professional (image, learning, work tasks, initiative taking, being organized and objectivity in decision making). This fully aligns with studies that confirm self-awareness to be a fundamental outcome of Mindfulness practice (Vago and Silbersweig, 2012; Kuan, 2012). The Mindfulness practice indeed triggered conscious understanding by participants in the study of various aspects of personal and professional value and this resulted in particular actions (e.g. engagement, involvement, self-directed learning, going the extra mile, better communication, more focus) in line with this conscious understanding. Secondly, mindfulness led to experiences of self-goal setting in an operational work context (e.g. work tasks), in an upskilling context (e.g. improving communication ability, general professional development) and in a professional growth context (e.g., career progression, leadership). This shows that Mindfulness did indeed result in the practitioners starting to take charge of their own destiny, which aligns with clear Behavior-focused self-directedness through self-goal setting for short term and longer term achievement (Neck and Houghton, 2006), a desired composure in today's work context (Donald et al., 2017; Ryan, 2016; Jensen et al., 2018; Galabova and Mckie,

2013). Thirdly, Mindfulness was found to induce self-reward experiences (personal treats and kindnesses, breaks and social engagements) and reduce self-punishment. This strokes with the findings in Mindfulness studies around self-compassion (e.g., Felton et al., 2015) and positive affect for the self (e.g., Malinoswki and Lim, 2015) and shows that Mindfulness indeed supports individuals in choosing to reward themselves based on personal achievements, but equally reducing negative self-judgements in situations of failure or shortcoming. Finally, Mindfulness was found to lead to experiences of self-cueing towards goal attainment as a result of primarily a heightened awareness of the work process but also emotional triggers, reminders and appreciation of good behaviors in others. This shows that being mindful at work helps individuals to be more attuned to their work environment and consciously operate based on cues thereof while equally creating support systems for better general operation at work.

Given the abundant evidence presented for each of the three Self-Leadership strategies, it can be concluded that Mindfulness practice has ample ability to stimulate experiences of Self-Leadership in non-managerial employees, which suggests that through Mindfulness practice one can be enabled to start operating in a more self-led manner.

# 5.3 Mindfulness as a Potential Change Inducer

As much as the previous section indicates that Mindfulness practice clearly results in various positive experiences with respect to the self, the self at work and others at work as well as experiences that are Self-Leadership related, the findings reported in the Experiences unit, can only be considered as temporal experiences rather than evidence of sustained changes in composure. To further advance this, a discussion that combines findings from the unit Dysfunctional Composures prior to Mindfulness with findings reported in the Change unit progresses the appraisal of Mindfulness practice's potential in the context of this study to suggest an impact that is more sustained. The prior dysfunctional composures are used as a starting point to then indicate how various experienced changed emotive and behavioral composures have shown to or hold potential to advance the individuals to a desired state in a selfled manner.

The dysfunctional composures prior to Mindfulness practice that emerged from the interviews were divided in emotive and behavioral composures concerning the self and others. The findings around Change cover personal changes, changes of the individual at work and changes with respect to others at work whereby these changes concerned both emotive as well as behavioral notions. This shows once again the breadth of the type of change Mindfulness practice can bring forward, which further lines up with the contention of Good et al (2016) of the foundational notion of Mindfulness within organizational science suggesting it can bring profound change that covers both emotional and behavioral aspects and equally intra-personal and inter-personal composure shifts. As an overarching theoretical link of the below discussion, it is worthwhile to note that the findings of this study show that as a result of Mindfulness practice the participants started operating towards a desired state which ties in with Carver and Scheier's (1981, 1998) Self-Regulation theory as one of the foundation theories that underpin Self-Leadership. As Neck and Hougthon (2006) contended that, even though naturally self-regulating, individuals are innately ineffective at it, Mindfulness will be shown to have an enhancing effect on engaging in self-led actions that increase the effectiveness of self-regulation.

### 5.3.1 Change with respect to Dysfunctional Emotional Composures

This section will discuss the potential of Mindfulness practice to enable a selfdirected shift towards more positive emotions with respect to inward (the self) and outward (others and situations) directed emotions.

5.3.1.1 Emotions of the self. At a personal general emotional state level, Mindfulness allowed for a change of negative emotional states (general negative emotions, over emotional composure and boredom) towards substantial more positive emotional states as a result of enhanced emotional control and self-control. The emotional control and self-control change is unsurprising when considering the large body of literature on the topic (e.g. Long and Christian, 2015; Roche et al., 2014; Hülsheger et al., 2013) who reported on self-regulation of emotions as a result of Mindfulness. The more positive emotional states suggest the conscious replacement of prior negative notions around the self with more positive ones shows a level of constructive personal management skills as desired by the work place (Ontario Public Service, 2016). The replacing of and larger focus on positive emotional states is direct evidence of engagement in a Natural Reward Self-leadership strategy.

Even though no direct mentioning was made of job dissatisfaction as a prior dysfunctional emotional state, the prior state of boredom (which can be argued as a proxy for job dissatisfaction) can be expected to be offset by the findings of a substantial change with respect to job satisfaction as a result of Mindfulness, which is in line with the work of Hülsheger et al. (2015). The emergence of increased job satisfaction and its intrinsic motivational power can be argued to show a potential shift on the continuum of external management to Self-Leadership, whereby in the latter intrinsic factors play a key role (Stewart et al., 2011). Notions of substantial change in involvement in and engagement with the job and job tasks as a result of Mindfulness practice, echoed in the studies of Petchsawang and McLean (2017), Leroy et al. (2013) and Tuckey et al. (2018), would also suggest a reduction in boredom by simply being more occupied. Farrugia and Sager (2017) further point at interest in engagement by workers to be an expected work composure in today's work place. Yu et al. (2015) and Breevaart et al. (2014) noted increased work engagement linked to people becoming more self-directed at work.

With respect to prior emotions towards oneself, which primarily revolved around low self-worth, Mindfulness practice introduced change towards increased self-worth, not unlike the findings of the work done by Ford (2019) on Mindfulness and self-esteem. This experienced increase in self-worth can first be explained by the reported heightened awareness of one's professional capacity and positively changed confidence whereby Mindfulness practice would make one more cognizant of one's abilities. This realization would be assumed to have an empowering effect on the individual whereby empowerment is noted by Knight (2017) as a key trigger for becoming self-led. Increased self-worth could also be dubbed a result of a change in output quality due to Mindfulness induced enhanced focus in the form of attention to detail and alertness, which is in line with scholarly works on increased attention as a result of Mindfulness such as Smallwood and Schooler (2015) and Testa and Sangganjanavanich (2016). Hereby a person would perceive their personal worth at work to be higher due to consciously realizing and seeing evidence of being able to produce better quality output. Another finding that may lead to increased self-worth is the noted change in self-compassion whereby Mindfulness has resulted in increased valuing of the self. Self-compassion to change emotional states as a result of Mindfulness is in line with the work of Neff and Germer (2013) who found being mindful as beneficial to revert negative emotional states into positive ones by a sense of emotional kindness for the self.

The Mindfulness induced changed emotive composures with respect to the self, indeed show an engagement in various sub elements of all three Self-Leadership strategies. With respect to Natural rewards, the above discussion shows a larger focus on positive emotional states as a result of emotional control and selfcontrol but equally the drawing of intrinsic motivation from doing something and doing a better job. Engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns is evident from the identification of negative emotions and replacing those with positive ones in general, but with particular attention to a shift away from low self-worth. Additionally, self-compassion shows a changed habitual thinking pattern that Mindfulness induced in a self-directed manner. Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategies were further evident from first and foremost self-observance of emotions, professional ability and output quality but equally the realization through introspectiveness of the negative effect of boredom whereby the participants started wanting to engage in work tasks.

**5.3.1.2 Outward Directed Emotions.** The prior dysfunctional outward emotions concern emotions towards others in the form of feeling heavily dependent, isolated and envious but also emotions towards one's environment in the form of resistance to change and resilience.

With respect to dependence, a variety of Change unit notions would suggest Mindfulness to bring solace in this regard. Reported changes of a selfinitiating nature would suggest an answer to the realized dysfunctionality of dependency on others whereby increased independence was noted as primarily experienced as a result of Mindfulness practice. This can be logically squared with the positive experiences of taking initiative that came out of the findings. This changed notion around having become more independent is a fundamental finding with respect to Mindfulness impacting Self-Leadership by inducing self-directedness. Equally, the changed sense of professional capacity, confidence in one's ability and having realized purposefulness in work can be assumed to shift one towards being more independent whereby realization of personal ability and personal assurance thereof combined with meaningful intent of one's job, would be expected to have a positive impact on becoming more reliant on oneself rather than on others (Müller and Niessen, 2019). This echoes the work of Glomb et al. (2011) on self-determination as a result of Mindfulness, and the work of Ford (2019) on self-esteem. Purposefulness, in particular, links clearly to the process view on Self-Leadership (Neck et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2017) with regards to the 'why' of doing something. In this regard it can be argued that there was engagement in Behavior-focused strategies by increased self-awareness through self-observation which then influenced behavior towards becoming less dependent. Equally the of having a stronger perception of being in control of the task due to the realization of one's ability and the resulting confidence would suggest engagement in Natural Reward strategy. The changed notion around purposefulness of the job certainly reflects engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns reflecting habitual positive thinking. Proactivity and a changed tendency to engage in problem solving as a result of Mindfulness practice, echoed by Ostafin and Kassman (2012) and Ding et al. (2015), can also be pointed at to provide an explanation towards a sense of independence since through Mindfulness the individual is more personally attentive and responsive to current or foreseeable issues. This would not only suggest the engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns whereby one engages in habitual thinking towards improved performance, but equally a Natural Reward strategy whereby one clearly feels to have stronger control over a task at hand. Proactive problem solving could also be categorized as an example of Behavior-focused self-leadership by means of considering a sense of self-cueing as an encouragement of desirable behavior towards a desirable outcome. Finally, the reported change around ownership, a desired expectation by managers (Ryan, 2016), can also be assumed to reduce dependence on others, whereby being Mindfulness gives the individual a sense of taking charge of their work rather than being directed by others in line with the contention by Stewart et al. (2019) that taking control over one's tasks is a fundamental component of becoming more self-led. The change with respect to ownership would suggest engagement in a Natural Reward strategy by drawing intrinsic motivation from the job but equally shows Behavior-focused

engagement by setting personal authenticity as a goal within the manner how the job is done. Considering all the above, the changed experience from dependence to increased independence would allow to suggest that Mindfulness practice indeed provides a strong impetus to self-directness and Self-Leadership.

The finding of a dampening of the realized dysfunctional emotional composure of feeling isolated since Mindfulness practice can be logically linked to higher self-initiated involvement and engagement in work, and also to multiple notions around improved relationships and changed frames of reference in this regard. Firstly, the finding that Mindfulness practice results in higher work involvement and engagement is in line with the literature in this regard (Tuckey et al., 2018; Petchsawang and McLean, 2017; Depenbrock, 2014; Leroy et al., 2013). Choosing to be more involved and engaged in work, a clear example of the Behavior-focused strategy of self-cueing, would intuitively suggest a self-led action towards reducing isolation as a result of more interaction with people. Ghino and Staats (2015) and Van Laar et al. (2017) indeed pointed at involvement and engagement in work to be highly desirable composures in today's workplace with a particular highlight that such involvement and engagement should not be expected to be driven by managerial direction, instead be self-led. Higher engagement and involvement can indeed be seen as operating a discrepancy reducing behavior in line with the Self-Leadership process (Manz, 1986) and the underpinning theory of Self-Regulation (Carver and Scheier, 1981, 1998). The works of Yu et al. (2015) and Breevaart et al. (2014) indicated a clear relationship between work engagement and Self-Leadership. Secondly, Mindfulness was furthermore found to result in better interactions with others, in line with the findings of studies on increased positive and decreased negative relationships as a result of Mindfulness (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015; Reb et al., 2014) but also findings around increased socializing (Beauchemin et al., 2008), better teamwork and enhanced cohesion (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015). Such experiences and results of Mindfulness practice at work align with the desired work composures of teamwork and collaboration (Van Laar et al., 2017) and loyalty (Kanfer et al., 2017). The self-discovered joyful experience that was reported around better interactions with others would logically be expected to further drive a person out of isolation at work. This ties in directly with the focus on and drawing of

positivity from job related aspects through the Natural Rewards strategy towards regulating one's emotional and behavioral composure towards a desired state but also indicated the self-cueing Behavior-focused strategy towards better interactions with others. Van Laar et al. (2017) further clearly points at the expectation of the contemporary work place for its workers to bring a clear aptitude and positive disposition towards working with others to the work environment, rather than needing direction or extrinsic rewards to engage in such behaviors. This reflects indeed a shift on the Self-Leadership spectrum whereby intrinsic motivators become more prevalent in guiding behavior. The reported changed sense of team spirit in this study, in line with the effect of team cohesion as a result of Mindfulness (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015), a further evolved stage of better relationships or interactions at work, should also be noted in its potential to revert a feeling of isolation in people at work. Furthermore, higher awareness of one's surroundings and the people therein, induced by Mindfulness, can equally be expected to generate a connection that, if experienced as positive, would induce more engagement with people and thereby reduce isolation. Positive notions around such connection can be found in the reported experiences by the participants of improved trust and increased support in relationships at work, in line with the work of Fast et al. (2014), which would suggest to be a positive impetus to address the dysfunctional composure of isolation. Finally, the fact that Mindfulness changed the frame of reference in people, echoed by Mindfulness studies on renewed perspectives (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014), through a stronger sense of how the system of the organization works, supported by an increased understanding of one's role in the organization, would also be expected to adversely affect isolation at work. The enhanced insight in one's place in the organization shows certainly a link with expectations of self-direction of today's workplace with respect to what Gino and Staats (2015) refer to as brining the genuine self to work. This suggests engagement in a Behavior-focused strategy through selfobservance. A systems-view of work and awareness of how one fits within the organization, would lead to the recognition of the interdependent nature of people, functions and departments in the organization, therefore triggering a sense of connection therewith. The notion of self-awareness and awareness of one's surroundings in this context are highlighted by the literature as highly desired in

contemporary work settings (Farrugia and Sager, 2017; Gino and Staats, 2015; Ryan, 2016) with a particular link to the need for enhanced personal meaning of the individual in a work context (Berg et al., 2010).

Envy was felt to be reduced and even abandoned as a result of Mindfulness practice, which fits in the findings of studies that show Mindfulness to reduce reactions to injustice (Long and Christian, 2015) and allow for adaptive coping styles (Hallman et al., 2014; Ocasio, 2011). This change can be explained by one of the central notions to Mindfulness of non-judgment and acceptance (Grégoire and Lachance, 2014; Rocco et al., 2012; Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Jimenez et al., 2010). It can however also be attributed to the reported changed experience in perspective taking and experiences of contentment with what one has, which is in line with the works that contend Mindfulness to lead to renewed perspectives (e.g. Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014; Felton et al., 2015). In this regard, it is clear that Mindfulness practice has allowed to shift habitual thinking through a combination of all three Self-Leadership strategies whereby through shifting focus away from negatives towards positives, habitual thinking is broken and replaced by constructive thinking that guides behavior towards personal goal attainment.

A final set of dysfunctional emotional composures prior to Mindfulness practice concerned outward directed emotional composures of resistance to change and low resilience. Mindfulness practice was found to have substantial potential to address resistance to change as the findings revealed a shift in this composure towards embracing change, whereby comfort with and adaptability to change and ambiguity are noted as desired self-directed composures for today's workplace (Van Laar et al., 2017; Farrugia and Sager, 2017; Ghino and Staats, 2015). Firstly, an initial explanation to this may be found in the simple fact that many participants practiced routine breakers as part of their Mindfulness practice, which leads to introducing change in a self-led manner, thereby, given that this leads to positive experiences, lowering the threshold to positively dealing with change that is not self-led. The overwhelming positive experiences outlined in the findings section would suggest that this assumption would hold up in the context of this study. This is a clear example of how the participants engage in the Behavior-focused Self-Leadership strategy of change directed goal setting through their Mindfulness practice. This further aligns with the Mindfulness studies done on adaptive coping styles by, for instance, Hallman et al. (2014) and Ocasio (2011) who found that Mindfulness helps individuals to find ways to deal with changes in their personal and work environment. Secondly, a Mindfulness outcome that may be attributed to the observed shift away from resistance to change is the generally more positive emotional state that people reported to experience at work, thus experiencing the realities of their surroundings in a more agreeable manner, not unlike the findings of studies that indicated Mindfulness to lead to greater acceptance of one's situations and circumstances (Jimenez et al., 2010). This, alongside the inherent Mindfulness notion of enhanced non-judgmental acceptance experiences, would suggest more openness to change or at least not experiencing negative emotions towards it. In this regard, it is clear that the strategy of Constructive Self-thought patterns is being deployed by means of individuals engaging in more positive habitual thinking and the Natural Rewards strategy, whereby a focus is shifted from elements that used to be considered as negative towards positive experiences. Thirdly, a clear change in positive attitude assumed at work would equally be considered to be conducive to a positive stance towards change. The change in positive attitude finds credence in the findings of Bishop et al. (2004) that contend enhanced curiosity to be inherently tied to Mindfulness along-side with the inducing of positivity and optimism as a result of Mindfulness (Desbordes et al., 2012; Malinowski and Lim, 2015). With attitude being a directed emotion, a positive attitude can be expected to affirm a shift away from change aversity towards change embracing, which can be seen as preliminary meeting the expectations of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace stated by Gino and Staats (2015) around experimentation with change and the notions of Farrugia and Sager (2017) around interest in engaging with new realities and comfort with ambiguity. The emergence of positive attitude would indeed indicate the engagement in a positive focus on the job suggesting a better sense of control (i.e. Natural Rewards strategy) alongside a constructive mindset towards improved efficacy perceptions (i.e. Constructive Self-thought strategy). Finally, the expressed changes with respect to a positive forward perspective as expressed by the joy of learning and the actively seeking out of opportunities to improve oneself, would also suggest a positive stance towards changes that may come to pass in the workplace. These self-initiated positive

perspectives are in line with desirable self-led mindsets desired in the workplace (Donald et al., 2017; Ryan, 2016). As learning is a change of the self, the notion of joy around such experience can be expected to provide a positive perspective towards how one sees changes in their environment. The positive appreciation of learning on the job is on the one hand a prime example of engagement in the Natural Rewards strategy through identifying and focusing on learning as an inherently enjoyable part of the job furthermore arguably leading to increased perception of control over the work tasks. This can also be categorized in the self-led strategy of Constructive Selfthought patterns whereby habitual positive thinking around learning would suggest a pathway to improved efficacy perceptions (Stewart et al., 2011). The active, self-led seeking out of professional development opportunities can be seen as an amplification of the appreciation of learning on the job and therefore providing even more ground to suggest it as an indication of a larger disposition of embracing change in a self-led manner. Hereby, the reported lived experience did not only reflect enjoying the notion of personal and/or professional growth, but also consciously seeking out change as per self-set goals through. This can be directly tied to the Behavior-focused strategy in the sense that the reported experience shows encouragement of positive behaviors towards positive outcomes driven by self-set goals that are change directed (Manz and Neck, 2004) but also a sense of pursuit of personal authenticity (Manz, 2015) whereby participants reported aspirations to realize their own potential.

The prior dysfunctional composure of low resilience can be found to have been countered by Mindfulness practice when considering the findings of changes with respect to confidence, ownership, commitment and motivation. This aligns with the findings of the Mindfulness studies by Colgan et al. (2019), Kotzé (2018), Glomb et al. (2011) and Fast et al. (2014) that reported enhanced ability to face and deal with adversity, and further extends the literature on ownership in context of Mindfulness practice beyond students (Wang and Liu, 2016; Tadlock-Marlo, 2011) or general life (Carson and Langer, 2006). Fullan and Scott (2014) furthermore highlighted tenacity and resilience as key required competencies expected in the workplace today. Firstly, the experienced change in confidence as a result of Mindfulness practice is an obvious and logical indicator of increased resilience. Interviewees expressed increased confidence specifically in professional capacity, which would suggest enhanced resilience by means of being more secure in the knowledge that one can do the job and deal with job specific obstacles, which aligns well with the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace expectation of self-reliance stated by Gino and Staats (2015). This further shows enhanced perceptions of control over the job within the Natural Rewards Self-Leadership strategy but equally reflects engagement in Constructive Self-thought strategies through improved efficacy perceptions for higher performance. Secondly, increased ownership and commitment would suggest that individuals would feel more personally invested in their work and therefore be less likely to give up. The literature clearly points at on the one hand ownership and commitment to be a highly desired trait for the contemporary workplace (Ryan, 2016; Totterdill, 2015) yet equally reports on its link with self-directedness at work (Stewart et al., 2011; Kirkman and Shapiro, 2001). King and Zaino (2015) further point at the fostering of ownership around work tasks and the job itself as pivotal to the notion of Self-Leadership. Both notions point at engagement in Natural Reward strategy by means of drawing intrinsic motivation from carrying out the job but equally the activation of a more authentic self with respect to the job which is a Behavior-focused strategy and the engagement of a positive internal dialogue contrary to prior habitual thinking (Constructive Self-thought strategy). Thirdly, improved motivation and experienced self-motivation, the latter noted as a fundamental aspect within Self-Determination theory (Deci and Ryan, 1987) and highly enabling of Self-Leadership (Kanfer et al., 2017), would suggest to induce a stronger drive towards achievement and therefore managing setbacks or obstacles better. Unsurprising, the literature reports self-motivation (Wahl et al., 2012; Windsor et al., 2012) as well as selfreliance (Gino and Staats, 2015) as much desired attributes in the 21<sup>st</sup> century workplace. The finding of increased motivation is in contrast with the contention by Hafenbrack (2017) that Mindfulness would lead to reduced motivation to achieve goals. The experienced improved motivation and particularly self-motivation would suggest a self-led change in composure through the Natural Rewards strategy towards self-confidence and self-determination as well as an engagement in Constructive Selfthought patters towards improved efficacy perceptions (Stewart et al., 2011). Fourthly, the finding of having experienced stressors to become sources of positive challenge as a result of Mindfulness practice equally suggests increased resilience as a result of renewed perspective with respect to how one sees stressing circumstances. The ability to recognize triggers of stressful emotions through heightened awareness and the reported improved ability to change this perspective in a motivating one, can certainly be seen as the Natural Rewards strategy of refocusing away from negatives towards positives. This also fits with the abundant evidence of Mindfulness practice to reduce stress (e.g. Grégoire and Lachance, 2014) whereby Houghton et al. (2012) point at stress coping efficacy to be central to Self-Leadership. This equally points at the activation of a change in habitual thinking that is positive as a Constructive Self-thought strategy compared to a previous habitual thinking that was negative.

5.3.1.3 Concluding statement on Self-Leadership Strategies for Dysfunctional Emotional Composures. Engagement in Natural Rewards strategies revealed itself first of all through the recognition of intrinsically motivating aspects in the job such as learning, enjoyable interactions with others, ownership and commitment which all built towards being more self-determined. A second Natural Reward strategy concerned a clear shift in focus on the positive aspects of the job. Finally, various examples emerged of a better sense of control reflected in increased confidence in one's abilities, proactivity, ownership and positive attitude towards work.

Constructive Self-thought patterns were primarily seen under the form of changed habitual thinking towards positive thought patterns with respect to change, independence, envy and previous stressors. Herein particularly shifts with respect to purposefulness, proactivity and perspective taking play a strong role. There is also a clear emergence of improved perceptions of efficacy as a result of being more confident, thinking proactively and a positive mindset towards learning.

With respect to engagement in Behavior-focused strategies, first of all, there is a clear engagement in self-observance resulting in raised self-awareness and the better sense of one's role in the wider system. Secondly the engagement in self-cueing came out through increased engagement and involvement towards selfdriven routine breaking and productivity but also towards better interactions with others. Lastly, the notion of feeling one's authentic self at work in the form of commitment and ownership alongside setting personal goals for oneself in a learning context also emerged as Behavior-focused strategies.

### 5.3.2 Change with Respect to Dysfunctional Behavioral Composures

This section will discuss the potential of Mindfulness practice to enable a selfdirected shift towards more positive behaviors in context of three groups of behavioral dysfunctional composures prior to Mindfulness practice, which were categorized as general action, deviant behaviors and decision making.

**5.3.2.1 General action.** The most common general dysfunctional behaviors that were identified prior to Mindfulness practice were operating in autopilot, deploying generic quick fixes to issues at work, approaching relationships at work in a purely functional manner, being disorganized and operating in a blindly compliant manner without giving thought to the realities of situations and people.

The way Mindfulness practice can address autopilot behavior aligns with previous studies done on general higher awareness of one's operating (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016), breaking habitual thinking (Wadlinger and Isaacowitz, 2011; Fast et al., 2014) and cognitive flexibility (Roeser et al., 2013; Gard et al., 2014; Zenner et al., 2014). Indeed, the findings suggest that Mindfulness practice is able to break the pattern of autopilot behavior by first and foremost heightening awareness of one's required work tasks and the way one goes about executing these tasks. This echoes the contention by Meritu and Rothbard (2012) that being mindful supports better clarity and understanding of instruction. Van Laar et al. (2017) highlights self-monitoring as a key expected composure of workers in today's work context where Farrugia and Sager (2017) also point at the need for selfawareness. The notion of self-monitoring directly connects with the social cognitive theory as one of the fundaments of Self-Leadership (Bandura, 1991). Of particular value here is the finding that the interviewees reported to be more involved and engaged at work as a result of being mindful at work whereby suggesting a more conscious engagement with the tasks within their job, which confirms findings of other studies in this regard (Tuckey et al., 2018; Petchsawang and McLean, 2017; Leroy et al., 2013) and indeed suggesting abandonment of the atuopilot composure for more conscious engagement in the task at hand. This enhanced engagement and inolvement can be interpreted as a result of a Behavior-focused strategy in line with reported alertness and focus (e.g. Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Smallwood and Schooler, 2015) whereby the participants indeed managed their own behavior

towards desirable outcomes. The practices of self-scanning and routine breaking can also be tied to reduction of autopilot as a result of experiencing and evaluating one's behaviors or new behaviors more consciously, hence reducing the mode of doing without really thinking about what one is doing. Finally, the findings category of observance that specifically indicates enhanced experience of alertness, attention to detail, and changed critical thinking also suggests Mindfulness to result in the breaking of the autopilot mode whereby one is more attuned to and evaluative of the moment rather than just going through the motions. First and foremost, this confirms again the notion of conscious attention to the moment as a fundamental aspect of Mindfulness practice (Kuan, 2012), yet the former two observance aspects (i.e. alertness and attention to detail) are echoed by multiple scholarly works on Mindfulness (Teasdale et al., 2000; Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Schmertz et al., 2008; Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Smallwood and Schooler, 2015; Neubauer and Fink, 2009; Chambers et al., 2008; Helber et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2012; Ocasio, 2011) whereas the critical thinking theme finds much scarcer support in the literature (Noone et al., 2016), therefore making this a very pertinent findings of the study. Overall on the change in autopilot, the fact that the participants become more observant in the various ways that emerged, suggests an internal shift of focus on work related aspects in support of behavioral management towards the attainment of a positive outcome, which shows an intertwining of on the one hand a Natural Reward strategy (the shift in focus) and Behavior-focused self-directedness (behavioral management). The resulting breaking of habitual thinking indicates the activation of the Constructive Self-thought strategy.

Various experienced changes as a result of Mindfulness can be pointed at to potentially give head to the prior dysfunctional behavior of approaching job tasks generically rather than more on point. First and foremost, this study found that Mindfulness resulted in positive performance changes which is in line with some of the literature (Waddock and Lozano, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Dane, 2011). Following the statement by Passmore (2019) that "more work needs to be done to explore the relationship between Mindfulness and individual performance" (p 108) shows that this insight is significant towards advancing the body of knoweldge around Mindfulness in organizational science. The found performancerelated changes in this study concerned quality of output, effectivity at work and going the extra mile when required. Higher quality outputs would suggest abandonment of a satisficing perspective towards doing a task. The higher performance in this case can be attributed to self-directedness when referring to the previous discussion around enhanced self-worth and its impact on performance. The finding that self-directed behaviors lead to higher quality output is furthermore echoed by the work of Palvalin et al. (2017) but also by the work of Yu et al. (2015) and Breevaart et al. (2014) on the results of self-lead engagement. Higher effectivity at work simply indicates the tasks to be done better, whereby indeed Mindfulness practice has been reported to have such consequence, in line with some literature (e.g. Passmore, 2019; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Waddock and Lozano, 2012). The experienced change of going the extra mile equally suggests increased attention and care for a good result. Secondly, an enhanced view of holding a purposeful and supporting role in the organization, would also suggest that one would be more conscious and particular about the job tasks they do rather than just producing something that will generally pass. This sense of enhanced personal meaning with respect to their job is echoed by Berg et al. (2010) in a Self-Leadership context and links well with the 'why' one is doing something in the process view on Self-Leadership (Neck et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2017). In the same vein, positive changes in one's professional image can be assumed to lead to seeing one's job performance as a reflection thereof, hence generating impetus to operate on point. Both changes in self-view are supported by the literature on Mindfulness to inducing renewed perspective (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014) and positive affect and optimism (Desbordes et al., 2012; Malinowski and Lim, 2015). Thirdly, increased observance, in particular with respect to attention to detail, combined with higher levels of involvement, commitment and changed self-initiative around proactivity, critical thinking and problem solving can all be evaluated as giving cause to no longer approaching the job in a generic manner. It would be expected that such experienced changes would support executing one's task with more care and attention to the matter at hand and thinking more about various angles concerning the task to be done. Fourthly, the changed practice of perspective taking and empathy as a result of Mindfulness, in line with the works of Jones et al. (2019),

Silver et al. (2018), Testa and Sangganjanavanich (2016) and Condon et al. (2013), would further indicate that when one is doing a job, one would be more considerate of the problem at hand to produce a solution that is on target with the nature of the issue that is to be addressed. When combined with the reported change in ownership over one's work, this more careful evaluation of the context in which a work task or problem presents itself can be logically expected to give cause to no longer approach a job generically, but rather to take a personal interest in its outcome and therefore show more care to the job at hand. Such composures align very well with what the literature presents as the need for today's workers to bring their genuine professional self to work (Gino and Staats, 2015) and pursue personally committed to interests with respect to the job (Jensen et al., 2018; Ryan, 2016).

With respect to the above discussion on the observed shift from generic quick fix solutions to on point problem solving, the engagement of various Self-Leadership strategies can be highlighted. On the Natural Rewards strategy front, the refocus with respect to the professional self-view is a clear example of a pathway towards self-determination, whereby such view operates as a source of intrinsic motivation in the job context. This, but equally the sense of ownership, can further equally be linked to Constructive Self-thought patterns in the sense that positive habitual thinking is being assumed by one's own volition. In this regard, the notion of self-initiated proactive problem-solving thinking, critical thinking and commitment can also be pointed at as what is likely to concern a constructive internal dialogue whereby for the former one internally anticipates various scenarios through perspective taking whereas for the latter one would have a proverbial internal voice that would operate as a tenacity compass. Finally, the enhanced self-awareness around one's performance, role in the organization, and perspective taking are all examples of the Behavior-focused strategy of self-observance. Within this strategy the act of involvement and problem solving classifies indeed as behavioral management as a result of increased awareness of the self and one's context.

Interviewees reported to have moved away from perceiving relationships at work as purely functional and instead giving consideration to the human side of the relationship. This echoes the findings of Mindfulness studies around social connectedness (Cohen and Miller, 2009), teamwork and cohesion (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015) and socialization (Beauchemin et al., 2008). The reported experience of perspective taking at an interpersonal level can certainly be considered as explaining this whereby functions at work are no longer perceived as mere functional positions held, rather, consideration is also given to the people who hold a position. Changed experiences around empathy can be seen as an elevated level of such perspective taking, where people would not only be considering someone else's context, but additionally showing compassion towards them and their realities. In a similar vein, the changed view around being of support to others, and the personal experiences of joy around seeing others do well by guiding them and transferring knowledge to them would further indicate a shift away from purely functional interactions at work. The reported experience of valuing the active building of relationships was indeed found to be a driver to changed behavior in this regard, where more attention is given to fostering relationships with others rather than just engaging with them when necessary in a functional manner. Finally, the realized change of improved conflict resolution as a result of Mindfulness practice, in line with the works of Brady et al. (2012) and Hallman et al. (2014) on improved handling of difficult workplace interactions, can also be argued to contribute to people seeing beyond the mere functionalities of relationships at work through an enhanced ability to work out problems of a professional but equally personal nature. The competency of handling conflict in the workplace is further pointed at by Farrugia and Sager (2017) as one that is expected from the current workforce. The shift from a functional view of relationships towards giving consideration to the human aspect thereof, suggests engagement in primarily a Behavior-focused strategy whereby increased awareness of the one's context supports behavioral management towards more profound relationship perceptions and conflict resolution, but equally one can argue that perspective taking and empathy triggers a more habitual positive internal dialogue as part of the Constructive Self-thought strategy. The focus and drawing of positive perceptions from the supportive professional self-view is finally a clear example of engagement in Natural Rewards strategy.

The dysfunctional behavioral composure of being disorganized was reported to have changed as a result of Mindfulness practice by the findings of experienced change with respect to self-initiated organizational comfort, in line with the Mindfulness work of Metiu and Rothbard (2012) on activity coordination and the study of Richards et al. (2012) on self-care. The notion of veering towards a more organized manner of working supports the contention of Stewart et al. (2019) that humans have an innate tendency to self-direct, driven by a need to control their environment and is directly linked to self-regulation theory of Carver and Scheier (1981, 1998) as a foundation of Self-Leadership. A clear link is also to be drawn here with the process view on Self-Leadership (Neck et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2017) in particular with respect to the individual taking charge of 'how' the task is to be done. Totterdill (2015) further points at self-organization as a key attribute that organizations seek for in an employee. Being mindful produced conscious awareness of discomfort due to being disorganized, leading to conscious choices to improve general planning and organization of work tasks in order to improve one's personal and professional wellbeing, a clear example of engagement in Behavior-focused Self-Leadership. The experienced appreciation of process-matic working as well as experiences with respect to personal comfort at work can indicate the triggering of the realization of benefits around being organized. This can logically be linked to the Natural Rewards strategy of refocusing on positives within the job in order to arrive at a better capacity to be successful. Changes in self-compassion would further suggest the individual to actively pursue being more organized due to its personal comfort benefits. Reported increased self-control alongside an enhanced disposition of proactivity as a result of Mindfulness practice would further suggest one having the capacity to operate more efficiently and thus reducing disorganization. Selfcompassion, self-control and proactivity can each be placed in the realm of Constructive Self-thought patterns whereby one can be expected to engage in a constructive internal conversation that induces habitual thinking for improved efficacy through internally confirming the value of being more organized.

A final identified dysfunctional behavioral composure with regards to general actions at work was blind compliance. Previous studies that suggested Mindfulness practice to result in changing this, would primarily concern renewed perspective to provide a new outlook (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014), self-determination (Glomb et al., 2011) and performance (Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Waddock and Lozano, 2012). With respect to the SelfLeadership, this would primarily link with the 'why' in the process view of the construct (Neck et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2017). Van Laar et al. (2017), Donald et al. (2017) and Totterdill (2015) all clearly point at the notion that appropriate initiative taking is highly valued in employees, whereby Farrugia and Sager (2017) also highlight the importance of the ability to operate in uncertain environments through flexibility and adaptability. Reported findings as a result of Mindfulness practice in this study that would suggest a shift away from blind compliance would, on the one hand, be experiences of self-control and ownership and, on the other hand, also the changed notions of self-initiative with respect to proactivity, problem solving and critical thinking alongside an improved commitment disposition. The experience of self-control and ownership would suggest the individual not feeling ruled by the system and therefore becoming conscious of having control over operating within the system and its processes and procedures. This would suggest engagement in Natural Rewards strategy by means of a perception of greater control over the activity in context. Increased critical thinking can be expected to result in assuming a more conscious evaluative stance towards existing processes and thereby potentially challenging existing processes and procedures as a result of either issues that may arise or potentially alternative ways of doing things more effectively or efficiently. Greater awareness of what one is dealing with in search towards a positive outcome shows engagement in Behavior-focused Self-Leadership. Experienced change around self-initiated proactivity is a forward-thinking behavior whereby one would be cognizant of potential issues arising out of blindly following protocol. Increased engagement in proactive problem solving would indicate one more actively searching for ways to resolve issues that may arise for individuals or oneself as a result of current organizational processes. The notion of experienced change around innovation, even though minor in occurrence, would also indicate a change in blind compliance, whereby innovative action at work would suggest conscious alternative addressing of work tasks or issues. This suggests engagement in Constructive Selfthough through more habitual positive thinking around proactive and even innovative problem solving, but equally the deployment of a Behavior-focused strategy whereby one is indeed actively searching to avoid negative outcomes. The notion of innovation would also suggest engagement in a Natural Reward strategy by means of finding

motivation out of and towards trying things in a different manner and indeed having the perception of being in control of such a stance. Finally, two changed experiences as a result of Mindfulness practice that could indicate a shift away from blind compliance are interpersonal perspective taking and empathy. In both cases the situational context of others may lead to awareness of conflict with respect to blindly following regulations and by being empathic towards this, one would be less likely to blindly follow protocol. Both perspective-taking and empathy are intuitively linked to a constructive internal dialogue in search for desirable behaviors towards a positive outcome, showing a combination of Constructive Self-thought and Behavior-focused strategies. Experienced results of mindfulness that may, however, lead to dampening a change in compliance can be noted as more objectivity, enhanced systemic awareness of the organization and increased realism. Objectivity suggests one would consider the rules and processes to supersede situational factors. Conscious consideration of the larger system in which one operates and increased realism around ones working context and surroundings could be expected to lead to a perception of inevitability of the current rules and procedures. These experiences could then be rationalized by the perspective that rules and procedures are ultimately necessary to keep the total system operational, therefore remaining compliant even if that is at the expense of new ideas or even people's comforts. In this case, it would be argued that the same combination of Constructive Self-thought and Behavior-focused strategies play, whereby indeed the individual engages in an internal dialogue around what is happening against one's value system to then let the pursuit of positive or the avoidance of negative outcomes guide their consequent behavior.

**5.3.2.2 Deviant Behaviors.** Deviant Behaviors was a specific category that emerged within the dysfunctional behavioral composures identified prior to Mindfulness practice in the findings, showing generally two types of behaviors. On the one hand, interviewees noted to engage in conscious deceptive behavior towards others at work in order to mask their genuine disposition, intent or actual behavior with the objective of appearing to meet professional expectations. On the other hand, condescending behaviors were also noted whereby people operated driven by inferiority judgement of others based on personal and professional attributes such as age, gender or experience. In line with the work of Reb et al. (2014), which indicates

that Mindfulness practice leads to reduced deviance at work, this study found various indications that Mindfulness would possibly bring solace to the noted deviances.

The prior conscious masking behavior was not specifically expressed as a changed behavior, however, there are a series of experiences and noted emotional and behavioral changes as a result of Mindfulness that suggest addressing this form of deviance. On the emotional side, it can be argued that experiences around positive changed acknowledgment of self-worth, improved professional ability, confidence and ownership would suggest to reduce the likeliness to engage in deceptive behaviors because one would feel more at ease with the realities of themselves at work. The overall enhanced self-awareness in this regard that guides behavioral change shows engagement in Behavior-focused Self-Leadership through observance and self-cueing. Refocusing on positive with regards to the self as well as experiencing perceptions of control over one's job or task at hand clearly point at the Natural Reward strategy. Equally it can be argued that such a thought shift would suggest more habitual positive thinking towards improved efficacy perceptions which indicates the engagement in Constructive Though patterns. Furthermore, a positive experience around one's view of their professional role at work and increased awareness of the larger system in which one operates combined with a positive attitude towards work, the enhanced experience of job satisfaction and improved commitment to work would equally be expected to result in a state of mind that would lead to abandoning the need to mask one's intentions because such experienced disposition towards work and emotional outcomes of work are in line with what would be expected from a good colleague or subordinate. With respect to this, on the one hand, the engagement in Constructive Self-thought through positive internal dialogue as well as, on the other hand, drawing intrinsic motivation from the job itself by focusing on the positives would allude to the deployment of the Natural Reward strategy. Increased involvement and engagement at work are behavioral aspects that would suggest to render deceptive rhetoric and actions to make one look busy and productive as unnecessary. In line with this, the experienced changes in quality of output, effectivity and productivity all provide an individual with plenty of evidence of their performance nature that would positively influence the way one is seen by others, again giving cause to no longer engage in pretense in this regard. Each of these can logically be tied to Behavior-focused Self-Leadership whereby one indeed selfcues behaviors as a result of prior self-realized positive behaviors that lead to positive outcomes. Finally, and arguably the change that pulls all the above together, is the experience of better relationships with others whereby increased honesty and respect, on the one hand, and enhanced trust, on the other hand, would both suggest to lead to a reduction or even abandonment of the engagement in the foresaid masking behavior. Here we see a notion of the desired composure of the genuine self at work coming to the foreground (Gino and Staats, 2015) and this can be tied to the pursuit of authenticity as a goal, which Manz (2015) highlights as a fundamental notion of Behavior-focused Self-Leadership.

A second deviant behavior that was identified as happening prior to Mindfulness practice was behaving in a condescending manner to others as a result of a sense of perceived superiority. This notion can be found to have been countered when considering a variety of experiences and experienced changes as a result of Mindfulness practice, in line with the findings of Krishnakumar and Robinson (2015) that indicated severe reduction in various forms of hostility at work. A changed heightened awareness of oneself and one's surroundings combined with greater sense of control, in particular with respect to emotions but also general self-control, can be argued to result, respectively, in having a better gauge over how one feels towards others and how one acts on those feelings. This ties in well with the general notion of expected ability to resolve conflict (Farrugia and Sager, 2017) whereby in this case particularly internal conflict is being resolved as a result of renewed perspective (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014) but equally as a result of acceptance of one's surroundings (Rocco et al., 2012; Jimenez et al., 2010) alongside arguably improved emotional intelligence (Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Condon et al., 2013) as a result of Mindfulness practice. The increased awareness of one self and one's surroundings is easily connected to the observance Behaviorfocused strategy towards a reduction of the deviant behavior and engagement in behaviors that aim for positive outcomes. The experience of joy around supporting and guiding others as a result of Mindfulness suggest feelings adverse to superiority and consequent actions based on those feelings. Changes with respect to relationships such as better interactions, relationship building, trust, respect and supportive

behaviors, would all suggest that Mindfulness practice can reduce and even eliminate the dysfunctional composure of condescending actions at work in line with the findings of Reb et al. (2014) on increased pro-social behavior and decreased deviance. Improved interactions and collaborative dispositions align well with the expectations of the workplace as outlined by Van Laar et al. (2017) on collaboration and teamwork but also by what Farrugia and Sager (2017) indicate around being supportive of others. The joy experienced out of interpersonal aspects of the job suggest and engagement in the Natural Rewards strategy of focusing on positive aspects of the job that trigger positive personal feelings. It can further be argued that a constructive internal dialogue is engaged in whereby the individuals would break prior negative thinking to replace it with habitual positive thinking towards trust, respect and support for others, thus engaging in a Constructive Self-thought strategy. The act of supporting others in itself evidences engagement in Behavior-focused strategy whereby one's personal thinking is guiding self-initiated behavioral management towards outcomes that are personally seen as desirable.

**5.3.2.3 Decision Making.** Decision making prior to Mindfulness practice was considered as dysfunctional with respect to poor judgment, poor perspective taking, self-serving bias and poor communication of decisions. The literature suggests Mindfulness to positively influence decision making (Long, 2019; Hunter and Chaskalson, 2013; Ruedy and Schweitzer, 2010; De Déa Roglio and Light, 2009) and this study has unearthed various indicators that this was indeed the case in the lived experience of the Mindfulness practice of the interviewees.

The first dysfunctional decision making aspect of passing poor judgements at work can be argued to have been countered by Mindfulness practice as a result of multiple findings in this study. A greater sense of awareness of the self and one's surroundings would firstly suggest that one would have more inputs to take into consideration when forming judgement and subsequently choosing a certain course of action. Greater self-awareness indeed aligns with the Mindfulness studies of for example Rocco et al. (2012), Vago and Silbersweig (2012) and Chiesa and Serretti (2011) whereas the notion of stronger awareness of one's environment ties in with the works of Kuan (2012) and Testa and Sangganjanavanich (2016). The manner in which such forms of awareness support Self-Leadership can be linked to the Behavior-focused strategy of observance, in particular self-observance, in support of behavioral management towards better outcomes. An improved sense of emotional control and general self-control, paired with experiences of self-evaluation and a greater sense of objectivity, can further be expected to induce a more balanced manner to arrive at a judgement or decision. Not only does the literature clearly point at self-management to be a desirable attribute in employees in today's work place (Farrugia and Sager, 2017; Van Laar et al., 2017; Ryan, 2016; Gino and Staats, 2015; Ontario Public Service, 2016), but equally self-management and self-evaluation are pointed out as fundamental to Self-Leadership (Carver and Scheier, 1981, 1998; Bandura, 1991). Increased self-compassion would suggest better judgements around what is good for oneself, which can arguably be seen as an extension of the above noted point of engagement in self-regulation but then with respect to the self for a better outcome. This all clearly points at the encouragement of engagements in desirable composures towards positive outcomes as a result of better insight in the self, therefore exhibiting Behavior-focused strategies of Self-Leadership. Equally, such experiences would suggest the engagement in Constructive Self-thought patters under the form of constructive self-talk and general breaking of habitual thinking. A changed sense of self-worth and purposefulness at work would also potentially give cause to making better judgements and choices whereby the opposite, self-doubt and apathy, logically negatively impact the passing of good judgment. In this case, the Constructive Self-thought strategy clearly emerges whereby the habitual thinking is positive towards the self and the reason why one is doing the job they do, which would trigger improved efficacy perceptions towards improved performance (in this case better judgment in decision making) as noted by Stewart et al. (2011). The positive experiences around learning and professional development and the experienced changes with respect to actively engaging in learning and professional development opportunities as a result of Mindfulness practice would indicate that people make better judgements around their professional capacity. This is another example of engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns in line with the contention by Kanfer and Ackerman (1996) that Constructive Self-thought patterns indeed lead to stronger confidence and willingness to learn. It equally reflects engagement in Behavior-focused strategies of self-cueing and self-goal setting

whereby one initiates growth based on self-observance towards improved personally desired outcomes. The notion of self-directed professional development as a highly desired employee attribute is clearly noted by Donald et al. (2017) and Jimenez et al. (2010). Finally, changed experiences with respect to performance such as the production of higher quality output and better effectiveness at work would lead to assume that the subjects in this study indeed have been passing better judgments when at work. The literature on positive outcomes with respect to performance as a result of Mindfulness practice is well established (e.g. Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Waddock and Lozano, 2012) and hereby it can be argued that by a shifting focus towards such positive outcomes as a result of work, one would be found to be engaging in the Natural Rewards Self-Leadership strategy.

A second identified dysfunctionality with respect to decision making prior to Mindfulness practice was poor perspective taking, which was explicitly noted by the findings as being positively changed as a result of Mindfulness practice. As reiterated above, changes in perspective taking as a result of Mindfulness was also found in the literature with regards to more and better perspective taking (Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Condon et al., 2013) but equally in terms of renewed perspective (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015; Fast et al., 2014). This positive change, found in this study, would be supported by both the notions around self-view and self-treatment, and views of and dealings with others. With respect to the self, perspective taking has shown to be positively influenced by the evidence that the participants started to enjoy and actively engage in learning and professional development with in some cases even progressive career aspirations. This clearly points at on the one hand engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns towards improved self-efficacy, but equally the engagement in Behavior-focused strategies whereby individuals start setting change directed goals for themselves (Manz and Neck, 2004) and further in pursuit of personal authenticity goals as noted by Manz (2015). This would suggest that Mindfulness practice has induced a changed selfview on how an individual's own ability and potential at work while equally leading to actively stepping in to pursue growth in that context. In addition to the links with perspective taking, the findings of the study with respect to others align quite well with the contentions of Mindfulness studies around improved socialization

(Beauchemin et al., 2008), positive impacts on cohesion and teamwork (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015), social connectedness (Cohen and Miller, 2009), enhancement of interpersonal skills (Hallman et al., 2014; Goleman, 2013) and increased engagement in positive relationships (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015; Reb et al., 2014). First and foremost, the changed notion around viewing the organization as a system would indicate that other departments and functions in the organization are seen as meaningfully interdependent, and therefore exerting influence (positive or negative) on one's job beyond their own doing. Furthermore, the change from functional relationship engagements towards building relationships with others would indicate a different, more humane (and arguably positive) view on the value of people at work rather than just seeing the position decoupled from the individual that holds the position. Such consideration to the person behind the role suggests that their perspective is being taken into account when building that relationship. With respect to Self-Leadership strategies, an engagement in the Natural Rewards strategy can be assumed whereby the one refocuses parts of the job towards newly positively appreciated aspects of the job (in this case the human connection with people at work). An extension to the consideration of the human aspect of work engagements and the activation of Natural Rewards strategy ties in with the changed active engagement in supporting others through guidance and knowledge transfer. This shows consideration for other's circumstances, and the positive experience out of doing so intertwines all three Self-Leadership strategies, It can be classified as a Behavior-focused strategy whereby greater self-awareness of one's value in the organization helps encouraging positive behaviors for positive outcomes. It also is evidence of Constructive Self-thought patterns whereby the thinking has shifted towards more habitual positive thinking with respect to showing consideration for others in light of their benefit. Thirdly, the positive experiences reported around this change clearly exemplify Natural Rewards Self-Leadership whereby one draws intrinsic motivation from operating in their job and in some cases create new enjoyable dimensions to their job (i.e. voluntarily coaching and mentoring). A dampening realization in this regard however was noted by the fact that in some cases participants felt that helping others resulted in others taking advantage of this by loading them up with more work. In line with helping others, and also the general

findings of the impact of Mindfulness on empathy (Jones et al., 2019; Silver et al., 2018; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016; Condon et al., 2013), the changed notion of increased empathy towards others is a crucial indication of how Mindfulness practice results in consideration for others and the making of a genuine emotional connection with others' circumstances. This would show the activation of changed habitual thinking in terms of an interpersonal situation (Constructive Self-thought) and observance of other's situational and emotional state as an input for consecutive genuinely authentic response (Behavior-focused strategy).

Self-serving bias. a third identified dysfunctionality with respect to decision making, can be argued to have been offset as a result of Mindfulness primarily by the notion of change in a more conscious engagement in self-reflection and self-evaluation, leading to a higher sense of awareness of own doing and subsequent more conscious appraisal thereof. In line with the found conduciveness of Mindfulness practice towards awareness (Kuan, 2012; Testa and Sangganjanavanich, 2016) and also acceptance of reality (Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Rocco et al., 2012), a greater sense of realism and objectivity, as noted by the participants, can be expected to further contribute to a more balanced view around successes and failures as a result of one's actions, thereby reducing self-serving bias. Totterdill (2015) and Farrugia and Sager (2017), with respect to the importance of effective self-reflection in a contemporary work setting, indeed point at the need for workers to be able to correctly self-appraise. In this regard it can be argued that an engagement in Behavior-focused strategies is in play as a result of higher self-awareness resulting the discouragement of negative behaviors (i.e. self-serving ones). In parallel, a changed experience of team spirit would suggest that in case of success, one is not directly attributing this to only oneself, but equally recognizing the contributions of others to this success, as noted by one of the findings by Cleirigh and Greaney (2015) on Mindfulness' impact on cohesion. The change around being able to attribute credit to the team would indicate a genuine appreciation of the attributes of teamwork and collaboration, pointed out by Van Laar et al. (2017) as fundamentally important in today's workplace. Increased ownership over one's work may also suggest a stronger sense of responsibility over the outcomes of certain actions and in case of failure not automatically according such to others' doing or situational factors, which ties in with

the found impact of Mindfulness by Jimenez et al. (2010) around self-acceptance. In both cases (i.e. team spirit and increased ownership) the activation of a change in habitual thinking towards more positive (i.e. a greater sense of realism) thinking is clear, therefore pointing at engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns.

Finally, even though the prior dysfunctional decision-making composure of ineffective communication of decisions was not explicitly reported as changed as a result of Mindfulness practice, some of the findings may indicate that this issue can be expected to have found improvement. Generally, the experience of improved communication, in line with the works of Beach et al. (2013) and Fast et al. (2014) around guality and emotional communication, would indicate that this indeed would also apply to the communication of choices and decisions. In this study, the noted improved self-control and emotional could be seen as potentially pivotal in this regard, through the engagement in the Behavior-focused strategies of self-observance and self-cueing when one becomes cognizant of the need for control. The recurring experienced change with respect to increased perspective taking can logically be linked to improved communication, whereby more consideration is given to the impact of one's communication towards others. Hereby the internal dialogue that one would engage in prior to communicating something towards more effectiveness, points at the engagement in Constructive Self-thought patterns. Finally, with respect to communication in a decision-making context, the increased notion of ownership over one's work and increased confidence in one's abilities may support more on point communication of one's choices and decisions. The findings do not, however, indicate this directly, nevertheless, the reported more 'matter of fact' type of interaction alongside with a greater experienced objectivity, would suggest this to be possibly the case. This would suggest a reduction of emotional charge around communication as a result of self-directed action by means of refocusing on what matters during communicating, more habitual self-regulatory observance and thinking as a result of higher self-awareness and desire to obtain better results, pointing at engagement in all three Self-Leadership strategies.

**5.3.2.4 Concluding Statement on Self-Leadership Strategies for the Section Dysfunctional Behavioral Composures.** In context to how Natural Reward strategies are engaged in as a result of Mindfulness Practice, based on the discussion on changes in dysfunctional behaviors, Mindfulness practice firstly triggers a refocusing on and discovery of positive and more enjoyed work aspects such as better focus on the task and processes, general positive outcomes, the purposefulness of the job and human relationships in context of the job. Secondly, intrinsic motivation is drawn from a greater appreciation of one's professional self-view, one's supporting ability towards others with particular mentioning of knowledge transfer and approaching the job with a sense of innovative spirit. Thirdly, Mindfulness practice also induced a greater sense of perceived control over the job and the tasks at hand by means of notions of ownership, self-control, the value of process, daring to approach tasks differently and the realization of benefits as a result of personal comfort.

Engagement in Constructive Self-thought strategies showed itself primarily through various changes with respect to habitual thinking on the one hand and the activation of a constructive inner dialogue on the other hand. Firstly, Mindfulness can be suggested to have led to a shift away from negative thinking patterns to a habitual adoption of more positive thought patterns. Such constructive habitual thinking concerned the self with respect to confidence and positive self-view, rendering an enhanced perception of self-efficacy. Changed habitual thinking with respect to the professional at work emerged through a learning disposition and a proactive problem-solving mindset. Finally, with respect to others, perspective taking also emerged as a more positive habitual train of thought adopted as a result of Mindfulness practice with particular mentioning of empathy. Other than changes in habitual thinking, sustained Mindfulness practice also resulted in the engagement in a constructive inner dialogue with respect to self-control, self-compassion and proactivity.

Engagement in Behavior-focused strategies shows itself through selfobservance, self-goal setting and self-cueing, which can all be argued to offset various dysfunctional behaviors identified prior to Mindfulness practice. Self-reflection results in a greater sense of awareness of the self, performance outputs and one's context, whereas Mindfulness of the moment supports greater focus on the task and consideration for the situation in which one operates. Mindfulness practice further led to self-goal setting with respect to general performance and professional development through conscious search for change towards positive outcomes, avoiding negative
outcomes and self-authenticity. The strategy of self-cueing emerged around conscious engagement in control over the self and one's emotions and also self-directed enhanced engagement and involvement in the work environment.

#### 5.4 Discussion of Mindfulness as institutional level Professional Development

Echoing the considerable weight of the expressed major positive impact that Mindfulness practice has had on the participants with respect to their work composures, the finding that 18 out of 19 participants indeed agreed that organizationwide Mindfulness training would benefit the organization is the key point that drives the practical contribution that this study aimed to generate. It is clear that from the perspective of the participants, the choice of including training for Mindfulness as part of the professional development route for employees in the organization is certainly positively appraised and confirmed as a route that would be of benefit for many in the organization. The overwhelming high frequency of positive experiences relative to negative ones, was surprising to the researcher. A discussion of this finding of the study with an experienced Mindfulness trainer, who is independent to this study, revealed this not to be uncommon and furthermore showed the 'underestimated' power of Mindfulness practice when practitioners are truly bought into being mindful, surrender to the experiences of being in the moment and take selfinspection to heart, in line with the findings around acceptability of Mindfulness interventions by Colgan et al. (2019). It further gives credence to the contention of Pot et al. (2012) with respect to the value of workplace innovations that empower employees in their daily decision making to add value to the organization by catalyzing their abilities.

The positive appraisal and support towards advancing such practice organization wide, finds grounds in three types of benefits as a result of the shared perspectives by the participants. First, Mindfulness professional development would be beneficial for the individual at intra-personal level, secondly Mindfulness professional development would garner benefits at inter-personal level, and thirdly, it would have benefits at the person-organization level.

Based on the responses given by the participants when queried on the potential of Mindfulness training as an organization wide professional development route, the

point was overwhelmingly clear that at the intrapersonal level it would garner benefits that are progressively developmental for the employees. Through higher self-awareness, nurtured ownership over the tasks and job, and increased effectiveness in performance, one would build confidence in their ability, develop a much more positive personal and professional image and enjoy enhanced job satisfaction. This developmental impact can clearly be traced back through the experiences and noted composure changes of the participants in this study and can equally be found as generally highlighted outcomes of Mindfulness practice in the scholarly literature (Passmore, 2019; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017; Good et al. 2016). It is clear that the majority of the noted points by the participants shows substantial removal from external direction and a predominant internal drive, therefore clearly showing links with Self-Leadership.

As for the interpersonal level benefits as a result of professional development for Mindfulness, the most pervasive argument was situated around better engagements among people and the value of perspective taking. The participants' responses indicated on the one hand expected results around decreasing negatives at work such as decreased emotionally charged situations, in line with the Mindfulness works on increased positive and dampening engagement in negative relationships (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015;Long and Christian, 2015; Reb et al., 2014) and also better conflict resolution in line with the findings around handling difficult work place interaction (Brady et al., 2012; Hallman et al., 2014), work hostility (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015) and retaliation and reaction to injustice (Long and Christian, 2015). On the other hand, responses that indicated expected benefits around team spirit and communication effectiveness would equally show the potential of an increase of positive interpersonal aspects. Such benefits are again found in the aggregating works of the Mindfulness literature in an organizational context (Passmore, 2019; Jamieson and Tuckey, 2017; Good et al., 2016) and in more specific studies on Mindfulness and interpersonal skills (Hallman et al., 2014; Goleman, 2013), increased positive and dampening engagement in negative relationships (Krishnakumar and Robinson, 2015; Long and Christian, 2015; Reb et al., 2014), team work and cohesion (Cleirigh and Greaney, 2015), communication quality (Beach et al., 2013; Fast et al., 2014) and adaptive coping styles (Hallman et al., 2014).

At the person – organizational level, the benefits that were highlighted by participants who advocated for Mindfulness as a worthwhile professional development route concerned the fostering of a bigger picture view in people to the benefit of the organization as well as the pivoting of people towards more openness to the change. Both contentions align with the works around how Mindfulness generates renewed perspective (Felton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2015) but also increased non-judgmental acceptance of circumstances and others (Chiesa and Serretti, 2011; Rocco et al., 2012; Jimenez et al., 2010) and adaptivity of individuals towards their environment (Hallman et al., 2014).

A final note that is worthy of highlighting was the finding around dealing with resistance towards the relatively novel idea of Mindfulness practice in an organizational professional development context. The manner of delivery and the use of internal advocacy would certainly heighten the chances of reducing expected resistance whereby the findings clearly showed that initial skeptics were quickly swayed towards buy-in as a result of meaningful and practically useful delivery of the topic, whereby realizing the practical and context specific value add of Mindfulness practice was instrumental. To further foster buy-in, championing of the idea through internal advocates who operate at thought leaders on the topic was also pointed at as a suggestion.

205

## CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

With the objective of this exploratory study in mind, i.e., to gain understanding of the perspective of Mindfulness practitioners in non-managerial positions on how Mindfulness practice affects their work composures with particular attention to Self-Leadership strategies, it is safe to say that this study has unearthed multiple insightful aspects of the investigated phenomenon. This provides a progression to the call by the literature (Semple et al., 2017; Kotzé, 2018; Brendel and Bennett, 2016) around the need for a better understanding of the potential of Mindfulness as a pathway towards Self-Leadership at work. Through thick description and in-depth discussion of multiple textural and structural description themes, this study shows Mindfulness practice as having a doubtlessly positive experienced impact on work composures. The overall evaluation when making account of what the participants reported, shows that Mindfulness practice indeed allows for the unlocking of self-directedness in individuals through enablement of various emotive and behavioral work composures that span the three Self-Leadership strategies (i.e., Natural Rewards, Constructive Self-thought and Behavior-focused) used in the operationalization of Self-Leadership for this study, and thereby opening beneficial pathways with respect to meeting today's workplace management's expectation of self-directedness of workers.

An overarching notion that pulls this study's effort together is that Mindfulness practice, through its sharpening of awareness of and attention to the self and the situation (including others), is pivotal to breaking habitual emotive and behavioral cycles by drawing on internally generated emotive and behavioral regulation. This clearly echoes the point of Manz (2015) with regards to the need for a clear sense of general and self-awareness if one is to engage in Self-Leadership. Of particular interest here, is the clear expressed experience of ownership activation over one's own being, work tasks, overall job and professional outlook and, in some cases, an acting upon this sense of ownership through various self-led strategies towards aspired outcomes. This confirms the prior alluded to potential of Mindfulness practice to indeed foster the authenticity and responsibility notions that are key to SelfLeadership with respect to its agentic nature (Furtner et al., 2013) and the activation of a stakeholder view (Waldman, 2014). The actions undertaken show to be more productively and positively attuned to the realities in which one operates, therefore being experienced as a benefit for the self but also towards the larger context in which one operates, which expands on the notion of Brendel and Bennett (2016) of awareness expanding to support transforming behavior and engage in transformative practice. Hereby, Mindfulness practice indeed provides ground to a more balanced evaluation of the tension between what one should be doing (self-management) and what one wants to do (authenticity in Self-Leadership). Such development with regards to the self that Mindfulness practice has shown to enable in this research, indeed covered the cultivation of present awareness of mental models (Cairns-Lee, 2015) alongside the integration of one's sense of personal and professional self therein based on enhanced awareness of beliefs, values and abilities (Edwards et al., 2015; Baron and Parent, 2015; Tovstiga, 2013). This study has therefore illuminated the state of the art in this regard and is hereby contributing to the body of knowledge. Mindfulness practice is indeed a worthwhile professional development route and goal for organizations to consider for employees in light of its various positive impacts on emotive and behavioral work composures as well as its innate enabling power of selfdirectedness in individuals, in particular as a result of the foundational notions of awareness and attention of Mindfulness.

The sections below will outline in a top-level manner how this study has provided answers to the two main research questions and the sub-research questions that were stated at the outset of this research, some selected themes that emerged from the study, the knowledge contribution of this study, and limitations of the research endeavor with indications for future research.

### 6.1 The Lived Experience of Non-Managerial Employees of Their Mindfulness Practice at Work

In response to the first main research question (i.e., What is the lived experience of non-managerial employees of their Mindfulness practice at work?), this study found the lived experience of non-managerial employees' Mindfulness practice at work to be one by large described as majorly impacting the practitioners in a positive way in the sense that it is experienced as transformational, empowering and positively introspective, with the impact experienced as minor in very few cases.

The experiences of positive impact pertain to various emotive and behavioral fronts with respect to the self, the self at work and relations with others at work. With regards to the self, practitioners more consciously experienced awareness of their emotions and enduring emotional state but equally reported behavioral experiences of self-compassion and reflection. For example, one participant said, "... I used to only think of what is next, without looking back and asking myself what just happened and how that makes me feel ... I do that now much more and it really makes a positive difference in my life." With respect to work, Mindfulness practice highlighted insights into one's current professional capacity, role and identity, but equally activated forward perspectives in this regard towards future aspirations of short or long-term nature. As one participant noted, "... Knowing myself much better now has gotten me thinking about what I want to do in my career, and I really think I deserve a chance at something bigger in this school or maybe somewhere else". The participants further experienced more consciously their performance effectivity and the personal choices they make in a work setting. Finally, in relation to others, the practice of being mindful at work amplified the conscious experience of both behaviors and emotions towards others in various ways.

Besides enhanced experiencing of the various aspects described above, Mindfulness practice was experienced as a change inducer with respect to the self, the self and work and the wider work context in which one operates. At a personal level this was experienced by an enhanced sense of control, self-view, generally more positive emotional stated and better observance. Changes induced at the level of the individual at work concerned becoming more self-directed by carrying generally more positive and authentic dispositions at work alongside significant changes in terms of growth as a professional, better performance and the assumption of a forward perspective with respect to professional development and career. For example, one participant state that *"since I started seeing gaps in my work, I started looking for ways to improve myself, because I did not want to feel bad or insecure anymore … I have been reading a lot about ad design and have learned a lot from following some good Instagram accounts too"*. In terms of being part of a larger work context, work relationships dramatically improved in various ways and a stronger consideration of and attunement to the bigger picture in which one operates emerged out of Mindfulness practice.

## 6.2 The Lived Experience of Non-Managerial Employees of Their Mindfulness Practice at Work with Respect to Becoming More Self-Led.

In response to the second main research question (i.e., What is the lived experience of non-managerial employees of their Mindfulness practice at work with respect to becoming more self-led?), the vast breadth of experiences reported by the participants in this study shows that Mindfulness practice is a strong precursor to becoming less dependent on external direction and to drawing on intrinsic motivators and drivers with respect to one's personal, job and larger professional realities. In many cases these experiences are reported in the context of changes that Mindfulness practice has induced with respect to multiple work composures which are noted in the literature as highly desirable in the context of workers being and becoming more selfdirected, therefore confirming the practice of Mindfulness as conducive to becoming and being a more desirable employee from that perspective. As one participant shared, "Since I started doing mindfulness, I have become more my own person at work and I do things because I want to do them not because someone tells me to." The reported introspective and empowering impact leads to higher awareness of the self and the environment in which one operates as a professional, resulting in an enhanced ability to respectively identify and draw on motivators that stem from within the self, one's job and one's operating context. Building on this, the empowering experience as a result of Mindfulness practice further activates a shift on the continuum of external management to Self-Leadership whereby one transforms into becoming far less dependent on external instruction and guidance by conscious choices and decision making based on not only personal values but equally elements that are aligned with the larger organization of which one is part.

The discussion of findings from the units Experiences and Change as a result of Mindfulness practice in this study further shows the power of Mindfulness practice to enable self-led addressing of dysfunctional emotive and behavioral work composures with respect to the self and others at work towards a desired state. Hereby Mindfulness practice indeed shows to activate a re-appraisal of one's reality and a re-alignment of one's thinking, being and doing in a self-regulating fashion towards reducing discrepancies between actual and desired states. As stated by one participant, "*I am far more comfortable evaluating my own work and behavior now, and I do it regularly, because it helps me to become better at what I do*".

The key overarching point here is that increased awareness of the self and one's surroundings combined with the abandonment of habitual dysfunctional thinking, feeling and doing, provides an internally generated renewed perspective for the individual with regards to the way they see themselves, their job, their future and their working environment whereby indeed they assume an authentic stakeholder's perspective in the context of Self-Leadership. Mindfulness practices in the moment such as self-scanning and mindful breathing, but equally practices that consider past or forward thinking such as respectively self-reflection and routine breakers, each place the individual central to achieving more conscious and enhanced awareness of the self and one's surroundings. This -even though seemingly trivially logical presents a fundamental starting point for the individual to engage in self-directedness because the realization of who one is, can and wants to be, consciously happens internally and gives cause to feelings and actions that are self-initiated rather than externally directed. This does not discount the impact of extrinsic influences; however, the intrinsic drive for one's thinking, being and doing becomes a far more influencing component in the regulating process, therefore making it more regulating with a self-led impetus.

With respect to dysfunctional emotive composures, various Mindfulness practice induced self-lead strategies across the three Self-Leadership strategies were unearthed that resulted in change as summarized in . The image outlines not only the shifts, but equally categorizes the underlying findings into colour coded Self-Leadership strategies whereby green, blue and orange refer respectively to Natural Rewards, Constructive Self-thought and Behavioural Self-Leadership strategies. With regards to emotions towards the self, Mindfulness practice induced a self-led shift towards a general more positive emotional state, self-induced recognition of and enhancement of job satisfaction, and self-induced increase in self-worth through introspection and self-discovery. What dysfunctional emotive composures towards others is concerned, Mindfulness practice induces various self-led strategies that results in shifts towards greater independence, envy abandonment for contentment, improved resilience in the face of adversity or resistance, stronger connections with one's work environment and colleagues, and embracement of change away from resistance.

### Figure 7 Mindfulness as a self-led emotive change inducer



With respect to dysfunctional behavioral composures, various Mindfulness practice induced self-lead strategies across the three Self-Leadership strategies were found that resulted in change with regards to general actions, deviant behaviours and decision making, respectively summarized in , and .

With regards to general action behavioural change (), Mindfulness practice was found to induce a self-led shift away from operating in auto-pilot towards more conscious action, from generic solution development to more on point problem solving, from a compliance mindset towards a more contextually rational disposition, from a functional approach to a humane approach with respect to relationships, and finally from general disorganization to being far more organized.



Figure 8 Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer - General Action

With regards to behavioural change in address of deviant behaviours (), Mindfulness practice was found to induce a self-led shift away from on the one hand camouflaging behavior towards bringing one's authentic self to work and on the other hand from condescending pre-dispositons to a far more supportive demeanor.



Figure 9 Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer - Deviant Behaviour

With regards to behavioural change in address of decision making (), Mindfulness practice was found to induce a self-led shift towards improved judgement and perspective taking, a shift away from self-service bias towards a more balanced self-appraisal, and improved communication of decisions.

Figure 10 Mindfulness as a self-led behavioural change inducer - Decision Making



### 6.2.1 Mindfulness Practice and Natural Rewards Self-Leadership Strategies

In response to sub-research question 1 (i.e., How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Natural Rewards strategies?), a 75 percent consensus rate among the participants that Mindfulness practice majorly impacted aspects of Natural Rewards Self-Leadership strategies, noted experiences related to this strategy under the form of highlighting positive and enjoyable aspects of the job, a refocus from negatives to positives and indications of heightened sense of control over the job activities and tasks. The latter two are dubbed in the Self-Leadership literature to foster confidence and selfdetermination, a link which in this study can be drawn on multiple occasions.

Mindfulness practice was found to foster a clear focus on positive emotional states (e.g., happiness, job satisfaction, confidence, pride) and away from negative

emotional states (e.g., frustration, low self-esteem, boredom, envy). It was also found to induce a focus on the joyful experience and intrinsic motivating power of various job and general work aspects. Joyful experiences that were highlighted by Mindfulness practice concerned mostly a renewed appreciation for various interpersonal aspects of work (e.g., human relationships, better interactions, knowledge transfer) as well as the process of working, the job satisfaction of doing a good job but also the personal comfort that one can realize for oneself through learning and being more organized. As one participant expressed, "By self-reflecting I have learned to develop a list of tasks that I need to do to process paperwork for teachers ... this has made my life so much easier now ".

Intrinsic motivating aspects of the job that were illuminated as a result of being mindful were purpose of one's task by active engagement in an organizational or peer-support context, better personal performance at work, an enhanced professional self-view and new ways of doing things. This all was very strongly underpinned by a clear realization of and focus on a sense of ownership over one's task, professional demeanor and professional growth. Another aspect that showed engagement in Natural Reward strategies concerned the expression of increased perceived control over the task as a result of enhanced confidence through examples of proactivity, daring to approach things differently, embracing change and generally drawing on intrinsic motivators in the work-related arena.

# 6.2.2 Mindfulness Practice and Constructive Self-thought Self-Leadership Strategies

In response to sub-research question 2 (i.e., How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Constructive Self-thought strategies), a consensus of 90 percent among the participants noted that Mindfulness practice indeed activates Constructive Selfthought strategies, primarily by breaking negative habitual thinking and replacing this with positive habitual thinking, but also by triggering a constructive internal selfregulating dialogue towards improved efficacy perceptions through building confidence in one's own ability. Two overarching sustained positive mindsets that emerged in this regard were ownership and commitment whereby Mindfulness enables a more personal connection with the work at hand but equally a self-drive to stick to the task in the face of adversity. One participant stated in this regard that "Mindfulness has helped me to see that taking my job more seriously leads to becoming better at it ... over the last few months, I feel like I have understood my job much better than I ever did and I feel comfortable to have conversations with my boss about what I am doing and how I am performing which used to be something I was uncomfortable with".

The fostering of positive habitual thinking concerned the self in the form of increased self-liking, self-worth, self-compassion, willingness to learn, a more positive professional self-view and positive forward perspective. Positive habitual thinking with respect to dealing with work reflected itself by means of respectively more proactive problem-solving thinking, a positive mindset towards change, converting stressor perceptions into positive challenges and more objective thinking instead of being guided by emotional charges. In the context of dealing with others, newly assumed habitual thinking that was expressed as constructive concerned a sense of team spirit, collaboration, perspective taking and empathy.

Mindfulness practice activated emotional self-control through calming selftalk and affirmation of positive emotions through self-scanning and mindful breathing. It also led to the engagement in a positive internal dialogue through selfreflection with respect to confirming personal professional abilities, constructive questioning, confirmation of completion of tasks and a self-evaluative forward perspective towards learning and professional development.

Self-imagery of successful completion of the tasks was not reported as a result of Mindfulness practice, which is somewhat surprising given the extensive engagement in self-reflection and the fostered positive forward perspective. The absence of reporting such self-imagery could have been probed further on in the interviews, whereby more follow up questions could have given a stronger understanding of why this is the case.

### 6.2.3 Mindfulness Practice and Behavior-focused Self-Leadership Strategies

In response to sub-research question 3 (i.e., How is Mindfulness practice experienced to contribute to the Mindfulness practitioner's engagement with Behavior-focused strategies?), a 90 percent consensus among the participants showed Mindfulness practice to have a strong, positive impact on Behavior Focused Self-Leadership strategies. Enhanced self-awareness and contextual awareness show to be pivotal to engagement therein towards supporting behavioral management. Introspective self-observance generates behavior guiding conscious awareness of emotional states, and professional caliber with respect to work process and output. Evidently from the discussion of the change inducing power of Mindfulness practice, this study revealed a combination of conscious encouragement of desirable behaviors for positive outcomes and abandonment of negative behaviors to avoid negative outcomes. On the one hand this was for example shown by participants being encouraged as a result of positive responses they received towards good behaviors such as friendliness or attention to detail, where on the other hand self-reflection also led to realizing that behaviors such as for instance being unorganized or unengaged did were not contributing to positive outcomes.

Mindfulness practice showed to enable self-cueing mechanisms based on emotional triggers and work process triggers for self-calming behaviors, engagement and involvement in work situations, learning, proactive problem solving and better interpersonal work interactions. It also led to self-discovered insights around the value of self-reward and the reduction of self-punishment showing greater self-compassion. There was further clear evidence of engagement in the self-setting of change-directed goals alongside the clear aspirations and active pursuit of personal authenticity. Hereby, the act of self-goal setting is engaged in with respect to work tasks and professional development. The pursuit of personal authenticity as a self-set goal showed itself in the forms of ownership, professional values (e.g., honesty, trust and respect) and career aspirations as driving sentiments, highlighting the agentic nature of the mindful authentic self-leader. A clear expression of this came out by one participant who said that being Mindful *"has made me feel that I want to do this job right, like I owe it to myself"*.

### 6.3 Selected Emergent Themes

A series of themes that emerged from the Change unit could be argued to deserve some additional attention with respect to the impact that Mindfulness practice can have in an organization. The theme selection arrives from personal interest of the researcher, scarcity of address of these topics in the current literature in context of Mindfulness practice's impact at non-managerial level on desired work composures for the 21st century workplace and direct relevance to the aspirations of managers at the research site with respect to development of their staff. As outlined in the above discussion, Mindfulness practice clearly induced change in various emotive and behavioral aspects towards desirable work composures for the contemporary workplace. The further discussed themes may present interesting starting points for future research, yet this does not mean that other themes that have emerged from the study do not offer such potential. It is hoped that this study clearly shows the potential of Mindfulness practice as a starting point to instigate change in organizations towards developing more self-directedness in individuals whereby Mindfulness practice impacts the way people think, feel and act. Such changes at individual level, if harnessed effectively by the organization, can induce wider organizational cultural change towards a work environment that nurtures, supports, celebrates and capitalizes on independence and self-directedness of its workers.

The change influence of Mindfulness practice with respect to the way people think and feel shows particular benefit with respect to the Change themes of Self-View, Growth, Positive Disposition, Forward Perspective and Relationships. The change as a result of Mindfulness practice with respect to how individuals see themselves is a clear starting point towards personal deconstruction and reconstruction whereby non-judgmental introspection in this study has the potential to lead to a clearer and more positive Self-View of the Mindfulness practitioners. This reflected itself in the form of discovery of their contribution in a supporting capacity to the organization, an increased sense of self-worth, a clear realization of their personal purpose through their job function and a far more positive professional selfimage. Each of these can be argued to form very strong foundations of thinking towards more authentically participating in the organization i.e. comfort in being the person they are at work with a clear sense of value in the organizational context. A second theme that aligns with this, is the Change theme of Positive Disposition, whereby Mindfulness practice was reported to foster change around bringing a more positive attitude to work, being more committed and motivated to work, and comfort

with a dynamic work environment. Both the improved Self-view and positive demeanor that individuals assume with respect to work, can be seen as pivotal towards fostering confidence drawn from intrinsic motivators rooted in the self and the job held. The emergent Change theme of Growth further solidifies this argument when unpacking its structural description themes of noticed changes in professional capacity, confidence and an increased sense of ownership over one's tasks and function in the organization. Hereby, the practice of being Mindful of the moment and being self-reflective of one's practice triggered internal strength towards a sense of control and confidence to operate in the job, but equally instigated positive and constructive future oriented mindsets with regards to learning and career progression. A final positively changed manner of thinking and feeling reflected itself through the Change theme of Relationships, whereby Mindfulness practice resulted in an enhanced sense of trust, support and team spirit. This would suggest strong benefits from Mindfulness practice towards creating good foundations to build constructive social bonds in a professional context whereby individuals and their independence are valued within a team context. Mindfulness practice instigated more empathic dispositions in people whereby they recognized, by being more aware of their personal but also others' moment, how they were able to connect better to how other people feel and what their motivations are in various situations and encounters, indicating enhanced empathy and possibly aspects of improved emotional intelligence.

The change influence as a result of Mindfulness practice in terms of enabling actions that are seen as favorable in a 21st century workplace context showed itself through the emergence of Change themes such as Self-Initiating, Performance and Relationships. The study clearly reports on Mindfulness practice to make people become less dependent on extrinsic direction. This showed itself in the form of higher involvement and engagement in work driven by more self-motivation. The independence further also indicated proactive problem-solving behavior as a changed work composure with a critical stance and in some cases forms of creativity and innovation were experience for which the latter however were not reported as changed experiences. A final notion where independence as a result of Mindfulness practice emerged was with regards to self-directed learning and engagement in professional development, which shows actioning of aspirations as a result of self-awareness and self-reflection. Mindfulness practice was also attributed to enabling, in a self-directed manner, better performance under the form of being more productive, more effective at the job and producing higher quality output alongside in some cases instigating behaviors that span beyond the call of duty. The stronger independence and reported aspects on performance clearly show that Mindfulness practice holds potential to effectively change work related behaviors in people that stand central to the call from managers for a workforce that pursues self-directedness for better value contribution to the organization. At the inter-personal level, Mindfulness practice has shown to be associated with various changes in the context of relationships at work. On the one hand individuals experienced better interactions with people but on the other hand the manner in which relationships were approached had shifted towards being more profound towards building meaningful relationships with people in a professional context. Inter-personal interactions were further considered to be heavily improved with respect to conflict resolution whereby perspective-taking and empathy came forward as internally generated guides in this regard. The enhanced sense of trust, support and team spirit, as identified in the study, indicates indeed that there is a shift in emotional experience that instigates changes in behavior. The change in how relationships are being seen but more importantly being approached indicate that Mindfulness Practice enables evaluation and decision making in a work setting that allows people to make more effective decisions in terms of working with others and relationships. This clearly suggests that Mindfulness practice and its outcomes imprint on the domain of Emotional Intelligence, with arguably promising results.

Given the attribution by participants of Mindfulness practice to clearly experienced changes with respect to the above selected themes, it is clear that the practice of being mindful at work holds very strong potential to induce work composures that are highly sought after by managers in today's workplace. Mindfulness practice indeed allows for the awakening of positive ways of thinking, feeling and doing in a context of work that stem from internal drives rather than being dependent on only external direction.

### 6.4 Knowledge contribution

On the back of Brendel and Bennett's (2016) and Passmore's (2019) call for the need for empiric research in how the innovative professional development route of introducing Mindfulness in organizational contexts can play a potentially significant part in developing a worthwhile workforce for the 21st Century, this study has highlighted a vast plethora of desirable work-composures to be enabled stemming by large from intrinsic starting points instead of extrinsic motivators. This study further has shown an empiric progression of the up to now primarily theoretical contention of Semple et al. (2017) that Mindfulness practice would positively influence engagement in Self-Leadership strategies. Hereby, this study also gives ground to include Mindfulness as a worthwhile antecedent to better understanding Self-Leadership whereby Kotzé (2018) in her study of precursors to Self-Leadership, did not give real consideration to Mindfulness. This research unpacks, in an exploratory manner, the potential value of Mindfulness practice towards generating self-directedness in nonmanagerial workers through its activating potential of Self-Leadership strategies and gives food for thought towards articulating key variables such as for example selfview, ownership, confidence and forward perspective to name a few, that may form the basis for causal research approaches in this context.

To the knowledge of the researcher, as a first in its kind, this study has outlined the lived experience of non-managerial employees with respect to how Mindfulness practice affects work composures with a particular focus on Self-Leadership, therefore contributing a novel piece of knowledge. Based on its study setting and methodology, this research has explored Mindfulness practice as a route towards improving the fit of non-managerial workers' work composures with the expectations of managers in the 21st century workplace for more independent and self-directed individuals (Van Laar et al., 2017; Knight, 2017; King and Zaino, 2015; Gino and Staats, 2015). The Mindfulness practices that were noted by the participants, are not dissimilar from Mindfulness practices that are investigated in other studies in other context (students, workers or military), and therefore do not suggest that there is evidence of a cultural interpretation of the practice compared to other cultural settings. What the study does reveal however, is a substantial building in confidence, self-worth, self-image, authenticity and a sense of purposefulness, which could be considered as a balancing, dampening effect in respect of a power distance accepting culture, hereby helping individuals to find themselves and their voice within a workplace setting as a result of self-led realizations and consequential composures. Mindfulness practice can be argued to have introduced a sense of individualism to the participants with respect to care for and awareness of the self, but equally deploying that enhanced self image towards supporting others and being of value to others, thereby tapping into purposefulness and positive belonging. It would however be presumptuous to draw any culturally based conclusions out of the this work, since this was not the outset of the study and the data collection did not focus on any cultural aspects. Future investigation could explore this aspect further.

In line with Kurt Lewin's change management theory, being mindful has shown to be a worthwhile practice towards unfreezing dysfunctional composures (as a result of self-awareness, acceptance and personal introspection), changing such dysfunctional as a result of positively experienced new or latent composures, and refreezing the newly adopted work composures by sustaining Mindfulness practice and building on the positive experiences as a result thereof including self-goal setting. The reported experiences further show that Mindfulness practice indeed allows individuals to move away from being managed by external influencers and instead assume more control over their emotive and behavioral composures at work by becoming more consciously aware of personal and context-specific aspects of their operating in the workplace. This in turn triggers various natural engagements in selfregulation of emotive and behavioral composures through Self-Leadership strategies that result in becoming less dependent on and directed by their managers.

The practical contribution of this research lies in informing decision-makers of the participating organizations about the potential of training for Mindfulness as a professional development activity. Participants of both organizations expressed overwhelming support to the roll out of Mindfulness training for the whole organization whereby they identified its benefits to stem primarily from its potential to create a more pleasant and productive work environment as a result of better emotional management and perspective taking in terms of interpersonal engagements, but also the confidence building and improved self-image (professional and personal) that Mindfulness practice was experienced to generate. The success of such an organization-wide initiative was expressed to be dependent on careful consideration for the mode of delivery to be appropriate to fostering adoption of the practice, whereby internal advocacy by thought leaders would be highly supporting towards buy-in to the topic of the training. Overall, this insight of the study would suggest considering the inclusion of training for Mindfulness practice as part of the orientation efforts when onboarding new staff in the organization to be worthwhile. This would enable them to work towards meeting organizational expectations with respect to selfdirection and appropriate independent functioning in their respective jobs.

The outcome of this study and the growing body of research on benefits of Mindfulness practice in the workplace arguably draw attention to Mindfulness practice in a professional profile context for the 21st century worker. Should Mindfulness practice enjoy increased popularity among current and future decision makers, it would not be unimaginable to see Mindfulness included as a formally noted skill or even qualification that would serve employees' profiles favorably in contexts of recruitment or consideration for promotion. On the one hand, this could emerge by means of applicants championing the practice as part of their professional capacity in support of goal attainment and value added to an organization or project. On the other hand, organizations may decide to include Mindfulness practice as a more formal organizational 'way of doing things' and therefore considering it as a qualification benchmark when posting internal or public vacancies or in the context of internal professional development for career or talent management. Both routes would strengthen the argument for Mindfulness to be a valuable, desirable or even necessary competency in the 21st century workplace, which, in line with the contention of Good et al. (2016) as it being a root construct for organizational science, would be more than plausible.

### 6.5 Limitations and Future Research

The realities in which this research has taken place – in particular the constraints – and the choices made by the researcher, result in two overarching limitations to this study: limited generalizability and limited explanatory power of causal relationship between the theoretical constructs that have emerged from and underpin this study. These limitations, however, should not be considered as

undermining the robustness of this study, but rather be seen as starting avenues for future research to advance the knowledge in the domain.

Firstly, the exploratory nature of the study combined with the constraints discussed in the dedicated section in this thesis, results in limiting generalizability of the findings. Future research can investigate whether different work settings in terms of industry or organizational culture, or national cultures, would generate different perspectives by Mindfulness practitioners towards self-led work composures. This study provides a very solid starting point for such studies by, on the one hand, its high level of replicability as a result of its carefully and clearly documented process and, on the other hand, allowance to formulate starting propositions that are based on empiric grounds and a robust review of the literature. The positions held by the participants are for the most part non-industry specific, which further strengthens this study to be a starting ground for advancing future research towards generalizability. Replicating this study in various contexts would allow to evaluate how the results of this study stand up in different research settings and, through generalizability, lead to the development of theory based on qualitative research.

Secondly, the qualitative nature of this study limits this study in presenting a quantifiable causal relationship between Mindfulness practice and work composures with respect to Self-Leadership. Notwithstanding the various mechanisms put in place to guard for reliability and validity in a qualitative research context, the inherent limiting factor of an interpretivist exploratory research stance must be recognized in this regard. It is, however, expected that the themes that have emerged from the qualitative investigation in this study can inspire the development of constructs that could be used to develop on or more quantitative pieces of research towards further understanding and explaining the effect of Mindfulness practice at work with respect to work composures and the amount of its impact on Self-Leadership. The themes that have emerged from this research are hoped to be an empiric starting point towards generating independent and dependent variables to investigate causality through for example regression modelling, which could further inform the emphasis on aspects of Mindfulness to be delivered in trainings for desired results. Such investigation would allow for a larger scale investigation across multiple organizational contexts to

ascertain whether the finding of this study hold up or reveal any differences as a result of specific organizational cultural factors.

An inherent aspect of the choice of Phenomenological research towards describing the lived experience of individuals is the fact that the findings of the study and the conclusions drawn thereout are based on what the interviewees share through their narratives. This means that potentially some aspects that may have played part in the lived experience may not have been shared despite the extensive efforts made when developing and reviewing the interview instrument to as much as possible capture the full set of experiences of the participants with respect to the studied phenomenon. Exploring multiple angles towards the engagement in Self-Leadership strategies and eliciting the change that Mindfulness practice has brought to bear on the participants may still have not captured the full breadth of the lived experience, yet its deployment was purposefully done to draw as much information and insight as possible. In this regard, the absence of visualizing successful completion of tasks, that became apparent in the section on Self-Thought strategies for example, could perhaps been addressed more carefully by stronger follow up questions as to why this strategy was not being engaged in by the participants. The length of the interviews and the density of the shared information does evidence however a very extensive data set to have been drawn considering the exploratory intent of this study. Follow up interviews with participants may have allowed for further probing into some of the data.

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Adriaanse, M. A., Vinkers, C. D. W., De Ridder, D. T. D., Hox, J. J., & De Wit, J. B.
  F. (2011). Do implementation intentions help to eat a healthy diet? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the empirical evidence. *Appetite*, 56(1), 183–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.10.012
- Ahearne, M., Mathieu, J., & Rapp, A. (2005). To empower or not to empower your sales force? An empirical examination of the influence of leadership empowerment behavior on customer satisfaction and performance. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(5), 945–955. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.5.945
- Andressen, P., Konradt, U., & Neck, C. P. (2012). The relation between Self-Leadership and transformational leadership: Competing models and the moderating role of virtuality. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 19(1), 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051811425047
- Antonakis, J., & Atwater, L. (2002). Leader distance: A review and a proposed theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 13(6), 673–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00155-8
- Armstrong, M., & Taylor, S. (2014). *Armstrong's handbook of human resource* management practice. Kogan Page Publishers.
- Astin, J. A. (1997). Stress reduction through mindfulness meditation. Effects on psychological symptomatology, sense of control, and spiritual experiences. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 66(2), 97–106. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000289116
- Avey, J. B., Luthans, F., & Youssef, C. M. (2010). The additive value of positive psychological capital in predicting work attitudes and behaviors. *Journal of Management*, 36(2), 430–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206308329961
- Avey, J. B., Wernsing, T. S., & Luthans, F. (2008). Can Positive Employees Help Positive Organizational Change? Impact of Psychological Capital and Emotions on Relevant Attitudes and Behaviors. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 44(1), 48–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886307311470

- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg015
- Baer, R. A. (2011). Measuring mindfulness. *Contemporary Buddhism*, *12*(1), 241–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564842
- Baer, R. A., Carmody, J., & Hunsinger, M. (2012). Weekly change in mindfulness and perceived stress in a mindfulness-based stress reduction program. *Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 68(7), 755-765. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21865
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., & Allen, K. B. (2004). Assessment of mindfulness by selfreport: The Kentucky inventory of mindfulness skills. *Assessment*, 11(3), 191– 206. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191104268029
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Hopkins, J., Krietemeyer, J., & Toney, L. (2006). Using self-report assessment methods to explore facets of mindfulness. *Assessment*, 13(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191105283504
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., &
  Williams, J. M. G. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, 15(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003
- Bahl, S., Milne, G. R., Ross, S. M., & Chan, K. (2013). Mindfulness: A Long-Term Solution for Mindless Eating by College Students. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 32(2), 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1509/jppm.11.008
- Bakker, I. C. (2014). Uncovering the secrets of a productive environment, A journey through the impact of plants and colour. Doctoral Thesis, TU Delft. Delft, The Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:f4118184-766c-4047-83db-37f8fbf4fc57
- Bandura, A. (1991). Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 248–287. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90022-L
- Baron, L., & Parent, É. (2015). Developing Authentic Leadership Within a Training Context: Three Phenomena Supporting the Individual Development Process. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 22(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051813519501

- Beach, M. C., Roter, D., Korthuis, P. T., Epstein, R. M., Sharp, V., Ratanawongsa, N., ... & Saha, S. (2013). A multicenter study of physician mindfulness and health care quality. The Annals of Family Medicine, 11(5), 421-428.
- Beauchemin, J., Hutchins, T. L., & Patterson, F. (2008). Mindfulness meditation may lessen anxiety, promote social skills, and improve academic performance among adolescents with learning disabilities. *Complementary Health Practice Review*, 13(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533210107311624
- Beckman, H. B., Wendland, M., Mooney, C., Krasner, M. S., Quill, T. E., Suchman,
  A. L., & Epstein, R. M. (2012). The impact of a program in mindful communication on primary care physicians. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 87(6), 815–819. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0b013e318253d3b2
- Bélanger-Gravel, A., Godin, G., & Amireault, S. (2013). A meta-analytic review of the effect of implementation intentions on physical activity. *Health Psychology Review*, 7(1), 23–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2011. 560095
- Bell, S. T. (2007). Deep-level composition variables as predictors of team performance: a meta-analysis. *Journal of applied psychology*, *92*(3), 595.
- Bennet, A. and Bennet, D. (2004). *Organizational survival in the new world: The intelligent complex adaptive system*. Burlington, MA: Elsevier.
- Berg, J. M., Wrzesniewski, A., & Dutton, J. E. (2010). Perceiving and responding to challenges in job crafting at different ranks: When proactivity requires adaptivity. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 31(2–3), 158–186. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.645
- Berkman, E. (2016). Self-regulation training. In Vohs & Baumeister (Eds.), Handbook of Self-Regulation (pp. 440-457). New York: Guilford Press.
- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., & Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A proposed operational definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11(3), 230–241. https://doi.org/br6rx6
- Black, D. A. (2015). *Mindfulness Research Guide* (MRG). Retrieved from www.mindfulexperience.org.

- Blackburn, K. F. (2015). The effects of classroom-based mindfulness meditation on MBA student mindfulness. Doctoral dissertation, Boston College, Boston, United States of America.
- Bligh, M. C., Pearce, C. L., & Kohles, J. C. (2006). The importance of self- and shared leadership in team based knowledge work: A meso-level model of leadership dynamics. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 21(4), 296–318. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610663105
- Block-Lerner, J., Adair, C., Plumb, J. C., Rhatigan, D. L., & Orsillo, S. M. (2007).
  The case for mindfulness-based approaches in the cultivation of empathy:
  Does nonjudgmental, present-moment awareness increase capacity for
  perspective-taking and empathic concern? *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *33*(4), 501–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00034.x
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). *The psychology of working: A new perspective for career development, counseling, and public policy*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Bodhi, B. (2011). What does mindfulness really mean? A canonical perspective. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 12(1), 19–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14639947.2011.564813
- Boettcher, J., Aström, V., Påhlsson, D., Schenström, O., Andersson, G., & Carlbring,
  P. (2014). Internet-based mindfulness treatment for anxiety disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Behavior Therapy*, 45(2), 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.11.003
- Boksem, M. A. S., Meijman, T. F., & Lorist, M. M. (2006). Mental fatigue, motivation and action monitoring. *Biological Psychology*, 72(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.08.007
- Bonadonna, R. (2003). Meditation's impact on chronic illness. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, *17*(6), 309–319.
- Bowen, S., Witkiewitz, K., Clifasefi, S. L., Grow, J., Chawla, N., Hsu, S. H., & Larimer, M. E. (2014). Relative efficacy of mindfulness-based relapse prevention, standard relapse prevention, and treatment as usual for substance use disorders: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 71(5), 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.4546

- Boyatzis, R.E. (1982). *The competent manager: A model for effective performance*. New
- Boyd, O. (2001). Phenomenology the method. In P.L. Munhall (Ed.), Nursing research: A qualitative perspective (pp. 93-122). Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett.
- Brady, S., O'Connor, N., Burgermeister, D., & Hanson, P. (2012). The impact of mindfulness meditation in promoting a culture of safety on an acute psychiatric unit. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 48(3), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6163.2011.00315.x
- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2014). Daily self-management and employee work engagement. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2013.11.002
- Brendel, W., & Bennett, C. (2016). Learning to Embody Leadership Through Mindfulness and Somatics Practice. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 18(3), 409–425. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422316646068
- Brooker, J., Julian, J., Webber, L., Chan, J., Shawyer, F., & Meadows, G. (2013).
  Evaluation of an Occupational Mindfulness Program for Staff Employed in the Disability Sector in Australia. *Mindfulness*, 4(2), 122–136. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0112-7
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(4), 822–848.
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical Foundations and Evidence for its Salutary Effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 18(4), 211–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400701598298
- Brown, K., & Ryan, R. M. (2004). Perils and promise in defining and measuring mindfulness: Observations from experience. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11(3), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph078
- Brown, K., Creswell, D. (2015). *Handbook of mindfulness: Theory, research, and practice*. New York: The Guildford Press.

- Brown, T. C. (2003). The effect of verbal self-guidance training on collective efficacy and team performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(4), 935–964. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00245.x
- Buchheld, N., Grossman, P., & Walach, H. (2001). Measuring mindfulness in insight meditation (Vipassana) and meditation-based psychotherapy: The development of the Freiburg Mindfulness Inventory (FMI). *Journal of Meditation and Meditation Research*, 1, 5-23. doi:10.2307/1411318
- Bunch, J. F. S. (2001). The new superleadership: Leading others to lead themselves. Academy of Management Perspectives, 15(4), 147–148. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.2001.5898769
- Cabanac, M. (1986). Money versus pain: experimental study of a conflict in humans. Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior, 46(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1986.46-37
- Cairns-Lee, H. (2015). Images of leadership development from the inside out. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 17(3), 321-336.
- Caldwell, K., Harrison, M., Adams, M., Quin, R. H., & Greeson, J. (2010).
  Developing mindfulness in college students through movement-based courses:
  Effects on self-regulatory, self-efficacy, mood, stress, and sleep quality. *Journal of American College Health*, 58(5), 433–442.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/07448480903540481
- Campion, M. A., Medsker, G. J., & Higgs, A. C. (1993). Relations between work group characteristics and effectiveness: Implications for designing effective work groups. *Personnel Psychology*, 46(4), 823–850. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1993.tb01571.x
- Canby, N. K., Cameron, I. M., Calhoun, A. T., & Buchanan, G. M. (2015). A brief mindfulness intervention for healthy college students and its effects on psychological distress, self-control, meta-mood, and subjective vitality. *Mindfulness*, 6(5), 1071–1081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0356-5
- Cardaciotto, L., Herbert, J. D., Forman, E. M., Moitra, E., & Farrow, V. (2008). The assessment of present-moment awareness and acceptance: the Philadelphia Mindfulness Scale. *Assessment*, 15(2), 204–223. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1073191107311467

- Carson, J. W., Carson, K. M., Gil, K. M., & Baucom, D. H. (2004). Mindfulnessbased relationship enhancement. *Behavior Therapy*, 35(3), 471–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80028-5
- Carson, S. H., & Langer, E. J. (2006). Mindfulness and self-acceptance. *Journal of rational-emotive and cognitive-behavior therapy*, 24(1), 29-43.
- Carver, C. S. (2001). Affect and the functional bases of behavior: On the dimensional structure of affective experience. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 5(4), 345–356. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0504\_4
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1998). *On the self-regulation of behavior*. New York: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174794
- Carver, C.S. & Scheier, M.F. (1981). Attention and self-regulation: A control theory approach to human behaviour. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Chadwick, P., Hember, M., Symes, J., Peters, E., Kuipers, E., & Dagnan, D. (2008). Responding mindfully to unpleasant thoughts and images: reliability and validity of the Southampton Mindfulness Questionnaire (SMQ). *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 47(4), 451–455. https://doi.org/ 10.1348/014466508X314891
- Chambers, R., Lo, B. C. Y., & Allen, N. B. (2008). The impact of intensive mindfulness training on attentional control, cognitive style, and affect. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 32(3), 303–322. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10608-007-9119-0
- Chen, X., Wang, Y., Liu, L., Cui, J., Gan, M., Shum, D. H. K., & Chan, R. C. K. (2015). The effect of implementation intention on prospective memory: a systematic and meta-analytic review. *Psychiatry Research*, 226(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.01.011
- Chiesa, A., & Serretti, A. (2011). Mindfulness-based interventions for chronic pain: A systematic review of the evidence. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 17(1), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2009.0546
- Chin, B., Slutsky, J., Raye, J., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Mindfulness training reduces stress at work: A randomized controlled trial. *Mindfulness*. 10(4), 627-638. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-1022-0

- Choo, C.W. & Bontis, N. (2002). *The strategic management of intellectual capital and organisational knowledge*. New York, Oxford University Press.
- Cleirigh, D. O., & Greaney, J. (2015). Mindfulness and group performance: An exploratory investigation into the effects of brief mindfulness intervention on group task performance. *Mindfulness*, 6(3), 601–609. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0295-1
- Cohen, J. S., & Miller, L. J. (2009). Interpersonal mindfulness training for well-being: A pilot study with psychology graduate students. *Teachers College Record*, 111(12), 2760–2774.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2004). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout: a quantitative and qualitative study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 18(6), 302–308.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2005). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout, Part II: A quantitative and qualitative study. *Holistic nursing practice*, 19(1), 26-35.
- Colgan, D. D., Christopher, M., Bowen, S., Brems, C., Hunsinger, M., Tucker, B., & Dapolonia, E. (2019). Mindfulness-based Wellness and Resilience intervention among interdisciplinary primary care teams: a mixed-methods feasibility and acceptability trial. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20*(91), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423619000173
- Colzato, L. S., Ozturk, A., & Hommel, B. (2012). Meditate to create: The impact of focused-attention and open-monitoring training on convergent and divergent thinking. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 116. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2012.00116
- Condon, P., Desbordes, G., Miller, W. B., & DeSteno, D. (2013). Meditation increases compassionate responses to suffering. *Psychological Science*, 24(10), 2125–2127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613485603
- Coo, C., & Salanova, M. (2018). Mindfulness can make you happy-and-productive: A mindfulness controlled trial and its effects on happiness, work engagement and performance. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 19(6), 1691-1711. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-017-9892-8

- Côté, S. (2005). A social interaction model of the effects of emotion regulation on work strain. *The Academy of Management Review*, 30(3), 509–530. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159142
- Courtright, S. H., McCormick, B. W., Mistry, S., & Wang, J. (2017). Quality charters or quality members? A control theory perspective on team charters and team performance. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(10), 1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000229
- Courtright, S. H., Thurgood, G. R., Stewart, G. L., & Pierotti, A. J. (2015). Structural interdependence in teams: An integrative framework and meta-analysis. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *100*(6), 1825–1846. https://doi.org/10.1037/ ap10000027
- Cressey, P., Totterdill, P., & Exton, R. (2013). Workplace social dialogue as a form of "productive reflection". *International Journal of Action Research*, 9(2), 209.
- Creswell, J. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. D. (2017). Mindfulness Interventions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 68(1), 491–516. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-042716-051139
- Creswell, J. D., & Lindsay, E. K. (2014). How does mindfulness training affect health? A mindfulness stress buffering account. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 23(6), 401–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963721414547415
- Creswell, J. D., Pacilio, L. E., Lindsay, E. K., & Brown, K. W. (2014). Brief mindfulness meditation training alters psychological and neuroendocrine responses to social evaluative stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 44, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.02.007
- Creswell, J. D., Taren, A. A., Lindsay, E. K., Greco, C. M., Gianaros, P. J., Fairgrieve, A., & Ferris, J. L. (2016). Alterations in resting-state functional connectivity link mindfulness meditation with reduced interleukin-6: A randomized controlled trial. *Biological Psychiatry*, 80(1), 53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.01.008

- Creswell, J. D., Way, B. M., Eisenberger, N. I., & Lieberman, M. D. (2007). Neural correlates of dispositional mindfulness during affect labeling. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69(6), 560–565. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3180f6171f
- Creswell, J., and Creswell, D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- D'Innocenzo, L., Mathieu, J. E., & Kukenberger, M. R. (2016). A meta-analysis of different forms of shared leadership–team performance relations. *Journal of Management*, 42(7), 1964–1991. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314525205
- Dane, E. (2011). Paying attention to mindfulness and its effects on task performance in the workplace. *Journal of Management*, 37(4), 997–1018. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310367948
- Davidson, R. J. (2010). Empirical explorations of mindfulness: conceptual and methodological conundrums. *Emotion*, 10(1), 8–11. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0018480
- Davis, P. J. (2017). How HR can create competitive advantage for the firm: Applying the principles of resource-based theory. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, 25(2), 4–6. https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-09-2016-0122
- De Déa Roglio, K., & Light, G. (2009). Executive MBA Programs: The Development of the Reflective Executive. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 8(2), 156–173. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2009.41788840
- Dean, S. (2017). Soft Skills Needed for the 21st Century Workforce. Walden University. Retrieved from https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/ dissertations/3669
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1987). The support of autonomy and the control of behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(6), 1024–1037.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 227–268. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104\_01

- Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M., Schultz, P. P., & Niemiec, C. P. (2015). Being aware and functioning fully: Mindfulness and interest taking within self-determination theory. In *Handbook of mindfulness: Theory, research, and practice* (pp. 112– 129). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Deci, E.L. (1975). Intrinsic Motivation. New York, Plenum Press.
- Dekeyser, M., Raes, F., Leijssen, M., Leysen, S., & Dewulf, D. (2008). Mindfulness skills and interpersonal behaviour. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44(5), 1235–1245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.11.018
- Denscombe, M. (2017). *The Good Research Guide* (6th ed.). London: Open University Press.
- Depenbrock, F. (2014). Being mindfully aware and engaged at work? The role of affect regulative processes for the relationship between daily levels of mindfulness and work engagement Unpublished master's thesis, Maastricht University, Maastricht, The Netherlands.
- DeRue, D. S., & Ashford, S. J. (2010). Who will lead and who will follow? a social process of leadership identity construction in organizations. *The Academy of Management Review*, 35(4), 627–647.
- Desbordes, G., Negi, L. T., Pace, T. W. W., Wallace, B. A., Raison, C. L., & Schwartz, E. L. (2012). Effects of mindful-attention and compassion meditation training on amygdala response to emotional stimuli in an ordinary, non-meditative state. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, 292. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00292
- Di Benedetto, M., & Swalding, M. (2014). Burnout in Australian psychologists: correlations with work-setting, mindfulness and self-care behaviours. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 19(6), 705–715. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13548506.2013.861602
- Dimidjian, S., & Segal, Z. V. (2015). Prospects for a clinical science of mindfulnessbased intervention. *The American Psychologist*, 70(7), 593–620. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039589

- Ding, X., Tang, Y.-Y., Cao, C., Deng, Y., Wang, Y., Xin, X., & Posner, M. I. (2015). Short-term meditation modulates brain activity of insight evoked with solution cue. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 10(1), 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsu032
- Dobie, S. (2007). Viewpoint: Reflections on a well-traveled path: Self-awareness, mindful practice, and relationship-centered care as foundations for medical education. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 82(4), 422–427. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ACM.0000259374.52323.62
- Donald, W., Baruch, Y., & Ashleigh, M. (2017). Boundaryless and protean career orientation: A multitude of pathways to graduate employability. In M. Tomlinson & L. Holmes (Eds.), *Graduate Employability in Context: Theory, Research and Debate* (pp. 129–150). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-57168-7\_6
- Dreyfus, G. (2011). Is mindfulness present-centred and non-judgmental? A discussion of the cognitive dimensions of mindfulness. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 12(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564815
- Drucker, P. (2001). The next society. *The Economist*. Retrieved from http://forevueinternational.com/Content/sites/forevue/pages/1335/5\_5\_The\_N ext\_Society.PDF
- Drucker, P. F. (1993) Post-capitalist society. New York: Herper Collins Publishers.
- Drucker, P. F. (1999). Knowledge-worker productivity: The biggest challenge. *California Management Review*, 41(2), 79–94. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 41165987
- Drucker, P.F. (2005) Managing oneself. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved from http://www.newseasonlifecoaching.com/Managing%20Oneself%20-%20Drucker%20Article.pdf
- Dundas, I., Thorsheim, T., Hjeltnes, A., & Binder, P. E. (2016). Mindfulness based stress reduction for academic evaluation anxiety: A naturalistic longitudinal study. Journal of College Student Psychotherapy, 30(2), 114–131. https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2016.1140988

- Edwards, G., Elliott, C., Iszatt-White, M., & Schedlitzki, D. (2015). Using creative techniques in leadership learning and development: An introduction. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *17*(3), 279–288. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1523422315586616
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. Academy of management journal, 50(1), 25-32. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2007.24160888
- Etzkowitz, H. (2012). An innovation strategy to end the second Great Depression. *European Planning Studies*, 20(9), 1439–1453. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09654313.2012.709060
- Evans, D. R., Eisenlohr-Moul, T. A., Button, D. F., Baer, R. A., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2014). Self-regulatory deficits associated with unpracticed mindfulness strategies for coping with acute pain. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 44(1), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12196
- Farb, N. A. S., Anderson, A. K., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., McKeon, D., & Segal, Z. V. (2010). Minding one's emotions: Mindfulness training alters the neural expression of sadness. *Emotion*, 10(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0017151
- Farrugia, C., & Sanger, J. (2017). Employment edge: The impact of study abroad on 21st century skills & career prospects in the United States gaining an employment edge. *IIE Center for Academic Mobility Research Impact*. Retrieved from https://globalsupport.tamu.edu/GlobalSupport/media/Doc-Files/IIE-2017-Report-Gaining-an-Employment-Edge-thru-Study-Abrd.pdf
- Fast, N. J., Burris, E. R., & Bartel, C. A. (2014). Managing to stay in the dark: Managerial self-efficacy, ego defensiveness, and the aversion to employee voice. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(4), 1013–1034. https://doi.org/ 10.5465/amj.2012.0393
- Feldman, G., Hayes, A., Kumar, S., Greeson, J., & Laurenceau, J.-P. (2006).
  Mindfulness and emotion regulation: The development and initial validation of the Cognitive and Affective Mindfulness Scale-Revised (CAMS-R).
  Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 29(3), 177.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-006-9035-8
- Felton, T. M., Coates, L., & Christopher, J. C. (2015). Impact of mindfulness training on counselling students' perceptions of stress. *Mindfulness*, 6(2), 159–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0240-8
- Flanagan, J. C. (1954). The critical incident technique. *Psychological bulletin*, *51*(4), 327.
- Flook, L., Goldberg, S. B., Pinger, L., Bonus, K., & Davidson, R. J. (2013).
  Mindfulness for teachers: A pilot study to assess effects on stress, burnout and teaching efficacy. *Mind, Brain and Education : The Official Journal of the International Mind, Brain, and Education Society*, 7(3), 182–195.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12026
- Ford, C.G. (2019). An Investigation of the Relation between Mindfulness and Self-Esteem Stability. Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports. 4097. https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd/4097.
- Frayne, C. A., & Geringer, J. M. (2000). Self-management training for improving job performance: a field experiment involving salespeople. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(3), 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.3.361
- Fredrickson, B. L., Cohn, M. A., Coffey, K. A., Pek, J., & Finkel, S. M. (2008). Open hearts build lives: positive emotions, induced through loving-kindness meditation, build consequential personal resources. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(5), 1045–1062. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013262
- Frese, M., & Fay, D. (2001). 4. Personal initiative: An active performance concept for work in the 21st century. *Research in organizational behavior*, 23, 133-187.
- Frizzell, D. A., Hoon, S., & Banner, D. K. (2016). A phenomenological investigation of leader development and mindfulness meditation. *Journal of Social Change*, 8(1), 14-25. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2016.08.1.02

- Fullan, M., & Scott, G. (2014). New pedagogies for deep learning whitepaper: Education PLUS. *Collaborative Impact SPC*. Retrieved from http://www.michaelfullan.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Education-Plus-A-Whitepaper-July-2014-1.pdf
- Furtner, M. R., Baldegger, U., & Rauthmann, J. F. (2013). Leading yourself and leading others: Linking Self-Leadership to transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 22(4), 436–449. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2012.665605
- Furtner, M. R., Rauthmann, J. F., & Sachse, P. (2011). The self-loving self-leader: An examination of the relationship between Self-Leadership and the Dark Triad. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 39(3), 369-380–380. https://doi.org/10.2224/ sbp.2011.39.3.369
- Furtner, M. R., Rauthmann, J. F., & Sachse, P. (2015). Unique Self-Leadership: A bifactor model approach. *Leadership*, 11(1), 105–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1742715013511484
- Furtner, M. R., Tutzer, L., & Sachse, P. (2018). The mindful self-leader: Investigating the relationships between Self-Leadership and mindfulness. *Social Behavior* and Personality: an International Journal, 46(3), 353-360–360. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6521
- Gagné, M., & Deci, E. L. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 26(4), 331–362. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/job.322
- Galabova, L., & McKie, L. (2013). "The five fingers of my hand": human capital and well-being in SMEs. *Personnel Review*, 42, 662–683. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1108/PR-01-2012-0017
- Gard, T., Taquet, M., Dixit, R., Hölzel, B. K., de Montjoye, Y.-A., Brach, N., & Lazar, S. W. (2014). Fluid intelligence and brain functional organization in aging yoga and meditation practitioners. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 6. 76. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2014.00076
- Germaine, R., Richards, J., Koeller, M., & Schubert-Irastorza, C. (2016). Purposeful Use of 21st Century Skills in Higher Education. Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching, 9(1), 19 – 29.

- Germer, C. K., Siegel, R. D., & Fulton, P. R. (Eds.). (2005). *Mindfulness and psychotherapy*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Gino, F. and Staats, B. (2015) Developing Employees who think for themselves. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2015/06/developingemployees-who-think-for-themselves
- Giorgi, A. (2009). *The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach*. Pittsburgh, PA: Duquesne University Press.
- Glomb, T. M., Yang, T., Bono, J. E., & Duffy, M. K. (2011). Mindfulness at Work. In *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management* (Vol. 30, pp. 115– 157). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0742-7301(2011)0000030005
- Gold, E., Smith, A., Hopper, I., Herne, D., Tansey, G., & Hulland, C. (2009).
  Mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) for primary school teachers.
  Journal of Child and Family Studies, 19(2), 184–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10826-009-9344-0
- Goleman, D. (2013). *Focus: The hidden driver of excellence*. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Gollwitzer, P. M., & Oettingen, G. (2011). Planning promotes goal striving. In Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications (pp. 162– 185). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Good, D. J., Lyddy, C. J., Glomb, T. M., Bono, J. E., Brown, K. W., Duffy, M. K., & Lazar, S. W. (2016). Contemplating mindfulness at work: An integrative review. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 114–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0149206315617003
- Goodman, M. J., & Schorling, J. B. (2012). A mindfulness course decreases burnout and improves well-being among healthcare providers. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 43(2), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.2190/PM.43.2.b
- Goyal, M., Singh, S., Sibinga, E. M. S., Gould, N. F., Rowland-Seymour, A., Sharma, R., & Haythornthwaite, J. A. (2014). Meditation programs for psychological stress and well-being: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(3), 357–368. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed. 2013.13018

Green, J. & Thorogood, N. (2009). *Qualitative methods for health research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Greenstein, L. (2012). Assessing 21st century skills. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin

- Greiff, S., Wüstenberg, S., Holt, D. V., Goldhammer, F., & Funke, J. (2013).
  Computer-based assessment of complex problem solving: Concept,
  implementation, and application. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 61(3), 407–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-013-9301-x
- Griffin, M., & Annulis, H. (2013). Employability skills in practice: The case of manufacturing education in Mississippi. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 17(3), 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12011
- Grinnell, S., Greene, G., Melanson, K., Blissmer, B., & Lofgren, I. E. (2011). Anthropometric and behavioral measures related to mindfulness in college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(6), 539–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2011.555932
- Groenewald, T. (2004). A phenomenological research design illustrated. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 160940690400300104
- Grossman, P., Niemann, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57(1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00573-7
- Grossman, R. (1995). Phenomenology. In T. Honderich (Ed.). *The Oxford companion to philosophy (pp. 658-660)*. New York, NY : Oxford University Press.
- group. OECD. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/g20/topics/employment-and-social-policy/Enhancing-Employability-G20-Report2016.pdf.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A. & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59 82.
- Gunaratana, H. (1991). *Mindfulness in plain English*. Boston, MA: Wisdom Publications
- Gunasekara, A., & Zheng, C. S. M. (2019). Examining the effect of different facets of mindfulness on work engagement. *Employee Relations*. 41(1), 193-208.

- Hafenbrack, A. C. (2017). Mindfulness meditation as an on-the-spot workplace intervention. *Journal of Business Research*, 75, 118-129.
- Hallman, I. S., O'Connor, N., Hasenau, S., & Brady, S. (2014). Improving the culture of safety on a high-acuity inpatient child/adolescent psychiatric unit by mindfulness-based stress reduction training of staff. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing: Official Publication of the Association of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nurses, Inc*, 27(4), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcap.12091
- Harder, A., Andenoro, A., Roberts, T. G., Stedman, N., Newberry III, M., Parker, S. J., & Rodriguez, M. T. (2015). Does study abroad increase employability?. *NACTA Journal*, 59(1), 41.
- Hargus, E., Crane, C., Barnhofer, T., & Williams, J. M. G. (2010). Effects of mindfulness on meta-awareness and specificity of describing prodromal symptoms in suicidal depression. *Emotion*, 10(1), 34–42. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0016825
- Haselhuhn, M. P., Wong, E. M., & Ormiston, M. E. (2017). With great power comes shared responsibility: Psychological power and the delegation of authority. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 108, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.11.052
- Heifetz, R., Grashow, A., & Linsky, M. (2009). The practice of adaptive leadership: Tools and tactics for changing your organization and the world. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Press.
- Helber, C., Zook, N. A., & Immergut, M. (2012). Meditation in higher education: Does it enhance cognition? *Innovative Higher Education*, 37(5), 349–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-012-9217-0
- Higgins, E. T. (1998). Promotion and prevention: Regulatory focus as a motivational principle. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* (Vol. 30, pp. 1–46). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60381-0
- Holloway, I. (1997). *Basic concepts for qualitative research*. Oxford: Blackwell Science.

- Holton, E.F. and Naquin, S. (2002). Workforce development: a guide for developing and implementing workforce development systems, *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 4(2), 22–39.
- Hölzel, B., Carmody, J., & Vangel, M. (2011). Mindfulness practice leads to increases in regional brain gray matter density. *Psychiatry Research*, 191(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.08.006.
- Houghton, J. D., & Yoho, S. K. (2005). Toward a contingency model of leadership and psychological empowerment: When should Self-Leadership be encouraged? *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 11(4), 65–83. https://doi.org/10.1177/107179190501100406
- Houghton, J. D., Carnes, A., & Ellison, C. N. (2014). A cross-cultural examination of Self-Leadership: Testing for measurement invariance across four cultures. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21(4), 414-430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051813515753
- Houghton, J. D., Wu, J., Godwin, J. L., Neck, C. P., & Manz, C. C. (2012). Effective stress management: A model of emotional intelligence, Self-Leadership, and student stress coping. *Journal of Management Education*, 36(2), 220–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052562911430205
- Hu, Y., Zhao, X., & Chen, Y. (2019). The influence of managerial mindfulness on innovation: Evidence from China. Sustainability, 11(10), 2914–2934. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11102914
- Hülsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., & Lang, J. W. B. (2013).
  Benefits of mindfulness at work: The role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(2), 310–325. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031313
- Hunter, J., & Chaskalson, M. (2013). Making the mindful leader: Cultivating skills for facing adaptive challenges. In *The Wiley-Blackwell handbook of the psychology of leadership, change, and organizational development* (pp. 195–219). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118326404.ch10
- Hycner, R. H. (1985). Some guidelines for the phenomenological analysis of interview data. *Human Studies*, 8(3), 279–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00142995

- Inzlicht, M., & Berkman, E. (2015). Six questions for the resource model of control (and some answers). Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 9(10), 511– 524. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12200
- Jackson, D. (2009) An international profile of industry-relevant competencies and skill gaps in modern graduates. *International Journal of Management Education*, 8(3), 29-58. https://doi.org/10.3794/ijme.83.288
- Jackson, D. (2013). Business graduate employability where are we going wrong? Higher Education Research & Development, 32(5), 776–790. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2012.709832
- Jacobs, S. J., & Blustein, D. L. (2008). Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism for Employment Uncertainty. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 57(2), 174– 180. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-0045.2008.tb00045.x
- Jamieson, S. D., & Tuckey, M. R. (2017). Mindfulness interventions in the workplace: A critique of the current state of the literature. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(2), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000048
- Jensen, J., Neck, C., & Beaulieu, R. (2018). The self-action leadership model: A qualitative, nomological expansion of Self-Leadership theory rooted in action research theory. *Journal of Leadership and Management*, 2(11), 10-30.
- Jimenez, S. S., Niles, B. L., & Park, C. L. (2010). A mindfulness model of affect regulation and depressive symptoms: Positive emotions, mood regulation expectancies, and self-acceptance as regulatory mechanisms. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(6), 645–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.05.041
- Johnson, D. C., Thom, N. J., Stanley, E. A., Haase, L., Simmons, A. N., Shih, P.-A. B., & Paulus, M. P. (2014). Modifying resilience mechanisms in at-risk individuals: A controlled study of mindfulness training in Marines preparing for deployment. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 171(8), 844–853. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13040502
- Jones, S. M., Bodie, G. D., & Hughes, S. D. (2019). The impact of mindfulness on empathy, active listening, and perceived provisions of emotional support. Communication Research, 46(6), 838-865.

- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1982). An outpatient program in behavioral medicine for chronic pain patients based on the practice of mindfulness meditation: Theoretical considerations and preliminary results. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 4(1), 33–47.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go there you are: Mindfulness meditation in everyday life. New York: Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2002). Meditation is about paying attention. *Reflections: The SoL Journal*, *3*(3), 68–71. doi:10.1162/152417302317363949
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy/bpg016
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2005). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness, 15th anniversary ed. New York, NY, US: Delta Trade.
- Kabat-Zinn, J., Lipworth, L., & Burney, R. (1985). The clinical use of mindfulness meditation for the self-regulation of chronic pain. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 8(2), 163–190.
- Kabat-Zinn, J., Lipworth, L., Burney, R., & Sellers, W. (1987). Four-year follow-up of a meditation-based program for the self-regulation of chronic pain: Treatment 140 outcomes and compliance. *Clinical Journal of Pain, 3*(1), 159-173. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002508-198703010-00010
- Kanfer, R., & Ackerman, P. L. (1996). A self-regulatory skills perspective to reducing cognitive interference. In *Cognitive interference: Theories, methods, and findings* (pp. 153–171). Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Kanfer, R., Frese, M., & Johnson, R. E. (2017). Motivation related to work: A century of progress. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(3), 338–355. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000133
- Karami, A., Cusworth, J., & Analoui, F. (2004). Strategic human resource management and resource-based approach: The evidence from the British manufacturing industry. *Management Research News*, 27(6), 50–68. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409170410784202

- Katewa, E., & Heystek, J. (2019). Instructional and Distributed Self-Leadership for School Improvement: Experiences of Schools in the Kavango Region. *Africa Education Review*, 16(2), 69–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2016.1267575
- Ke, K., Manz, C. C., Lovelace, K. J., Toyasaki, F., Alves, J. C., & Matsypura, D.
  (2006). A cross-cultural perspective of self-leadership. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 21(4), 338–359. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610663123
- Keng, S.-L., Robins, C. J., Smoski, M. J., Dagenbach, J., & Leary, M. R. (2013).
  Reappraisal and mindfulness: A comparison of subjective effects and cognitive costs. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *51*(12), 899–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2013.10.006
- Kennedy, A. (2005). Models of Continuing Professional Development: A framework for analysis. *Journal of In-Service Education*, 31(2), 235–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674580500200277
- Kerr, S., & Jermier, J. M. (1978). Substitutes for leadership: Their meaning and measurement. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 22(3), 375– 403. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(78)90023-5
- Kim, H., Im, J., & Qu, H. (2018). Exploring antecedents and consequences of job crafting. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 75, 18-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.02.014
- King, S. & Zaino, G. (2015) Your company needs independent workers. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2015/11/your-company-needs-independent-workers
- Kirkman, B. L., & Shapiro, D. L. (2001). The impact of cultural values on job satisfaction and organizational commitment in self-managing work teams: The mediating role of employee resistance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(3), 557–569. https://doi.org/10.2307/3069370
- Knight, R. (2017) How to manage a needy employee. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2017/06/how-to-manage-a-needy-employee

- Kong, D. T., & Ho, V. T. (2016). A self-determination perspective of strengths use at work: Examining its determinant and performance implications. *The Journal* of Positive Psychology, 11(1), 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17439760.2015.1004555
- Kong, E., & Thomson, S. B. (2006). Intellectual capital and strategic human resource management in social service non-profit organisations in Australia. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management*, 6(2–4), 213–231. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHRDM.2006.010396
- Kotter, J. P. (2012). Leading change: Why transformation efforts fail. *Harvard business press*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2007/01/leading-change-whytransformation-efforts-fail
- Kotzé, M. (2018). The influence of psychological capital, Self-Leadership, and mindfulness on work engagement. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 48(2), 279–292. https://doi.org/10.1177/0081246317705812
- Krasner, M. S., Epstein, R. M., Beckman, H., Suchman, A. L., Chapman, B., Mooney, C. J., & Quill, T. E. (2009). Association of an educational program in mindful communication with burnout, empathy, and attitudes among primary care physicians. *JAMA*, *302*(12), 1284–1293.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.1384

- Kreitner, R. & Kinicki, A. (2003). *Organizational Behavior*. Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Krishnakumar, S., & Robinson, M. D. (2015). Maintaining an even keel: An affectmediated model of mindfulness and hostile work behavior. *Emotion*, 15(5), 579–589. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000060
- Kuan, T. (2012). Cognitive operations in Buddhist meditation: Interface with Western psychology. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 13(1), 35–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2012.669281
- Langdridge, D. (2007). *Phenomenological psychology: Theory, research and methods*. London: Pearson.
- Langer, E. J. (2000). Mindful learning. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(6), 220-223. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00099

- Langer, E. J., & Moldoveanu, M. (2000). The construct of mindfulness. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00148
- Langfred, C. W. (2007). The downside of self-management: A longitudinal study of the effects of conflict on trust, autonomy, and task interdependence in selfmanaging teams. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(4), 885–900. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2007.26279196
- Latham, G. P., & Locke, E. A. (1991). Self-regulation through goal setting. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 212–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90021-K
- Lau, M., Bishop, S. R., Segal, Z. V., Buis, T., Anderson, N. D., Carlson, L., Shapiro, S., Carmody, J., Abbey, S., & Devins, G. (2006). The Toronto Mindfulness Scale: Development and validation. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(12), 1445–1467. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20326
- Laverty, S. M. (2003). Hermeneutic phenomenology and phenomenology: A comparison of historical and methodological considerations. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(3), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200303
- Legard, R., Keegan, J. and Ward, K. (2003) In-depth interviews. In Richie, J. and Lewis, J. (Eds.), *Qualitative Research Practice* (pp. 139-168). London: Sage.
- Leotti, L. A., Iyengar, S. S., & Ochsner, K. N. (2010). Born to choose: The origins and value of the need for control. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 14(10), 457– 463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.08.001
- Leroy, H., Anseel, F., Dimitrova, N. G., & Sels, L. (2013). Mindfulness, authentic functioning, and work engagement: A growth modeling approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 82(3), 238–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2013.01.012
- Leung, M.-K., Chan, C. C. H., Yin, J., Lee, C.-F., So, K.-F., & Lee, T. M. C. (2013). Increased gray matter volume in the right angular and posterior parahippocampal gyri in loving-kindness meditators. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 8(1), 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nss076

- Levesque, C., & Brown, K. W. (2007). Mindfulness as a moderator of the effect of implicit motivational self-concept on day-to-day behavioral motivation. *Motivation and Emotion*, 31(4), 284–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-007-9075-8
- Lim, D., Condon, P., & DeSteno, D. (2015). Mindfulness and compassion: An examination of mechanism and scalability. *PloS One*, *10*(2), e0118221. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118221
- Lim, J. Y. K. (2018). IT-enabled awareness and self-directed leadership behaviors in virtual teams. *Information and Organization*, 28(2), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2018.02.001
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (1990). *A theory of goal setting and task performance*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Long, E. C., & Christian, M. S. (2015). Mindfulness buffers retaliatory responses to injustice: A regulatory approach. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(5), 1409–1422. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000019
- Lucke, G. A., & Furtner, M. R. (2015). Soldiers lead themselves to more success: A Self-Leadership intervention study. *Military Psychology*, 27(5), 311–324. https://doi.org/b2t9
- Luders, E., Cherbuin, N., & Kurth, F. (2015). Forever Young(er): Potential agedefying effects of long-term meditation on gray matter atrophy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, 1551. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01551
- Ludwig, D. S., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (2008). Mindfulness in medicine. *JAMA*, *300*(11), 1350–1352. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.300.11.1350
- Lustyk, M. K., Chawla, N., Nolan, R., & Marlatt, G. A. (2009). Mindfulness meditation research: issues of participant screening, safety procedures, and researcher training. *Advances in Mind-Body Medicine*, 24(1), 20-30.
- Luthans, F., & Kreitner, R. (1985). Organizational behavior modification and beyond. Scott, Foresman.
- MacDonald, E., & Shirley, D. (2009). *The mindful teacher*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- MacKenzie, M. J., & Baumeister, R. F. (2015). Self-regulatory strength and mindfulness. In B. D. Ostafin, M. D. Robinson, & B. P. Meier (Eds.), *Handbook of mindfulness and self-regulation* (pp. 95–105). New York: Springer.
- Maex, E. (2011). The Buddhist roots of mindfulness training: A practitioner's view. Contemporary Buddhism, 12(1), 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564835
- Mahfouz, J. (2018). Mindfulness training for school administrators: effects on wellbeing and leadership. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(6), 602–619. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-12-2017-0171
- Makransky, J. (2003). Buddhist perspectives on truth in other religions: Past and present. *Theological Studies*, 64(2), 334–361. https://doi.org/10.1177/004056390306400205
- Malinowski, P., & Lim, H. J. (2015). Mindfulness at work: Positive affect, hope, and optimism mediate the relationship between dispositional mindfulness, work engagement, and well-being. *Mindfulness*, 6(6), 1250–1262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0388-5
- Manz, C. C. (1983). The art of Self-Leadership: Strategies for personal effectiveness in your life and work. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Manz, C. C. (1986). Self-Leadership: Toward an expanded theory of self-influence processes in organizations. *The Academy of Management Review*, 11(3), 585– 600. https://doi.org/10.2307/258312
- Manz, C. C. (2015). Taking the Self-Leadership high road: Smooth surface or potholes ahead? Academy of Management Perspectives, 29(1), 132–151. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2013.0060
- Manz, C. C., & Sims, H. P. (1980). Self-management as a substitute for leadership: A social learning theory perspective. *The Academy of Management Review*, 5(3), 361–367. https://doi.org/10.2307/257111
- Manz, C. C., & Sims, H. P. (1987). Leading workers to lead themselves: The external leadership of self- managing work teams. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 32(1), 106–129. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392745

- Manz, C. C., & Sims, H. P. (2001). *The new superleadership: Leading others to lead themselves*. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Manz, C. C., Adsit, D., Campbell, S., & Mathison-Hance, M. (1988). Managerial Thought Patterns and Performance: A Study of Perceptual Patterns of Performance Hindrances for Higher and Lower Performing Managers. *Human Relations*, 41(6), 447–465. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872678804100603
- Manz, C. C., Cameron, K., Manz, K. P., & Marx, R. D. (Eds.). (2008). The virtuous organization: Insights 148 The Academy of Management Perspectives February from some of the world's leading management thinkers. Singapore: World Scientific Publishers.
- Manz, C.C. & Neck, C.P. (2004) *Mastering Self-Leadership: Empowering yourself* for personal excellence. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Maranges, H. M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2016). Self-control and ego depletion. Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications, 42-61.
- Markham, S. E., & Markham, I. S. (1995). Self-management and Self-Leadership reexamined: A levels-of-analysis perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(3), 343–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90013-6
- Marques-Quinteiro, P., & Curral, L. A. (2012). Goal orientation and work role performance: Predicting adaptive and proactive work role performance through Self-Leadership strategies. *The Journal of Psychology*, 146(6), 559– 577. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2012.656157
- Marrone, J. A. (2010). Team boundary spanning: A multilevel review of past research and proposals for the future. *Journal of Management*, 36(4), 911–940. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309353945
- Martijn, C., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Merckelbach, H., Havermans, R., Huijts, A., & Vries, N. K. (2007). Overcoming ego depletion: the influence of exemplar priming on self-control performance. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 37(2), 231–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.350

- Mason, A. E., Epel, E. S., Kristeller, J., Moran, P. J., Dallman, M., Lustig, R. H., & Daubenmier, J. (2016). Effects of a mindfulness-based intervention on mindful eating, sweets consumption, and fasting glucose levels in obese adults: data from the SHINE randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *39*(2), 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9692-8
- Masuda, A., Wendell, J. W., Chou, Y. Y., & Feinstein, A. B. (2010). Relationships among self-concealment, mindfulness and negative psychological outcomes in Asian American and European American college students. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, 32(3), 165–177. doi:10.1007/s10447-010-9097-x
- Mathieu, J. E., Heffner, T. S., Goodwin, G. F., Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2000). The influence of shared mental models on team process and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(2), 273-283. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.85.2.273
- Mathieu, J. E., Luciano, M. M., & DeChurch, L. A. (2018). Multiteam Systems: The Next Chapter. In *The SAGE Handbook of Industrial, Work & Organizational Psychology* (pp. 333–353). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473914957
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach (Vol.* 41). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McClelland, D. C. (1998). Identifying competencies with behavioral-event interviews. *Psychological Science*, 9(5), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00065
- McIntyre, H. H., & Foti, R. J. (2013). The impact of shared leadership on teamwork mental models and performance in self-directed teams. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 16*(1), 46-57.
  - https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430211422923
- McKee, A., Johnston, F., & Massimilian, R. (2006). Mindfulness, hope and compassion: A leader's road map to renewal. *Ivey Business Journal*, 70(5), 15. Retrieved from https://iveybusinessjournal.com/publication/mindfulness-hope-and-compassion-a-leaders-road-map-to-renewal/

- Mendes, M., Gomes, C., Lind, P., Marques-Quinteiro, P., & Curral, L. (2016). Promoting learning and innovation in organizations through complexity leadership theory. *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, 22(5/6), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-02-2016-0004
- Metiu, A., & Rothbard, N. P. (2012). Task bubbles, artifacts, shared emotion, and mutual focus of attention: A comparative study of the microprocesses of group engagement. *Organization Science*, 24(2), 455–475. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1120.0738
- Millikin, J. P., Hom, P. W., & Manz, C. C. (2010). Embedded self-managing teams: How individual self-management influences productivity of teams of teams. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21(5), 687-702.
- Millman, Z., & Latham, G. (2001). Increasing reemployment through training in verbal self-guidance. In *Work motivation in the context of a globalizing economy* (pp. 87–97). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Moore, A., & Malinowski, P. (2009). Meditation, mindfulness and cognitive flexibility. Consciousness and cognition, 18(1), 176-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2008.12.008
- Moore, A., Gruber, T., Derose, J., & Malinowski, P. (2012). Regular, brief mindfulness meditation practice improves electrophysiological markers of attentional control. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00018
- Moran, D. (2002). Introduction to phenomenology. Routledge.
- Morgeson, F. P., DeRue, D. S., & Karam, E. P. (2010). Leadership in teams: A functional approach to understanding leadership structures and processes. *Journal of Management*, *36*(1), 5-39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0149206309347376
- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Mrazek, M. D., Franklin, M. S., Phillips, D. T., Baird, B., & Schooler, J. W. (2013). Mindfulness training improves working memory capacity and GRE performance while reducing mind wandering. *Psychological Science*, 24(5), 776–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612459659
- Müller, T., & Niessen, C. (2018). Self-Leadership and self-control strength in the work context. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 33(1), 74-92. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-04-2017-0149
- Müller, T., & Niessen, C. (2019). Self-leadership in the context of part-time teleworking. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(8), 883-898. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2371
- Muraven, M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2000). Self-regulation and depletion of limited resources: Does self-control resemble a muscle? *Psychological Bulletin*, *126*(2), 247–259. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.2.247
- Murphy, M. J., Mermelstein, L. C., Edwards, K. M., & Gidycz, C. A. (2012). The benefits of dispositional mindfulness in physical health: A longitudinal study of female college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 60(5), 341–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2011.629260
- Nafukho, F. M., Hairston, N., & Brooks, K. (2004). Human capital theory: Implications for human resource development. *Human Resource Development International*, 7(4), 545–551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1367886042000299843</u>
- Nahavandi, A. (2006). *The art and science of leadership*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- National Education Association. (2012). Preparing 21st century students for a global society: An educator's guide to the four Cs. Retrieved from http://www.nea.org/assets/docs/A-Guide-to-Four-Cs.pdf

National Research Council. (2012). Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. Retrieved from: http:// sites.nationalacademies.org/cs/groups/dbassesite/documents/webpage/ dbasse\_070895.pdf.

- Neck, C. P., & Manz, C. C. (1996). Thought Self-Leadership: the impact of mental strategies training on employee cognition, behavior, and affect. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *17*(5), 445–467. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199609)17:5<445::AID-JOB770>3.0.CO;2-N
- Neck, C. P., & Manz, C. C. (2010). Mastering Self-Leadership: Empowering yourself for personal excellence. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Neck, C., & Houghton, J. D. (2006). Two decades of Self-Leadership theory and research: Past developments, present trends, and future possibilities. *Journal* of Managerial Psychology, 21(4), 270–295. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610663097
- Neck, C., Houghton, J. D., Sardeshmukh, S. R., Goldsby, M., & Godwin, J. L. (2013). Self-Leadership: A cognitive resource for entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 26(5), 463–480. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2013.876762
- Neck, C.P., Manz C.C., Houghton J.D. (2017). *Self-Leadership: The definitive guide to personal excellence*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. K. (2013). A pilot study and randomized controlled trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21923
- Nesbit, P. L. (2012). The role of self-reflection, emotional management of feedback, and self-regulation processes in self-directed leadership development. *Human Resource Development Review*, 11(2), 203–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484312439196
- Neubauer, A. C., & Fink, A. (2009). Intelligence and neural efficiency. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(7), 1004–1023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.04.001
- Neubert, M. J., & Wu, J.-C. C. (2006). An investigation of the generalizability of the Houghton and Neck Revised Self-Leadership Questionnaire to a Chinese context. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 21(4), 360–373. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610663132

- Newman, A., Ucbasaran, D., Zhu, F., & Hirst, G. (2014). Psychological capital: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 35(S1), S120– S138. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1916
- Nicolaides, V. C., LaPort, K. A., Chen, T. R., Tomassetti, A. J., Weis, E. J., Zaccaro, S. J., & Cortina, J. M. (2014). The shared leadership of teams: A meta-analysis of proximal, distal, and moderating relationships. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(5), 923–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.06.006
- Nonaka I. and Takeuchi H. (1995) *The knowledge-creating company: How Japanese companies create the dynamics of innovation*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Noone, C., Bunting, B., & Hogan, M. J. (2016). Does mindfulness enhance critical thinking? Evidence for the mediating effects of executive functioning in the relationship between mindfulness and critical thinking. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6, Article 2043, 1-6.
- Norris, S. E. (2008). An examination of Self-Leadership. *Emerging Leadership Journeys*, 1(2), 43-61. Retrieved from https://www.regent.edu/acad/global/publications/elj/vol1iss2/ELJ\_V1Is2\_Norr is.pdf
- Ocasio, W. (2011). Attention to Attention. Organization Science, 22(5), 1286–1296. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1100.0602
- OECD. (2016). Enhancing employability: Report prepared for the G20 employment working
- OECD. (2017b). Getting skills right: Skills for jobs indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264277878-en
- OECD. (2017a). OECD skills outlook 2017: Skills and global value chains. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Olendzki, A. (2009). Mindfulness and meditation. In F. Didonna (Ed.), Clinical handbook of mindfulness (pp. 37–44). New York, NY: Springer.
- Oman, D., Shapiro, S. L., Thoresen, C. E., Plante, T. G., & Flinders, T. (2008). Meditation lowers stress and supports forgiveness among college students: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of American College Health*, 56(5), 569-578. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.56.5.569-578.

- Ontario Public Service. (2016) Towards defining 21<sup>st</sup> century competencies for Ontario: 21<sup>st</sup> century competencies. Retrived from http://www.edugains.ca/resources21CL/About21stCentury/21CL\_21stCentury Competencies.pdf
- Ostafin, B. D., & Kassman, K. T. (2012). Stepping out of history: Mindfulness improves insight problem solving. *Consciousness and Cognition*, *21*(2), 1031–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2012.02.014
- Özyurt, Ö. (2015). Examining the Critical Thinking Dispositions and the Problem Solving Skills of Computer Engineering Students. *EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 11(2), 353–361. https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2015.1342a
- Palmer, A., & Rodger, S. (2009). Mindfulness, stress, and coping among university students. *Canadian Journal of Counseling*, 43(3), 198–212.
- Palvalin, M., van der Voordt, T., & Jylhä, T. (2017). The impact of workplaces and self-management practices on the productivity of knowledge workers. *Journal* of Facilities Management, 15(4), 423-438. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFM-03-2017-0010
- Papies, E. K., Pronk, T. M., Keesman, M., & Barsalou, L. W. (2015). The benefits of simply observing: Mindful attention modulates the link between motivation and behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *108*(1), 148–170. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038032
- Parent-Thirion, A., Vermeylen, G., van Houten, G., Lyly-Yrjanainen, M., Biletta, I.,
  & Cabrita, J. (2012). *Fifth European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS) Overview report*. Dublin: Eurofound. https://doi.org/10.2806/34660.
- Parsons, C. K., Herold, D. M., & Leatherwood, M. L. (1985). Turnover during initial employment: A longitudinal study of the role of causal attributions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(2), 337–341. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.70.2.337
- Partnership for 21st Century Skills. (2008). 21st century skills, education & competitiveness: A resource and policy guide. Washington: Author.

- Passmore, J. (2019). *Mindfulness in organizations: a critical literature review*. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, *51* (2), 104 – 113. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-07-2018-0063
- Patton, M. Q. (2011). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paul, R. and Elder, L. (2014). The miniature guide to critical thinking concepts and tools. Retrieved from https://www.criticalthinking.org/files/Concepts\_Tools.pdf
- Paul, R., Elder, L, & Bartell, T. (1997). A brief history of critical thinking. Retrieved from http://www.criticalthinking.org/pages/a-brief-history-of-the-idea-ofcritical-thinking/408
- Paulson, R., Wajdi, H., & Manz, C. C. (2009). Succeeding through collaborative conflict: The paradoxical lessons of shared leadership. *Journal of Values Based Leadership*, 2(1), 59-74.
- Pearce, C. L. (2004). The future of leadership: Combining vertical and shared leadership to transform knowledge work. Academy of Management Perspectives, 18(1), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.2004.12690298
- Pearce, C. L., & Manz, C. C. (2011). Leadership Centrality and Corporate Social Ir-Responsibility (CSIR): The potential ameliorating effects of self and shared leadership on CSIR. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 102(4), 563. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-0828-7
- Pearce, C. L., & Sims Jr., H. P. (2002). Vertical versus shared leadership as predictors of the effectiveness of change management teams: An examination of aversive, directive, transactional, transformational, and empowering leader behaviors. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 6(2), 172–197. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2699.6.2.172
- Petchsawang, P., & McLean, G. N. (2017). Workplace spirituality, mindfulness meditation, and work engagement. *Journal of Management, Spirituality & Religion*, 14(3), 216-244. https://doi.org/10.1080/14766086.2017.1291360
- Peters, M. A. (2010). Three forms of the knowledge economy: Learning, creativity and openness. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 58(1), 67–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071000903516452

- Phang, C. K., Mukhtar, F., Ibrahim, N., Keng, S.-L., & Mohd Sidik, S. (2015). Effects of a brief mindfulness-based intervention program for stress management among medical students: The Mindful-Gym randomized controlled study. *Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice*, 20(5), 1115–1134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-015-9591-3
- Pina e Cunha, M., Pacheco, M., Castanheira, F., & Rego, A. (2017). Reflexive work and the duality of Self-Leadership. *Leadership*, 13(4), 472–495. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715015606511
- Pipe, T. B., & Bortz, J. J. (2009). Mindful leadership as healing practice: Nurturing self to serve others. *International Journal of Human Caring*, *13*(2), 34-38.
- Polusny, M. A., Erbes, C. R., Thuras, P., Moran, A., Lamberty, G. J., Collins, R. C., ... Lim, K. O. (2015). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for posttraumatic stress disorder among veterans: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, 314(5), 456–465. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.8361
- Pot, F. (2011). Workplace innovation for better jobs and performance. International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 60(4), 404–415. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410401111123562
- Pot, F., Dhondt, S. & Oeij, P. (2012). Social innovation of work and employment. In H-W. Franz, J. Hochgerner & J. Howaldt (Eds.), *Challenge Social Innovation*. *Potential for business, social entrepreneurship, welfare and civil society* (pp. 261-274). Berlin: Springer.
- Powell, W. W., & Snellman, K. (2004). The knowledge economy. Annual Review of Sociology, 30(1), 199–220. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100037
- Prendergast, M., Podus, D., Finney, J., Greenwell, L., & Roll, J. (2006). Contingency management for treatment of substance use disorders: a meta-analysis. *Addiction*, 101(11), 1546–1560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01581.x
- Quaglia, J. T., Brown, K. W., Lindsay, E. K., Creswell, J. D., & Goodman, R. J. (2015). From conceptualization to operationalization of mindfulness. *Handbook of mindfulness: Theory, research, and practice*, 151-170.

- Raney, A. F. (2014). Agility in adversity: Integrating mindfulness and principles of adaptive leadership in the administration of a community mental health center. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 42(3), 312-320. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10615-014-0487-0
- Ratanasiripong, P., Park, J. F., Ratanasiripong, N., & Kathalae, D. (2015). Stress and anxiety management in nursing students: biofeedback and mindfulness meditation. Journal of Nursing Education, 54(9), 520–524. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20150814-07.
- Ray, J. L., Baker, L. T., & Plowman, D. A. (2011). Organizational mindfulness in business schools. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 10(2), 188–203. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMLE.2011.62798929
- Reb, J., Narayanan, J., & Chaturvedi, S. (2014). Leading mindfully: Two studies on the influence of supervisor trait mindfulness on employee well-being and performance. *Mindfulness*, 5(1), 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0144-z
- Richards, K. C., Campenni, C. E., & Muse-Burke, J. L. (2010). Self-care and wellbeing in mental health professionals: The mediating effects of self-awareness and mindfulness. *Journal of Mental Health Counselling*, 32(3), 247–264. https://doi.org/10.17744/mehc.32.3.0n31v88304423806
- Rieken, B., Schar, M., Shapiro, S., Gilmartin, S., & Sheppard, S. (2017). Exploring the relationship between mindfulness and innovation in engineering students. In *Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference*, June 25-28. Columbus, OH..
- Rocco, S., Dempsey, S., & Hartman, D. (2012). Teaching calm abiding meditation to mental health workers: A descriptive account of valuing subjectivity. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 13, 193-211. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2012.716707
- Roche, M., Haar, J. M., & Luthans, F. (2014). The role of mindfulness and psychological capital on the well-being of leaders. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 19(4), 476–489. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037183

- Roeser, R. W., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Jha, A., Cullen, M., Wallace, L., Wilensky, R., & Harrison, J. (2013). Mindfulness training and reductions in teacher stress and burnout: Results from two randomized, waitlist-control field trials. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 787–804. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032093
- Rosenberg, E. L., Zanesco, A. P., King, B. G., Aichele, S. R., Jacobs, T. L., Bridwell,
  D. A., & Saron, C. D. (2015). Intensive meditation training influences
  emotional responses to suffering. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, *15*(6), 775–790. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000080
- Rosenberg, E. L., Zanesco, A. P., King, B. G., Aichele, S. R., Jacobs, T. L., Bridwell, D. A., & Saron, C. D. (2015). Intensive meditation training influences emotional responses to suffering. *Emotion*, 15(6), 775–790. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000080
- Rotherham, A., & Willingham, D. (2009). 21st century skills: The challenges ahead. *Teaching for the 21st Century*, 67(1), 16–21. Retrieved from http://www.uvm.edu/~rgriffin/Noll-21Cent.pdf
- Ruedy, N. E., & Schweitzer, M. E. (2010). In the moment: The effect of mindfulness on ethical decision making. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 95, 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-0796-y
- Ruths, F. A., de Zoysa, N., Frearson, S. J., Hutton, J., Williams, M. G. J., & Walsh, J. (2013). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for mental health professionals-A pilot study. *Mindfulness*, 4, 289-295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0127-0
- Ryan, F., Coughlan, M., & Cronin, P. (2007). Step-by-step guide to critiquing research. Part 2: Qualitative research. *British journal of nursing*, 16(12), 738-744. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2007.16.12.23726
- Ryan, L. (2016). 12 qualities employers look for when they're hiring. *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/lizryan/2016/03/02/12-qualitiesemployers-look-for-when-theyre-hiring/#92633e62c242
- Samuelson, M., Carmody, J., Kabat-Zinn, J., & Bratt, M. A. (2007). Mindfulnessbased stress reduction in Massachusetts correctional facilities. *The Prison Journal*, 87(2), 254–268. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032885507303753

- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2004). Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25(3), 293–315. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.248
- Schmertz, S. K., Anderson, P. L., & Robins, D. L. (2008). The relation between selfreport mindfulness and performance on tasks of sustained attention. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 31(1), 60–66. https://doi.org/a10.1007/s10862-008-9086-0
- Schofield, T. P., Creswell, J. D., & Denson, T. F. (2015). Brief mindfulness induction reduces inattentional blindness. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 37, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2015.08.007
- Schultz, P. P., & Ryan, R. M. (2015). The "Why," "What," and "How" of Healthy Self-Regulation: Mindfulness and Well-Being from a Self-Determination Theory Perspective. In B. D. Ostafin, M. D. Robinson, & B. P. Meier (Eds.), *Handbook of Mindfulness and Self-Regulation* (pp. 81–94). New York, NY: Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2263-5\_7
- Schwandt, T. A. (1997). *Qualitative inquiry: A dictionary of terms.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Seibert, S. E., Wang, G., & Courtright, S. H. (2011). Antecedents and consequences of psychological and team empowerment in organizations: a meta-analytic review. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96(5), 981–1003. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022676
- Semple, J., Maran, T., & Furtner, M. R. (2017). A randomized controlled pilot intervention study of a mindfulness-based Self-Leadership training (MBSLT) on stress and performance. *Mindfulness*, 8(5), 1393-1407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0715-0
- Semple, R. J., Reid, E. F. G, & Miller, L. (2005). Mindfulness and anxiety. Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly, 19(4), 379–392.
- Shao, R., & Skarlicki, D. P. (2009). The role of mindfulness in predicting individual performance. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement*, 41(4), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015166

- Shapiro, S. L., Brown, K. W., & Biegel, G. M. (2007). Teaching self-care to caregivers: Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on the mental health of therapists in training. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, *1*, 105-115. https://doi.org/10.1037/1931-3918.1.2.105
- Shapiro, S. L., Carlson, L. E., Astin, J. A., & Freedman, B. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(3), 373–386. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp
- Shapiro, S. L., Oman, D., Thoresen, C. E., Plante, T. G., & Flinders, T. (2008). Cultivating mindfulness: Effects on well-being. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64(7), 840–863. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp
- Shapiro, S. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Booner, G. (1998). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 21, 581-599.
- Shmueli, D., & Prochaska, J. J. (2012). A test of positive affect induction for countering self-control depletion in cigarette smokers. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 26(1), 157–161. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023706
- Sibinga, E. M. S., Webb, L., Ghazarian, S. R., & Ellen, J. M. (2016). School-Based Mindfulness Instruction: An RCT. *Pediatrics*, 137(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-2532
- Siegel, R. D., Germer, C. K., & Olendzki, A. (2009). Mindfulness: What is it? Where did it come from? In F. Didonna (Ed.), *Clinical Handbook of Mindfulness* (pp. 17-36). New York, NY: Springer
- Silver, J., Caleshu, C., Casson-Parkin, S., & Ormond, K. (2018). Mindfulness among genetic counselors is associated with increased empathy and work engagement and decreased burnout and compassion fatigue. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, 27(5), 1175–1186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-018-0236-6
- Sin, C., & Amaral, A. (2017). Academics' and employers' perceptions about responsibilities for employability and their initiatives towards its development. *Higher Education*, 73(1), 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0007-y

- Singh, N. N., Singh, S. D., Sabaawi, M., Myers, R. E., & Wahler, R. G. (2006). Enhancing treatment team process through mindfulness-based mentoring in an inpatient psychiatric hospital. *Behavior Modification*, 30(4), 423–441. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445504272971
- Singh, N. N., Wechsler, H. A., Curtis, W. J., Sabaawi, M., Myers, R. E., & Singh, S. D. (2002). Effects of role-play and mindfulness training on enhancing the family friendliness of the admissions treatment team process. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *10*(2), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266020100020301
- Singh, R., Kumar, N., & Puri, S. (2017). Thought Self-Leadership strategies and sales performance: integrating selling skills and adaptive selling behavior as missing links. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 32(5), 652-663. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-06-2016-0127
- Slemp, G. R., Kern, M. L., & Vella-Brodrick, D. A. (2015). Workplace well-being: The role of job crafting and autonomy support. *Psychology of Well-Being*, 5(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13612-015-0034-y
- Slocum, J. W., & Hellriegel, D. (2009). Principles of organizational behavior. South-Western Cengage Learning.
- Slutsky, J., Chin, B., Raye, J., & Creswell, J. D. (2019). Mindfulness training improves employee well-being: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 24(1), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000132
- Smallwood, J., & Schooler, J. W. (2015). The science of mind wandering: Empirically navigating the stream of consciousness. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 487–518. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015331
- Solomon, L. (2015). The top complaints from employees about their leaders. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2015/06/the-top-complaints-from-employees-about-their-leaders?utm\_source=Socialflow&utm\_medium=Tweet&utm\_campaign=Socialflow
- Spencer, L. M., Jr., & Spencer, S. M. (2008). Competence at work: Models for superior performance. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Spreitzer G. (2008). Empowerment at work. In *The SAGE Handbook of Organizational Behavior* (pp. 54–72). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Stewart, G. L., & Manz, C. C. (1995). Leadership for self-managing work teams: A typology and integrative model. *Human Relations*, 48(7), 747–770. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679504800702

Stewart, G. L., Astrove, S. L., Reeves, C. J., Crawford, E. R., & Solimeo, S. L. (2017). Those with the most find it hardest to share: Exploring leader resistance to the implementation of team-based empowerment. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(6), 2266–2293. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.1173

- Stewart, G. L., Carson, K. P., & Cardy, R. L. (1996). The joint effects of conscientiousness and Self-Leadership training on employee self-directed behavior in a service setting. *Personnel Psychology*, 49(1), 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1996.tb01795.x
- Stewart, G. L., Courtright, S. H., & Barrick, M. R. (2012). Peer-based control in selfmanaging teams: Linking rational and normative influence with individual and group performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(2), 435-447. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0025303
- Stewart, G. L., Courtright, S. H., & Barrick, M. R. (2012). Peer-based control in selfmanaging teams: linking rational and normative influence with individual and group performance. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(2), 435–447. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025303
- Stewart, G. L., Courtright, S. H., & Manz, C. C. (2011). Self-Leadership: A multilevel review. *Journal of Management*, 37(1), 185-222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310383911
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. M. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Tabaziba, K. R. (2015). Psychological capital and work engagement: An investigation into the mediating effect of mindfulness (Unpublished master's thesis). Retrieved from https://open.uct.ac.za/bitstream/handle/11427/13793/thesis\_ com\_2015\_tabaziba\_kr.pdf;sequence=1

- Tadlock-Marlo, R. L. (2011). Making minds matter: Infusing mindfulness into school counseling. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, 6(3), 220-233. https://doi.org/10.1080/15401383.2011.605079
- Tata, J., & Prasad, S. (2004). Team Self-management, Organizational Structure, and Judgments of Team Effectiveness. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 16(2), 248– 265.
- Tay, L., & Diener, E. (2011). Needs and subjective well-being around the world. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 101(2), 354–365. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023779
- Teasdale, J. D., Segal, Z. V., Williams, J. M., Ridgeway, V. A., Soulsby, J. M., & Lau, M. A. (2000). Prevention of relapse/recurrence in major depression by mindfulness-based cognitive therapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(4), 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.4.615
- Teper, R., Segal, Z. V., & Inzlicht, M. (2013). Inside the mindful mind: How mindfulness enhances emotion regulation through improvements in executive control. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(6), 449–454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413495869
- Testa, D., & Sangganjanavanich, V. F. (2016). Contribution of mindfulness and emotional intelligence to burnout among counseling interns. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 55(2), 95-108. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12035
- Thoresen, C.E. and Mahoney, M.J. (1974). *Behavioral self-control.* New York, NY: Holt Rinehart & Winston.
- Tomlinson, M. (2012). Graduate employability: A review of conceptual and empirical themes. *Higher Education Policy*, 25(4), 407–431. https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2011.26
- Totterdill, P. (2015). Closing the gap: The fifth element and workplace innovation. *European Journal of Workplace Innovation*, 1(1), 55-74. https://doi.org/10.46364/ejwi.v1i1.166
- Totterdill, P., Cressey, P. and Exton, R. (2012). Social innovation at work: Workplace innovation as a social process. In: Franz, H-W, Hochgerner, J., Howaldt, J. (Eds), *Challenge Social Innovation. Potential for business, social entrepreneurship, welfare and civil society* (pp. 241-259. Berlin: Springer.

- Tovstiga, G. (2013). Strategy in practice: *A practitioner's guide to strategic thinking*. Cornwall, UK: John Wiley.
- Tuckey, M. R., Sonnentag, S., & Bryan, J. (2018). Are state mindfulness and state work engagement related during the workday? Work & Stress, 32(1), 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2017.1420707
- UNESCO. (2005). UNESCO world report: Towards knowledge societies. Paris: UNESCO.
- Unsworth, K. L., & Mason, C. M. (2012). Help yourself: The mechanisms through which a Self-Leadership intervention influences strain. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 17(2), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026857
- Vago, D. R., & Silbersweig, D. A. (2012). Self-awareness, self-regulation, and selftranscendence (S-ART): A framework for understanding the neurobiological mechanisms of mindfulness. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6(296), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00296
- Van Diermen, O. G., & Beltman, S. (2016). Managing working behaviour towards new ways of working: A case study. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, 18(4), 270–286. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCRE-11-2015-0039
- Van Laar, E., van Deursen, A. J. A. M., van Dijk, J. A. G. M., & de Haan, J. (2017). The relation between 21st-century skills and digital skills: A systematic literature review. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 577–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.03.010
- Van Manen, M. (1997). *Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy*. Canada: The Althouse Press.
- Velasco, M. (2012). More than just good grades: Candidates' perceptions about the skills and attributes employers seek in new graduates. *Journal of Business Economics & Management*, 13, 499-517. https://doi.org/10.3846/16111699.2011.620150
- Verdorfer, A. P. (2016). Examining mindfulness and its relations to humility, motivation to lead, and actual servant leadership behaviors. *Mindfulness*, 7(4), 950-961. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0534-8

- Volpp, K. G., John, L. K., Troxel, A. B., Norton, L., Fassbender, J., & Loewenstein, G. (2008). Financial incentive-based approaches for weight loss: a randomized trial. *JAMA*, 300(22), 2631–2637. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2008.804
- Waddock, S., & Lozano, J. M. (2012). Developing more holistic management education: Lessons learned from two programs. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 12(2), 265–284. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2012.0002
- Wadlinger, H. A., & Isaacowitz, D. M. (2011). Fixing our focus: Training attention to regulate emotion. *Personality and Social Psychology Review: An Official Journal of the Society for Personality and Social Psychology, Inc*, 15(1), 75– 102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868310365565
- Wahl, H., Kaufmann, C., Eckkrammer, F., Mense, A., Gollner, H., Himmler, C., & Slobodian, R. (2012). Soft skills in practice and in education: An evaluation. *American Journal of Business Education*, 5(2), 225-232. https://doi.org/10.19030/ajbe.v5i2.6826
- Waldman, D. A. (2014). Bridging the domains for leadership and corporate social responsibility. In D. Day (Ed.), *Handbook of leadership and organizations* (pp. 541–557). New York: Oxford University Press
- Wanberg, C. R., & Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D. (2000). Predictors and outcomes of proactivity in the socialization process. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(3), 373–385. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.85.3.373
- Wang, Y., and Liu, C. (2016). Cultivate Mindfulness: A Case Study of Mindful Learning in an English as a Foreign Language Classroom. *IAFOR Journal of Education*, 4(2), 141-155.
- Westbrook, C., Creswell, J. D., Tabibnia, G., Julson, E., Kober, H., & Tindle, H. A. (2013). Mindful attention reduces neural and self-reported cue-induced craving in smokers. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 8(1), 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr076
- Williams, J. M. G., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (2011). Mindfulness: Diverse perspectives on its meaning, origins, and multiple applications at the intersection of science and dharma. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 12(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14639947.2011.564811

- Williams, J. M. G., Crane, C., Barnhofer, T., Brennan, K., Duggan, D. S., Fennell, M. J. V., & Russell, I. T. (2014). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for preventing relapse in recurrent depression: A randomized dismantling trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 82(2), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035036
- Wilson, B. M., Mickes, L., Stolarz-Fantino, S., Evrard, M., & Fantino, E. (2015).
  Increased false-memory susceptibility after mindfulness meditation. *Psychological Science*, 26(10), 1567–1573. https://doi.org/10.1177/
  0956797615593705
- Windsor, C., Douglas, C., & Harvey, T. (2012). Nursing and competencies A natural fit: The politics of skill/competency formation in nursing. *Nursing Inquiry*, 19, 213-222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1800.2011.00549.x
- Worawichayavongsa, W., Vande Wiele, P., Bennet, A. (2017) Mindfulness to enable success of the 21st Century Knowledge Worker. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Intellectual Capital and Knowledge Management and Organizational Learning*, ICICKM 2017, 7 8 December, 346 354, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong.
- Yu, S., Xu, H., & You, Y. (2015). Research on the relation between the Self-Leadership and work engagement of the primary and junior school headmaster. *Studies in Sociology of Science*, 6(2), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.3968/6273
- Zeidan, F., Johnson, S. K., Diamond, B. J., David, Z., & Goolkasian, P. (2010).
   Mindfulness meditation improves cognition: evidence of brief mental training. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 19(2), 597–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2010.03.014

- Zeidan, F., Martucci, K. T., Kraft, R. A., Gordon, N. S., McHaffie, J. G., & Coghill,
  R. C. (2011). Brain mechanisms supporting modulation of pain by
  mindfulness meditation. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *31*(14), 5540–5548.
  https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5791-10.2011
- Zenner, C., Herrnleben-Kurz, S., & Walach, H. (2014). Mindfulness based interventions in schools: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5(603), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00603





## **APPENDIX** A

## Participation Invitation Letter

Dear Invitee,

My name is Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa. I am a doctoral student at The Institute of Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA), Business School of Bangkok University. I am kindly requesting your participation in a doctoral research study that I am conducting titled: A Study on the Influence of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership of Thai Non-Managerial Employees. The intention is to assess the influence of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership of Thai Non-Managerial Employees.

The study involves completing basic demographic information and a series of interview questions.

Participation is completely voluntary and you may withdraw from the study at any time. The study is completely anonymous, therefore, it does not require you to provide your name or any other identifying information.

If you would like to participate in the study please read the attached consent letter. Your participation in the research will be of great importance to assist in Self-Leadership of Thai Non-Managerial employees ensuring that they will be able to work mindfully and efficiently in the organizations

Thank you for your time and participation.

Sincerely, (Signature)

Wimonrat Worawichayavonga

Ph.D. Candidate

The Institute of Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA), Graduate School of Bangkok University

## **APPENDIX B**

Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form

I volunteer to participate in a research project conducted by Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa, PhD Candidate from The Institute of Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA), Business School of Bangkok University. I understand that the project is designed to gather information about the influence of Mindfulness on Self-Leadership on Thai non-managerial employees. I will be one of approximately 20 people being interviewed for this research.

1. My participation in this project is voluntary. I understand that I will not be paid for my participation. I may withdraw and discontinue participation at any time without penalty. If I decline to participate or withdraw from the study, no one in my organization will be told.

2. I understand that most interviewees in will find the discussion interesting and thought-provoking. If, however, I feel uncomfortable in any way during the interview session, I have the right to decline to answer any question or to end the interview.

3. Participation involves being interviewed by the researcher, Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa. The interview will last approximately 60 - 90 minutes. Notes will be written during the interview. An audio tape of the interview and subsequent dialogue will be make. If I don't want to be taped, I will not be able to participate in the study.

4. I understand that the researcher will not identify me by name in any reports using information obtained from this interview, and that my confidentiality as a participant in this study will remain secure. Subsequent uses of records and data will be subject to standard data use policies which protect the anonymity of individuals and organizations.

5. Employees from my organization will neither be present at the interview nor have access to raw notes or transcripts. This precaution will prevent my individual comments from having any negative repercussions.
6. I have read and understand the explanation provided to me. I have had all my questions answered to my satisfaction, and I voluntarily agree to participate in this study.

7. I have been given a copy of this consent form.

My Signature	Date
My Printed Name	
For further information, please contact:	
Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa	Date
Researcher	
092-281-3300	
Newie7@gmail.com	

#### **APPENDIX C**

Interview Protocol

Interview date: \_\_\_\_\_

Interview time: \_\_\_\_\_

Interview location:

Interviewee Details:

Name: \_\_\_\_\_

Participant Code: \_\_\_\_\_

Position/Department:

Gender: male / female

Age range: 18-25 / 26-30 / 30-40 / 40+

Highest educational qualification: Certificate, Diploma, Bachelor's, Master's Degree, Ph.D.

Experience abroad: yes / no If yes, how many years?

Multinational work environment with daily interaction with different cultures:

yes / no

Interviewer: \_\_\_\_\_

Introductory dialog key point script:

First of all, thank you very much for making time for me to participate in this study. I really appreciate your contribution to my study.

Before we start, I would like to inform you about the way this interview will run:

a: The interview has a total of 10 questions.

b: The interview should last approximately 60 - 90 minutes so you can take your time to think about your answers if you feel this is necessary.

c: This interview is meant to develop more as a conversation, so please do not feel shy to interrupt, cycle back to something from an earlier section or to add something when you feel this is needed.

As you were informed in the email invitation for the interview, this interview will be audio recorded in order for me to be able to evaluate what has been said in details afterwards. The audio recording will not be shared with anyone except for me, the audio recordings will not be shared with anyone and will not be used for any other purpose than this study. Would you be okay with me audio recording this interview?

The recording starts from now.

Before we get started, do you have any questions?

As mentioned in the invitation, all recordings and information related to this interview will remain anonymous – no names will be used and special care will be taken so that you will not be able to be identified in any form through this study.

I would like to ask you to sign the consent form that was attached to the invitation – this form confirms that you voluntarily participate in this study and are aware of its purpose and the processes followed. Would you please sign the consent form?

[(In case of a telephonic/VOIP interview) I will now turn on the speaker phone so I can take notes during the interview. Should you not be able to hear me clearly, please do not hesitate to let me know.]

If any questions are unclear please do not hesitate to point this out to me, so I can rephrase the question. If at any point in time we are discussing topics that make you feel uncomfortable, please feel free to indicate this so we can move on to another topic. It is very important that you answer the questions as truthfully as you can – there are no right or wrong answers here. The objective of the interview is to capture your impressions and experiences. Feel free to use as many examples as you can and it would be very useful for me and please feel free to describe them with as much detail as possible.

Shall we get started? Great.

#### **APPENDIX D**

Interview questions

1. Tell me about your role/position. What are your main tasks in the organization?

ตำแหน่งและภารกิจหลักในองค์กรของคุณคืออะไร

Prompts:

- Experience in the position ประสบการณ์ในตำแหน่งงาน
- Reporting lines สายการรายงาน
- 'Ratio' between working alone and working with others อัตราส่วนระหว่าง การทำงานคนเดียวและทำงานร่วมกับผู้อื่น

2. What are the most challenging parts of your job? อะไรคือสิ่งที่ท้าทายที่สุดใน การทำงานของคุณ

Prompts:

- Complexities of task ความซับซ้อนของงาน
- People involved คนที่เกี่ยวข้อง
- 3. Could you tell me about your Mindfulness practice? คุณสามารถบอกฉัน

เกี่ยวกับการฝึก Mindfulness ของคุณได้ไหม

Prompts:

- which practices (how) ฝึกแบบใหนอย่างไร
- how often (daily, weekly) ฝึกบ่อยแค่ใหน (รายวัน, รายสัปดาห์)
- routine or in promptu ฝึกฝนเป็นประจำ หรือ ชั่วครั้งชั่วคราว

4. Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects what motivates you in your job? If so, how? (Natural Rewards) คุณเชื่อว่าการฝึก Mindfulness ของคุณได้ส่งผล กระตุ้นต่อการทำงานของคุณหรือไม่ หากส่งผลเป็นอย่างไร (รางวัลตามธรรมชาติ)

#### Prompts

- building more pleasant and enjoyable features into a given activity / refocusing from negative aspects to task inherent positives ทำให้สนุกกับ การทำงานมากขึ้น หรือ สามารถหันกลับมาสนใจแต่สิ่งที่ดีในการทำงาน
- Examples of positive/neutral/no impact ตัวอย่างของสิ่งที่ดี/ ไม่มีอะไรดีขึ้น หรือแย่ลง / ไม่มีผลกระทบใดๆ
- Overall major / minor / insignificant impact ผลที่ได้โดยรวม, เล้กน้อย, ไม่ สำคัญ
- People involved บุคคลที่ร่วมงานด้วย
- How did you address such situation (i.e. what motivates you in the job) in past คุณรับมือกับสถานการณ์ดังกล่าวในอดีตอย่างไร

5. Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects the way you think during and about your job? If so how? (Constructive Self-thought patterns)

คุณเชื่อว่าการฝึกสติของคุณส่งผลกระทบต่อวิธีที่คุณคิดในระหว่างและเกี่ยวกับงาน

ของคุณหรือไม่? ถ้าเป็นเช่นนั้นได้อย่างไร (รูปแบบความคิดสร้างสรรค์)

Prompts

- identifying and replacing dysfunctional beliefs and assumptions, mental imagery and positive self-talk ระบุและแทนที่ความเชื่อและสมมติฐานในทาง ลบโดยการกิตด้วยตนเองในเชิงบวก
- Example of positive/neutral/no impact ยกตัวอย่างผลดีที่ได้รับ / ธรรมดา / ไม่มีผลใดๆ
- Overall major / minor / insignificant impact ผลที่ได้โดยรวม, เล้กน้อย, ไม่ สำคัญ
- People involved (if relevant) บุคคลที่เกี่ยวข้อง
- How did you address such situation (i.e. the way you think during and about your job) in the past คุณรับมือกับสถานการณ์ดังกล่าวในอดีตอย่างไร

 Do you believe your Mindfulness practice affects your self-awareness during your job? If so how? (behavior focused) คุณเชื่อว่าการฝึก Mindfulness ของคุณ ส่งผลกระทบต่อการรับรู้ตนเองในระหว่างการทำงานหรือไม่? ถ้าเป็นเช่นนั้นได้อย่างไร (เน้น พฤติกรรม)

Prompts

- self-observation, self-goal setting, self-reward, self-punishment and self-cueing การสังเกตตนเอง การตั้งเป้าหมายตนเอง การให้รางวัลตนเอง การลงโทษตนเอง การจัดระเบียบตนเอง
- Example of positive/neutral/no impact ยกตัวอย่างผลดีที่ได้รับ / ธรรมดา / ไม่ มีผลใดๆ
- Overall major / minor / insignificant impact ผลที่ได้โดยรวม, เล้กน้อย, ไม่ สำคัญ
- People involved บุคคลที่เกี่ยวข้อง
- How did you address such situation (i.e. your self-awareness) in past คุณ รับมือกับสถานการณ์ดังกล่าวในอดีตอย่างไร
- 7. Which aspects of your job do you believe are most affected by Mindfulness? Please elaborate how this is the case.

งานด้านใดที่คุณเชื่อว่าได้รับการเปลี่ยนแปลงมากที่สุดจากการฝึก Mindfulness ?

โปรคอธิบายอย่างละเอียคว่ากรณีนี้เป็นอย่างไร

Prompts

- Core tasks (Q1) งานหลัก (คำถามข้อ 1)
- Main challenges (Q2) ความท้ำทาย (คำถามข้อ 2)
- Expectations of supervisors (ความคาดหวังจากหัวหน้างาน)
- Expectations of colleagues (ความคาดหวังจากเพื่อร่วมงาน)

8. How have things changed for you at work since you started practicing Mindfulness?

(สิ่งใดที่ได้เปลี่ยนแปลงสำหรับคุณในที่ทำงานตั่งแต่คุณเริ่มฝึก Mindfulnessco?

Prompts

- Any ways how you do your job differently now? (มีการเปลี่ยนแปลงในการ ทำงานของคุณจากแต่ก่อนหรือไม่อย่างไร)
- Any ways how you now think differently about your job? (มีการ เปลี่ยนแปลงในทัศนคติในการทำงานของคุณจากแต่ก่อนหรือไม่อย่างไร)
- Any ways how you behave differently at work? (มีการเปลี่ยนแปลงในการ ปฏิบัติตัวในการทำงานของคุณจากแต่ก่อนหรือไม่อย่างไร)
- Any accomplishments as a result of MF practice? (มีความสำเหร็จในการ งานจากการที่คุณได้ฝึก Mindfulness ไหม)

9. Out of your personal experience, how do you feel Mindfulness practice could be of benefit to your direct colleagues?

จากประสบการณ์ส่วนตัวของคุณคุณรู้สึกอย่างไรว่าการฝึก Mindfulness จะเป็น ประโยชน์ต่อเพื่อนร่วมงานโดยตรงของคุณ

Is there anything you would like to share or add to this interview?
คุณมีคำถามหรือต้องการเพิ่มเติมอะไรในการการสัมภาษณ์ครั้งนี้หรือไม่?

#### **APPENDIX E**

Mindfulness Training

The Mindfulness intervention for this study spans a period of four weeks and is spaced out over eight sessions of Mindfulness training. The intervention is developed from an eight-week plan Mindfulness program for finding peace in a frantic world by Mark Williams and Danny Penman. This four-week Mindfulness training is based on Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy which asserts benefits to treat depression, anxiety, stress and exhaustion. The four-week program offers powerful but yet simple practices that participants can incorporate in everyday life. There are two important elements of the four-week training: Meditation and Habit Releasers.

Participants are asked to meditate for a total of around twenty to thirty minutes per day and these sessions are carried out on six days out of seven by using the audio files These can be found at http://bit.ly/rodaleMindfulness. While meditating, participants are asked to focus their full attention on their breath as it flows in and out of their bodies. Focusing on each breath allows participants to observe the thoughts as they arrive on their minds. The goal is to let go of struggling with these thoughts and to eventually realize that thoughts come and go on their own. A second goal is to catch negative patterns acceptingly, seeing things with greater clarity and being able to take wiser and more considered action to change those things that need to be changed.

Habit Releasers ultimately break ingrained habits gently down and dissolve habits that may trap participants in negative ways of thinking. Habit releasers include, but are not limited to, for instance, changing the chair participants normally sit on at meetings or going to the cinema and choosing a film at random. Participants are asked to do these tasks mindfully and with their full attention.

#### A week by week summary of the program:

Week one session one focuses on Automatic Pilot. This first session helps participants see the automatic pilot at work and encourages participants to explore what happens when they "wake up". Participants are asked to share with the group whether and when they are on auto-pilot mode; for example, waking up, personal grooming, getting dressed, driving to work, etc. Central to this Automatic-Pilot session is a Body and Breath mediation that stabilizes the mind and helps participants see what unfolds when they focus their full awareness on just one thing at a time. The most common way to practice this is to focus on one single object that is always with them. Participants are introduced to an experiment called Mindful Eating by using the raisin exercise called The Raisin mediation. The key to this exercise is to direct full awareness and full attention to all five senses. Participants spend a short period of time on each of the following eight stages of the raisin mediation:

(1) Holding – Participants take one raisin and holds it in the palm of their hand or between their fingers and thumb. Participants focus on the raisin as if they have never seen anything like it before; for example, focusing on the weight of it or the shadow it may cast on the palm.

(2) Seeing – Participants take the time to see the raisin, looking at it with great care and full attention, exploring every part of it through the eyes.

(3) Touching – Participants turn the raisin over, exploring the textures, viscosity and the general feeling of it between the fingers or on the palm.

(4) Smelling – Participants hold the raisin beneath their noses and notice each in-breath if it has a scent.

(5) Placing – Participants slowly place the raisin into the mouth, noticing how the hand and arm know exactly where to put it, exploring the sensation of having it on the tongue.

(6) Chewing – When participants are ready, they consciously take a bite into the raisin, slowly, noticing any tastes it releases onto the tongue, into the mouth, but NOT swallowing yet.

(7) Swallowing – Participants detect the first intention to swallow as it arises in mind, experiencing it with full awareness BEFORE swallowing, then following the sensation of swallowing the raisin.

(8) Aftereffects – Participants spend a few moments registering the aftermath of the eating. Is there an aftertaste? What does the absence of the raisin feel like? Is there an automatic tendency to look for another? Does your body crave another?

Week one session two uses a Body Scan mediation to help explore the difference between thinking about a sensation and experiencing it. The mind does not

exist in isolation; it is a fundamental part of the body and they both share emotional information with each other. In this session, participants are asked to practice Mindfulness of the Body and Breath. Participants start by finding a comfortable position, either lying on a mat or a thick rug, or sitting on a firm, straight-backed chair. Participants then allow their eyes to close, and bring their awareness to the sensations occurring where the body is in contact with whatever they are sitting or lying on. Then, participants farther their attention and move it to focus on their feet and make that the spotlight of attention, slowly expanding expand their attention to their lower legs, the knees and the rest of their legs, with both legs now the center stage in their awareness, then expanding their attention up the body to the pelvis and hips, lower back and the lower abdomen, then moving up the torso to include the chest and the back, right up to the shoulders, with the torso now the center stage of awareness. Participants then expand their attention to the left arm and then right arm, then the neck and face and head, until they are holding the whole body in awareness. Participants will probably find that the mind wanders away from the breath to thinking, planning, remembering or day dreaming. When this happens, participants take the time to register where the mind has wandered and when ready, very gently but firmly they bring their attention back to their breath.

Week two session one introduces Mindful Movement by making participants aware that sometimes pushing too hard might make things worse and may prevent them from thinking creatively. Participants practice a three-minute breathing space meditation that will help them in the down moments in everyday life. This meditation serves to dissolve negative thoughts before they gain control. It includes three small steps: step one involves becoming aware of what thoughts are going through their minds, what feelings and body sensations are occurring; step two is gathering and focusing attention by following the breath; step three involves expending attention around the breathing so that it includes a sense of the body as a whole.

Week two session two introduces a sounds and thoughts meditation. This session focuses on how participants can be overthinking. Participants are taught that the constantly changing soundscape is just like their thought stream, and that they can relate to their unsettling thoughts the same way they relate to unwanted sounds. Participants are asked to visit the movies, but instead of selecting a movie before they

go, it requires participants to go at a set time and choose only a movie that appeals to them when they get there. This demonstrates that what makes us happiest in life is the unexpected.

Week three session one uses exploring an difficulties meditation to help participants face difficulties that arise in life. Mindfulness is not about attachment; it is about acceptance. Acceptance comes in two steps. The first step involves recognizing the temptation to suppress unsettling thoughts, sensations, feelings or emotions, and the second step is bringing Mindfulness to actively meet participants' unsettling thoughts, feelings, emotions and sensations. Participants are asked to think of the most difficult time in their life, becoming aware of their inner experience, noticing what is happening in their thoughts, feelings and bodily sensations. Then, participants are asked to redirect their attention from those thoughts to "Seven-Eleven" by breathing in 7 counts and breathing out 11 counts. Then, rather than focusing on any sense of discomfort, tension or resistance, participants are asked to expand their attention and awareness to the next moments of their day. As an exercise, participants are asked to take care of a plant because the act of caring for another living thing can greatly improve our own life.

Week three session two introduces a Befriending Meditation to cultivate love and kindness, which helps dissolve negative ways of thinking. Participants are asked to answer the following questions:

- Do I criticize myself for having irrational or inappropriate emotions?
- Do I tell myself I shouldn't be feeling the way I'm feeling?
- Do I believe some of my thoughts are abnormal or bad and I shouldn't think that way?
- Do I make judgments about whether my thoughts are good or bad?
- Do I tell myself that I shouldn't be thinking the way I do?
- Do I think some of my emotions are bad or inappropriate and I shouldn't feel them?
- When I have distressing thoughts or images, do I judge myself as good or bad, depending what the thought/image is about?
- Do I disapprove of myself when I have irrational ideas?

If participants strongly endorse more than one or two of these questions, they may be being too hard on themselves. There are two simple ways to fix this. One is to reclaim their life by thinking back to the moments that made them happy, whether baking a cake or going for a run or doing a good deed for someone else, which can be as simple as wishing someone well and happy.

Week four session one explores routines, activities, behavior and moods to help participants make skillful choices and choose to do things that nourish them rather than deplete them. When people are overwhelmed with life, they often give up on the things that most nourish them. Participants are given a table and asked to write down all the activities they do from waking up in the morning to going to bed, When this list of activities is complete, they ask themselves the following questions:

(1) Of the things that they have written, which nourish them? What lifts their mood, energizes them, makes them feel calm and centered? What increases their sense of actually being alive and present, rather than merely existing? These are nourishing activities.

(2) Of the things that they have written, which deplete them? What pulls them down, drains away their energy, makes them feel tense and fragmented? What decreases their sense of actually being alive and present, what makes them feel that they are merely existing, or worse? These are depleting activities.

Participants complete the exercise by putting an "N" for "nourishing" or a "D" for "depleting" next to each recorded activity. The aim to this exercise is to help participants become aware of and eventually find a balance in life between the things that nourish them and those that deplete them.

Week four session two helps weave Mindfulness into the participants' daily lives over the long term. Participants are asked to maintain the following steps in their daily routine.

- Start the day with Mindfulness
- Use Breathing Spaces learned in week two session one to punctuate their day
- Maintain Mindfulness practice
- Befriend your feelings
- When participants feel tired, frustrated, anxious, angry, or any other powerful emotion, take a Breathing Space and remain mindful throughout.

- Increase the level of exercise and bring a mindful and curious attitude to body as participants exercise.
- Remember to breath.



#### **APPENDIX F**

and exemplify how the data of the interviews has been processed to arrive at the noted findings to progress the discussion for this study. The example presented here pertains the full data set used for the Unit IMPACT.

The information presented in both tables was preceded by:

1. Translating and transcribing all interviews for content, complemented with interview notes and confirming the content with the participants.

2. Identifying relevant statements per participant per question, omitting repetition of statements and recategorizing answers in other question areas where necessary/appropriate – arriving at 57 statements for impact. Second coder engagement on extracts, discussion and confirmation.

3. Manual theme exploration based on existing themes from the literature and emergent theme recognition by interpretation of the articulation and words used and the content of the phrases in context by grouping statements or partial statements with color coding. Second coder discussion and confirmation.

4. Tabulation of every statement, mapping it against the question sections, color coded links to the themes and indication of unique statement occurrence frequency per theme.

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Minor npact lestio ectior	/ ns	free	quen	occur cy Impa		N	linor imp	
							.1			ıt			J	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformationa	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintair	No impact at all
	Some people say I am a new version of myself								RU	10				
P1	and I feel a lot more confident to step into work now		X	X				1		TV /				
	My dealings with people are totally different			Ď	E	D	19							
	now, I am so much more aware of what is happening			X				1						

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

				pact /		Ainon npact			que o queno		rrenc	e		
			Questi sectio		_	estio		M	ajor	Impa	act		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P2	being mindful is useful when things get really messy				X	X	X		R J I	CIT		1		
	I remind myself to do self- scanning, but work is so busy most of the time that I do not really think about it much				X	x	x	6					1	
P3	This changed my life I am a different person now	X	X	Х				1						

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		-		pact /		Minon npact			que o lueno	occui cy	rrenc	ce		
			Questi sectio			estio		M	ajor	Impa	ict		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	Very different now I know myself so much better now and have discovered new things about myself I did not know where there (good and bad)		x	x	E									

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		C	or im Juesti sectio		in	Ainon npact lestio	/	frec	quen	occur cy Impa			linor	· /
			seeno	11	S	ection	n	101	ajor	mpe	ici	No	imp	act
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P4	I feel so much more in line with who I really am and how I feel because I am more paying attention to what I do and how I feel it has really helped me to know myself better	x	x	x	E									
	this is a very big change for me							1						

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or im Juesti	pact / on	in	Minon npact	/		que ( quen	occui cy	rrend			
			sectio			estio		М	ajor	Impa	nct		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
Р5	Mindfulness has really changed my life, not only at work but also for myself, I feel much more in charge of myself now and confident that I can do things and [that I] can be better	x	x	x	E			1		CITY				

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		-	or imj Questi	-	in	Minon npact lestio	./		que o lueno	occu cy	rrenc		linor	• /
			sectio	n		ection		Ma	ajor	Impa	ict		imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P6	I would not say it has major impact on the way I look at the work I do, but it has helped once or twice at home and how I deal with people yes				x					CITY		1		1

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or im Juesti	pact / on	in	Minor npact	/		que ( quen		rrenc		r.	(
		1	sectio	n		ectio		M	ajor	Impa	act		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	I feel that I am thinking far more positive thoughts and am able to see positive things around much easier		X					1	RJ11	CITY /				
P7	I re- discovered myself as a result of being more mindful it has introduced myself into my life again, if that makes sense	x	x	X	E			1		1				

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact /		Minon npact			que o queno		rrenc	ce		
			sectio			estio		M	ajor	Impa	act		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	it is like I have a quiet conversation with myself								P J I	CIT				
	about who I am and how I feel without feeling bad	х	Х	Х				6		1	1			
	about myself I don't look at work or			D	E١	D								
P8	at work or my life the same way anymore something is very different and I like it I feel more in control	Х	X	Х				1	1	1				

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Minon npact lestio ection	ns	frec	quen	occur cy Impa		N	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	working with others has really changed, like I totally get it now and am able to make them get me	X	X	X				1		CITY				
P9	I definitely find result at times but It is difficult to stick to the routine, but I try my best	$\mathcal{O}$	$\langle \wedge \rangle$	D	x	D	10					1	1	

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact / on	in	Minon npact	/		que ( quen		rrenc		r:	1
			sectio	'n		estio		M	ajor	Impa	ıct		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	since I								2					
	started doing Mindfulness								Ú					
	I have been a													
	different									Y				
	person, I feel													
	like a													
	different	5						Ġ	V					
	person, I	1	Х	х			<b>ر</b> C	1	1					
	mean, I am		$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}$	$\square$	F	$\mathcal{D}$								
	still myself,													
	but I am													
	more													
	comfortable													
	with myself													
	now and it													
	feels great													

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Ainor npact estio ectior	ns	frec	luen	occur cy Impa		M	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	NR CS BF		NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P1 0	There have been some occasions where this really works				x				PJI -	CITV		1		
	I now know I can do it because I have thought of times in the past where I did well that was very different before		X	D	EV		19	1	1					

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact / on	in	Ainon npact	/		que ( quen	occu cy	rrenc			
			sectio			estio		M	ajor	Impa	ıct		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	I look at people very differently now I think more about how they must feel before I do something and that was not the case before.		x	x	E			1		CITY				
P11	I say to myself that I have a job and I can look after myself		X								1			

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		_	or imj Questi	pact / on	in	Ainon npact	/		que ( Juen	occui cy	rrenc			
			sectio	n		estio		M	ajor	Impa	ict		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	I used to feel sad and bad about my position, that is not longer the case, now I feel that it matters and that I have a lot I can get from it	x	x		E		19	1		CITY				

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		C	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Minor npact lestio ectior	/ ns	frec	luen	occur cy Impa		Μ	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P12	The way I see my job now is totally different, I now work much more focused on what I am here to contribute and that gives me power to do my job well	x			E									

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		_	or imj Questi	pact / on	in	Minor npact lestio	/		que o lueno	occui cy	rrenc		linor	. /
			sectio	n		ection		Ma	ajor	Impa	ict		imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	NR CS BF			CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	working with colleagues and others in the school is also totally different now, much more connection and really working together			x	E			1		CITY				

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Minor npact lestio	ns	frec	quen	occur cy Impa		M	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Tranformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P13	Everthing has changed like everything really remarkable how paying attention can be such a change	x	x	X				1		CITY				
	I feel like I found myself as a [position], before I was just doing a job.		X	X				1						

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juestio sectio	on	in Qu	Minon npact lestio ection	ns	frec	quen	occui cy Impa		M	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P14	I think the whole thing is exaggerated, I feel very little to no difference what so ever, maybe I am not doing it right but that is how it feels to me				x	x	x		V V V	ATT				1

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	Questi		in	Minor npact lestio	/	frec	quen				linor	• /
		i	sectio	n		ection		M	ajor	Impa	ıct		imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P15	Who would have thought that stepping back and evaluating what I am here for before I start working would make such a difference it is like a recharge of myself	x		x	E		19	1		CITV				
	My attention to detail has totally changed and I make much less mistakes			X				1						

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact /		Minon npact			que o queno	occu cy	rrenc	ce		
			sectio			estio		M	ajor	Impa	ıct		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P16	I now much more hear the voice in my head telling me that I need to relax		X						R 21 - 1	CITY	1			
	introducing me-time has really been a major change for me, I mean, I never realised how enjoyable it is to look after myself and how good it is for me		x	x	E		10	1						

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact /		Minon npact			que o quen		rrenc	e		
			sectio			estio		M	ajor	Impa	ıct		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
P17	eating alone is quite enjoyable now (due to Mindful eating), it gives me some 'me- time' to be with my own thoughts	x	x	x					R J I I I	CITY	1			
	I started feeling that I had found a new wind to push me forward to do my job		X					1	1					

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio		in Qu	Minor npact lestio	ns	frec	luen	occur cy Impa		Μ	linor	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS		Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain dui	No impact at all
P18	[Mindfulness practice] has helped me a lot to see my potential, things I did not even know were there or that I thought were not useful to me now all of that is different		x	x	E		19							

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

			or imj Questi	pact /		Minon npact			que o quen	occu cy	rrenc	e		
			sectio			estio		М	ajor	Impa	act		linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	CS	BF	NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	Now I realise								R					
	what matters and what I								0					
	need to do to													
	make a	X		Х				1						
	difference,													
	before I never													
	thought of my													
	work that way		4											
	Things are so	C			EĨ									
	much better			$\boldsymbol{D}$										
	now, I mean, I													
	am so much													
	more													
P19	confident		Х	х					1	1				
117	about myself,		7	л					1	1				
	I am ok with													
	that things I													
	am not good at													
	and am ready													
	to improve													

Table 14

Findings tabulation for Unit IMPACT (cont.)

		Ç	or imj Juesti sectio	on	in Qu	Minon npact lestio ection	ns	frec	luen	occur cy Impa		N	linor imp	
part	Relevant Statements	NR	NR CS BF N		NR	CS	BF	Transformational	Empowering	New self insight	Inner Dialogue	Useful at times	Hard to Maintain	No impact at all
	a lot has positively changed for me at work, and this has to do with me mostly I am present, I am ready and I am getting things done	x			E		19	1		CITY				
	Total Samp st			of unic		levan	t	2 5	1 2	8	4	4	2	2

This was then used to produce an overall data summary for easier interpretation of the frequency of emergent themes to indicate common of experiences among the total sample and outliers.

Summary data frequency of occurrence Unit IMPACT

Total statements on Impact	Total statements category	per	Themes	nr of statements	% per category
57	Major impact	49	transformational	25	51%
			empowering	12	24%
			new self-insight	8	16%
			inner dialogue	4	8%
	Minor impact	8	useful at times	4	50%
			hard to maintain	2	25%
			nothing	2	25%



#### BIODATA

Wimonrat Worawichayavongsa

Doctor of Philosophy in Knowledge Management and Innovation Management, The Institute for Knowledge and Innovation Southeast Asia (IKI-SEA), Graduate School – Bangkok University, Thailand

88/77 Moo. 5 T. Pantainorasing, A. Muang, Samut Sakhon 74000, Thailand Newie7@gmail.com



#### **Bangkok University**

#### License Agreement of Dissertation/Thesis/ Report of Senior Project

	Day_10_Month_	12 Year 2021
Mr./Mrs./Mg. Wimonrat Soi	Wovawicha yavongsa Street –	now living at <u>88</u> 77
Sub-district Pantainorasing	District Muang	
Province Samut Sakhon		being a Bangkok
University student, student ID Degree level		torate
Program Ph.D. KIM Depa	artment IKI-SEA	School Graduate School
hereafter referred to as "the licen	sor"	
Bangkok University 119 Rama 4 "the licensee"	Road, Klong-Toey, Bangk	ok 10110 hereafter referred to as
Both parties have agreed on the f	ollowing terms and condition	ons:

1. The licensor certifies that he/she is the author and possesses the exclusive rights of dissertation/thesis/report of senior project entitled <u>THE INFLUENCE</u> OF MINDFULNESS <u>PRACTICE AT WORK ON SELF-LEADERSHIP ON THAT NON-MANAGERIAL EMPLOYEE</u>S: <u>THE LIVED EXPERTENCE IN AN INTERNATIONAL K12 EDUCATIONAL ENVIRONMENT.</u> submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for \_\_\_\_\_\_

of Bangkok University (hereafter referred to as "dissertation/thesis/report of senior project"). 2. The licensor grants to the licensee an indefinite and royalty free license of his/her dissertation/thesis/report of senior project to reproduce, adapt, distribute, rent out the original or copy of the manuscript.

3. In case of any dispute in the copyright of the dissertation/thesis/report of senior project between the licensor and others, or between the licensee and others, or any other inconveniences in regard to the copyright that prevent the licensee from reproducing, adapting or distributing the manuscript, the licensor agrees to indemnify the licensee against any damage incurred. This agreement is prepared in duplicate identical wording for two copies. Both parties have read and fully understand its contents and agree to comply with the above terms and conditions. Each party shall retain one signed copy of the agreement.

